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A present work is offered as a contribution to our 

knowled?e and understandin~ nf british n icy and reaction 

to Rus sian expansion in Central Asia, 1 • during the ::eriod 

lR!:i7 to 187Ft. In nre~ar~tion for the thesis, oersonal 

re renee has been made to the large body c 

documents, nreserved in v~rious archives in gland. In 

dition, ever~ effort has been made to exqmine other 

evant materiDls. Often it is 

ce of the policy makers, rather stB.te papers, 

that the researcher is able to discern the actual under-

lyin~ current of thoughts, and m ons, behind 

Government actions. 

To date, little has been done to a the public, 

bath lay and scholarly, with .8ritain's interest in Central 

11.S during the ~ineteenth century. .üthou Britain was 

highly alarmed at the r ise of ù.ussü::.n pov.rer and influence 

in this area, she did not have any will to~op orto 

onpose it; neither by annexation herself, nor by direct 

l. The term Central ,sia is rather a vac;ue r.;eoFTaphical 
designation. It refers here to that region of asia 
which intervened betvreen the Hussicm .C.:mnire in the 
north and the British .c.;muire in south: it also 

includes the Chinese province of ~urkistan in the east. 
'rhe terms Central r~.sia and l'urkistan are used synonymously 
in this study. 



military or financial aid to the n2tions concerned. 

Central Asia, whether Afghanist~n or beyond its northern 

borders, was not in Britain's schernes of annexation. 

Russian exrJansion in Centr.o:tl Asia has been attributed 
t 

to several factors. British torians of the Nineteenth 
' 

century impute it to the traditional policy of Hussia 

going back to the days of ~eter the Great, for the conquest 

of India .• Jviodern research vmrk sug,2;ests underlying 

economie factors. Sorne of these may be mentioned briefly; 

the growth of Hussian textile industry in the later half of the 

Nineteenth century; uneuccessful competition Hus sian 

nroduct in ./estern markets against suoerior ~uropean goods; 

'clependence unon r•merican export of r av-r cotton, \t~hich was 

interrupted firstly due to hostility with Britain during 

the Crimean ~ar, and again this export was totally stopped 

durinp: the Civil \far in 1-~.merica. ~mancipation of the 

serfs in 1861 is also to be accounted for, in the growth of 

. d t . .. . 2 • 1n us ry 1n ltuss1a. The Hussian historians and diplomats 

of the Nineteenth century, attributed this expansion, alan~ 

with rtussia's civilisin~ mission in the East, rtly to 

Russia's strategie nlanning against Britain. 'l'he closer 

2. .nn interest pie ce of r esearch work had be en do ne at 
the London University in 1952, by Lun9:er, ... ~.. The 
Bc?no~ic Background of __ the Russi~rl_~~~uest of Central 
~s1a 1~ __ yhe second half of the l9t9 Jenturv, Ph.D. 
unpublished thesis. 
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to India, they believed would be Russia, the less 

opposition it would meet from that power in her doings in 

.burope. 

The influence of the military class in Russia played 

no less an imnortant role in Russian penetration southward. 

The ruling Czar derived his authority from this class, and 

was quite powerless in rejecting the wishes of the military 

J 3. un ta. 
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sent 
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Vakeel. An &~ent or ~leader. 
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Herat. Eng1and' s First Bastion Against 

Russia. 

Poli ti cal di vision in Afghanistan alvrays 

created a serious prob1em of the north-western frontiers 

of British India. In the division and weakness of 

Afghanistan lay India's instability. A unified 

Afghanistan, under firm British influence, believed Lord 

canning, the Governor-General of India, wou1d serve as 

a forceful barrier against the expansion of Russia in 

Central Asia. 1 • And Herat, the most north-w·estern 

province of Afghanistan was the strength of this barrier. 

From the dawn of its history, India had been 

invaded from its north-western borders. Herat, 2 • v1as 

a halting station for the a1~1ies of all the great 

conquerors of India from Alexander, Changez Khan Nahmud 

to Temur, Babur and Ahmad Shah Abdali. It was the 

1. Par1iamentary Papers Readex Hicroprint Edition, New 
York LVI 1878-9 no. I Cannings minute on the Angle­
Afghan Treaty of 1857. (Hereafter cited Ear.pap). 

2. Herat is 1ocated at 34 20' 30 11 north and 62 11' 0 11 

east: 2500 feet above sea 1evel. It is situated 
in the Hari Rud valley. Its name comes from the 
Sanskrit word Arya (husbandman) which after many 
variations like Aria, Heri, Hiriva finally sett1ed 
on the present form. 
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nearest and best point at which an invader could 

concentrate and prepare for an invasion India. 

The fertility of its valley, its strategie position 

co1~1anding all the important roads to India, its 

adnirable climate and the prestige it enjoyed through 

Central Asia as a great commercial centre, made it a 

cornerstone in the outlying defences of India. 11The 

real invasion 11 'Vœote Sir J. Sheil, 3 • "if i t ever takes 

place, must be by Herat 11 • 4. 

Renee to some of the British strategists of the 

middle of the Uineteenth Century, the British possession 

of Herat was imperative. 11Herat is the key to India 11 , 

ran a popular saying. John Jacob, a seasoned Angle-

Indian administrator on the Sindh frontiers h.ad urged the 

gove~~ent in 1856 to make Herat an English fortress 

garrisonin; it with twenty thousand troops;5• his 

views on the north 't'restern defences of India, "rere 

highly admired by sone of his distinguished colleagues, 

3. Sir Justin Sheil (1803-71) went to Persia 1833: 
secretary to Legation 1836. Envoy in Persia 1844-54. 

4. Sheil, Lady Glimpses of Life and Hanners in Persia. 
London, 1856. p.372. 

5. par. pau. op. cit. no. 1/3. Also in Pelly, L. 
Views and opinions of John Jacob, London, 1858. p.377. 
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like Sir H. Rawlinson, Sir B. Frere, Sir H. Green, 

Sir L. Pelly, Sir G. Birdwood and Sir W. Mereweather. 

This group of politico-military thinkers, sometimes 

called "the Bombay School", anticipated the Russian 

encroachment upon India and advocated the occupation 

of such outlying posts as Quetta, Qandhar and Herat, to 

checla.rrate future threats to the defences of India. 6 • 

I1ajor Taylor who led the British mi on to Herat in 

1858 was convinced that Herat "must be •••• E:nglish 11 .7. 

An astute Secretary of State for India, Sir Charles 

vlood8 • had been hatching an idea for Herat 's 

occupation by tain.9· Vfri ters like Va.I1bery, 10 • 

6. Srni th, R 
1883 vol. 2 

Tpe life of Lord Lawrence. 
p.496. 

New York 

?. Enclosure to secret letters from India 1859/172. 
Taylor to Edmonstone no. 4. January 1, 58. Taylor 
Hemorandum on Herat. (Hereafter cited as E.S.L.I.) 

8. Sir Charles vlood, la ter First Viscou.nt of Halifax 
(1800-85) v.ras the president of the Board of Control 
1852-55. Secretary of state for India 1859-1866. 

9. Secret Home Correspondence 1865/59. I .0. to :P .0. 
Aug. 11, 65 (see for details of this preceeding p .82. 
Hereafter cited as S.H.C. 

10. Vambery, A. Central As~_§.nd t_h~Anglo-Russian 
Frontier~stion, London, 1874 p.214. 
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'>H ll 11. à d'!\"" • 12 • a ell ac :::1ny J..'la es on, c..n J.'larvJ..n, s w J I:lo..:. 

other travellers and -:_-;amphleteers, had done rauch to 

reveal the potentiality of Herat the complex history 

of Central Asia; the political events surrounding it 

were invariably recorded in the 'Times of London'. 

The second decade of the 1Jineteenth Century had 

brought a political division in Afghanistan. 13· The 

Barakzis (Hohammad-Zis) he1d Kabul and the Popa1zis 

(Sadozis) established themselves at v/eak as they 

"aere, the Popalzis 1onged for assistance to 

maintain them against their powerful eastern cousins. 

This ü:.vi ted bath Persian and Rus intrigues against 

Afghan soi1. Herat was not adjoined to India, Aftsha.Yl.istan 

separated them, nor vras the Russian dominion contiguous to 

Herat, Persia lay between them. But 

after the Ang1o-Afghan treaty of 1853; and Persia was tmder 

11. Halles on, G .B. ~t the Gre~n and Garden of 
Central As~, London, 1880. 

12. Harvin, C. Ru.ssi~t the Gates of Herat, New 
York, 1885. 

13. In 1818 the 3arakzis expe11ed the ru1ing house of 
Sadozis from K2.bul. Hahmud, the 1ast Sadozi ru1er 
of Kabul, sought refuge in Herat (1818-29). He vms 
fo1lmved by his son K2.:mran (1829-42). He was 
murdered by his Vizier, Yar I>J:ohau.~."':lad in 1842. At 
the dea th of Yar in 1851, his son Syed r~Iohamr.:1ad came 
to the throne of Herat, 
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that of Russia. Bath Afghanistan and Persia laid 

claim ta Herat, each one was sup~lorted in i ts clEim 

by its western ally. 

Increasing Russian influence in Persia presents 

another interesting study in Anglo-Russian diplomany in 

the East. Persia was attracted ta 13ritain by her 

hopes, but was driven tm'lards Russia by her fears. 

Since the beginning of the Nineteenth. Century, the 

territory had been subjected ta Russian encroach -

ment. V!i thin thirty years she lost almost all the 

important cities on her ,..,estern fringe of the border, 14· 

thoue;h looked. for English sup:;~ort tmder the Anglo-

Persian treaty of 1814, she received none. 15· For her 

14. sia seized Georgia in 1801, r:Iingrela in 
and Imeretia 1804. Baku and Shirvan went to 
Russia by the Treaty of Gulistan 1813. The 
Treaty of Turkomanchi gave Erivan to Russia and 
by that of Adrianople 1829, Poti \>'ras ceded. 

15. By the Anglo-Persian Treaty of 1814, England had 
promised help to Persia against external inva on. 
This Treaty had been formulated for fear of 
Napoleon's invading India, but once that fear was 
over, Britain drop;ed all interest in Persia. 
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lasses of the west, Persia hoped to compensate 

eastward. She had an historical claim to Herat 

since 1509. 16 • It also served her strategie 

purposes, being a bulwark against the regular inroads 

of the Turkomans of I.J:erv. 17 • The waning influence 

of the British at Teheran since the Nanoleonic v/ars 

and the late diplomatie mishandlinG of A.C. Nurray, 18 • 

the British Envoy, made Russia' s ii/Ork eas;>r in tha t 

country, and she successfully persuaded Persia to 

interfere in Afghanistan. Persia had made more than 

16. Herat was seized by Ismail Safavi in 1509 and 
remained under Persian influence over a period 
of two centuries. It was in 1715 that the 
Abdalis of Herat defied the Persian authority 
there. 

17. Eastwick, B. Journal of a Deplomat's Three Years 
Residence in Persia. London 1864 vol. 2 w.251-53. 

18. Since 1828 British influence at Teheran was low. 
The appointment of A.C. Nurray (later Sir Charles) 
in 1855 further strained the relations. Nurray's 
undue favour to Has'~im Kha.n, a Persian sta te 
convict, by appointing him his agent at Shiraz 
against the stipulations of the Anglo-Persian 
Treaty of 1841, annoyed the Persian authorities. 
Nurray again demanded the release of Hashim's 
wlfe then shut in her brother's house. Furthermore 
he expected the Persian court to apologise for 
their maltreatment of Hashim Khan and his f~~ily. 
Failing to dictate his terms to the Shah, Nurray 
broke off diplomatie relations and left the Capital. 
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one m1successful attempt to seize Herat. :1.1-rice 

(1838 and 1853) Britain actively interfered to thwart 

her atter:rpts and in 1853 forced her to sign a wri tten 

acknowledgement guar~~teeing the indeyendent existence 

of Herat. 19 • Ho'\lrever, the poli ti cal turmoil of 

1855-56 in Herat, helped Persia to occupy it 20 again. • 
. 21 

Persia then threatened Qru1dhar. • Herbert Edwardes, 

the Commissioner of Peshmvar, reported that Ru:.;;;sia vras 

backing this project. 22· London viewed with severe 

19. In 1837-38 Persia besieged Herat for nine months. 
The British Minister I'-1c1Jeil' s pressure at Teheran, 
E. Pottinger 1 s defence at Herat and the Indian 
Government's invasion of Kharak, relieved the 
siege. In 1853 Persia took over Herat with the 
consent of' i ts ruler Syed Ivlohammad and only 
evacuated it at the British threat. By the 
Treaty of 1853 Persia renounced its claims to 
Herat. 

20. In Sept. 1855, a Sadozi exile in Persia, Prince 11 .. 
Yussuf took over Herat after rnurdering Syed 
r·1oha:r.m1ad. The same year Kohindil Khan of Qandhar 
died and his brotller, Dost Noham.mad invaded his 
dominion. Persia declared that Kabul intended to 
invade Herat as well. Prince Yu&suf shared the 
Persian apprehension and invited them to his 
as stance. But Yussuf soon changed his mind and 
refused entry into Herat of the Persian anny. 
Persia laid siège to Herat in April 1856. In the 
:meantime there 'VIas a local rising against Yussuf 
in which he was deposed and Isa Khan a local chief 
came to power. The city surrendered iD Persia on 
October 24, 56. 

21. E.S.L.I. 1857/149 Ed'V1ardes to James Dec. 20, 56. 

22. Ibid. Nov. 25, 56. 



- 8 -

displeasure the '\·rhole proceeding, because the 

"machination" of the Russian a[;ents a.t Herat would 

make for considerable "trouble and anxiety 11 on the 
2"' north western frontiers of India. '· 

The home authorities had authorized Lord 

canning, the Governor-General of India, during~e early 

days of the Persian siege of Herat to keep Persia out 

of that city by providing assistance "to any power 

strong enough to co-operate with you 11 •
24

• Canning 

despatched two lakhs of rupees to those besiè.zed in 

Herat, but i t did not arrive i:n time. 25 • Heanwhile 

Herat fell to Persia in October 1856. Britain deemed 

it necessary to declare war against Persia to oust 

that power from Herat.26. 

23. Board Drafts 1857/22 Board of Control to F.O. 
Oct. 15, 57. (Herafter ci ted as :B.D.) 

24. ~. 1856/21 Board of Control to G.G. July 10, 56. 

25. This amount was sent by the hands of r·lir Hubarik 
Shah, a native agent of the British GoverP~ent. 
I!ubarik left Peshawar on j,Jovember 7, 1856. T here 
v1as considerable delay in sanctioning this amotmt. 
See Eni tome of Corres-o~ence Regardi:nO' our 
Relations with Afghanistan and Herat. 1Hereafter 
cited as ~yitome) Lahore 1863 p.61. 

26. ~. 1856/21. The Board had been instructed by 
F.O. on July 19, to get things ready for military 
actions against Persia. Then the Board 
instructed the Government of India to nrenare an 
expedition from Bombay for the invasion of Kharak 
and Bushire on July 22, 56. 
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The co-operation of Mbul was necessary for 

an effective action against Persia for her seizure of 

Herat. Amir Do st I,:ohammad himself was mu ch alarmed 

-oy this invasion. He had sent an agent to Kurram 

tl b . t 27. to consult the British authorities on 1e su JeC • 

During the early days of 1857, he himself came dO\·m to 

Peshawar on a British invitation and sie;ned a treaty 

v·li th the Government of India. This treaty provided 

hi:n vii th one lakh of rupees a month to rai se an army 

of eighteen thousand men and to recei ve a su~9ervisory 

British nission under l/.(ajor H.B. Lumsden at Qandhar.
28

• 

The knir also received a native British Vakeel, Foujdar 

Khan, at his court and appointed his Vakeel to Peshawar. 

War \·ms declared against Persia in Novenber, 1856, 

and the Persian Gulf was selected for military o:9erations. 

No action was taken fron the Kabul side either a;;ainst 

Herat or against Persia. There was a school of 

thought in the British political circle which urged Dost 

r~:ohamnad 's participation in the war, but Sir John 

Lawrence, then the chief Coru:1issioner of Punjab, 

27. E. S .L .,l. 1857/149 Ecb.'!ards to Jarnes Ho v. 25, 56. 

28. ~1he ether members of the mission were (i) Lt. 
Lumsden, (ii) Dr. Bellew, (iii) Ghul8.IJ! SaTivar 
Kagwani. 
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opposed this :project, doubting Dost Nohanœtad' s 

sincerity and strength. 29· 

The British fleet reached the Persian Gulf 

earlier than the news. It took the Persians by 

surprise, 30 • and Bushire, the maritime capital of 

Persia to the invaders on Decerr:.ber 10, 1856. 31 • 

29. (i) Dost showed his reaaJ.ness at Peshawar to 
undertake invasion of Herat. Edwardes favoured 
his move. See Enitome u.74. 

30. 

(ii) Even Ca:nning was at" this sta8;e harbouring the 
idea of wa;;;;ins vrar on the Afghan-Herat border. 
See Bhand, A .L. J.eneral Jorm Jacob, London 1900. 
Canning to Jacob July 13, 56, pp248-49. 
(iii) ihere is an indication in the G-ranville 
Pauers that Clarendon favoured the Afghan 
uarticiuation in the war. Granville Pauers P.B..O. 
30/29/2i. Cam:ing to GrarlVille, Feb. 21, 57. 
(iv) J.P. Grant, a member of the Governor-General's 
executive council differed with his other colleagues 
on the decision of confininr:; the oneration of war 
only to the Persiru1 Gulf. ~See n~r. pan. LVI 1878-
79~ pp.753-54. 
(v) Î1The Times" recommended direct action through 
Afghanistan on Herat without the support of Dost 
Nohammad. The Times of London, April 10, 57. p.4. c.5. 
(Hereafter cited as Time~). 

30. Black~lood.t I',1a2azine. "The Persian vJar of 1856-
5711. ·XC 1861, n.34. (Hereafter cited as B.J:.:.) 
Arso see the guârterly Revie"', 11Persia 11 • CI. 1857. 
p.537. Ca:ptain Jones the British uolitical at 
Bushire avoided Gi ving ru1y news of the invasion to the 
Persian authorities. (Hereafter cited as~) There 
is also an accou.."'lt of Persia and Herat in the \'/estminster 
Review, XI. 1857. 

31. General ] 1
• Stalker -vras commanding the .British forces 

at this time. On January 27, 57 he was relieved of 
his charge by Gen. Outram, who was his Junior and who 
had been raised to seniority by a special Brevet. 
Stalker conunitted suicide at Bushire. See S.H.C. (P) 
1857/43. Nurray to Clarendon (copy), April 11, 57. 
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J.'he war was short li ved • Persian losses were heavy 

compared wi th 1.~gland • s. The Persian Goverr.!l:len t had 

approached Rus for help,32 • and the Russian forces 

were observed assembling on the Caspian,33. but no 

direct assistance arrived from Russia. 

actually three clashes, and Persia lost Khushab, 

Hohammarrah and Ahwaz. 34 • ller.:;otiations in the mean-

time had been onened and the treaty of Paris was 

sig;ned on l:arch 4, 1857. Persia engaged to evacuate 

i ts ±'orees from Eerat an<l nromised not to make any 

claim on the sovereignty of in the future, nor 

to meddle in the internal affairs of the states of 

Af ghan.i stan. Und er the tree. ty stipula ti on a l3ri ti sh 

mission led by !•1ajor Taylor vras deputed to visit Herat 

to insnect the Persian withdrawal from that city.35. 

32. F. 0. 6 5/492. Vfodehouse to Clarendon no • 4. , Jan. 1, 
57. Also see S.H.C. (P) 1857-43. Wodehouse to 
Clarendon (copy), Feb. 19, 57. 

33. F.O. 65/492. '1/odehouse to Clarendon no. 31., Jan. 
10' 57. 

34. At Bushire on Dec. 29, 56: :(hushab, ]1e b. 7, 57: 
Noharr1..!Ylarrah on I,Iarch 28 • 

35. The ether mer:-1bers of the r:üssion were Lt. Hardy 
of the Bombay Artillery and Lt. Clerk of the 
Hadras Cavalry. 
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The Treaty of Paris36 • as the subsequent 

events sho\ved, eave Bri tain nothing. Britain won 

the war but lest the peace.37. The peace proved 

to be a great victory for Persia. From the very 

outset of negotiations, Persia insisted on quashing 

Kabul's right over Herat; a solution much against 

the British interest and policy. J3ri tain a pproved 

this plea of Persia in principle and it was just by 

accident that this arrangenent escaped fo~1ing part 

of the wri tt en agreerùent. Lord CO\·J'ley, the British 

anbassador at Paris and signatory of the treaty, on 

the authority of Lord Clarendon, the British Foreign 

!iinister, assured his counterpart Farrukh Khan,the 

Persian envoy, that the status quo would be maintained 

in Herat,and Britain did not wish to bring any change 

in the e:xisting political division of Afghanistan. 

Farrukh Kha..'1 was promised a wri tten guarantee on the 

subject, but his note arrived almost a fortnight after 

the signing of the treaty.3S. Taylor's mission in 

36. l!1or te:xt of the treaty see Rm'llinson, H. E:nglanp. 
ru1d Russia in the East London, 1875. Appendix 4. 
{Hereafter ci ted as Rawlinson.) 

37. Bushev, P.P. Gerat i Anglo-Iranskava Boina 1856-
Zl. Ho seo''', 1959 p .169. 

38. s.H.C. (P) 1857/42 Cowley to Clarendon (copy) no. 
438 Harch 18, 57. 

----------------~---····------· 
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the same spirit had been instructed to reco~1ise 

any state of government which it found existing 

in Herat_39. 

The whole war looked at fron its results,was an 

extravagant vraste. Britain spent more than a quarter 

of a million pounds,40. besides the blood involved, 

but gained nothing. Lu111sden was highly disappointed 

to learn of this situation,and called it 11 England 1s 

t t .P • l . t 1 • . l . , . Il 41 • d grea es .1.al ure ln cen ra Aslan po l"tl.CS , an 

the Duke of Argyll termed the whole project as a 

11I1Iurray pl us Fam 11 show. 42 • ïhe Parliament, though in 

complete ignorance of procedure of the war and its 

result, did sense the situation,and deplored that the 

main obj ect of the \·Jar had been 11abandoned 11 •
43 • 

39. E.S.L.I. 1859/172 Taylor to Edr:wnstone ]'eb. 
58. 

40. Dost Eohanu:md only recei ved an ac;grecate of twenty 
one lak">J. of rupees. The subsidy vms started on 
Jan. 57 and last u11 to Sept eu ber 58. This 
subsidy decidedly helped savine India from 
Afghan invasion durinz catastrophe of 7. 

41. E.S.L.I. 1859/172 Lumsden's Report on the Qandhar 
Hission p.235-6. 

42. Granville Papers P.R.O. 30/29/51 Argyll to 
Granville (private) June 30, 72. 

43. Hansard. Commons, CL 1857 col. 1850. 
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ïhis pattern of policy on the British part gave 

Persia liberty to shape affairs as she pleased in Herat. 

:::Jhe had Isa Khan, the new ruler of Herat murà.ered,
44

• 

and at her withdrawal, nominated to the throne of 

Herat, Sultan Ar...rnad Khan, son of Azim Khan of Qandhc:\r. 

He ·vms Dost r-·:oha~x~::~d 'a nephew e.nd son-in-law, and had 

aqquired a certain re~-mtation for his • • .L an1mo Sl L>"Jr to the 

lliglish havinc; fought a,~~ainst them in the First Anglo-

Afghan \'lar (1839-42) and the Second Sikh \'lé:.r (1848-49). 

~he new ruler possessed all the ~ualifications the 

Persians looked for. He gave a written gu~rantee at 

the time of his appointment to the Persian Sadre Azam 

(Prime Hinister) that he would be contented under the 

vassalage of Persia. This he carried out com~nletel;y b;y 

keepin,'; both the K."mtba ( swearing feal t;y at con.c;rega tional 

) d th . . Ç•h 1 'IIJ • d D" ·'~· ~· 45. pra;yer an e co1n 1n .:; a :1 .~.~as1ru · 1n o ne-~me. 

This ~;.ras an open viola ti on of the Treaty of Paris. 

Bath Hurray46 • and Taylor47. protested asainct it to 

44. E.S.L.I. 1859/172. ïaylor to Eclmonstone, Hov. 2. 
57. Taylor says he was murdered on the direct 
orders of the Shah. 

45. E.ü.L.I. 1859/172. 11aylor to Eurray no. 13 (copy) 
Oct. 22, 57. 

46. :E'.O. 60/219. Hurray to Clarendon, Sept. 17, 57. 

47. E.S.L.I. 12·59/172. Taylor to Nurray no. 13 • .Ql?.• 
cit. 
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t_1·te British :F·oreign office. But Whitehall calmed 

its offended lieutenants by advisin~ them that 

11 H.H. Government was indifferent v1hether Herat was 

virtually or actually subservient to Persia 11 • The 

latter state at least was ac1mowledgement of the 

independence of Herat in "words".
48 • 

Dut in spite of the indifference of London to 

Herat and the animosity of Teheran to Britain, the British 

Hission under J.'aylor was recei ved well b;y' Sul tan Ah.'TJ.ad 

K."lan. :Ehe mission found the ruler of Herat altogether 

a changed man, full of admiration and intimicy for the 
___.,_/-

British. He com·plained both to ~aylor49 • and 

Nohamrnad 1'Jaqi,50. the Indian agent, about the 

insinceri ty of Persia, and looked forward anxiom3ly for 

British sup:oort in restoring pros peri ty to his dor:ünion, 

which Taylor fm.md, after the ravages of the war, as 11 one 

map of ruins 11 • In the meantime Sul tan Ahmad vœote 

48. :B1 .0. 60/216. Clarendon to Hurray no. 137, Oct. 
28' 57. 

49. E.S.L.I. 1859/172. Taylor to l·Iurray no. 19 (coDy), 
Narch 5, 58, and Taylor to 3drnonstone no. 4., Jan 1, 
58. 

50. E.S.L.I. 1859/169. Deposition of Ivl. Naqi. pp.675-
80. l'Jaai was Edward's secret acTent in Herat. He 
brought â letter from ;)'ultan Ahrn8:d addressed to 
Edwards in Dec. 57. 
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11 several letters 11 to Ed\·rardes, • as the 11 door of 

erunity is shut ar::.d that of 
52. 

endship throvm open 11 • 

Taylor personall;:;.r was muel: os ed by the fran2;:: and 

frienclly dis po si ti on of Sul tan Alunad tüi·mrds .:Errgland 

and recor_;:;::::.ended edy assü::tance for the ruler of 

Her2..t. 

But neither the overtures of Sultan Ahmad nor 

the reco::rrrrendations of Taylor affected, even slightly, 

the attitude of the :Briti Goverru:.1ent. 

immediate indifference to Herat 1)reoents a strange 

phenomenon in the British })Olicy towards that state. 

Britain had a vital strategie interest !{erat. She 

had been strugg1ing continually for its independence. 

\'ll'lat now made Bri tain so indifferent to Eerat? 

This tepiclity to Herat must be vie'\l;ed in a 

broader context. :B'irstly, the grm'lin(j im::_:)ortance of 

--·---
51. E.S.L.I. 1859/172 Sultan Ahmad to NazirYJ'lairul1ah 

Khan Sept. 10, 58. Khairul1ah was an Afghan 
pensio:nery of the Gover-.ronent of India at :)eshawar. 

52. E.S.L.I. 1859/171 Sultan Ahnad to Edwardes I;Jov. 
3' 57. 

53. E.S.L.I. 1858/171 
E. S. T,. T. 1859/172 
and no. 4. January 
Taylor to Eèl.vrardes 

Taylor to ~\·rardes Oct. 26, 57. 
Taylor to Bdmonstone lrov. 2, 57 
1, 58. E.S.L.I. 1858/169 
Dec. 10, 57. 
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Persia ir.:. the defences of India é',gainst expanding 

Russia i:n Central Asia was eiving way to a 

conciliatory attitude towards the former state. 

Persia was tl1e major state bordering on 1urkistan, 

then in schemes of Russian conquest. Britain 

favoured Persian conquest to that Russia in Central 

Asia and Rttssell in 1860 a9;)roved Persian expansion up 

to the Herv oasis and takinr; over the Turkomans. 54 • 

The growinc influence of Rawlinson: 55 • over the Indian 

administration in London further augr.:1ented the Persian 

cause in Britain. Herat, Rawlinson believed, must 

form part of a stronr:t friendly state. Rawlinson 

favoured Teheran to Kabul, and,also,he preferred a 

stronger Persia than Afghanistan.56 • Besides,Persia was 

a more ci vilised sta te than Afghanistan and \·Jas vlell 

represented at the i·restern courts; i t had grea ter influence 

54. F.O. 60/246 Russell to Alison no. 57 July 25, 60. 

55. Sir Henry Creswick Rawlinson (1810-95) Bombay 
service, 1827: instructor Persian Arrny; 1833-39, 
Political Assist&Lt Iillbul; 1839-40; Political 
agent Turkish Arabia 1843; Consul-General Bachdad 
1844; exploration Babylonia 1846-55; Director 
East India Company 1856; Nember India Cotmcil 
1858-59 and 1868-95. 

56. P..avllinson. ou. ci,!. p. • 
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in vvhi tehall than had Kabul, '\vhich was only kno\'m 

trœough Peshawar. Farrwu~ Khan, the Persian envoy 

to Britain, by his successful negotiation of the 

treaty, friendly manners and affable disposition 

towards 13ritain,had won the hearts both at home and 

in Bri tain. 57 • The dea th of Sadr Azam Agha lfuri and 

the appoin't' .. nent of Farrukh to his post promoted further 

d t d • • A~ 1 • 1 t • 58 o un ers an lng 1n ~1g o-Pers1~~ re a 1ons. 

Secondly, the outbreeJ-;: of the mutiny in India, 

directed British attention from the borders of Inclia 

toits heart. All the available ftmds and energy were 

directed towards the su~,ression of the . . 59. r1Eang. 

So o bsessed vras the Times ,.,.,i th the latter that there 

was hardly any mention of Herat's politics in its 

colQ~1s between the years 1858· and 1860. Nor did the 

contemporary jour.nals and periodicals show any interest 

in Herat 1 s affairs. The Hutiny obsessed the :9ress, the 

Parliament,the public,anc.l the political leaders. 

This contingency also halted communication among the 

policy makers. From Clarendo~at the top to Taylor 

57. Eastwick II OP. ci t. ID .133-34. 

58. Agha Huri died in 1860. 

59. E.S.L.I. 1859/172 Taylor to Edmonstone Feb. 
58: refers to the Board's reply in response to 
his request for aid to Herat. 



- 19 -

at the bottom, each was pressing his i~nediate senior, 

or junior, as to the policy to be pursued regarding 

Herat. 
60 

• IJ:•his was follm·,red by an extraordinary 

amount of ignorance in the British political service 

on Central Asia. Public leaders longed for information, 

and political workers, wanting in instructions, became 

inactive and dull. Taylor found his stay in Herat 

useless, and full of harm. 61 • 

Thirdly, British poli ti cal opinion \vas di vided on the 

subject of Herat. Lumsden from Qandhar recommended 

handing over Herat to Ghulam Raider, the heir-apparent 

60. (i) b"H.C. (P) 1858/50. F.O. to India Board, Jan. 
28, 58., 2. for G.G.'s vievlS on Herat. 
(ii) Ibid. I.B. to F.O., Feb. 1, 58., shovs 
ignorance of GoverEment of India policy on the 
subject. 
(iii) E.S.L.I. 1859/172. G.G. to Dost Hoha:mmad 
Sept. 10, 58. Cannine ex_oressed his i:~nora.nce of 
the Herat settlement. 
(iv) IP.O. 60/219. J\Iurray to Canning a as to 
the policy regardin,~: Berat. 
(v) E.B.L.I. 1858/171. Gover!llJent of Punjab to 
India no. 839, Dec. 17, 57., asks the supreme 
Governi·nent to inst;ruct on the }JOlicy and reply to 
be made to the ruler of Herat. 
(vi) E .s .L .I. 1858/169. l'aylor to Ed\·mrdes, Dec. 
10, 57., asks asto Goverrilllent of India 1 s views on 
Herat. 
(vii) Ibid. Lumsden Diary no. 11. 19-25 1Vlarch, 58 
on t~1e--same subject • 

. 61. E.S.L.I. 1859/172. Taylor to Bdmonstone, Feb. 22, 
58. 
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of Dost Hohe.rarJ.ad and Son-in-Law o.f the la te Yar 

l·Iohar:unad of Herat. 62 • Taylor found in Sultan AP~ad 

a genuine authority to preside over Herat. llurray 

\vho had assumed a somet·That concilia tory attitude 

towards Persia after a personal q_uarrel with that 

state, took a less Sffilé:,"Uine vie\" of the uni ty in the 

63 Afghan state. • Edwardes vras all in faveur of Dost 

111oharrJitad~4 • and La\·Trence' s 11wisest policy" ·was back 

to Indùs, that is, to deliver un the shawar valley 

to the Dost and to let Central Asia solve itB prob1ems 

by itself. 65· 

Hence, the changing pattern of thoueht towards 

Persia, the great political unheaval inside India, and 

the di ty of approach to the Herat question, hindered 

the making of a sensible policy. 

On the other hand, the tradi tiona1 ri valry betvreen 

Herat and Kabul was urging the former to look for a 

62. E.S.L.I. 1858/169 Lumsden :al>iar;:l no. 7. April 27, 
57. 

63. F.O. 60/220 Nurray to Clarendon no. 8. Dec. 15, 
57. 

64. E.S.L.I. 1858/169 Edwardes to Tenple no. 662 
June lp, 57. 

65. E.S.L.I. 1859/172 Government of I~jab to India 
no. 332 Oct. 21, 58. 
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dependable ally. Sultan Ahmad, as the contem~orary 

accounts aeree, vms an am bi tious ruler, full ofvigour 

and drive. The Persian Government he suspected and to 

Britain he made friendly ovcrtures, but received no 

encouragement. On the contrc-,ry, Taylor's mission was 
66. 

wi thdra\'m, and to the great chagrin of the ruler 

of Herat, durinc; the rüddle 1858, a plot \·ras i1a tched 

in the British Elnbassy at Teheran to depose Bultan 

Ahmad and tc install Prince l!ohammad Raza, the younger 

brother of Prince Yussuf.
67

• 

66. Taylor left Herat on JYI2.rch l, 1858. 

67. Sultan Ahmad arrested two British agents involved 
in the :9lot. They were Mirza A..'lunad Ali and Hirz~ 
Zainul A bide en. Both vrere secret agents of 
Edward es in Herat. Ahmad was a ne1:1s wri ter, \·rhile 
Zain a somewhat sr:w .. rt man, \'ras a eo-between of the 
Bri ti étnd the rulinc; parties at Herat. He 
helped in paving the way for·Taylor's mission and 
the latter spoke highly of him. 

On their release from Herat under diplomatie 
immuni ty, both c ssed that they \·lere working 
against l:5ultan Ahmad at the instigation of 
.Jri tish .l!lnbasGy. A..J..unad r;ave the stor;y oi' s 
personal part in the t to Lm·œence at shavmr. 
See E.S.L.I. 1859/172 Temple to Edmonstone no. 
335 lrov. 15, 58 and the enclosure in i t of Alunad 1 s 
deposition of Oct. 28, 58. 

Zain gave full details of his shares in the plot 
to Rawlinson at Teheran. See F.O. 60/247 no. 7. 
Both Taylor and. Eurray expressed absolute ignorance 
of the :plot and called it a machination of the native 
staff. See for Taylor's deferree of himself in 
E.S.L.I. 1859/172 S:aylor to Edmonstone Jan. , 
58. p.783-790 and also E.S.L.I. 1861-65/176 Taylor 
to Aitchison Jan. 5, 186~. 

• • continued •• 
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This was a turning point in Sultan Ahmad's trust in 

the E:nglish. From then onward,he abandoned hopes of 

od~rlll from Britain,and looked elsewl1ere for an ally. 

Sul tan A...l-nnad fell bacle on Persia, recei ving ten 

thou sand toomans in cash besides guns 2...11d povrder. 68 • 

Persia, in return required him to close his domilüon to 

the British influence, which he promptly did. Sad re 

Azam Agha Nuri furni shed hiL1 wi a list of persans to 

be intimidated and vigilantly guarded ae;ainst. The 

victiJ!lS under r.1ost suspicion vrere those who had 

favoured ,;rea ter intimacy lvi th England. A period of 

arrest and torture 1.vas ushered in àt He rat for the pro­

English element there. 69· 

But the Persian treasury could not stand the 

heavy demands of the greedy vassal. A moneyed bidder 

67. (cont). 
The re are strong indien ti ons in one o:f ~-1urray' s 

letters that he was aware of the ·ola:nned revolution 
at Herat. See F.O. 60/231 Eurrây to Nalmesbury 
no. 13, Nay 15, 53. See Ei:urray' s defence of himself 
S.H.C. 1860/54 l>1urray to Russell (copy) !,Iay 4, 1860 • 
.Raw1inson hirnself \'ras convinced tha t 11 the plot vras 
ei ther originated by the British a,::;ents or at any 
rate they were deeply implicated in it. 11 :b'.O. 
60/247 no. 7. Feb. 26, 60. 

68. I;.S,L.l. 1859/172 Taylor to Edmonstone Feb. 22, 58. 

69. Kt~.L.I. 1859/172 Taylor to Nurray (copy) no. 15. 
and 16. Feb. 18, 1858 p.895-7. 
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was required • .. A.nd Russia steo9ed in. r~. V. Khanikoff, 

the c.cting consul-c;eneral at ~abrez, and a talented 

orienta1ist, vi ted Herat in the iülttu:m of 1858. 

He was s;iven a rousing recel;tion, and held secret meetings 

'vi th Sul tan Ahmad. 
70 

• Khanikoff expressed wil1ingness 

to advance a Russian loan to Herat,
71

• and persuaded its 

ru1er to negotiate a treaty with .Hus 72. 

The treaty, as its draft showed, ai:med at the 

Dromotion of Rus sian trade and commerce in =rerat: i t 

authorised Rus to appoint a permanent agent at Herat, 

in addition to r:1aking the dominion of Berat amenab1e 

to Russian trade. 1:he treaty "~!las to be ap!)roved and 

guaranteed by l'ersian GoveiT.rnent durinp; the Sul 

Ahmad ' s vi si t to 2..1ehercul • ~u1 tan ilhrnad was req_uested to 

open corresnondence on the subject with the Hussiau 

70. E.s.L.I. 1860/172. Kabul Diary. (Hereafter cited as 
K.D.), Oct. 24-30, 1859, 

71. Khanikoff had also been accredited on a mission to 
Kabul, but Dost I·.lohamnad, on the British ad vice, 
refused to receive him. B.s.L.I. 1859/172. G.G. to 
C. C. 11elegram, lJov. 10, 58. 

72. :b'. 0. 60/248. Rmvlinson to Russell no. 13, A 25, 60. 
In 1860 the draft of this treaty was sent for Rawlinson's 
study and ac:lvice. Hmvlinson discouraged Persia' s 
approval of it. :t.'ntire contents of the treaty are taken 
from this letter. 
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Legation at Herat, who 'irrould help to o btain the Shah 1 s 

consent. Count Anitch.ko.ff, the Russian Einister at 

1eherm1,did not fail to Sultan ~~ad in good 

humour by consignments of -oresents and sweet com~:üiments. 

His arrival was anxiously awaited at Tehera.n to ratify 

the treaty. 73· 

Khanikoff's proceedings at Herat set up a wave 

of apprehension in the 3ritish political circle, 

Edwardes blamed Hurray for his diplomatie failure against 

Ru . . r~ t 7 4 • I. . ' . t bl ' L d 7 5 • ss~a ~n ... 1era • ·mrray, ~n n~ s urn, am eu on on. 

Lumsden called Khanikoff 1 s reception at Herat a t,;reat 

diplomatie victory for Ru:3sia in Central Asian poli tics. 76 • 

A contemporary penma..11 dez:i ved the same conclÙsion while 

\VTi ting on the poli tics of Herat. 77 • 

The expostulations of the J3riti renresentative 

73. Ibid. 

74. E.S.L.I. 1859/172 Edwardes Hemorandum Sept. 11, 58. 

75. ;s.S.L.I. 1878/19 pecret Eemorandum on Afghanistan 
p. 23' refers to Hurray 1 s Opll11011. r•:urray had 
already protested against the Govern1nent policy 
regarding Herat in early 1858. See F.O. 60/229 
no. 4. 

76. E.S.L.J:. 1859/172 Lumsden re-;;ort op.cit. p.234. 

77. Ji...l:i. xcv ou. ci t. Pp .4 70-71. 

' 
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in Central Asia ~~d India received a proper hearing 

at this time. The Tories under Lord Derby had come 
1 

into pov1er for a short uhile 78 • and the control of 

Persian affairs tra.nsferred fron1 the Foreign Office 

to the India Office, in Harch 1858.79. The Tories 

-vrere much r.10re sen si ti ve over the Central Asian 

question and 1·;ere deeply interested in the safety 

of Herat for the defence of India. A secret commi ttee, 

consisting of G. Clark, F. Currie, H. Rawlinson and J. 

Kay as secretary, was appointed to advise the Government 

on the policy and means, to be adopted,regarding Kabul 
80 and Herat. • The comnü ttee made many sound and 

concrete recor:unendations re garding Central Asian affairs; 

it urged the restoration of British influence in Central 

78, Palmerston Nü stry was defea ted to'l;;ards the end of 
Feb. 1858 on the French conspiracy question. 

79. Palnerston gi ves two reasons for his tra...."lsfer. (i) 
the charge for the consolidated fund was exhausted 
without providinc; for the Persian legation. (ii) 
Nalmesbury called the whole of Forei~:sn Office 
business a 11damned bore 11 • He wrote to the envovs 
abroad not to send lent.;thy despatches. Palmerston 
Paners N.ss 48581/61 Palmerston to Russell (private) 
Oct. 25, 59. 

80. E.S.L.I. 1878/19 Secret memo ou. cit. p.23-4. 
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Asia and it asked for the location of a permanent 

British resident at Herat. 81 • 

The new ministry a?proved the cmmlli ttee' s 

reconunenda ti ons. The Govenunent of India was 

instructed to a;rpoint ei ther !1ajor Lwnsden who led 

the Qandhar l·1ission, or Najor Green of the Sindh Irregular 

Horse, or someone else of similar frontier standing to 

represent the Briti interest in Herat, to keen an eye 

on the designs of Russia in Central Asia and to counteract 

"the restless activities" of that nation. 82 • The minis-

terial instructions to the Govenm1ent of India deplored 

the lack of interest in Afghan affairs. The instructions 

aimed at a rauid cha..'Ylge in the policy to be pursued regarding 

Central Asia.83. 

Another important steD was the appointment of 

Ravllinson to the court of Persia. 

81. Ibid. 

82. Letters to India etc. 1859/69/I. Secretary of State 
to G.G. no. 2. and 3., Feb. 3 and 10, 1859 respectively, 
and April 1859, pp. 29-39. The last narned letter vms 
not despatched to India. It was very forceful in 
language on the subject of Russian activities in 
Central Asia. 

83. Ibid. The G.G. was also asked to station a British 
agent at Qandhar. 
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Rawlinson's oriental interest and Russophobia84· 

were not unknown at this time. He was Derby's 
. 85. 

personal selectlon. Ravflinson' s instructions, 

both from Stanley and from \'food, his i:rnmediate 

superiors at the India Office, laid much emphasis on 

counter-acting the Russian activities in Central Asia. 86 • 

Rawlinson, on his way to Persia, met Khanikoff at 

:i:iflis, and sensed from his talk the amount of influence 

Russia enj at Herat, 87 • and he was even more convinced of 

this after Sultan Ahmad, during the Russian arranged 

visit of the Herati ruler to Teheran. During the 

84. Binee 1837, durin~ his residence in Persia, 
Rawlinson was convinced of the aggressive attitude 
of Russia Central Asia, t'lhich grew stronger as 
Russia expanded in tha t region. See Rm'llinson' s 
article in "Calcutta Revie\·.r XII 1849 and also his 
book E:ngland and Russia in the East op. cit. p.l. 

85 • Ravvlinson, G. Hemoirs of Hai • Gen. Sir H. C. 
RaHlinson, London 1898, p.20 • 

86. Since Stanley was leaving the office after the 
defeat of the ministry, hio instructions were not 
de ched. S.E.C. 1859/53A., P::9•483-59. 

For vlood 's instructions see F .0. 60/237. \food to 
Rawlinson no. 2., Aug. 24, 59. 

87. F.O. 60/240. Rawlinson to \'lood no. 4., Nov. 10, 59. 
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various interviev1s that Ravvlinson haà wi th ~ul tan 

Ahmad, the forner thoroughly convinced him of the 

friendly intentions of Britain towards his state. 

S'ul tan .Ah.àad be came a great admirer of the new Dri tish 

Ttinister at Teheran and could not hide from Lewis Pelly, 

the Secretary of the British legation,the fact he thought 

Rawlinson's "simple shake of the hand carries more 

conviction of friendship to my mind than all the words 
88. 

of the other men 11 • To ri. Graff of the Rus sian 

Let;ation, v;hom §ul tan Ah.rnad :net for the formulation of 

Russo-Herat treaty, he 11decided to give a categorical 

refusal 11 •
89 • 

Sultan ~1mad also ~romised to stop the reading of 

the Khutba and Llintint-:; of money in the Shah' s nane as 
90. 

soon as he was able to stand on his ovm fe et. 

Acquiescin; in Sul tan .Ahmad' s request, Raulinson pror.lised 

to send a British ofiïcer to Herat and Lewis Pelly, vvas 

selected for the purpose. Pelly visited Herat for three 

weeks in October 1860,ancl was much impressed by Sultan 

Al " l f • dl t , , • dm • • t t • 1 • 91 • ~1mau s r~en y ges ures ana n~s a , ~1us ra ~ ve s alls. 

88. F.O. 60/249. Pelly to Russell ho. 85. r"I2~l 22, 60. 

89. F.O. 60/249 Rmllinson to Russel]_ no. 83 'r'.:ro--;;r 
.... .4.CvJ 17, 60. 

90. :t'. 0. 60/256 Pelly to Alison Oct. 11, 60. 

91. Ibid. 
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H.mvlinson hims developed much liking for the 

5'u.l tan and exhorted I3ri tain to make a for:mal treaty 

•tl h. 92 · \"ll 1 lifl. These frieno.ly di:;?lome.tic overtures 

created ru1 encourasin; impression on Sultru1 ~~ad's 

mind, which he did not fail to communicate.93. 

He acldressed the Governor-General of India, shm·Jing 

his perfect ss to act on the sh Govern-

ment's advice. 

\/hile Sul tan A..'Yrrnad 'l'las honeymooning wi th the 

fresh English friendly overtures and Ravrlinson v1as 

jubilant about s di:rüomatic victory over Ani tc!lkoff, 

ne1·1 developments occurred at London 

the destiny of Herat. The nevJ Lib 

affectinJ; 

~r· . . q;;; J1n1s-cryJ ..... · 

which had come into poiver was far fror.l satisfied \li th 

the solution of Herat. Persian affairs v1ere once again 

92. F.O. 60/249 no. 83. on. ci_t. 
93. F.O. 60/256 Sultan A.lnnad to Alison Dec. 1860 in 

Alison to Russell Jan. 5, 61. 

94. P.O. 60/251 Sultan ~L~ad to G.G. (no data). 

95. Derby Ninistry was defeated on a Hartington Notion 
in June 1859. 
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sferred to the ]1oreign 
O' 

ce::l 0 
• 

' 
and the Herat 

question was e;iven careful study in the light of the 

late political perspectives. Sir Charles Wood the 

veteran Indian secretary, was the major ministerial 

power in the field of Central Asian di:plomacy. 

Palmerston, growinc; old, hacl lost all ir2.terest in 

it. s 11great gar..1e 11 of 1839-42 in Centre.l Asia, 

had not been encouraging.97. Lord Jolm Russell 

Sir Charles Wood were batting at the \·ric}::ets 

and the score of the latter was Wood doubted 
98. 

the advisabili ty of the polic;y pursued tmvards Herat. 

96. 

97. 

presented the crux 

Control over the Persian remained 
throughout the later course of the Iü:neteenth 
Century a suoject of controversy between the 
India and Foreign Offices. India used to 
contribute a fixed sum of 12,000 am1ually for 
the establishment in Persia. Office made 
repeated claims on the control of the British 
Lege.tiœ1 at Teheran. The comrni of the House 
of Comr:10ns on :Diplomatie and. consule,r services in 

70 also favoured Inùia's Salisbury in 
1876-77 exerted his influence s right but 
nothin{: came of it. 

Palmerston Papers preserved in the British Nuseum 
contain nothinx on this phase of Central Asian 

litics. There is only one letter in his 
colle·ction relev~nt to this It -v·ras on tl1e 
transfer of the ?ersia:n müH:iion to :.!!' .0. 

98. P.O. 60/237 no. 2. ou. oit. 
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of the who1e prob1em of the north western defences 

of India. He was cœ1vinced now of wlu:~t the Govern-

ment of India had pleaded in 1857, that Herat r:mst 
ag 

be 11tmder a strm:g Afgb.an kingdom 11 • .,~ • 

This idea vras not ne\;, but i t had new force 

novr. It appealed because of Russia's direct 

dealin~s with Herat. It appealed to Russell nore 

than anybody else, resulting in one of his blunt 

expressions "why Herat may not belont; to Dost Huhaili.~"Yiad 

lOO. 
wi thout disquietin,:::; Persia". Rawlinson sensed 

this development of thought at vlhi teha11. ~0 

uncloud the new approach on Herat, he invited the 

instructions of the Foreizn Office on one of his 

three suggestions: either to guarantee Herat's 

independence, or to de1iver it to Persia or to open 

. t t D t ' . . 101. 1 o os s 1nvas1on. The Foreign Office 

f cl th b t . ~ th l ~ t• d l. 102 • pre erre e o serva 1on OI e asv nen 1one po 1cy. 

99. Russell Papers I.R.O. 30/22/78 Wood to Russell 
tprivatej Feb. 6, 60. 

100. b,H.C. 1860/54 1!'.0. ta I.O. Ru.ssell's draft of 
instruction to Hav!linson in Feb. 1860, submi tted 
to I.O. for its cornrwnts. The latter advised to 
couch the language in diplomatie terms instead of 
nakin:; it open. e I.O. to I'.O. !·~arch 10, 60. 

101. :F.O. 60/247 Rawlinson to vlood Jan. 2, 60. 
102. ::>.11.0. 1860/54 F·.o. to I.O. Feb. 16, 60 refers to 

Ra.wlinson' s let ter and the policy ar]~JToved. 
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Hence the Government of India was instructed 

not to send an agent to Herat, as suggested by the 

Conservative Gover:nment; out t.he agent, if already 
103. 

despatched, to be recalled. 

Affairs of the Herat-Afghan borders i"!ere 

always critical. :..iince Septenber 1857, :Dost 
lOt... 

Hoharrunad had be en encroaching on Here,t terri tory. · 

He had undertaken the .An,_;lo-Afghan alliance of 1857 

with a great hope of bri:n,sing Herat back und.er Kabul's 

control. Sul tan Ahmad 1 s no:r;ünation to that 
105. 

principality hacl greatly annoyed him. 

But ..:.nclish diplomacy did not annrove of Dost's 

-----
103. Letters to_ India etc. 1859/69/I becretary of 

State to vicero;y Aug. 26, 59. 

104. E.S.I,.I. 1859/169 LULlsden's ])iary no. 23. p.248 
and no. 25. p. 258 report Kabul 's a/?,gression on 
the fort of Jer:D.rd. Also Edvlardes to Brandreth 
no. 917 Sept. , 57 report F·oujder' s intelligence 
of Ka.bul' s hostile designs ac:;ainst :-rerat. 
E.S.L.I. 18.58/161 ::taylor to Hurray (copy) Sept. 
26, 57 reports Afghan invasion of Ghor. 

105. hS .]j .I. 1858/169 Ed1·rardes to Brandrath :no. 917 
ou. cit. Lumsden's Dia(;y no. 13, 5-11 June, 57. 
Also Taylor to Hurray copy) Sept. 26, 57. 
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aggressi ve intentions tovmrds Herat, and he had be en 

warned against such pro 
106. 

:Four years 

la ter, Dost I·:Ioha.m.mad founC. an opportruü ty. He 

sensed a change in British polie~ and quickly found 

a eenuine cause for action when the ru1er of Herat 

seized the Kabul-held district of Farrah. History 

has it that the governor of Ghore, a principa1ity of 

Herat, instigated a murder in Farrah. The governor 

of Farrah raided and reduced Ghore to submission. 

5u1tan Ahmad replied in equa1 measure by taking over 

Farrah,107. once a principality of Herat,and lost to 

it since 1856 whe:n Dost Hoharrnnad occupied it. The 

106. (i) 1857/22 r·Iurray drew 1!1 .0. 's attention to 

107. 

Dost s aggression on Oct. 20, 57. F.O. reouested 
I:ndia House on Hov. 30 to adVise Dost 
this action. The Board instructed the G.G. on 
Dec. 10, 57 on the subject. 
(ii) E.S.L.I. 1858/169 Government of India to 
Punjab no. 49 Ja~. 27, 58 on the s&~e subject. 
Government of Iunjab to commissioner shawar no. 
42. Jan. 27, 58. in anticipation of the instruction 
to tell Lumsden to warn the Ar-:1ir against aç;gression 
on Herat. 

Sul tan Ahrnad al ways laid clai:r:l to 
been threateninG to use force for 
A1lahdad the Kabu1 envoy to Herat 
about it. See ~&s.L.I. 1658/169 
!·1arch 17, 58. 

J!'arrah and had 
its restoration. 
was p1ainly to1d 

Kabul Diarv 
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Kabul forces were set in motion Herat on 

June 16, 1862. Farrah \·ras taken back after a short 

sie[.;e on the 29th and Ilost Noharrm:ad set out towards 

Herat in early July and besiéged the city on July 

28.108. 

The fall of Herat to Kabul was not une:x~:2ected. 

Persia fel t as alarr:1ed as Sul Alilllad who had sent 

his Vazier, Hassan Ali, to Khurassan to negotiate for 
109. 

Persian help. The Shah's Government approached 

Charles Alison the British r~~inister at Teheran 

requesting either individual or u~ited efforts to 

stop the war over Herat, since i t \vas e:ndangering 

bath Persian prestige and borders. Alison's 

message direct from Teheran and the telep;r8L1S via 
110. 

Constantinople almost flooded the Foreign Office. 

108. Epitome op. ci,:t.pp.ll6-22. Also Eastwick II 
on. cit. p.l27-8. Eastwick's chronology differa 
fron E'pi tome. I l1ave preferred the la tt er' s 
authority. 

109. Eastwick, II. op. cit. p.241. 

110. F.O. 60/267 nos. 81, 84, 86 and F.O. 60/269 nos. 
148, 154, 156. S.H,C. 1862/56 Bulwar to 
Russell July 7, 62. Aug. 6, 62, and S.H.C. 
1863/57 Erskine to Russell Hov. 4, 62. 
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Persia a1so \varned him to use her force in defence 

f IT t 111. o tera • 1\Iahmud Khan, the Persian en voy in 

London met RUl3Se11 on February 12, in protest 

against Ka bu1' s arçgression on Herat, and two days 

1ater submi tted a memorandur:1 on the Persian stand 
112. 

and honour invo1ved in the strugg1e. 

But no encouragement was sho~·m to the 

Persian entreaties in London. On the contrary, 

the frontier authori ti es of the Govermnent of India 

' D t 1rr h d ' ' + . th 11 3 • ap:provea os 'J.O- anllila s conauc" 1n e \var. 

Though Ghu1am Hussain, the British Vakee1 who had 

accompanied the Ar.lir 1 s camp to Herat, was instructed 

to 1rêt~e.at to Qandhar. This measure was dee:med 

necessary to a11a:r stronG ?ersian suspicio::-1 of the 

})ri tish encouragej:1en t to A"1ir for hi u action a2:ainst 

Herat.
114

• The Foreign Office at first termed the 

111. ~).~LC. 1862/56. Alison 1 s Te1egram. of Aug. 5, 62 
(co:oy). 

112. S.H.C. 1862/57 (copy)np.357-378. 

113. E.S.L~. 1861-65/176 Government of l~1jab to 
India no. 515/766 Sept. 23, 62. 

114. ~· Com.missioner Peshawar to Valcee1. Aug. 7, 
62. See a1so Government of India to Pu:njab no. 
931 Oct. 11, 62. The Government of India 
regretted Dost Nohammad' s action a;~ainst Herat 
without prior consultation with India. 
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115. 
Persian pro-tests as an 11 exar;geration 11 , and, later, 

at the India Office's advice, adopted a tough tone 

tO\:Jards Persia.116 • Teheran vms told that the 

Briti Goverm:~.ent would strictly adhere to the 

treaty stipulation of 1857, that had made no promise 

to naintain the present ruler in possession, and the 

British Gove:rnrnent woulcl not be justified under the 

terms of that treaty, in interfering in the strucgle, 

so long as Kabul's operations were confined to the 

Afghan territory. 117 • Palmerston assured ?arliament 

that England would not he si tate to take ste}JS if the 

securi ty of India \·Jas threatened by a:ny outside 

th t t . 118. aggression of e erri ory of Afgha:n1.stan. 

fiHay the Amir live long" exclaimed the anxious 

d t f th m• 119. correspon en o e ~1.mes. The Amir with his 

115. F.O. 60/265 Russell to Alison no. 44, July 9, 62. 

6. S.H.C. 1862/56 I.O. to J?.ü. Aug. 18, 62, Sept. 
24, Ei2 and Oct. 24, 62. 

117. F.O. 60/265 Russell to Alison no. 60 Sept. 24, 
62. and F.O. 60/273 Russell to Thomson no. 15 
Harch 20, 63. 

118. Hansard..! Gommons CLXVII 1862 c.89. 

119. Times Oct. 28, 62. p.lO c.2. 
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sixteen thousand men and thirty two r;uns -vms conducting 

the siege victoriously.l20. Sultan Ahmad deprived of 

Persian support, short of war material, and harrassed 

by internal strifes, extended reneated overtures for 

negotiations to the invader through his v'life, the 

Amir'(l dauehter, and through Persia; 121 • but nothing 

came of them. In the early days of the si , Sultan 

~~nad's wife died and on April 6, 1863, the Sultan 

himself died. His son, Shahnawaz Khan, held out 

gallantly, but, on Hay 27, a vigorous attack of the 

Kabulis, accompanied by the treacheJYof the Herati 

garrison, brought about the fall of Herat. 2. 

~:he fall of Herat brought great relief to the 

British diplomats. Lord Elgin, the Viceroy of India, 

expressed his satisfaction to the A:nir at the canture 

120. Eastwick II, op. cit. p.218. 

121. E.S.L.I. 1861-65/176. K.D. 22-29 July, 62. Persia 
sent an envoy to the Amir's camp advising peace but 
the Amir turned dovm this request. 

122. Ibid. Jtme 5, 63. ~he ravages of the war were 
heavy. Vambery who visited Herat in 1863 found 
it ruined and desolated. See Varnbery, A. Travels 
in Central Asia, London, 1864 p.280. Terentyef 
estima tes the r:10rtali ty rate as twenty fi ve hundred 
men. Terentyef, li .A. Russie. and b'ngland in 
Central Asia. (Translated by F.O. Daukes, Calcutta) 
lb76, vol. I. p.333. 
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123. 
of Herat. The J!'oreign Office exerted i ts 

influence to brins about a conciliation bet·vreen 

Afghanistan and Persia.124· Both v1ere advised and 

, t t . t f . t' 1 t' ' d . . 125. warnea no o 1n er ere ,.,l n eacJl o ner s om1n1on. 

This advice worke~ and Vambery, during his visit to 

Central Asia,witnessed in the Fall of 1862, the visit 
126. 

of a fri en dl y Persian en voy to the Ardr' s court. 

The annexation of Herat to Afghanistan was 

decidedly a great victory for Bri tis:1. diplomacy in 

Central Asia. Herat would have survived as an 

independent entity but for Khanikoff's mission. The 

Russian infiltration into Herat brought to an end the 

Chapter of its independence in the history of the 

Central Asian states. 1russia's infiltration into the 

Afghan dominion was ill-timed. There still lay a vast 

bel t of terri tory bet·i'.reen the Rus sian frontier and that 

123. E .S~_J._. 1861-65/176 Government of India to 
Ptmjab no.398 July 3, 63. to instruct the vakeel 
on the subject. 

124. F.O. 60/273. no.25. July 10, 63. 

125. Letters to India etc. 1859-69/I Secretary of 
Sta te to Viceroy no. 8. Aug. 31, 63. i.'lood 
approved the Goverr~ent of India's advice a1ready 
sent by the Viceroy in his no.398 on. cit. and 
requested to impress upon the Amir i ts im.portance 
further. 

126. Vambery. Central Asia and Ang1o-Russian Frontier 
Question ~cit. p.204. 
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o:f.' Afghanistan. The regions of the Sar Daria 

and the Amu were to be subjugated prior to the 

Russian approach to the Hindukush on. In the 

follm'ling pages the story of Russia' s stru_;gle for 

supremacy over the Sar Daria is recounted. 
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RussiEm 11Nasterly Acti vi ty 11 in Khokand 1857-65. 

"The Russians clearly are making progress in Central 

Asia. I don't see that we can stop them, or that 

we can do any goodn. 1 • 

Sir Charles Wood, in 1865. 

Lus sian activi ties Central Asia, after the Crimean 

War, present an i~teresting contrast to those of British 

in that on. Between the years 1857 and 1859, three 

Russian missions were dispatched to four Oriental courts. 

N.V. Khaniko visited Herat in 1858-1859. Captain Ch. 

Valilr..hanov was sent to Kashghar, and N.P. Ignatiev2 • '"as 

ordered to nroceed to Khi va and :ao::::hara. ev's mission 

v1as entirely devoted to the study of 3ri ti :poli ti and 

commercial activities in Central Asia, and he was requested 

to recommend measures to be adopted to counteract the British 

hegemony in that region. He vras also urged to first-hand 

lmowleüge of the ography, resources and history of t!üs 

1. Lawrence Pan~. no. 2. Wood to Lawrence (private), Sept. 
16' 65. 

2. Count Nicholas ovitch Ignatiev (1832-1908) had served 
as .military attaché in London in 1857. His report on 
J:J'ngland 's rnili tary pm·1er was much ar)preciated b;y his govern­
ment, and Czar personally invi ted him for an interviev1 
to \'/arsaw. At the conclusion of his ssion to K..'~-li va and 
Bokh2.ra, Ignatiev was sent to China, where he signed the 
important Russo-Chinese 11reaty of 1860, acquiring for Russia 
the province of Ussuri. As Director of the Asiatic Dept. 
in the Ninistry of Foreign Affairs (1861-64) he strongly 
sup:,:orted the unification of the Orenburg and Siberian line 
of cor1l:lunication. In l8G4, he was appointed ster at 
Constantinople, where his legation was raised subseq_uently 
to an embassy. He represented Hussia for thirty-four 
years at the Ottoman Court. 
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area, and to study the routes to India from both the 

principalities of Bol<...l.~e.ra and Khiva.3· 

During the A..11glo-Persia.n war over He rat in 7, 

A .I. Barya tins ky, the Vice roy of the Cauce~sus, in a 1 et ter, 

"'ar:ned the Russian ministry of war about the n;rovring nmver 

of Britain in Central Asia. :Baryatinsky feared the British 

entry into Caucasia throut::h ~1erat. 4 • Ignatiev in his note 

to Prince A.M. Gortchakov, the forei minister, i:r1 ntember 

1857, was emlJhatic on the point that Bri tain was only 

assailable in Central Asia in the event of a war with Britain 

in El:rope: he no less stress on the -ooint that Central 

Asia was the only outlet for Russian trade in the face of 

her difficulty of campet in :E.'urope wi th the su peri or 

d t ~ B 't . F B 1 . d ~~ · 5. pro uc s o~ r1. a1.n, rance, e t'Sll.Un an .. n . .uer1.ca. 

Russia by the yeéJ.r 1848 h<.:~d traversed the deserts 

bordering Siberia \·rhich stretched dm·m both sides of the 

Sea of Aral: she had subjugated the Sterroe - 11 the 

key and gate to all com1tries of Central Asia" as 

Peter the Great had said 1722, 6 • and she had 

3. Khalfin, H.I. 
45. 

Tri Russki Hissii. Tashlcand 1956, 

4. Ibid. p.20. 

5. Ibid. p.41., qu.oted froEl Ignatiev's TIJ:issive Va Khiva I 
Bokhara Va 1858. St. Petersburg 1897, pp.2-3. 

6. N.ichell, Jo lm and Robert. The Rus sian Central Asia. 
(Translated from Rw:>sian accounts of Travels and J ournals). 
London 1865., p.315. 
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established the forts of Cre:nburp;, 1Jralsk, srak 

(Aral ) and ICarabutak. Advancinr~ intc) èiar ])aria, 

hussia involved in a quarre1 with the statez of 

Khi va and ld1okand . This quarrel wc:.s confined at -
t f • 4 t T Î,., 1 d ' ' l ' ' t l t• 'i( 

0 h 0 7 
O a ·lrs.:; o .l\..L.LO.Lcan , w,u c 1 naa a.r:.:en over ne .\.lrg~ lZ 

of the Ste-~e, as & result of occunyin~ tmm of 

1Iurkistan (Hazrat-Sul tan). To have a fin11 holcl 

over its Kirghiz subjects, Khokand had erected strong 

points on the Lmver Sar Daria at Jang Kurgan, Julek, 

7. The Kirghiz li vin,:; on the Uestern Step s, south 
of Orenburg, are not Y..irghiz origin, but v1ere 

ed so by the Russians. The Russians called 
them Kara Kirghiz (Black Kirghiz) or Dil-;:oka.:':enny 
(vrilci mountain Kirghiz). The Y..irghiz called 
t.hemselves Kazalcs ('wl:.ich means robbers, a name 
6i ven to th er;~ by their neighbours) . The Kazalœ 
in the Step~Jes are descenô.e:rJ..ts of several Turkish 
tri bes, w.ho set tl during t:1e poli ti cal turmoils 
of the 15th century _;Ln the neir;hbourhood of Lake 
Balkash. Durinr:; the early 18th century they were 
pmverful and ruled over Tashlmnd and i ts vicini ty. 
During this :aeriod the~r were di vided into three 
ca;nps or Orda (a Turki word com::only trc-illslated 
as Horde) : Ulus Juz (;}reat Horde), Urta Juz (Hiddle 
Horde) and Kitchie Juz (Lesser Horde), In 1723 the 
llh.a;'l of Zungaria occupied the tmm of Turkistan. 
The Hiddle and Lesser Hordes noved westwards and 
occupied the Step;:e bètween the Aral Sea, the Caspian, 
~nd the Ural River. In 1734, their ruler Abul Khair 
entered into an agreement with Russia and becake its 
subject. (~chuyler, E. Turkistan, ITe\·r Yorlc, 1876 
v.Ip:g.3û-33). The true Kirghiz inhabited the 
neighbourhood the Issy1d:ul, the valley of Tia..."l ::Jhen, 
the Almai :raountains and the Pameer to the south of 

•• continued •• 
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Ak Hasjid, Kamaish Kurgan, Chin Kurgan, Kaish 

Kurgan, etc • Ak Hasjid, built 1817, was the 

administrative center of the st region of Khokand. 

The Kazaks had been the subject of dispute between 

Khok~~d and Russia since 1850. Russia's predominant 

influence in the Sar Daria, required her to extend 

still further south. In 1852, the Orenburg forces 

under the orders of General V .l1.. Perovski, took over 

the Khokandi forts of Kumaish Kurgan, Chin Kurgan and 

Kaish Kurgan. In 1853 .A.k Hasjid (previously Fort 

Perovski and now Kizil Orda), was occupied by Russia 

as v.rell. Three Russia.n forts \vere erected on the 

Sar: one at the source of Kazala (]'ort No. 1) another 

a.t Karmakchi (:b")ort Ho. 2) and the last at Kamaish 

Kurgan (Fort Ho. 3). The lands south of the River 

Ili were occuuied and in 1854 Almati (now Alma Ata) 

was taken and a fort founded there lm01m as Fort Vernoe. 

7. ( cont). Khokand. The origin of the word Kirghiz 
is legendary: Kysk-Kyz (Porty maiden). It is 
said that they were the sons of forty maidens, who, 
having lost their men, were impregnated either by 
a red dog or by the foam of Lake Issyk-Kul. 
(Schuyler, on. oit. II '[;!).135-8.) 
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Then came the interval of the Crimean \var during 

which there was no ·further Russian territorial 

expansion in Central Asia till 1857. 

Relations between Khokand
8

" and Russian in 

1857 were of a critical nature. The goven~~ent of 

Punjab, learned through its Central Asian sources 

that Khokand w-as awai tin~; the inevitable Russian 
9. 

penetration into its dominion. Lord \Yodehouse, 

the British ambassador, reported from St. Petersburg 

that Russo-YJ10kandi relations were of an "unfriendly 
10. 

nature". 

8. Khokanâ. is derived from the word El10ob Kand, the 
11 beautiful place" or 11village 11 • It was bounded 
on the east by Chinese territory, on the west by 
l3okhara and the Sar Daria, to the north by the 
great hordes of nomads and on the south by 
Badukhshan and Karata{';in. Its area was si tuated 
between latitude 42° 45 1 north and logitude 65° 73' 
east in the vall of the Sar Daria. In its 
territorial extension it was lareer either 
Bokhara or Khi va. Its Do-oulation v1as around three 
million, consistin;-; of Uzbêks, Tajiks, Kazak, 

Kirghiz and Kiptchak. 

9. Enclosures to Secret Letters from India. 1857/149 
Goverrunent of ?unjab to India. no. 81. January 30, 
57. (hereafter cited as E.S.L.I.) 

10. P.065/498. no.467, 
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The period betv.reen 1857 and 1876, du.ring which 

Khokand lost her independence, is considered a dark 

period in her history. Inten1al strife and wars with 

Boldlara were two major factors which paved the way for 

Russia's victorious entry of the Lower Sar. Du ring 

this period K."wkand changed i ts rulers nine times. 

The country' s ci vil v.rars crippled resources, 

disaffection amon-::: the population was rife and a 

general pessimism pervaded variou.s segments of the 

population. The commercial class, along \'li th the 
11. 

Tajiks, be came Russia' s fifth coltunn in Khokand. 

Ri valry bet1,-1een Khokand and Bokhara for poli ti cal 

hegemony in the Sar Daria Vall was the worst that 

Central As had ever se en. Blind to the common 

threat of encroaclunent by Russia, both -states keYJt 

alive their traditional feuding. 'rJhen Russia \vas 

knocking at the northern door of Khokand, Bokl1ara 

\'las breaking through the western do or. Sandwiched 

by the hostilities of its neighbours and torn by 

internal chaos, Kholcand fell an easy prey to Russia' s 

long tentacles. 

Khudayar Khan of the Min Dynasty, ruled over 

11. Vambery, A. Central Asia and the Anglo-Russia~ 
Front~_er Question. Translated by F.E. Bm1nett. 
London 1874 p.l4. (Hereafter cited as Vambery. 
Central Asia.) 
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Khokand froiL 1845 on and representi:n~c; the degenerated 

Nineteenth Century Central Asia, his 

vli tnessed an ace of con e anarcl1y, cou :pl ecl wi th 

persecutions and d 
12. 

etions. The fall of 

r-=ussalman Quli, a Ki tchak ad vi sor to the lilian and 

a pillar of strength, was follo\·red by the Sarts or 

Tajiks rule under .&1-J.lnad' s lee.dershi n. 

an o~;pressi ve on lee.din':'; to further 
13. 

degeneration in the country'o morale. 

The need for the uni ca ti on of the élrerùru.r:~ 

S '.VaS 

Si berian line::: of communication anè_ forti C<:.ttion, 

Dersuaded Rus8ian ec:ists to :nush their frontiers 

forvmrd. In 1857 tmm of Suzak, si tuat ninety-

six miles to the t C• /,] '" "" t 1 14. 
S O:Jc ~·L: ~.8.Jl0. '•laS a.,cen. 

12. ~cl1uyler, on. ci t. I. ·9. 350. Schuyler mentions 
a general massacre of the Kiptchaks in which 
twenty thous::mà. were ed. 

13. ~· p.350. 

14. :.Jingh, i.:l .a. A HiGtory qf Khokç~nd. , 1878. 
}).5. ;:-)ingh't: '\.W::C~·: is e:. corrected 
l~8.nnhul' s account. Pandit l•ianol:ml 
by the Goverrunent of Indis. to collect inforDation 
on the politi events of the day. S.:he account 
of his vü;it i:.,; r;iven on :oa1:3e 73-76. Por Ean;;J:ml's 
re-oort on KholŒ.nd seeES .L .I. 1867/2. 
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ïhE:: Sdr:1e ye;:Lr Sui:cti Be;;, a Kazak chief of l'ishpak 

tendered his allesiance to Russia. 15 • 

The tyrarilly of l{hudayar Kl1.an and his repea ted 

l . t R . . th t' d . . 1 16 • osses a;;all1.S ... uss1a ln ~ e nor .n na e hlm unnopu ar. 

1he Kirghiz to~::::ether wi th the offended Ki ptchak, 

entered into a --::üot wi th hula Khan (also Dentioned 

as Halle or Hali IC12n), a step-brother of Khuda;y-ar 

Khan, and proclaimed r·.::ula Tillan as the ir chief. 

Khudaye.r Khan, defee.ted at Sarna:nchi, fled to :So1d1é',ra, 

and sou:;ht shel ter at JizaJr,J1.
1 7 • This v-ras in lE> 59 •

18 
· 

19. 
Eula Khan ruled for three years. He was assisted 

in his aè...ministration by a distinguis~led Uzbek chief, 

Nula Ali Quli (also r1entioned e.s Alin Kul) who ~:layed 

a llromine:nt role in Khokand poli tics in the la ter years. 

It w&s durinc 1059 that ii.A. Katenin, the governor-

general of Orenbur:: drevt up a 11Eemoir on the :oolicy of 

Russia in Central Asia in theürenburg Region," req_uesting 

the Ir.Iperie.l Governr;1e:n t to occupy the :l:Chokandi fortress 

15 I ' . l 5 • _J>.l:f_ • p 0 • 

16. Bchuyler I p.351. O]. cit. 

17 o I0ici. p. 351. 

18. l::iin:~h p. 4. on. ci t. 

19 o Ibid o J'. 5o ;:)L;:-::.uyler says he rul eC: for tvw years p. 351. 
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rategic station about seventy 
20. 

jid.. Katenin's death, sto 

es 

execution of the project and it was undertaken by 
21. 

hiB successor, Lt. Gen. A.P. Bezak. During the 

rule of Kh.an the Itussi::..n advance was :yushed 

forward tvm directions: Al:-:1ati in the we 

andAk jid in the east. Gn the western side the 

Russians the to'\·m of Ash2.n;.z:, thirty-six miles 

the invaders. The armies met sol!le four miles out-

side the city. In the fie;ht the Huc.::;ie,ns retreated 

to Ashanr;. :L'he K ... 'fwkandis considered i t a victory, 

felt content 

then d 

and 

and returned to YJlokand. The 

t'.'lO forts in the vicini ty of 
24. 

erected the fort of Pishpak. 

Advancing from the eastern side, in 1861, the Il:ussians 

attacked the fort of Yani Kurgan, si tuated t\·1enty miles 

to soutl1 of Ale u. ::Vhe Khokandis under their 

Cor:1mand er eer , resisted the invaders successfully 

20. Hichell. op. ci!. n.389. 

21. Ibid. p. 9. 

22. Singh ~~-sJt. p.5. 

23 . Il! id. D. 5. 

24-. Ibid. 1!.5. so in F. 065/1860 no. 14. 
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and repu1s their attack 1'1ith a loss of thirty-

two men and two gu:ns. But the deuarture of the 

IG1okanèii arrny to their capi ta1 left Yani Kurgan 
25. defence1ess. 

There was then an interval of about three years 

(1861-64) in the Russo-K.hokandi war. The Po1ish 

insurrection, the Trans-Caspian risin:"; and the fear 

of war wi th western lDuro:~e, distracted. Russian 
26. 

attention from Centr~l Asia. The Russian 

strategiets in Centre1 Asia fmmd tine to gi ve proper 

thout;ht to their future plans of conquest, while 

K...hokand reverted once azain to its internal Civil 

\'/ar. 

Russia' s two extreme outrJosts in Turkistan in 

1861, were Ju1ek in the Province of Orenburg, and 

Almati in Siberia. There was stil1 a of seme 

25. ~· .5-6. 

26. There was a risin.s in the Province Kazan 
in 1863 under Yuri SEUnarin and Charkowski. 
Po1and was ah.rays a nuisance to the Russians. 
The Po1ish insurrection of 1863 conducted by 
the secret comrlli ttee knO\·m as Rzad ( Government) 
shook the Russian adninistration to the 
foundations. 
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th re e lltmdre d es beti.reen se two stations. 

The area betlveel:.. them, contai:neù the.. t nort:wrn 

i·,ras famed for i ts fine 

climate, richness of soil nrosperity of comnerce. 

In 1861 Gen. Bezak expotmcled hi:::> nlan for mü ting 

the two outuosts. He sent Jü s re on the subject 

to the I:inistr;y of Vlar, ur?~ino: the ~)ossessior~ of 

Tashlcand, Hhicl1 ,,,muld serve mul tiferous uurT'oses: 

it would total sub,iugation of the Kazak terri tory 

betvreen Khokand the üte<!ne; i t ·would supply fuel 

and coal to the i'lotilla it 

would serve as o. :-;reat em:)orit:.=ï. between Russia the 

re of Central Asia, be es nrovidin·; a natural 

bm.mdar:1 proteoting Hussia..11 rule in Turki 

zal-: recom.mended Em e occwx:ttion of Tash1:and, 

before it was too late, for Khokand had been equi 

with sh anus. He pointed out that the ssession 

Tashkand 'd011ld caver all the exnenses so fe,r incurred 
27. 

in the military build uu in the Sar Daria region. 

The ministry of war sup.::;orted Bezak' s 11lan and })roposed 

to put the :newly acq_uired area u:nder a governor-~~;e:neral 

stationed at Tasblcand. proposal was studied by 

27. Spalding, H. Kb.i va and Turkista:n. (Translated 
from Hus ) .-London, 1874.-;:-29-32. 

28. Ibid. p.33. 

---- ___ .. _________ _ 
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a suecial committee in the presence Czar 

on Harch 9, 1862. The cornmittee then referrec1 the 

!:œo j ect to General Dhucmel, the governor-c;eneral of 
29. 

Western Siberia, for his views on the matter. 

Dhummel in a memoir dated Hay 26, 1862, ed 

the scheme and suggested the sendinr; of a flying 

colœ;m to seize Aulia-Ata in the cominc Spring and 

to erect a fort there,or close by, to accommodate 

a large garrison. He also suggested making a 

separate Khanate of the province of Tashkand to be 

run by the natives under the suuervision of Russian 

ff . 30 • Th . t b f o leers. ~e proJec came once e ore 

the Central Comni ttee on Feb. 23, 1863. The Cornmittee 

zed the importance of uniting the two provinces, 

but because of financial difficulties, it could not 

irll!l.ediate sanction to the scheme. Hm.·;ever 

it did authorise the governor-general of Orenburg and 

32 
to attain this co:tm!!On abject. • The Central Committee 

approved Gen. DhunL~el's proposai to despatch a 

reconnaissance party from the Orenburg region up the 

29. Ibid. p.33. 

30. Ibid. p.33-34. 

31. ~· p.34. 

32. Ibid. p.34. 
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Sar Daria during the followinr; Spring. 33 • 

KhoY~nd during this time witnes the worst 

Y~nd of internal strife in its story. !1ula Khan ' s 

excessive dependence on Ali Quli, made him unpopular 

l'Yi th other chiefs who had taken part in the 

insurrection and helped him to power. 

The discontented element took advantage of Ali 

Quli 's absence when he vient to Ar:l.dijan as i ts 

governor. They r.mrdered Nula Khan in 1862, ancl 

raised to the throne Shah Hurad Khan, a fifteen year 
34. 

old son of Sarmat Khan, the elder brother of KhudE~yar. 

Ali Quli at Andijan, upholding the cause of Nula Khan, 

got hold of the deceased Khan's thirteen year old son 
35. 

&yed Sul tan Khan. The conspira tors were alarrned 

at this move: the most notable among them, Shadinmn 

Khwaja, the Beg of Tashkand ~1d Qinayat Shah, the Beg 

of Turkistan, fearing revenge, recalled Khudayar Khan 

from Jizakh, a pmverful claiment to the throne in the 
36. 

presence of his teenaged nephe\•rs. The prinèipali ty 

33. ~· p.33 

34. Schuyler op. cit. I. p.351-2. 

35. Ibid. Singh o~ cit. calls him d 1-iohd Khan. p.6. 

36. Singh op. ci t. p. 6. says Khudayar ca.'lle to power 
vrith the help of Bokhara but Schuyler op. cit. p.351 

•. continuecl •• 
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of Khokand was divided into three slices. Khokand 

under Shah Nurad, Tashkand under Khudayar,and 

Andijan and its surroundings under Syed Sultan. 

The:n followed ci vil v1ar between the competi tors. 

The Khokand army under Shah Nurad bes i~ged Khudayar 

at Tas.hkand, but failed to talœ i t after a sie ~e of 
37. 

thirty-one days. During their homeward rr.arch the 

Khokandis were surprised by Ali Quli, who easily over-

powered them. He nunished the perptrators of Hula 

Khan' s murder in the presence of Shah l·iurad, but 

surprisingly did not touch the latter's position, and 

he was allowed to remain on the throne, with Ali Quli· 
38. 

as his regent. 

This change was followed by K.hudayar•s offensive 

against Khoke..nd. Ali Quli, seeinG general treachery 

around him, retired to the mountains, which made the 

36. (cont). po1n~s out that fu1Udayar lived in very 
humilia tin.'~ candi tians in Jizakh and made an 
escape from that place with great difficulty. 

37. Schuyler ~cit. p.352. 



- 55 -

invader's work easy. Khudayar having taken over 

Khokand murdered ShahNuraa. 39 • :Sut Ali Quli did 

not give up the struggle. He was sup-:Jorted by the 

Uzbeks, while the Sarts and the townspeople _ \veary 

of strw:;,sle, supported KhudEyar. The Amir of Eolr..hara 

also sided with Khudayar. 40 • Finally the sustained 

energies of Ali Quli prevailed over feebleminded 

Khudayar and once again the latter sought refuge in 

BoJr..hara. Ali Quli as U!3Ual became regent to the new 

ruler, Syed Sultan, in 1863. 41 • 

\mile Khokand was torn by internal strife, the 

Rus sian conlL1anders recei ved orders to implement the 

new ulan. The year l(-)63 did not bring any important 

acquisition to Russia except the seizure of Yani Kurgan, 

vlhich had been deserted by the Khokandis in 1861. The 

new year, hm·1ever, brought rapiù conq_ue The 

Si berian troo:ps under Colonel Il.G. Charnai ev from Alma ti, 

fell upon Talas in Nay and subjugating it they moved upon 

39. Ib]Jl. p.352. Lut Singh ou. cit. ').6. says that Shah 
Hurad was not murdered and once again ascended the 
throne in 1863 and was murc1ered the same year by Ali 
Quli. 

40. Schuyler op. cg_. p. 353 says tha t tl'.is war lasted for 
three years but his chronolor;y does not su:o:oort this 
statement. 

41. Ibid. p.353. 
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Aulia Ata iE June 1864.
42

• The to\'V""il fell after 

a siege of four in v1hici'_ sixteen hundred 

Khokandis and five hundred Rus d . " 43. 
~ea. 'l'he 

Orenburg troo und er tho oœnmand of Colonel H .A. 

Verevkin a ttacked the tm•m of Hazra t Sul tan fror.1 

Ak Nasjid in June 1864. Sixteen thousand K.l·10kandis 

muler their Beg, Hirza Daulat, o sed the invaders 

outside the city, but were defeat It was not 

only a defeat frm:1 the sword, for as Var.1bery says, 

vodka and roubles played their roles as we11. 44 • 

The inhabitants of Hazrat Sultan, been bribed by 

a local chief, Tajik Tur~?ând they shut their gates 

to the fugitive army, then la ter \velcomed the Rusoian 

forces. 

siJion from the north, IC'lokand. lo 

tm·tard the south for protection. ·:rhe 3ri ti sh 

dominion in was looked upon by the Uzbek chi 

42. Named after a Kirghiz my c meaning "holy father 11 

a descendent of Ahmad Yasavi, a celebrated Euslim 
saint. Schuyler .QE• cit. II p.l21. 

43. Spaldint; on. cit.pp.34-5 and Singh on. cit. p.7. 

44. Varrrbery. Central Asia ou. ci~. p.38. 

45. Singh. on. cit. p.7. 
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as the only hope a:~ainst expanding Hussia. Sin ce 

the fall of Al:: !1asjid, the appeals to India for 

protection and aid had been incessant. K.hudayar 

Khan had sent an envoy, Shahzada Sultan Nohammad, 

in 1855,to Peshawar. The envoy met Herbert Edwardes, 

the Co:r:m~i oner of Peshawar and solicited the 

protection of the Bri ti Goverrilllent against the 

atrocities of Russia. ohazada made a fonnal request 

on behalf of the Khokandi ruler to the effect that 

British officers be sent ta Khokand to drill the 

native army. 46 • But no encouragement was shm·m to 

the Khokandi envoy exceryt for the exchange of presents. 47· 

illla.hzada was, however, able to secure privately the 

services of three }Iuslim soldiers who accompanied him 
48. 

to Khokand. 

and Samad Khan. 

They were :nabi Bakhsh, K..~air !·Ioha:r::L":lad 

This was followed by another envoy from Kholœnd. 

The new envoy was Peer Hohammad, bearing a letter from 

46. E.ti .L .I. 1857/149 Ed:v1ardes ta Jaraes no. 149 June 
30' 57. 

47. ~· Edwardes sent his agent Noha:r.m1ad Ali ta 
accompru1y the Khokandi envoy and to collect first 
hancl information on the subject. Ali's account 
is not available in full in the India Office 
Reports. 

48. Singh on. ci t. p. 4. 
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the Khan of Yillokand containing a similar demand for 
49. 

arms and instructors. Edward es, m.·;are of the Indian 

Government's policy on the subject did not forv1ard the 

cation to the hi·~her authori ti es, 50 • but this did 

not discourage Khokand from a:?proachine; the Gover:'111lent 

of India again for protection and help. 51 • 

The fall of Aulia Ata and Hazat Sultan, the two 

mo important cities of l~okand, led to another cry 

for help against Russia. The regent Ali Quli sent an 

envoy, Khwaja Beg, to the Govern111.ent of India authoritie~~· 
reported in India in the early Fall of 1864 and met 

th L. t t N of the PU11J·ab. 53 • Kh aJ· Be e ~eu enan -\.iovernor w a g 

bore a letter to 11 the Ea.st India Company 11 containing a 

protest against the Russian violation of their promises 

and a complaint against their aggression on the territory 

49. ~ 1 S.L.I. 1857/149 no. 149. on. cit • ........... __ 
50. ~· 

• Bath Sinr;ll op. ci t. p. 6. and. Rawlinson, H. E.n,c;land 
and Russia in the East, London, 1875 p.l94, mention 
the arrival of a ru1okanùi envoy Khudai Nazar in 
1860. This point needs confirmation. 

52. Khwaja Beg was accompanieà. by two other envoys, 
Nazar Dadkhah and f:Iungli Beg, the Sul tan of 
Turkey ancl the Amir of Kabul res}1ecti vely. 

53. E.S.L.I. 1861-65/176. Government of Punjab to India 
no. 483-677. Sept. 4, 1864. 
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of Khokand. The letter appealed to the "Sovereif;n 

of London" to heln the people of K-"'lokand since 

11friends are ready to avenge the distress of their 

friends. 1154 • The envoy then met the Viceroy Bir 

John .Lawrence at Lahore in October. Khwaja Beg 

told the Viceroy of the miserable plight of Khokand 

at Russia's hands. But the anneal did not touch 
.-~ .. 

Lawrence and in s reply to the Khan of Khokand1he 

informed him that as the Viceroy of the Queen of 

England he could do nothing for Khokand and advised 

the Khan that 11Your Higlmess rllist therefore look to 

your ovm people, 

maintaining your 

the t:>um..~iler of 

your mv-.a means and resources for 
55. 

power." The envoy left India 

1865.56 · 

Returnin,.c; to the theatre of \~'ar in Central Asia; 

after the conquest of Hazrat Sultan and Aulia Ata, 

both the columns of Orenburg and ~iberia were united 

54. Ibid. p.763A to 763B. 

55. Ibid. Viceroy to the w1an of Khokand. Dec. 5, 1864. 
~.7810. 

56. Durin:e.:; the conuersation wi th Lawrence, the envoy 
was given the impression that as to a final reply 
on the subj ect of help to Khokand, he should vrai t 
for the nermission from the Horne Govern.'llent. This 
stater.1ent was confirmed by the interpreter. See 
Government of Ptmjab to India no. 225-436. In 
E.S.L.I. 1861-65/176. 
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under Colonel Charnaiev and they advanced on 

Ch&~kand in June, 1864. Ali Quli threa t en ed b;;l 

aggression, rushed towards Charnkand to defend i t 

and met the enemy at Susik, miles north west 

of Chamkand. ' 57. d Tne Russians were defeated; an 

~)roposed an armistice on the understanding that 

they might retain the conquest the~r had :made: but 

Ali Quli rejected this offer. • The Russians re-

inforced frm~l Aulia Ata, then made another attempt 

on Chrunkand with twelve thousand men and thirteen 

guns on July 27. Ali Quli uut uo stubborn resistance 
-', ......_ 

1.vi th his thirty fi ve thousand men and thirty fi ve guns, 
59. 

resulting the second retreat of the Russians. 

Leaving Chrunkand in the char;;e of rlirza Ahmad vd th 

a garrison of six thousand and the fort in good repair, 

Ali Quli returned to ILhokand. It v1as a good 

o~Yportuni ty for Charnai ev, who made his third attempt 

on Cham.lcand. He took over Sairam, a town twenty one 

miles outside Ohamkand. 60 • Eirza .Ahmad attempting to 

oppose the Russian advance, v.ras routed. The invaders 

57. Singh OP. cit. p .8. 

58. Ibid. p.S. 

59. ~. p.S. 

60. F. 065/867 no. 92. 
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th en ormecl Cha:nkand, \·rllich fell to them October 

1864. 61 · l'i:irzu was forced to ee to Tc"slü:a:nd.. 

The sian invasion of Char;Ikanrl forced Ali 

Quli to send another envoy, Tash Khwaja Sadoor,to 

India with valuable cresents two letters, one 

for the bri tis:1. Que en and another for tl1e Viceroy of 

India. ~'he letter to the Queen 1·1as com:olimentary but 

that to the Viceroy was a ree;_uest for a of arrns 

and . t 62. s"truc ors; 

made through Khvre" j a 

it referred to the earlier request 

, and alluded to the Russian 

onslaughts on Chamkand and its heroic defence by the 

Khokandis. Ali Quli once again solicited British 

friendshin and re~ue ed to des;:;atch, alon(c vri th 

the envoy, "as many ex:rerienced artilleryr.1en and. 
63. 

instructors as nos si ble. 11 Lm·œence, tl:e Viceroy 

of India, ac};.:nOirled.ged thi;:, let ter by referrinG the 

for..:ner letter sent to Khan of Khokand. He add 

that the letter to the Queen \·muld be forwa1·ded to her. 

61. F.O. 65/867 no. 259 also bingh .2.P..!_Et. :p.S. 

62. ~.S.L,I. 1861-65/176 Cm:mis oner shm·mr to 
Secretary of ?t.mja b no. 18, January 26, 1865. 

63. E.?.L.I. 1861-65/176 Ali Quli to Viceroypp.793-4. 
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:..:he Vioeroy, s;ympathised wi th the ruler of Khokand 

for danaige::: sustained in the 11a.ggressi ve mover:1ents 11 , 

and concluded by saying that the GoverrL'TI.ent of India 

ld t f ' d t ' 1 'h 1 ~ ~~, 1 ' 64. cou no a I'or o ne I) t; e ru er o1. i.ulO -;:ana.. 

Rtwsüm doine;s in Central Asia had become the 

centre of great attention Europe. 1ilestern E.'urope had 

both a commercial and political interest in Central Asia. 

a long-standing interest in the East and 

Paris been servin0 as one of the major sources of 

information for the Times news reports on this area. 

Ital;yr vms a major buyer of Central Asüm sil1D::orm ec-

and in 1863-1864 a three man delegation from Italy visited 

B' ' , ' ' . 1 ' t . ..._, ~ 1 • ' 65. · Ol\:nara, 'to expana. cornmerc~a con-r;ac -s ·w~ vn '.i'Urra stan. 

Both Austria and Prussia were interested in current 

poli tical clevelopments in t::lis part the vorld. ThOU0'~h 

somewhat la te, the Austrian newspar1er, the 11 \'landerer" under 

its editor, Herr Carl Von Vicenti publ:tshed regular accounts 

of Central Asian politics~6. 
l 

Two Prussian papers, the 11AllégemEjpe 

64. Ibid. Viceroy to the Chief of Khokand, J!'eb. 21, 1865. 
p.797. 

6 5. This delegation vms suspected of poli ti cal ac ti vi ti es 
and was detained in Boldlara for thirteen months. 

66 • .iiellwald F. Von. The Russians in Central Asia. 
( Translated by Vlirgiii'aîl:l, London 187 4. Introduction 
p.xv. 
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Zei tunE:;" and 11 Kdlnische Zei tun::_:" t 

. t t . Ru . t. . t. 67 • 1~ eres 1n ss1an ac lVl 1es. 

a deeD 

Varabery, "the 

Hungarian Darvai sh 11 , in o Travels in Central 

had introduced this area to the comnon man 

in h'urope. 68 • His profound conte:::~)t for Ru~.wian 

aggres on had produced an effect on the English 

. ' 69. mlna.. 

The Briti Goverru11ent was both deeply 

interested and alarmed by the Russian conquests in 

Central Asia. Bawlinson, the British I1i.nister at 

Teheran was the first person to see the potential 

threat of Russia's march eastward. He declared 

that if unhindered, her further extension in Central 

Asia, would constitute a serious danger to the safety 

of India. He urged the home ministry to remedy the 
70. 

situation before i t was too la te. Lord Jolm Russell, 

67. ~· 

68. Vambery, A. Travels in Central Asia, London 1863. (The 
book vras translated into French by E.D. Forgus in 1865). 

69. Vanbery wrote r1any letters and arti es, besides 
s on this subject. His letterr; a0-:)eared 

often in the Times. 

70. li'.O. 65/867 Ravllinson to vlood no.3. Jan. 4, 1860. 
Rawlinson had made this assumption on the report 
of an agent sent to ~1iva by the British Legation 
at Teheran 1859. The agent 1 s re:oort disclosed 
tha t Russia \·ras preparin,; an offensive. 
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the Briti Foreign ;;ecretar;;, read 

alarm and forwarded it to the British Nnbassy in St. 

Petersburg,adding that the report on the Russian 

encroachment in Central Asia 11 indicated an uneasy 

feelinc, in countries to which it relates. 1171 " He 

instructed James Crampton, the British Hinister to 

Russia that, on the subject of Russian proceedings 

in Central Asia, 11you need not disguise from them 

that the attention of ILN. Government is directed to 

that quarter and that vve should see wi th regret any 

change there.u Russell told Crampton to convey to 

the Rus sian authori ti es that Bri tain did not vvish to 

enter into a struggle wi th B.ussia for I,oli tical 

influence in Central Asia but the :British Goverrunent 

v'muld like to see th~t "Ru.ssia shall not take advantage 

•••• of •••• means o~ pressure on the states of Central 

Asia 11 which 11 should remain in the nossession of native 

rulers and be undisturbed by foreig-n intrigues. 1172 • 

Wnatever interest the foreig-n povvers took in 

Russian .::;roceedings, nothing co:i'lcrete was in fact kno"'m 

of Russian policy. Russia had been concealing her 

71. F.O. 65/549 Russell to Cram:9ton no. 66. r.Iarch 31, 
1860. 

'12. Ibid. 
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conquests in Turkistan. Crampton, urged by Russell 

in reference to Rawlinson's cueries on the subject 

of Russian activity in Central Asia and the Casyian, 

could not discover the actual state of affairs in 

tl . 73. 
~1ose reglons. S.I. Lumley, the Secretary at 

the British Embassy in St. Petersburg, struggled hard 

to collect intelligence on actual Russian acquisitions 
74. 

in Central .Asia, but it was all "vague and scanty 11 • 

He learnt from the Italian mission,which was returning 

from St. Petersburc, that all Russian doings in Central 

Asia were kept secret from the public. They told him 

that a Junior Russian officer vv.rote an account of a 

Russo-Khokandi \'!ar in a letter to a friend. The 

letter was censored and returned to the vœi ter \vi th a 

. . t . tl . t f . f t. 75 • -vmrnlng af;alns conveyn1g ~1l s ype o ln orma lon. 

H. Gianotti, the Italian Charge d'Affaires,durinc; his 

conversation uith Gortchakov :praised success of 

Russian arms in Central Asia, but the latter dismissing 

the discussion of this topic 11 turneà. the conversation 
76. 

in such a way as to preclude any further mention." 

73. ]1 .0. 65/867. no. 90. 

74. F.O. 65/867. Lumley to Russell no. 46. Sept. 13, 1864. 

75. ~bid. 

76. Ibid. 
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However, Lu.'llley procured a map of the country bet,·J'een 

the Russian frontier and Bokhara from the Italian 
77. 

mission. I t greatly interested Vlhi tehall. 

But the of Chamkand to RuG:;;ia was not 

vli thout repercussions in the west. The -oroduced 

a tele gram from a s paper, tellin,?; i ts readers of 
78. 

the fall of Khokand to Russia. The Calcutta 

corres!)Ondent of the Times opined that Russia had 

found the 11lcey 11 to India for \·rhich she had been 
79. 

searchinc since the days of Peter. 

This "attention in foreign countries 11 to 

Russian movements Central Asia, led Gortchakov, 

in 1Tovember 1864, to send a memorandur:J. on the ai:m and 

abject of Russian cy in Central Asia, to the 

Russian legations abroad for distribution to their 

accredited courts. The circular pointed out that 

the security of the frontier and the commercial needs 

of Russia forced to exercise ascendency over her 

turbulent and nOL'ladic neighbours, \vhose plunder and 

de:oreda ti on of Rus sian trade, had cor.rnelled the Imperial 

77. Secret Home Col"res-.Jondence, 1864/50. 1:1 .0. to 1. o. 
oë't"":--1,-1864. (Herêa7ter ci ted as S .H.C.). 

78. Times, Dec. 6, 1864. ~.12. c.l. 

79. Ibid. July 14, 1864, ;).5. c.l. 
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Governrnent to send n1ll1itive expeditions against them 

many times and that retreat was always considered a 

of vrealmess. Russia's work did not differ, 

the circular, froB that of the ted States in 

ca, J!'ranc e in Algeria, Englancl India, and 

Holland in I:ndonesia. G-ortchakov expo1ll1ded the view 

the occu-oation of Ch2J11ka .. nd \vas necessary to 

eve the said Russim1 objectives establishing 

a frontier line between Lake Issyc-Kul and tJ1e dar 

Daria. 'l'he circular concluéled Rus 1tl0Uld 

~)Ursue no further schemes of t extension 

\"JaS :yleased to carry on "a to civilise 

ne ourin{; countries on the continent of Asia. 11 
80. 

J:lhis circular was rcot sent to the court of Jt. 

James, nor was the 3ri tis}l :Ernbas in Hussia made 

aware of it. Russell was a li e surnrised at this 

He told Sir A. Buchanan, the 13ritish 

k::bassador at the Czar' s court to request a COTJY of 

s circular fron Gortchakov. 

11hi,;hly desirable" that the 

80. 

made aware of the intentionu 

J?. 0. 6 5/86 7-868. 'l'he Foreign 
docwnent througll i ts Rr.:bas;;:des 

considered it 

Gover.nrùent should 

in Central 

ce recei vec~ the 
abroad. 



- 68 -

/, . 81. 
~sla. Hovrever, Gortci1akov, refused to r;rovide 

an e::::act co';W and he doubt the leGality of whether 

"H .r,:. Governnent ·1;rere justifi 
82 

information on the subject." • 

in req_uirin;; ••.. 

I3ut did read 

out to Buchanan the text of the circular "as a 

personal confidential communication." He told 

Buch<.:ü1an that Baron Brunno\,r, the Russian Ambasf:Je.dor 

to England, had been autlwrised to nresent the 

infor-mation to Russell the SEJJile L1e.x:mer, only if the 

latter \vould recei ve i t "as a spontaneous and friendly 

83 communication." • This irksome ex:üa:nation so 

exas-oer2.ted Rus the. t he instruct BuchCJ1C.n in 

a return desnatcl1 to in(luire whet.J:1.er com:r:iUIJ.ication 

was objectio:nable and if so, v:rhy it l.lc.d been sent to 

Vie:nna, Berlin and .L:aris in 
84. iîrst ·,Jlace. 

Hardly had the i:nk dried on the Gortchakov 

circular 't·rhen Russia ar·:ain took the offensive in the 

territory of Khokand. Hakin,·~ Char:Il:::and her base of 

OJJerations, s.he co:~rruenced acti vi ti es against Taslü::c.nd. 

---------
81. F.O. 65/867 no. 2. J&nuary 10, 65. 

82. F.O. 65/867 llO. 24. Jan. ' 65 • 

. :F·.o. 65/867 J3uchanan to Russ Y10. 25. Jan12, 65. 

34. :5'.0. 65/867 r:.o. 18. Jan. 
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At the close 1864, Colonel Charr:.aiev had e 
85. 

a:n attenDt and .had been repulsed by Ali Quli. 

The Russians :made aLother atter:n)t on Tashkand in 

December 1864, frorr1 Hazrat Sul tan, and a(-:!;ain Ali Quli 

t d t~ . , 86. s ou-Je üSlr ac~ vance. 

the Sl1rint::· of 1865, Charnai ev hacl made 

sui table arranger:.er:.ts for e. furt~1er action an:ünst 

shkand, and on I-iay 9, 1865 a Rus sian force consisting 

of te:zJ. tüousa.n.d Rus:;;.ia.ns and fi ve t!:10usanü Cossacks 

twel ve ;uns , arri ved at !,:ing;yorsk the vicinity 

f t ' . t .o T . . d 87 • o ·ne 01 y 01 asn.Kan • Here the troous were 

di vided into three col'lmms. The first colurm 

surround all the major gates of the city: the 

second narched on Niazbek, a fortified tmm tuel ve 

es north-east of Taslù:and and seized i t on 16; 

the;y then proceeded to divert the course of the Jat:,1.ab 

Canal, a branch the Charchik River, and so eut off 

the \va ter su~;mly of Tashlmnd; the third column encamr:ed 

at Toiti , a village sixteen Biles south east of 

85 • i3inp;h, .22-!- ci t • ::) . 8. 

86 • Ibid • } • 9 • 

• Ibid. .9. 
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the besie~ed city from the 

ctin:r an eas7 fall of 

T&shkand. i''-USoian roubles were once a0,ain active 

and a section of tne -cJeo-ole had been bought over: 

it had 'oeen _lllanned that the disloyal party inside 

the city would attacl: the defending garrisons from 

inside and would OIJen the tes of the city on June 

1.89. But on the S8Irle day, tl1e re.:;ent Ali Quli 

reuched 
90. 

ar:m.y. 

day he met the sia:ns at Shortina, an ouen eld 
91. 

in the vicinity of Niazbek. A desr;erate 

ment ensued, lastinc; till afternoon. The Khokandis 

fought to a aan until Ali Quli v1as t in the left 

rib by a musket ball, r.;akin;:; him totall;y unfi t to 

88. ill.9:_. ~;. 9 and Schuyler .Q.P.,!_ ci t .• I <J .113. 

89. ;:;clluyler o·G. cit. I. p.ll3. 

90. Ibid. Schuyler describes Ali Quli's amy as six 
thousand men and forty p;tms. 

91. ]1 .0. 65/868 no.4. 8c~myler 01). cit. I. }J.ll3. 
i::lingh • .Q..:;"'?..!_ 2 i t • p • 9 • sa ys Nay2 3 • 
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couna:nd. The loss of leadership, disheartened the 

Khokandis and. tJ.:ey spersed. Quli died fro~1 the. 

wound the sa~e eveni~g. 

The dea th of Ali Quli was a turning l)Oin t in Khok~::md 

history. i 1he young Khan, Syed Sul tc..n, ret rea t to 

'l'asr.J::and, v1hile s chiefs their vr2.-y to Khokand, 

the re 
0" 

K...1.udai Kul the ir Y •. ha.."l. ;;C:. • 1J.Ihe Russians 

ii:l.mediatel;y attacl:::ed the city and oesieced i t. 93 • 

Syed Sultan, on the advice of the Aksakals (elders) of 

the city, SBn t an a ppeal to Bolc.1~ara for help. .Am ir 

Tiuzaffar uà. Din Bokhara, res nromptly, and sent 

one of Ilis s, Sikandar Khan Yuzbashi, to organize 

the defence of :i:asrJmnd; he reached the ci t:r on June 
C ·' LI L' 8. ,./ t. 

The garrison inside the city re ed stoutly the sieGe 

ed. The Russians, meanwhile, h<::.d appro<:.:1.ched Syed Azim 

and I·:ohammad Saleh, two \veal thy rnerchants of the city, who 

induced a section of the inhabi s to Olîen the 

92. Singh on. cit. p.lO. 

93. Ibid. p.lO. 

94. Ibid. n .10. Singh says Syed Sul tan v1as arrested by 
Sikandar and sent. to Bokhara, while Schuyler I .212..!. 
cit. p.ll4., says that he fled the city. 
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95. 
lillmalan gate to Captain Abramof. 

Croix entered the Khokandi gate. 96 • 

Cantain De 

The vrhol e day 

t . 1. 97. vras s~1en ln quc..rre ln;. The following day \</S.S 

ushered in wi th street fightin,cç. The evèni:iJ.g 

brou,;ht peace when the chiefs of city a,::;reed to 

surrender and tioned for a restoratio~ or order. 

A rroclamation was issued on July 14, 1865, by which 

Tashkand '•Jas nade subject to Rus 

The fall Tashkand was a ficant event in 

Central .Asian tics. Russian advances in that 

area roused a wave of alarm throughout Persia, India 

Britain. Persian Government urged the British 

Foreign Office to take into consideration the rapid 

movements of Rus a in that q_uarter. The Shahts 

Government sugge ed that Britain should open some 

system of communication with Central Asia with a 
98. 

view to ascertaining the e:xtent of Ru.ssian encroacrunent. 

95. Ibid. p.lü. üchuyler I. 11. • says thc.t the gate 
was forced by a Russia.n assaul t on July 9, v1hile 
Singh says that i t v1e.c o by t~1e ir>...habi tants 
on June 23 . 

• 0cnuyler ou.cit. I.pp.ll4-15. 

97. r(lid. :PrJ .115-116. 

98. i.::l.iLC. 1865/59 J.!'.O. to l.O. :E'eb. 20, 65. 
referrinr; to Alison Des1)atch no. 127 of Dec. 6, 
64. in F~O. 65/867. 
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The Governr.1ent of India obtained through native 

activi ti es in l:urkistan. One of the re')ort.s said 

tha t ti1e Rus 99. army had even reached Yarkand; 

another referred to an agreement between and 

Russia over the territory of l~okand w~i 
100. 

parti tioned between the t1vo of them. 

\•II:W t 0 be 

To 9rocure correct inforrnation on the state of 

the swiftly changing events in Central Asia, the 

Government of India est:::=tblished machinery the 

purpose. In the middle of 1865, the Government of 

India instructed the :!.:-1Uljab authorities to send 

trustworthy native agents to such parts of Central 

Asia where accurate intelligence cou1d be procur:ed •. 
."L01. 

Pandit Hanphu1, an Extra-Assistant Commiasioner in the 

iunjab secretariat volunteered his services for the 

task. He \Afas as by three youn,; men, eo_ually 

suitab1e for the work. Foremost among them was 

99. E.S.L.I. 1861-65/176 Viceroy to cretary of 
State no. 75. June 16, 65. 

100. S.TLC. 1865/59 1.0. ta ]?.0. July 18, 65. 

101. E.S.L.I. 1867/2 Secretary of Iunjab to Secretary 
of India no. 221-44. June 8, 67. refers to the 
Government of India instructors. 
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Hunshi J!'aiz 3ald1sh, a ?athan from Peshawar who had 

been workinc in the political department of the 

Governrnent Iunj and been of great service 

in collectin)~ intelli,:;ence on the north v1estern 

frontiers of India. Second in the trio was Syed 

Eohammad Hussain, an intelligent educated Lahori, 

Jmo"Vm Jmmm for his li terary 11ursui t of Central 

Asian traditions. The last was Karaa Ohand, a go le.~-

smith of lunjab, kno\m to the nerchants of Central 

A 
. 102. 

s~a. 

iYianphul' s instructions reouired .hin to malec a 

factual study of Russi&~ extension, the nature and 

size of their army m1d their fortifications and 

strength in Turkistan. He was asked to find out 

the political state of affairs in Khokand, its ruler, 

his administration and his potentiality for resistance 

against Russia. The instructions so requested 

information on the views and opinions of the in-

bi tm1ts of Central Asia in r:eneral, tho se of the 

Yarkand in ~,1articular, concerning Russo-Khokandi 

war and the rise of Russian influence in their 

. hb h ' 103. 
ne~g our ooa. 

------
102. Ibid. 

103. E.S,L.I. 1867/2 Instructions to J:<Ianphu1 9.500-501. 
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Han::ohu1's paTty 1eft Hurree in August 1865, 

disguised and under assum.ed narnes. Pandit assumed 

the na:me of Bahi Di va..11 Singh, travellin,,; as a I-Iindu 

Hahajan with Kararn Chand as his servant. Faiz 

Bakhsh posed as a trader under the nar:1e of Ghulam 

Ha bani, and l1oharum.ad Hussain goln[; under the name of 

IJaha-ud-Din, professed to be a Euslim student in 
104 

l)Ursui t of scriptural knowledge. • The ~)arty 

reached Kabul on 3e;)tember 13, and dispe1 ... sed for their 

destin&tions on ~~venber 12. 11anphul 1'/i th his servant 
105. 

ap)eareè. in l3adal;:hshan on :wvenber 25, where he met 
106. 

t11e ruler and e:zchanged l)resents. Faiz proceeded 

via Bold1ara and Samarqand to Khokc.nd and was ~~resent 

durin[r the Rus sian sie ;e. He then continued on to 
107. 

Tashkand and met Charnaiev. Hussain also visited 

the above ~entioned places but indenendently and 
108. 

penetrated as far au Chamkand. Karam Chand 

104. E.î:i.L.I. 1867/2. no. 221-444 .QJ?_. cij;_. 

10 5 .ES .L .I. 1867/2 Ean:phul Re;~'ort p_::). 502-504. 

106. Ibid. 

107. E.S.L.I. 1867/2 Itinary of J-hular:1 Raban.i n-;.849-
866. 

108. E,b,L.I. 1867/2 no.221-444 22· oit. 
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visi tecl Khokand to co1lect re:Jorts fror.::. his 
109. 

colleagues. 

'')artv returned to India in hoveuoer 1366 
·'· J 

after ru1 absence of more than a year. 

during this visi t made permanent arranc;ements for 

periodically securing intelligence on the affairs 

of Central Asia. He a)pointed secret agents both 

in E:hokand and Bokhara to collect im;)ortant nevrs of 
llO. 

the day throw~h a nur:ber of merca'1.tile firms. 

iYian:)hul on his return submi tted 2... detailed 

report of these observz~tions to the Gover:rm1ent of 

India. :l'he re Dort \Jas di vided into four \)arts. 

The first deal t '.--ri th the states of K.'lokand and 

Bokhara. It iraced the story of Khok<.l.!.J.d from the 

earliest days to the of i ts \vars wj_ th Russia. 

The seconcl was the stor;;r of .Eastern :rurld stan, i ts 

hif.>tory, resources and geogra·:)hy. third was the 

history the state of Badakhshan and the last a 

de seri '.Jtion of Kundu:6 and stan. 

109. Ibid. 

llO. E .s .1 .I. 1867/2 Secretar:r of :.:1mj to Secretary 
of India no. 336-709 Sent. 16, 67. The following 
agentü were a·);)ointed: A. Qadir and A. Paracha 
in J3okhara. Jal al Khan Cl- .n . .i?aracha in 
l~'lokand. 
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The British ic was no less alarned than 

the Government of Indü: over Russia' s proxi:mi ty to 

India. The edi torüü colUI1m of the Time~ inforrned 

t:1era tha t Rus had become the most formidable 

mi li tary and ~)oli ti cal power in Central Asia, wi th 

every o1nortrmi ty to threa ten Incl It warned the 

:Briti Gover:nment tha t the barl'i er }!rovided by 

na ture ap·ainst "the insurrection of the northern 

soldiery" in Centrc.ü Asia \vas brolœn <:md the tine had 

i ' . . d t. th tt lll. cone ..:or serJ..ous consJ.. era 1.011 of .. e mc:t er. 

Then came Vanbery's war:ning througl1. the )ages of the 

sar:1e ':laper tha t 11 the a~.>proach of Rus si a to :3okhara 

and Afghanistan is to be much sooner effected than 

the English politicians believe. 11 He argued that by 

next year, Eng1and vrould •t 112. el the brunt of J.. • 

11 Geographicus 11 noticed with regret the approaching 

fall of the Uzbelr princi~:>a1i ti es to Russia and 

considered it 11a matter of serious moment to E:ng1and, 

anc.î. req_uires to be checl ·wi t:1 the close attention. 11 
113. 

Equa1ly alarmed 1.·1as Ltl.rnley, the :Sri tish Embassy 's 

111. Times. Dec. 27/64. p.5. c.5. 

112. Ibid. Jrme 17, 65. ~) .12. c.6. 

113. Ioid. June 15, 65. p.ll. c. 6. 
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secrete..ry at St. Petersbur,z, 'v'lho had had a number 

discussions· v;i th Gortchakov on Central Asian 

Issues. 
114. 

Lurnl ey f ound. ct justification 

for the Uzbek states becoming a "troublesome 

neighbour" in the face of Russian encroaclnnent into 
115. 

their doninions. LUL'lley' s observations on 

Central Asia led nlm to believs that Herat "~/las to 

come very saon "a subject of grave consideration 

for Her Haj e sty' e Governli1en t India. 
116. 

But qui te a different ar.FJroach was taken by Sir 

Roderick I. Hurchison, the president of the Royal 

Geographical Society of London. Eurc]lison in one 

of his monthly addresses to the society on Nay 22, 

1865, \·:lùle speakin{'; on "Rus si a and her boundaries 11 , 

aplJroved the proceedin:~s of Rusnia against Khokand, 

and expounded that 11 the alarm taken by a few of our 
117. 

countr;y'111en ••••• is en ti rely grou.ndless." Sir 

Roderick uointed out that Russia had historically 
118. 

more valid claims on the eastern trade than England. 

114. 1!' .o. 65/868 Lurnley to Russell no. 54. Au.;'Ust 15, 
65. 

115. Ibid. 

116. F .0. 65/867 no, 48. Lumle~r to Hussell Sept. 
13' 64. 

117. ProceedinBs"of_yhe~al Geogranhical Society 
Vol. viii Nay l8b5 p.238. 

118. Ibid. p.239. 
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~he president of the Geographicsl Society concluded 

his speech vrith the remarks that undue apprehension 

in regard to the Czar's conquest of India is an 
119. 11 absurd idea. n 

Harchison' s vie11s ~'l'ere hailed in Russia. 'l1he 

"Journal de Ste. Petersbourg" of 19 June/1 July 

published a translation of Hurchison's address, in 
120. 

an article that had emanated from Gortchakov 1 s office. 

The article hoped that such qualified expression as 

that of Nurchison, would dispel fear from English mlnds. 

Lord John B.ussell 'Nho was anxiously lookinr; for sorne 

reason to open correspondence with the stubborn 

Gortchakov, took the Russian reaction to Nurchison's 

address, as a fittin~ opportunity. He immediately 

envisaged a plan for arriving at sorne understanding 

'!tri th Russia. Russell proposed a draft to be sent to 

Lumley, establishine: a basis for an agreement between 
121 the two powers. • 

Russell in his proposed draft shared the sentiments 

119. Ibid. p.239. 

120 • .B,.u. 65/868 no.J. Lumley ta Russell July 3, 
186). Also in par. pap. 1878 Lxxx p.621. 

121. S.H.C. 1865/59 1.o. to F.O. July 11, 65. 
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of !iurchison, but still admitted sorne cirovmstances 

trhich might gi ve rise to anxiety. r:;:o remove suoh 

to Gortohakov,that both Governments should make a 

declaration that they would not extend their 

boundaries in Central Asia,except in case of ndeplorable 

necessity:" in ~Jhich case the active partner would 

make a afull and frank exposition" to the other,on 

the extent to which an extension t'las contemplated. 

Both parties l'lere to respect the presently established 
122. 

boundaries of Central Asia along 't>'Jith tho se of Persia. 

r:•his proposed draft was forl'rarded to the India 

Office for oom:.Jent. But Sir Charles lvood, the Indian 

cretary l•ras not disposed to such an understanding. 

was altogether against the formation a 

"convention" and advised the Ji'oreign Office to 11 abstain 

present from contracting any definite engagement~ 

respecting British and riussian extension in Central 
123. 

Asia. But Russell did not feel satisfied t'lith 

this and tried to ertphasize to the lndian Secretary 

that he itms not endeavouring a ttformal convention 11
, 

1 . Ibid. Hussell proposed draft July tS5. p:>.696-700~ 

123. Ibid. l.o. to li'.O. July 29,65. 
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but only an exchange of notes bettrieen the tv<To 

governments. 
! 

Keeping up pressure on the Indian / 

Office, the Foreign Office added in its communication 

that the J:i'oreign Secretary had sounded out Baron 

Brunnov-J on the subject and Lord Russell hoped to · 

get a satisfactory explanation from Gortchakov on 

Rus sian act ions in '.i:urki stan •124 • The Foreign 

Office amended its original draft and added that 

the British Government was ndetermined to respect 

the present state of possession in Central Asia.n 

It expected the Czar' s government to make 11 ::m 

analogous declaration to settle the minds of the 
121). 

inhabi tant s of Central .. :.sia. 11 
-

3ut the India Office still did not agree toit. 

The Government of India at this time 1>1as invading, 

Bhootan, a small mountainous principality on the 

southern slopes of Himalaya, and this action must 

have had bearing on the response of the India Office 

124. S.H.C. 1865/59. F.O. to l.o. July 31, 65. 

125. Ibid. Russell's second draft July 65.pP.715-19. 
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126. 
to Russell. The India Office's strong 

objection \vas on the meaning attached to tl1e 

~)hrase 11 :present state of :)osses on 11 , sin ce su ch 

a binding on the part of Engla.nd 111·rould affect t:w 

cor-;rüications \vhic11 na;yr be ex:pected to arise from 

questions connected 1·1i th the Drovince of Herat. 11127 • 

Also Sir Charles \food stron;ly doubted Iru.ssia' s 

vlillin(;ness to co-o;)erate in such a scheme. He 

die".. not su·ppose "they v'rould ever ar-;ree to an;ythinG o:r 

ep their agreement if they made it. 11128 • 

But the Foreit:'?-1 Office was in a hurry. 

Instructions to Lmnley had been sent on July 31. 

Vfuile the India Office was remonstrating against the 

:plan, Lumley was talking to Gortchakov on the subject::-29 • 

Lu.rnley was no less energetic than s forei,gn minister. 

Gortche,kov was away in Peterhoff. 

him and sought an intervie1·1 on Aw;ust 10. GortchcJmv 

126. Ibii!_. See l.o.'s conuaents \·lith uencil on H.ussell's 
first draft pro-:Josal. The comments say 11 i t 
would 1lrevent us fro~ annexin,n: Bhootan 11 and 11how 
1-rill tl1is work regard to Herat. 11 

127. Ibid. l.o. to 1!'.0. Aug. 11, 65. 

128. Lawrence ,fa:pe~s. no. 2/1 \vooc1 to Lawrence (private) 
Aug. 12, 65. 

129. S.JLC. 1865/59 :b'.O. to L.O. Au.cr. 23, 65. 
instructions to Lumley :B' .0. 65/s68 no. 23. 
in~ uap. 1878 LY~x no. 3. 

Bee 
Also 
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read the nrouosal and observed Cülml;r that 11as a 

nractical man he did not see any Gain 11 in il1ter-

changing such declarations. He added that Russia 

was not land hungry, but had be en endeavourin,:-; 11 to 

open a safe raad to Kashghar 11 • Gortchakov further 

rer:~arked that the unauthorised occu·cJation of 

Khokand by the Amir of Bo1chara had made i t di cult 

for Russia to enter into such declarations. As 

regards Persia, Gortchakov did not see any cor..nection 

. th . . r't t 1 A . 13 0 • ivl 1ssues 111 ven ra Sla. To make Russia's 

objection to such a declaration somm·1hat more clear, 

Gortc~1akov told the British Forei Oi'fice, through 

Baron Brunnow, that Russia 11 shall labour wi th 

perseverance to at tain 11 a ssfe frontier and co:::nercio.l 

·orivil . ,, t l A . 131. s 1n uen ra. s1a. 

But Russell wa0 still not so.ti ed :=md he vient 

on urgilv~ throw;h i:3ir A. Buchanan, the British 

en voy 0t. Petersbur0, to obtain a Russian declar-

ation of aims similc.r to those e:xnressed. by the Queen's 
132. 

government. 

130. F.O. 65/868 
65. Also 

131. J? .o. 65/868 
1865. Also 

Lu~lcy to Russell no. 44. Aug. 10, 
nâr. na1J. 1878 Lxxx no. 6. 

Gortchakov to Brunnov: Aut3. 5 /.L 7 
.::2ar. ·Ga ~J. 1878 Lxxx 210. 7. 

132. F.o. 65/868 Russell to Lumle:'l no. 102. pt. 
16, 65. Also uar. ·0Lro. 1878 Lxxx no. 8. 
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.Jucha:nan had audiences vli th both the Czar and 

ii·ortc.hakov. . . 133. But while the 0zar ke-nt Sllen1ï, 

ii-ortcha}::ov ;,·;as a master of dinlomacy. Lord 

.Droughar.1 had made a fair sketch hin in 1855 . 

He h2d sa.id Gortchakov 11vrill accent any affront 

ancl return to the charge as thour;~1 nothinr: had 

occurred. His :particuls.r line of -nlea is 

OpCJ:1..'1CSS. .i'i cordial fre.nkness that 'Vrill anoilllt 

to t tllC trutl1 if i t can hel::; llim to dccci ve 

and there is a blanà. sinceri t;/ about him \·:hen he 

choo ses tllat irould allay-· the clou bts of the Lîost 

sus·oicious men. He has (or thi:nks he has) 2. great 

1mo\"Tleèige of l!d1;;land and l1as c}Iee!·full;l cherisl1ed ti1at 

aDsunption. 11134 • Gortchakov successfully tacklecl 

:Buehe.ne..n and finally told him tha t the Imperial 

declar2. ti on hacl be en sent to 3rm::.:;:lo\: to be foruarded 

135 
to \Hli tehall. • :Cuche,nan \vas jubilant at his 

133. :s~.o. 65/868 nos. 267, 276, 304. 

134. Gortchakov in lC55 i·ms I~us8ie.n e.r1bassaclo2""' to 
Vie:rma. Palmerston asl:::ecl J3row';lmm who knew 
him to gi ve an impression of 0-ortchaJcov. 
Lord Jolm li.uss \'!2.8 r:;oin:; to PC hin at 
'fien:c.!.a on the bc:Lstern Question. e .l. .H.O. 
30/22 .Dcx 12. A1so in T!w J?J.avonic and l:.:astern 
.wuropean ••.evim-r, v. 16, pp.456-7. 

135. ]i'.O. 65/868 no. 304, o~). ci;t. 
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d.iplonatic victory, because the d.eclaru.tion as he 

r;leaned fron c~1a2cov' s te.D::, thour;21 not as 

forP.12.l as required, i·Jas a confir:raation of Hus sian 

activities conw~ercial pursui ts 

It res -;ected the indenend.ence of 

su:::•:;orted the stability of the 

Gortchakov so assurecl :Juchanan 

Central Asi2-. 

stan and 
136. 

nonarchy. 

the wi thdra·wal 

of Hussiar:. forces frorr Tashkancl was being considered 

by the Imper:Lal Governmen t and Hu:J had refused to 
1~7 

accent sovereignity over that city. ::; • 

Dut to the of London, no declaration 

as )rm:ü sed Gortchakov, vms ever recei veel at 

villi tehe.ll. 
5. 

liea~1time the Russim1 authori tics Central Asia 

hs.c1 oee:~ conso tl1eir work the nevrly 

acquired area. rienceforth tl1e . Kazaks. of tlle Ste~') >e 

the Orenburc, 

authorities. 

v,rhi1e the 

r•art \vas 11ild er Si berir:t. In 1865 the i.oJ!1ole of 

----·--· 
136. Ibid. 

137. J:l .0. 65/868 no. )88. :Buchanan to Clarendon JJec. 
10. 65. 

138. J!' .u. 65/868 no. 304 212..:_ c~_i. see t~1e footnotes 
on the letter. 
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on addition to the rece:ntly 

conquered area b en the Aral the lal::e 

Issyk-kul, vT[;;~s formE:d into tl1e Oblo. 

of Turki 139. Charnaiev \va.s e its first 

, under the direct of the 

Governor-General Orenburg. 

Rus sian on in Central Asia sents an 

interestin,": contrast to British cy the.t 

region. A brief surve;; of the British ttinacti vi ty" 

beyond the north \ve8tern frontiers of India is nw.de 

in the followin~ chanter. 

139. 1!' .0. 65/367 no. 78. Buchanan ta Russell narch 
1' 65. 
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British 11Nasterly Inactivity" 

in Afghanistan 1863-1868. 

11 The crucial ueriod. of our relations 1-vi th 

Sher Ali was from 1863-1868. Durinc'; tha t 

period he was treated vri th discourtesy, 

wi th indigni ty, wi th \vhe.t I cont.>ider to be 

actual injustice by Lord Lawrence's Govermnent. 

The rights he inherited his fat~1.er were 

ignored, his advances were discouraged, his 

interest sacrificed, nay, his whole future 

was im:perilled ••• 11 1 • 

Sir Henry Rawlinson. 

r:L:he Russian expansion in Central Asia, throughout the 

later half of the lJineteenth Oentury, created the chief 

:problem of India's external policy. The nroblem of 

Afghanistan in this context vms Bri tain 1 s mm creation. 

Bri tain had a vital strate :::;i c in t ere st in Afghanis tan 

as a buffer state for India, but to maintain this buffer 

necessitated direct ~~d active influence in Afghan 

1. Encl_Q~~ to Secret_ Letters fro~ ;r~. 1878/19 
Raw1inson's minute. Oct. 26, 1878. :p.579. 
(Hereafter cited as E.S.L.I.) 
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af:fairs; this influence was not forthcomin;,; and instead 

1 Il .• 2. 
she adopted the policy of 1 masterly inacti vi ty • Tlus 

term was coined by Jolm Wyllie 3 • an ardent admirer of 

Lawrence' s })Olicy and his tmdersecretary for e:xternal 

affairs in the Government of India. vfyllie t s urolific 

and ingenious brain hel Lmvrence to ponu1arise 

lus ]o1itical gospels on Central Asia among the British 

public. 4 • The po1icy of 11master1;y- inacti vi ty11 aimed 

at letting affairs alone beyond the north western 

frontiers of India. It was a policy \vhich Lavrrence had 

maintai:n.ed since his ear1y contact vli th the north western 

borders; for he was convinc that events north of the 

Indus \'lere not worth the attentions of Bri tain and at 

best shou1d be stabilized by some other pov,rer wi th a more 

direct interest. 

Dost Ivrohar:unad died at Herat on Jtme 9, 1863, 1eaving 

2. Fortnightly Review, 1869 no. VI. 11ï•1asterly Inacti vi ty" 
by Vly11ie. (hereafter ci ted as F .R). 

3. Jolm \'fi Shah \/yllie (1835-70) joined Kathiawar 
as tical agent 1856-60: served in Calcutta and 
Luc};:now 1821-2: U...."'ldersecretary exter:nal affairs 1862-68. 

4. See V/yllie's article in The Edinburr;h Review, 1867 
no. CYJ...V "Foreign policy of Sir Jolm ~wrence 11 • \vyllie 
also wrote a couple of letters on this subject both 
in the Daily l;rews and in The Times. \'fyllie' s articles 
on India and Central Asia are edi ted by Vf. '~V. .~tLYlter 
11]1;,ssays O:t:J. the Externa1 Policy of India 11 London, 1875. 
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5. 
een sons. The major aspirants to the 

throne were Afzal Khan, Azam &~ffil and Sher Ali. Each 

one of the trio b~s well qualified to succeed his father. 

Afzal Kha:n had made a name for himself in the conq_uest 

of Afghan-1urkistan had be en rulin.": tha t area for 

some time durin,c~ his father' s reig:n. He was manly, 

' lrl 1 t d d d • • + . t 6 0 RI 1 d oo u., reso u e an a goo a m1n1s vra or. .~.· onamma 

Azam was a skilled administrator also, having served in 

the eastern districts of Kurram and IG1ost. He was con-

sidered the ablest politician in Dost's family. 7 • Sher 

Ali, the darlin:S of s father, was a mediocrity com~ared 

with his elder brothers. vias short tem:0ered and 

superficial ~·but ])ost Noharnmad had :9roclained him 

suce essor to the throne on the dea th of the heir-alnJarent, 

5. E.S.L.I. 1858/169 Lumsden's Dia~ no. 27 pp.275-77. 
List of Andr 1 s sons: Afzal K:'lan , Aza.rr. Kl'1an 45, Sher 
Ali 40, Amin Khan 34, \'/ali IIoha:nmad 33, Sharif Khan 30, 
Ahmad lilian 30, Noharnmad As lam 27, Faiz Nohamuad 25, 
Hassan lilian 25, Zanan I{han 25, Hussain Khan 23. The 
ages of NohBJn.::lad Qa , :h'aiz ullah Khan, Yuusuf JL.~an 
and Osman K-"lan are not lmm·m. The names of two minor 
sons and the daughters are also unlmow:n. 

6. E .s .L .I. 1858/172 Edward es to Tem:9le no. • pp. 56-9. 

7. The Edinburgh Review CXXV ou. cit. p.l8. (Hereafter 
cited as E.R.") 

8. Ibid. p.l8. 
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Ghulam Raider in July 1858. During the following years 

Sher Ali was recognised in Afghanistan as the rightful 

successor to his father, and the Goverrunent of India 

also formally acceded to this in 1858. 9 • 

On June 12, 1863 Sher Ali infor.med the Goverrunent of 

India of his father' s dea th, \vi th the implic::.~tion that 

should recognise his succession to the throne of 

Kabul. 10 • The Earl of Elgin, the Viceroy In dia 

(1862-1863), doubted Sher A.li's hold. over Afghanistan 

and desmed i t necessar;y "to \'lait for further information 

before takinn; a formal step in acknowledging 11 Sher Ali 
11. 

to the Ameerate. Shere A1i 1 s letter was acknowledged, 

and the British vakeel at his court v1as directed to tell 
12. 

the Amir that a reply to his comnunication l'fould follO\v. 

This 11 contemptuous negligence or the :rüserab1e 1.·1ai ting 

9. E.S.L.I. 1858/170 Goverr~ent of India to Punjab no. 
2226 Sept. 14 1858. A1so in An Enitome of correspond­
.§k"1~e arding_. Afghanist~ p~). 98-99 .---('He-reâftêr- ci-t'""é"<i 
as ,âpitope • 

10. E .S .L .I. 1861-65/176 

• Par1irunentarY- PaDers 
York LVI 1878-9 no. 
lls?..) 

p.490. 

H.eadex micro:Jrint Edition Ne1·r 
3/1. (Hereafter cited as Par. 

.E.S.L.I. 1861-65/176 Government 
July 22, 63. 

India to Punjab 
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game 11 policy, as one conte:GL-Jorary critic called it,
13

• 

had a disastrous ct on the internal Dolitics of 

Afghanistan. The commissioner of Peshm,mr v-1arned the 

Supreme Government of the consequences of non-

recognition to the de facto ruler, ivhich he correctly 

pointed out, would encourage the discontented elements 

\<"Î thin Afghanistan; they would infer frorc:. the British 

tardiness i tc dissatisfaction '\'li th the nomination of the 

l • A~· 14. 
ru 1nt; ..H.J!llr. Sher Ali himself \vas surprised at the 

cold attitude of the 3ri tish and anxiously av-mi ted 

Calcutta' s reY)l;v- to his letter of June. 

Discord started as soon as the princes, Amin, Sharif 

and Azam left Herat after the funeral ceremonies for 

their father, for their respective fortresses in Qandhar, 

Girishk and Kurram. Sher Ali on 1lis way to Kabul, hal ted 

Ghazni to ascertain Aza:m's allegiance, and invited 

Azam to cone the re so tha t he mL::ht satisfy hi:oself of 

lliS 
15. 

fealty. 3her Ali reached Kaûul on Se er:1ber 9, 

but still the l3ri tish cor:1nunication recotp1izing s status 

• Daily H.e\<rS , :S've.n letter J~nuary 1, 1870 n.2. c.3. 

14. Par. Pan. o-:), cit. no. 4/6. 
~~-~ . 

15. A. The Li::"e of Ar:ür Abd ur P..LÜllnEm London 1900 
vol. I u .43:- -U-Ièroaftcr- ci ted as·Rahr;mn). :But ooth the 
accounts by \lyllie in :;;; .. ~ .l!_.I. 186b7fno. 126. July 16, 
;:p. 497-539 in Edj.n~:n.1rg!'7_Jlevi~ o~~. ci~.·, ~) .19 
re11ort that Sher Ali marched on Kurram and forced Azan 
to subrnission. (The ~_9-inburgh Revie'i-'1 hereafter ci ted 
as l!;.R.). 
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had not arrived. The Arür' s ri vals throve on British 

inaction Azam, the r:1o flt active arn.on,rJ: , 01Jened 

corres<)ondence vri th the comrüssioner of I)eshm,rar, 

cond.erJnin;( the new ruler' s attitude tovmrcls s brothers 

l . ~ . . t d cl t 1 . t . 16 . Af l as an:::; aclvJ.ce on J.n en e re a J.a J.on. za 

the strongest of the candidates, holdin": :Jower in Turk-

istan v1as a great moral nhysical support for the 

younger nore s.mbi tious J:)rinces. Aza::::1 had a pproached 

the Engli in his narne and Aslam, the ei;;htll prince in 

line fled from Bmnian and sought refur:e wi t!l him.. 

Prince Ar:1in, the fourth in line and 1)rince Sharif, the 

sixth son of Dost Eohammad, were actively engaged in 

forn:int; a coalition against the new Arnir in their 

dominions. 

The advent of sno\'-r:'' 1rinter in Afgllanist2Jl ed the 

intended revolts. In December 1863, the Gover:rment of 

India reco sec1 Sher Ali as successor to s father' s 

throne, wha t P..a.wlinson ed 11 coldest terns of official 

fo 1117. srn. Sher Ali tool:: i t aD an ausnicious oL1en 

irill.aediat despatched ~lis trustecl Nohamnad 

Rafique to Peshawar to negotiate for as stance frorr: the 

Gover11t1ent of India, but bir Jolm Lawrence, v.rho had 

16. ParJap. Q.P...:... ci.}.. no. 4/2. 

17. Nïnet_~enth_Qentur;r Jtevie\·:. 11 The ~fghan Cri sis 11 vol. 
IV 1878 !).970. 
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assumed the viceroyalty, held out Givi:ng any. 

Hafioue on s returE found. 

turmoil. IJ.1he tv10 brothers Afzal at l:lalkh and Azam at 

K.urrs.m, a:c; st by the former's ented son .Abdul 

~· 1 ' - d 1 f t . 19 • .L-..enrnan nau. ra\'m up a p an o ac J..on. The 8 ~œing 

of 1864, cora::~enc wi th Ci vil \'far Af~hanistan. 8her 

Ali ever sus1)icious of Az8n 1 s activities, had sent R 

force ta ta~;:e over the fort of Gardez, recently qui tted 

by Azam who a sufficient ta {?;arrisœl i t. 

This caused Azan ta def~r his brother' s aut.hori ty in 

Kurrarn. Sher Ali then sent General Rafioue a-::·ainst 

Azam ancl he himself rnarched ac;;ainst Azan de-

sertecl, by his soldier~,r, abB.ndoned KurrB.m and fled ta 

Rm,!al nindi in India on Hay 16, 1864, where he stayed 

for the next ten manths. 0her, advanced on IJ.urkistan, 

and met Afzal' s force at Baj;;ah near 3amia:n on June 3, 

v1here a short ski:rmi :::h took ~!le. ce. Neanwhile Rafique 

rejoined Sher Ali. Bath sides had convincing argrunents, 

18. Blacln·mod 1 s Ha ~azine "Sir John LB.wrence" na. CV 1869 
~1. 714. Note Vlyllie· does not mention this event, in 
ei ther of s accounts. ~J:Ihe home ;c;overmaent approved 
Lawrence's decision. See Political Desnatches ta 
Indif!: 1864/7 no. 1684 Se·9t-:- 213, 18b4-. --- -

19. Re::11nan I aD. cit. D.44. 
part in such plans~ 

Ii.ehman he did not 
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Afzal his superior claiiYt to the throne and Sher Ali 

his strong an:1y, and each feared the other. At length 

t . t . d 20 • d c 1 " -nego 1a J.on:::; ivere opene an -oeace \\ras one ua.ea on 

Ju..'le 29, '-IIi th solemn s on the Book. Afzal's 

status was defined and he was restored to his dominion 

in Turkistan. 

But the truce was short lived. Abdul Eeh.rnan did 

not aprJrove of s father's stand and even advised him 

to arrest Sher Ali if yossible. 21 • Sher Ali himself 

was highly suspicious of Abdul Eeb.r.1a.n the governor of 
22. 

TuJ.r..htanul. This mistrust vras e:'Lhanced by the 

reports of the Kabuli courtiers who advieed the Amir 

to remove Afzal from Turkistan. Afzal learning of 

this, called i t a breach of the svror-n nledge so recently 
23. 

taken, but he was arrested. Relunan decided to fight 

r the release of his father, but the latter knowing 

the weakness of his son's ar:ms, aclviseà. him to nroceed 
24. 

to BoJrJlara and return when com·oetent to fight. 

Sher Ali then turned tm1ards the second coalition 

led by Ar:in, the governor of Qandhar, assisted by the 

20. Ibid. p.46. Relrraan says that the initiative was taken 
by · Sher Ali. 

21. Ibid. p.47. 

22. E.R. ou. cit. p. • 

23. E.S.L.I. 1861-65/176 . K.D 2 July 1864. 

24. I on. cit. p.48. 
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wealthy Bharif, ruler of anù Girish.lc, the t110 

southerr> ..... "'lost districts of Afgha...'1istan. t_;:hey were 

joined by their ne~)hew Jalalud Din, the son of the 

late Akbar Khan, the hero of the First Anglo-Afghan 

war. Jalalud Din attempted early in 1865 to capture 

Kilate-e-Ghilzai, but fail fell back on Judulk, 

where he was reinforced by s uncles. They then 

plarilled to attack Ki1at-e-Ghi1zai a second time. 

i3her Ali, learning of their intentions took u~o a de-

fensive position at the latter place on June 3, 1865. 

Three days later he met them at Kujbhaz, two miles out-

side Kilat. A desperate tle ensued v-Illich the 

Qandaheris were winninc until the sudden death of prince 

.&'nin turned the ti de; the Qandaharis \•rere defeated and 

Sharif and Jalal, 

were forced. to ret rea t to Qandhar, where the;y surrend.ered 

to Sher Ali on June 14. Sher's major loss in t~is 

battle was the deatn of his son Ali K,_'Vtan, which he 

himself said 11 clouded all the joy of victory 11 •
25 • 

Aze.m failed to any sunport in India for his 

cliqu~ an~ disa~pointed,returned to Kurram. After 

raising another abortive revolt, he again retreated to 

the Vlaziri hills. The !:tiddle of 1865 saw Sher Ali 

25. E.li. ou. ~cit. pp. 23-4. 
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paramount in Afghanistan. Afzal was under arrest; 

Amin was dead, Azam and Lehman were refugees, and 

Sharif and Jalal were suing for pardon. 

All the Bnglish accounts agree that Abdu~ Re'b...man 

was give:n a rousing reception in Bokhara. Sher Ali's 

oetrayal and arrest of l:üs brother was condemned and the 

native college of divines pronounced a 11 Patwa of Kuffur 11 

agai:nst Sher Ali. The Amir of Bokhara ex:pressed his 

willin{l;ness to assist Abdul F.ehman' s crusade against his 

uncle. 26 • 

Abdul Rehman gathered two thousa:nd five hundred men 

at Bokhara and leaving that city on June 22 he entered 

Afghanistan durinr; the middle of the following month. 

His arri val was welcomed by Paiz IIoharnr:1ad the Governor 

of Akcha, i·J.ho vtas having a hard time 'ivi th Sher Ali on the 

b . t ~ t to I'~,nu1. 27 • Rh~ t 1 su Jec 01 revenue re urns :..""- eulilan ooc over 

Akcha without firing a shot. Then he advanced on Balkh, 

vhich :B,ateh r.Iohammad, another son of the late Akbar Khan, 

vras holdin(~ in favour of Sher Ali. To the chagrin of 

26. Ibid. pp.2l-2. but Abdul Tierunan on the contrary reports 
that he received neither help nor money from BoY~ara. 
Ra th er he ...,,ras kept as a sta te uri son er and \vas in sul ted 
on many occasions. He vms not allowed to take bac};:: 
even his o-vm men. Rehman I op. cit. p~1.55-6l. 

27. Rehman I QP_._ci t. pp.64-5. 
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E'ateh, l1is arrny refused to fight ae~ainst the son of 

their old master. Fa teh Noha::m1ad ïacing ho otili ty 

on all sides, made his way to Kabul alone, abandoning 

Balkh and Tashh.--urgan to Hehma..."l. Ar)l)Ointing Faiz to the 

administration of the conquered area, Reh~an left for 

l3amian where he was joined by his uncle Azam Khan on 

Nover:1ber 30, 1865. 

Sher Ali 1 s good fortune was rmmilli.:~ out. He had not 

recovered fron the shock of his son's death and had shut 

himself up vii th his harem in Qandhar. He delegated the 

defence of Kabul to his son Ibrahin, who i1ad replaced his 

uncle \'fali Eohamnad, of doubtful loyal ty and of the same 

ilk as his brother Faiz. The Balkh :oarty mast erine the 

situation, set out for Kabul and in Decerr.ber arrived 

within ten miles of the city. Their star was in the 

ascendent. 3oth Sharif and Rafique, sent by the Amir to 

assist Ibrahim in Kabul, nicked quarrels wi th tl1e new 

governor and joined the invaders. They were followed by 

v1ali T·:lohar::Dad v/no had leo;i ti:oate grounds for discontent. 

The Balkh army reachinç; Kabul, received an offer of 

arrnistice from Ibrahim - v1e2.ry of intrigues and conscious 

of his defenceless position. He req_uested the invaders 

to delay the conflict for forty days, that is u-,_, to 

Pebruary 19, by whicl.1 date, Afzal and lüs co-prisoners 
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be released and the former restored to s estate. 

The pro!)osals were acce)ted by the invaders who needed 

rest and shel ter after their long march throu<~h snow 

and frost. 28 • Ibrahi=: during this period sed s 

father hard ei ther to li ber:ate the l'risoners or to come 

to s rescue, but Sher Ali throughout this , as 

Abdul Rehnan says \·Tas 11lilœ a lunatic" unm,.Jare the 

t ~ 1 . 29. even s around 11n1. And vrhe:n the deaclline 

the candi tians v.rere unfulfilled. The :Salkhis then fell 

upon Kabul, 'vhich already depressed was ground ta 

invaders. On February 22, the main body of the Kabul 

army abandoned their camus and tvro da~rs later Azam 

ent Kabu1. 30 • Ibrahim supnorted by a handful of 

thfuls, held out at Bala Hissar, but this too surrendered 

to Rehman after a sei&;e of ni:ne days on se of 

ners safety and freedom to the defenders. • 

The of Kabul brought Sher Ali to his 
32. 

senses. 

------

29. 

I op. ci t. p. 71. 

I on. cit. p.63. 

Also E.R. o~J. ci t. 2:).26. 

30. E.H. 1J.27. Rehman's Chronology of the event is very 
poor. His account says that the war started in I·:arch 
and occupation took TJlace in February. Reh.man I .2J2· 
cit. n.72. 

31. Also Rehman on. cit. ~.72. 

32. E.R. o::l. cit. p. 27. 
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Conscri:ptions from Herat, Qa.ndhar sed his 
33. 

ari!w to about forty thousand men. 1J.Ihe i··rhole month of 

I,:arch he S1Jent in collectinE provi was ·warrnly 

su:y)orted by Fateh r.:.:ohammad and bo z and Sharif 

once again joined his camy. Jealousy between Azam and 

Rehma1'1 further augured well for Sher Ali' s suc cess in 
34. 

the comin~: struggle. In April he moved towards 

Ghazni, then besie::ed by Abdur Rehrnan. Rehman, seeing 

this mighty army advancin:::;, raised the siège wi thdrew 

" ' 35. to the narrow pass of Sm .. aaoad. Sher Ali, leaving 

the royal :Jrisoner Afzal at Ghazni, set out for Saidabad 

on Hay 9.3 6 • Here Rehman assisted by occunied 

a strong position. Azam stayed at Kabul 11 to 

v1a teh the nrogress of the battle from n37. 

A cannonade on the 9th v.ras followed by a desparate 

battle the next day. Sher Ali himself led his twenty 

five thousand. men and fifty guns against Reh..111an's seven 

thousand. Both sides fought stoutly, but the desertion 

of the Qandharis to Rehman's side turned the scale against 

33. Rehman I. 22?_:_ ci t. p.73. 

34. -, R .:2.!_.._._ 0 p • cit. p.28 • 

35. Relman I on. cit. p.73. 

36. E.R. 01). 
• 4. 

CJ.. v. p.28-9 • 

37. Rebman I p.76. 
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Sher. He fled wi th a few hundred men, vrhile the rest 

of his anny surrendered to Rebm2 .. n. The residents of 

Ghazni, on lear:nin,"; of Sher' s defea t, shut the ir es 

to the fugitive ruler and welcomed the new monarch by 

liberating the royal prisoners,3S. c.tlief among them, 

Afzal IC..han, who becarne the new .A!nir on Hay 21, 1866 

amidst po:oular celebrations that evenin,;. 

The later half the year 1866 saw Afghanistan 

divided into three parts, each run by an independent 

chief. Central Afghanistan comprisine Kaoul and Ghazni 

vras ru1der Afzal !{han, who wearied by his captivity 

and growin~ a;e had egated his authority to s younger 

brother Azam. 39 • The south and west, ir1cluding the 

districts of Kelat-e-Ghilzai, Qandhar, Girishk, Farrah 

ancl Herat \vere held by Sher Ali. His son Yaq_ub was 

holdins Herat and had acctunulated a um1erful contingent. 

l1ost of the Kabul chi still looked UDon Ali as 

t ' . h~ • 40. 
ne~r .. H .. ul~r. lTorthern Afghanistan, that is Afghan 

Turkistan, was ruled by Paiz Hohammad, who was appointed 

the governor of Abdul Rehrrran on s conquest of 

that region, but had defied the Kabul authority and 

38. Ibid. Also E.H. O~-'· cit. n.29. -- ~ 

39. Both Rehman and Kabul Diaries noint out this. E.ehman 
I 22?..!... cit. p.lOl. J;L.R. QL. c:i.t. pp.250-252. 

40. ~· on. cit. p.30. 
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and assurJed indenendence. 4l. .i.lis tactful d.ealin::;s 

wi th hia auoj ects, l!'aiz had e~:~rned muc:1 e ec::m all 

the Uzbek fs reco;;nised. as their naster. 

Faiz havin ; ed Central -oc-,rty \·ras lea:nin~: 

to1-rards Sher Ali, and the latter 11elcomed :.:is ovcrture~>. 

T!ms wi thin three years of the dea ti:. of llo 

:!.'allen ··JJ:·ey di vi on anci 

the tical observera of tir:1e, i t 't·n=-t;::; a tussel 

for <J01:Jer betvreen <::.nd .Gher. 

Bo A zan: Ali e claims to the su ·ort 

r 

survi val. Az2-111 s ten uont21' s so juurn in India, 

43 
haci received rat~1er 11 cold treatment 11 there. • J:Ie 

been c, -~reat adherent of the sh aller;iance for 

Afghanist<u:, h<=.:.cl served as an inter.uediary for for:ml<::'.ting 

the An.glo-Af.n·han treHt;r of 1857, c:.nd succes~::Jfully 

1)ersuaded his f2,ther not to invad.e India durü:r: the 

Hutiny, contrary to t~'le l')onular derŒG'1d in Afe~~1a.niotan durincs 

t , J.. J... 44. 
üc~ v vli18. •.cl been on :e·::ci ter.r::s vri t:1 the 

--- --- ----· 
41. It i s Aze.t: ,.,2.s a lfaiz 1 s 2 TY)Qintnent Pond 

\·ranted to :-ce;;;ove r~ c:eclr--'.red 
s il:,.de·oendence. 

l858/l 71 ilii·n:J.rô.es to 
Also in llew, .W. 

London 1879. u.87. 
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J3ri tish ssion duriné': ti1eir re~üdence at Qandhar and 

bath LUJJ.sden and :Bellevl spoke hi ~ ' . 45. 
QI llll11. Aza.m 

d ex<Ject sorne rewards for his lonr; standing friend.ly 

attitude tm,rards India and made his si t there in this 

hope. 46 • Azan '\'ras not ·wronr_:; when he summoned to his 

sen ce the 13ri ti Hunshi, 4 7 • Nohar:m1ad Bakhtiar, in 

6 after the conquest of K<:tbul and denounceù. his 

mast ers as 11 inhosni table and un:r:rate:ful.u 48 • 

To the British Government of Sir John Lavœence both 

Aza.m and his brother Afzal were usur<)ers. Lawrence v-ras 

annoyed at the liberty which the :British !-lunshi to to 
'0 

congratula te Az2.m on his victorious entr;:,r into Kabul. 
47 

• 

He issued immediate orders to recall the Hunshi, 1r1hen the 

latter extended friendly overtures on behalf of the 

British Government to ston a rumoured Rueso-Afghan 

alliance in 1866.
50 

• But the co:rrJTiis oner }leshawar 

45. E.ü.L.I. 1858/169. 
E.S.~.I~. 1859/172. 

Lur:.1sden' s Diary_ no. 27. Also in 
Ltunsden's Re·port p.p_._cj..t. pn.201-2. 

46 . Rehr.J.an I 9..!?..~-.2..:ti. n. 70 • 

47. The native vakeel left Kabul in January 1864, 
leaving behind a munshi (vœi ter) to reDresent the 
British GoverrJùent. 

49. E .ii .L .I. 1866/I Government of India to Ptmjab Narch 
14~îat·6. p.l43. 

50. E.R. ~-cit. p.32. 
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the Lt. Governor of Punjab intervened to cancel 

this decision as they deened Nunshi's stay necessary 

at Kabul. 51 • Azam to the Govenunent of 

firstly through the Hunslü and then v·œote directly on 

behalf of Afzal to La\•Jrence, for Afzal' s reco,~tli ti on 

and British heln. But Lav·:rence 11aid no heed to such 

requests and in reply told them 11 ·plainly and onenly 11 

t.hat the :Sri tish Goverru:~ent would not 11break off" wi th 

Bher Ali, and would reco,p1i se Afzal if he be came 

sunreme throughout stan, because the relations of 

the British Govenment were vli th the actual ruler of 

that state. 52 • Lav-1rence addressed Afzal Khan not as 

an Amir but as a mere Sardar. 

Once again, in Hover1ber 1866, Hhen .the Rus sian 

ad vance in Central Asia a.11.d Bol::hara 's ineffecti veness 

against it, was constituting a threat to the Afghan 

dominion, 
53

• Afzal and Azam invi ted La1·œence to interest 

himself in Afghanistan affairs. Lawrence brushed aside 

the apprehensions Afghans anù told tiwm tha t the 

Goverrunent of India could see no danr.:;er to their dominion. 54 • 

51. E.B.L.I. 1866/I Government of India to Punjab no. 355. 
April 17, 66 and no. 86. !<Iay 17, 66. Also in Par. Pap. 
1878-9 LVI p.383. 

52. E .s .1 .I. 1866/I Lavrrence to Afzal Khan July 
Also given in E.R. on. cit. p.33. 

53. Ibid. on. ci t. Azam to Kabul Nunshi p:J. 433-4. 

54. F.R. on. cit. p.603-4. 

' 1866. 
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Lawrence's ti tude tov·rards ;3her Ali, his "ori,·;inal 

ally 11 makes for a sad story. Sher Ali haû. \vri tten 

three successive letters by the middle of 186~ to the 

British Hunshi at Kabul, requesting him to forward to 

higher authorities,his demand for six thousand muskets 

and money in cash. Of these letters only two reached 
~;;.: 

India. y:;· J3oth the letters in Punjab were conzidered 

forgeries, a machine.tion of the Afzal party in league 

with the Htmshi to test the real intentions of the 

J3 • t. ' 56. rJ.. J..sn. Ho reply vms made to Sher Ali. Then in 

September 1866, the latter \vrotE: directly to the 

commissioner of Peshav,ra:r; a:95!ealing that kings had been 

alvre.ys assisted by kings during their troubles, and Sher 

Ali, the rightful successor to his father's throne, who 

had been on treaty terms with the British, deserved their 

help in an hour of need.57. The Government of Punjab 

forwarded the letter to the central Goverrunent, informing 

Sher Ali that it was not certain whether the British 

55. ~- p.590. 

56. Ibid. 

57. E.S.L.I. 1866/I Sept. 10, 66. y.834. 
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Government would interfere in the internal affairs of 

Afghanistan. 
58

• The Government of India considered 

this reply sufficient and directed the border authori­

ties not to con~unicate further on the subject. 59· 

Thus once ap;ain a wave of strife 'vas about to be 

released in Afghanistan, 1a1ow:n as the Afghan Civil \var. 

Shre\vd uoli tical observers had always held the dictu.m 

that a weak Afghanistan in Central Asia, would invite 

troubles for British India. Britain did not at any 

stac;e of the Ci vil War, attemr:;t to exercise i ts influence 

directly or indirectly to restore peace in Afghanistan. 

Credit es to H.1'. Prinsep, a shre,·Jd Anglo-Indian 

administrator, and later a menber of the Secretary of State's 

Oo1mcil, for recommending that the Government of India send 

a British mission to Afghanistru1 to patch uu differences 

betvreen the contending parties, 60 • but Sir John La\vrence 

was deaf to su ch sug,rt,estions. 

The year of 1867 vras ushered in by further and mo1mting 

turmoil in Afghanistan. Sher and descended U":.Jon 

Kabul separately. Sher Ali had r,10ved tO\·mrds Ghazni in 

58. ]:b=!:_d. :Secretary Punjab to Co:,~mis oner 
Oct. 6, 1866. p.835. 

shawar no. 24. 

59. Ibid. Government of India to Punjab no. 1075. Oct. 20, 
bb.--o.837. 

60. S~cret Home Corr~12.9ndence 1868/62. Princep memo.on 
Central Asia January 3, 1868. (Hereafter cited as S.H.C.) 
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October 1866 'td th a force of about twenty-seven thousand 

men. Azam a'ld Reh.nèm came out wi th the ir fteen 
61. 

thousand and halteù at JJevrarak. Sher Ali reachinr; 

Kelat-e-Ghilzai desDatched an advance Darty i:lhich made a 

surnrise attack upon the enemy o:n December 30, but 

nothing \'tas gained. Then followed inaction for a fort-

nip;ht. On January 12, Sher Ali came out L' ";1" 1 .l- 62. 
0.1 .r .. e av. 

Four days later Rehr:mn advanced on at Kujbaz. The 

cannonade lasted the •:-Tho le day long, i'li th a break at sun-

set: 
. 63. 

i t was resmned next !::1orn1ng. In the afternoon 

Ki:.1.bul assumed an a,;~:sressi ve role by making a ge.neral 

advdnce. The Qandharis section of Sher's army gave way. 

Sher Ali noticing his trenches er1pty \d thdrew, and by the 

evenin::o:, H.ehman. was mast er of the field. 
6 L~' Sher Ali 

ed towards Qandhar and from there to Herat. Azam and 

6 
65. 

Rehrnan took over Qandhar on January 2 • 

\l'l'hile the Kabul amy was arrayed at Kelat-e-Ghelzai, 

62. :!!'.~• OD. Ci1• p.601. 

63 •. ~fle Edinburp;h R~view CX:X:XVIII 1873. "The __ r~_C.<?_llt events 
in Afr;hanis~an 1r u.253. (Hereafter cited as~&· 1873.) 

64. Ibid. 

65. F.R. on. cit. n.601. but Afzal's letter to Lavrrence 
m"entions-t~h.ë occupation of Qandhar on January 19. 
See Par~~n. 1878-9. 
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Faiz adva:nced 02:1 Kaoul. 

son Sar\·lë~r, but ;)arvJar was no L'lc:.tch for his <)0\'rerful 

uncle. Sarv1ar was feG,ted in Jc:nuary 1867 at 

Abikali 

Kabul. Afzal hysterical and sent for Hehma..11 to 

arrest s advance.
66 • But Faiz hearing of Gher Ali's 

defeat, fortunat ely gave uo ~1is furtheT ·olan of action. 

11he nev-r yeaT dawned wi til brir,;hter ~1TOS~Jects for the 

Central 1 s najor ri vals 1:1e:r·e defeated. 

by Sher Ali 's colle pse, he.d returned 

from 

Afzal's ended over Kelate-Ghilzai and Qandhar, 

bath of then innortant centres. :!:he Kabul ·oarty once 

a.r;ain turned tO\·rards the l3ri tish Govern.ment to ascertain 

·whether the laurels of war ~1ad brou;_::;ht co-01Jeration any 

neurer. A letter wi th Afzal' s sL:;nature on i t was 

des·9atched to Lawrence am1otmcin;; his victory over Sher 

Ali. Government of :..Punjab in forwarding this letter, 

recor,1.r:1ended to the Central (cr,ove!'I1L1ent that Afzal' s claim 

and status s dorainion oe recoe;nized' since was not 

in po he Dight soned.ay rule the whole of 

Aîghani • The recorx::enda ti ons urged the Central 

gover:nment to address Afzal as Arür and not Sardar as on a 

66. I ~.85. 
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f 
. 67. 

oraer occaslon. T?lis counsel took effect and 

Lawrence in s letter to Afzal addres him as Anir, 
68. 

but only of Kabul and Qandhar. The letter reminded 

Afzal Y·,.han that the relations of the British Government 

exist lvi th only the actual ruler of Afghanistan and. to 

attain that actuality he must exert hins Lavœence 

also inforraed the ruler of I<abul that a native Vakeel 

would be de:puted to his court to represent the :British 

~, t 69. liOVermnen • 

This v:as not a very encouraging r:1essage for the Kabul 

party. Thou;;h in their letter, Kabul reciprocated the 

fon1alities contained in Lmœence's letter, yet they were 

convinced by now that the British v·rould never come to 

their help. Afzal Khan therefore turned tm·1ards Rus si a. 

A copy of the letter from the Government of India, along 

·wi t:1 a conununication. fron Afzal IG1EU1, \tas sent to the 

Russian Governor of TashJ:::and, by the hand of a Khokandi 

trader named Qa~rud Din. The note said that they l:lad no 

confidence in 11Lord Sahib's 11 fine :profession of goodwill 

anà. they '~:.rere disgusted \vi th the English for their unusual 

ingratitude and selfishness and that they looked upon Russia 

67. Par. Pap. on. ait. no. 7/2. 

68. La\·.rrence Pauers no. 8. Lair.rrence to Cra.'lborne (-orivate) 
Fe b. 9, "b7. 

69. E.S.L.I. 1867/2 Viceroy to Afzal ~1an Feb. 25, 67. 
Also-P~r~ Pa~. on. ait. no. 7/2. 
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as their only well-wisher and were very an.xious to open 

com:::ercial contacts '"i th her. 70 • The letter reached 

Tashkand on June 5. 

Sher Ali after 2üs defeat at Kelat-e-Ghilzai once 

again had recourse to Engli sunnort. He sent from 
71. 

Herat to Sindh a naraesake of his O'Wll. messenger 

on his master' s ad vice put the ne\'! request in the forru 

of an ultimatum, that is, failing to procure British 
72. 

co-operation, Sher Ali ·would ask for extraneous help. 

The commissioner of Sindh, a chief authority on the 

b ~ l . t . tl . 73 • 1. t d ora.er, mvlng no po'\4er -o pror.:use any ung, lS ene 

to the talk vli th patience, and at the end handed over to 

the dejected envoy a COllY of the latest letter the 

Government of India addressed to Afzal Khan, '\'lhich 
74. 

advocated the rigid neutral policy of Briti India. 

True to his policy, ::>her Ali au~)roached Persia,sending his 

------
70. E.S.L.I. 1867/2 G. Paracl1a to Hannhul July 5, 67. 

Also iri F.R. op. ~· p.605. 

71. E.S.L.I. Commissioner Si:ndh Tel 
p.339. 

:Peb. 26, 67. 

72. Lm·:rence Pa uers. no. e.. Lawrence to Horthcote 
tpri va te) Narch 28, 67. 

73. E.S.L.I. Government of India to Cor.J.missioner Sindh 
Telegram Feb. 28, 67. p.341. 

74. Ibid. ComJ.'Itissioner Sindh to Government 
Telegram April 4, 67. p.429. 

In dia 
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son Yaqub, Governor of Herat, to meet the Shah of 

Persia who was on a pil;;rina;:;e to the Sb...rine of his 

spiri tual director, Imam Raza, in Nashhad, on the borders 

of Herat. 

The visit of Yaqub, the ruler of Herat to Has~1had 

v-1as not ~tri thout interest. Persia ·was cleeply co:ncerned 

vii th Herat, a ru.rnour spread on the borders th[:: t i:îher 

Ali was malr.inr: ovex· Herat to Persia in lieu of mili tary 

. " f' th t . . . 1 . Af ' . t 75 • al Cl. rom __ a power 111 s rl va s ln gnanl s an. 

He rat once again be came a bul"'llin;:~ question in Afghan 

l 't' 76. pO l lCS • 

Lawrence grevr nervous as he heard of the day-to-day 

developnents on the Perso-Afghan border. It was a 

challenge to llis cy of 11masterly inacti vi ty 11 • He 

1vrote to s immediate chief at the Office, that he 

would assist Afzal and hia party a:;ainst Persia21-sunported 

75. E.S.L.I. 1867/2. Viceroy to secretary of State no. 3. 
Sept. 3, 67. and no. 161. Oct. 15, 67. The first 
letter so in :E'ar ._:?a p. 0"8. ci t. no. 10. 

76. Simul taneous wi Yuqub 1 s visi t, Shalmawaz lilian, son 
the late Sulta..."1 i~.J.'ili"1ad Khar::. so an;eared at 

Ea Shahnm·raz \·ms a co-prisoner wi th Afzal in 
Ghazni, but was released by Afzal Khan on the defeat 
of Sher Ali. He was sent by Afzal uarty to counter­
act the activities of Yaqub Persia and if nossible 
to e j ect Sher Ali fror:l He rat vri th :::>er sian aid. 
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Sher Ali invasion of Af 77. stan. requested 

that the home government exert its authority at Teheran 

and ston the Persian-led interference in AfghaEi 

Also he wrote to Alison, the J3ritish M.inister at 

Teheran, su:;g;esting he mit;ht use his influence to 

discourace the nossibility of 
7l3. 

s nevr alliance. 

Lawrence also warned Sher Ali of the conseouences of the 

step that he was conter;nùating. 

Alison wisely puted, Ronald Ti1omson, the Secretary 

of the 

èiuring the 

sh Legati021, to be in attv.l.L\..1."-'" 
79. ter's visit to Eashhad. 

e on the Shah 

son vm.s 

assured by t:C1e Persian Foreig:'l ce at Teheran that 

Persia 'l)refer neutrality in the internal ::>roblems 

of Afghanistan. The Shah hi:1self sent a comrnuniqué to 

Alison infor::linr'Ç that Persia no intention of 

cornuromi itself in the Afghan civil war. 

Yaqub uet Shah anc1 al though he 1;Jas a 

ble recention at T·IG',Shhad, 
81. 

from renderinr; an~r active help. 

77. E.S.L.I. 1867/2 Viceroy to 
üD~TI. 

78. Ibid. 

79. Ibid. 

80. Ibid. 

Shah excused himself 

cretar:,' of State no. 3. 

81 • L • ~ • L • I • 7/2 Alison 1 s i'eler';ram Oct. 10, 67. 
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BotL Afzal and Sher ~li failin,?: in their ende2.vours 

to win foreign assistance for their internal fend[~, 

turned once e ···:ain to the ir m·m re source reJ. The later 

half of the year J 867, saw ther.1 ar;ain in the battlefield. 

This time Sher Ali recei vcd effective hel n fron :E'ai~j, 

who had bea ten the Kabul army first in 1866, <::md then 

aGain in April 1867. The K;::,1Ju1 cormander S2.rwar K.~an, 

frightened at his defeat at Bajgah, left the direction to 

his suborclinates and returned to Kabul. Faiz Noharunad 

clearecl. Bamian of the eneny and then retreated to :Se.lk~ 

leavinc further activities for joint action with Sher Ali. 

The latter seein,'; the si:nccri ty of 1!ur-·~oE>e of the youns 

warrior, j oined Faiz at TG.khta ~ml in 112.~~ 1867. The 

conbinecJ. forces nunbered sixteen t:wusancl r::en and sixteen 

[_çtillS • It wE:.s a stronc; and spiri ted army. :2rosnects 

looked. bri,:~hter for Shcr Ali. 
82 

• Kabul Has defenceless 

for ootll Rehraan <::md .Azan \!i th their forces were a1·rc:"~r 1:~t 

Qandhar. Afzal' s vreaJ: but harsh ad.rünistration had 

aliena tecl. the COL1L1oner s;n:r:1athies, [·il'ld v1orst of all, a 

cholera e"Oidemic hac1 broken out in Kabul in July paralysing 

the daily life of the city. 8~· But Sher Ali failed to 

tal::e advantage of his owJortm1i ti es and s1.;ent the 1trhole 

83. Ibid. pn.608-9. 
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84 .• 
'"'-'~--'-""-"··· vioion:c~ry scllcncs. 

After lon.:; he ' t~lC c.rr:lies of 

z sto.rted Abdul 

in the Y.1eantil:1 e ced ~lÜ> de 

KV .. G~l s. 85. The 

by a considerable 

di Sher Ali 1·n:.s headin.:~ s Panj::ùehr 

while entered Pass. Rehrnan upon 

This i s l;:nmrn as t~1e b8.ttle of QilL Alle.hd~::~d, 

after an old fort in the vicini t;y. Faiz 11as t by a 

i:n the encou:nter, and di ;:lio ar.:::1y 

surrendered to Relman on Septenber 17. Faiz' s 

and death friGhteneèl. Sher,ancl botll and his arny ·went 

back to Ta1::2:ltapul. 86 • Azar:: 1·r2.tchi:n.:; the L1ili te.ry events 

tlH? culties <:;..t ca~ü tal v:ere over. He the 

ru. lin<.; Âlïlir Afzal 
' 

0.:."1 his dea th bed. Afz<::.l the 

start i~/2\,S inclined to bcqueath lliG to Azmn, mu ch 

Abdul RehrD.an' s '~:Till • The latter had struggled 

hard to influence s fe.ther, but old nan preferred the 

84. I bid. p.606. 

85. Rcbru::m I oD. ci t. .2.6-7. 

86. E.S.L.I. 1867/2. Pollocl: to Thorton Oct. 16, 67. 
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ta his a1:m. 

87. 
e d2.3rs t:Lft e:r. 

:.:UliS Iri at Ka bul, re )art e c1 the. t 

0:::1 Oeta ber 7, 

;::~cl..:::noul 

, the Briti 

e:::pected. come 

expression of condolence o:n his b.rother' c dee.th, 

\vi t~1 recocni ti on of his ti tle by British authorities. 

La\'lrcnce ·was re1uct2....rlt ta re se Azan' s accc:::: on 
80 

, C> .,.,. bul _,. to the tllrane 01 .t\..a , • But i t w2.s risl:y ta deny a 

de fe.cto rul er G due recoi_~;ni tian. a 

38. 

major po repeatedly defeat Sh.cr 

Ali a11.d vras acl::nm'fl é~s Ac~ir in tJ~e 

dominiœ1 tmder O:n ITove~:1ber 13, 12-wrence im:ru.ed a 

letter to of Kabul 

offoring co:ndo1e:nce on the old k:lir 1 s dea th an cl v1elcor.1ini:; 
go. 

Azrua' s to t:1e Aueerate. A ta I~ohaur.1ad. Khan Has 

a.ppointed nev,;r British Vake to ti1e court of Azam, and 

reached Kabul on J2.11uar;)~ 18, to 

Amir. 91 • 

87. Relme..n I o··,. cit. 1).88. 

well received by 

88 • E • S • L • I • 67/2 :;{ç, bul Di c.~ry 0 ct • 67. 

eg. F.R. on. cit. p.611. 

90. B. 8 .L .I. 7/2. Utlrrence ta 

91. E.b.L.I. 1868/3. Co:,~lis~üaner 
Punjab no. 9. J2.11. 31, 68. 

Fov. 13, 67. 

to Gee. 



- 115 -

The nc1r .A.nir h2.d nany ~œoblems to face: for Sher Ali was 

ac;ain accllinüé;. ting nuni ti ons and men o.t lie rat; also 

Tur l:i s t2n · 2fter the dea th of Faiz, HC.G lyint; nastcr-

le f3G. TJ.1e Kabul party ho.cl the stron;::;est clairJ on tlüs 

rccion, since it 1·.ras an a:9:::;anae:;e of Afzal K'1.a..11 and i t 

h.ad be en conquerecl by Abdul Rehn2.n anc1 made over to Faiz. 

~;rese:nce c.t Ke::~bul 'l'las ecli:9siE; the l2-tte1, 1 G influence. 

Aze:.m kil led ti.·Jo bi rd s 'Id t:·1 one stœ1e b~: cor:m12.ndin~~ Abdul 

Rehman to talœ care of Tul,ldstsn Effairs, v1hicl1 the advent-

' t , ~t b . t ..L. • 9 2 • urous nepnew accep eu ai er sorne &Sl a~1on. Also 

Azam c.tte.ched Isr;1ail, the son of k"1in Khan, to Hc.hman to 

act as s:9y on ~1e latter's movenents. 

On hir:; e..rr:Lval in Turkistan in January 1868 
' 

?.el:unan 

folmd that Sher Ali had :CE'>de a peclmic..:c~r trip to tha t 

content vri th this, iw hc=.:.d sold all the Uzbel;:: princi:pali ti es 

. 93. to their chiefs anci recosn.ised their 121de·~Jendence. 

Rer.~..!JJ.BJ.1 formel TurJ:ist::'-n in ferr:rent ac;ainst :1ir.:",. 

installed chiefs 1·rere not lii:el;;7 to gi ve u:;) the indel)endence 

they had ]Urchased. 

at f~~nmana, a strorgy fortified :)rincipélli ty in the Hindu 

92. Eelw18J:1 I o··;. ci t. l;;J. 89-90. 

q3. Ibic1. "" 01 J l'•...l • 
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Kush range. Abdul stor:rJ.ed and took over 

al one; th i t , Al:: cha, Hailik Shiberghan. 

conquest of Eai::1&'1a ;Jroved to be a cult 

The eneny tc;.J'::en u:-.J stro:nc; clef ensi ve 'JO c.nd the 

l)rovicled for~~üdable shel ter for 

Abdul Rellli12-'r:. failed in his first a tteJ:l:;Jt on the 

l)O si ti on, but the r,:eers surrendered \·J"hen the second 

the mià.dle of 

, Abclul Reh."nan had re,;ained his fa th er' s dominion in 

TurkistEm. But rs in Central Afg}:anistan had talœn 

a ne11 shape during his absence. 

Seein~:s Kabul's enert;y clivided,anC. Abdul Reh .. ".'lan, t~~œ 

::;rea t 11illar of Iü:~bul' c strength, in vol ved in the di ffi cult 

conquest of the Uzbeks, Sher Ali decned 

nove on Qo..ndhar, vrhich ::;roaned lmder the tyr2.:rL11ies of Aziz 

t1.ro sone of Azam. ToHards the end of 

Narch Sher Ali sent a stronc force under his son 

Yaqub, to test latter's budclin:::; It was a creat 

success. Ye.q_ub cl.efeatecl Aziz <::~t Girishl:: and takinc him 

prisoner marched on Qandhar, v·rhich 1v'B.s quickly abandoned 

Sher Ali the meantime joined 

his son to1.1Lrd s Ghazni 0::1 July 2 6~ ~ 

94. E.R. 1873 oo. ci t. v1.1.261-2. It s<:1~rs Rehman failed in 
lri;,::; v2.riouc atterx;_:Jts- to ta::e over r:~ür.1ana retired 
to , toolc i t ':ri th fresb. rcinforcer:lents. 

95. Ibid. p.263. 
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of Qandl1C.l.-. l1s.cl sastrous affects on the 

Kabul adninistration. P..isü1,:;s broke out throughout 

Azam's dominion. Since 1866 hiu oppressive 

had brought dea th to na:ny te-lenteù men includinc; Rafique, 

the great soldier the Afghan Ci vil 1·Tar. The lzais 

an cl. Shinvrc.ri s tho vicini ty of Ghazni "dere è.iscontented 

<::md onl~- ami ted a si.918.l ta ri se. Azan 1 s aruy v1as ill-

1)aid, ill-equipped and dir:::crm1.tled '>vith his ed.y 

adnlinistr:::ttion. sfortu..ne surrov .... 'ldinc; hira. 

He sent to Reht'lan to co:me to s res eue , but R.cJunc.n ~md 

e:zhausted. his energy 2.ncl resou:cces on the Uzbeks. His 

only resrJOnse to hiu frightened uncle was to tell hiL1 to 

hold on to Kabul for e.t least a month vrhen he 1:rould be 

96 able to rescue him. • The desertion of I VJ"ho left 

Tur}:ist:::m on Aza:1' s order but joined Sher Ali, further 

97. \·rec.kened Azara 1 s cause. 

Azara cane out Ks.bul tm·1arcls the end of July to 

defend Gh::.:.zni. Is':J.ail, \·!ho had joined Sher Ali 1 s cause, 

ente red bu1 fore t21.e carricon to surrender o•1 

Aucust 18, de clarine-; Sher Ali an k::ir ~~ b J 98. at .r~..e. u .• Aze.m 

ed Sher Ali's forces, but the latter 

hehrin~-:; of I ::nail 's action at Kc~bul, decic1 to join 

Rehman I .;o .. ·:;;.) ;;.• .....;;c;.;i::..t.;;;.. p. 97. 

97. Ibid. D.96. - .~ 

98 • Re !11-:J.an I ou . ci t . p • 98 • 
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Azan~ folloued. Ghazni •.qas l 

cleDarture of Azar~ 2-..c"YJ.d surrendered to Sher Ali' s ad.-

herentE, 11ll0 the:!:l attac}:::ecl Azar1 
oq 

Ali la1-mched a fron-t2.l attac::. j~ • Th us ourrou.:n.d ecl and 

sed, Azé.tr~~ atteJ'l~ltec1 to n.ttacl~ Ali Œ1 the ni,::ht 

Aucust 26, but founcl hiB chan~;ed sidec. He 

ed vli t}1 sone tho1:sand of llis 

he reached Turkis ::.::econd '~:.ree3: of 

enber. 100 • 

Azm:: met Abdul B.eln:::.an Gho 

Ali~Ol. Since the 

of 7,.a.bul, Rerii~mn' s authori ty stan had been 

challen;:;ed.. .His soldiery '~das desertinc hir:1 anc:. the 

c;ener<:.:l '•Tere ;rumblin taxation so 

necessar;:r for the :pro j ec-ted i·!é:..r. 

out tm,rE:rcL3 Ghazrd in Oeta ber. TliG;y- sent Se.nrar to 

the Ghilzai e.rcc:. to for..::.ent a ri there e.cainst Sher 

Ali. latter hec.:trin:.; of the acti vi tiec of AzaB sent 

ar.~. army Gar1:ar, vrhich crushed the Ghilze.i risinc; 

u?lile Sller hinself set out s 

nearby Zenc.kho..n • 

• E.R. 1873 ~· cit. :p.264. 

JDO. Ibid. 1).264. 

JDl. Reh.:12.11 I 01.J. ci t. p. 99. 
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102. 
into city by t~1e action took e 

closinb the yoar 

resourceless, TI.el:.r:J.D..E o the l'J'inter 

of 69, but Aznr1 i·ras in a hur::cy forced his 
1.03. 

nephe'ld to o:)e~'l 2.11 offensive a;aillst Sher Ali. On 

J[muary 3, Abdul Ii.ehnan ::10ved. tovrards 

b:Lc1 to eut off the detadu'TI.ents Sher Ali. 

The at failed. Abdul Reb...r:J.aa v.ras overpm·rered 

fled to safety, clo sel y fol1o\·reèl b;)r AzarJ, 104 • ':ùo e.s usuE:.l 

112. tchec1 events fro:.t a ot2 .. 11ce a.t Roza. 

The crovnüess ,.,arJ.derers flevJ fro:1 to Zunm:~t 

fron there to \Taziri , Bilauchi , Siestan and 

Ju1y 9, the;; .::.~ Here the;;t 

zood-bye to each other for ever. coed.in_:; s 

died o..t SlK' .. i1.rOocl. Re:1.nan en t from 

thore ceeded to Tashkand, be comin.:::; o11ex· o~c· 

}ù_J_sr:;j~a:ri 'J·overrune11t, e av1ai tint; the role '~:Ihich Rus 

plz~y in the to co:o.e. 

Ali on hic corl.quest of Ke,bul Ausust 1868, 

info 1Jotb Ata and. Dal:::htiar, of his victorious 

102. • 1873 on. cit. n.26q. 
... -

103. Heb.1J.2:n I OD. ci t. p .102. 

104. 69/4 Sher Ali to 

18 7 3 .;;;.O,.P-.::·~C;...;l;;;.. +.-v • :;.270. 
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e • 

~nd recocnition of s e.chieve;.,.1ents, addressed 2. 

1etter to Lmœence a:,uwuncing his succeso over his 
107. 

rivals. After tn:n days, he to Ata Hoha.;1r 

the.t he had not recei ved any con;:;ratulatory message from 

Goverrunent of India on the recovery of his dominion. 

He enumerated to the British Vakeel, the many times that he 

had deserted the side of his son-in-la\'l Saadat Khan, 

during the latter 1 s vlar ae;ainst the sh on the eve of 

the Ambala . 108. 
campa~gn. Sher Ali was emphatic on the point, 

that although he given no offence to the British, he 

never had received any encouragement from the English during 

t , t t t · 1 f ' · l'+- l09 • d a · sh t ne grea es r~a o ;US l.L e. expresse w~ . o 

me et Lmœence himself in India, to 

. t. llO. 
pOSl lOn. 

But Lm·œence w-as still he si tant. 

to him the Kabul 

doubted whether 

106. E.S.L.I. 186tl/3. K.D. 23-27. Aug, 68., :_Jp.323-5. 

107. ~· Sher Ali to Viceroy, Sept. 14, 68. p~J .869. 

108. A rising of 
border. 

v/ahabis in 1863 on the Ann;lo-Afgha11 

109. B.b.L.I. 1868/3. 
Also in nar. nan. 

;r D r, • ' 2' 5 ~· 0ep~emoer , 
on. ci t. no. I. 

68., pp.976-7. 

110. ~-
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::.JJ:.er Ali on the t:1rone 

of' Af glu:~:r;.i value of 

c 

~) i~:;;:.ecli<::.te superior 

relü::ncc C8 .. ~l ed. on 
l1r_i 

, • ri ....1- ..:.... • 

~llir~ ' ''l t.) 

"~:.rait 
113 

furt~er events. • 

scussed the Civil _zhanistan i t r~ovr 

iJcco~~~~eb necec s the author of 

·:Jolicv of 
~ v 

Laurence, as i s n;ene:callzr the 

of .:?o 1lY'i tership the l~ant Inclit: 

ce, to a rnr>.L ·vthi ch 

c;reat ru1ers of c tir~~e. He :i.üms said once that 

tl1e 11 Governor ::ùi:: is too for a fellow 

like ne 11 • 
11!;.. 

attained it, he fai1ed to 

canee of e. He ru1ed as 

"our American rtm a store 11 in the estiw:'.tion of 

Herbert Ed'..rarcles, o:::1e of Lê-:twrer.t.ce' s osest assoclates on 

111. J~. S .L .I • p-·-ç7..., 
c .• l}·l.,) '· 

112. Ibid. ?·678. 

113. ~· .679. 

114. Quo tc., 
2 949. 11. • 

G.G. to !~rthcotc no. 142. Ge • 2' 

I~ercy, V. v-ice,"'o'.: o:f In<ql· ,, v~ .J.. st ~ - ... ........ --~..~' London 
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the north i'!E: ern borders of 
115. 

to rea:Lice 

not , 'bac};:inc; could 

Centr&l Asia. 

Lav1rencc belon::;ed to that of Engli 

ir:_ Indie., ex,:Jeri enc ed conseçuences of the 

first An~lo-Af tencied to n2l:e 

entirely indifferent to the e;-_;_ of Central Asia. 

The c t of the J3riti in es.rly 

fr on and the treatment meteà out to 

two Engli cial s, Stodde.rt Conol1y in Bol:hara, 

!w.d profou..."'ldly affected the thoW3ht of contem~)ort:1,ry 

po licy in recard to Central Asia. Lm·~rence, 

the st2.rt his border career , as a co:J.:;ü cioner 

in tl:!.c:: c1o~:linion, to hL.i cl wr~s su;.;.nicious 

of Central Asian ruler:::;. 

The to him vrere allies ex1d ruthless 

plunderer:::J. It 1-.ras l'li::_. convi 

never joi:n En,:;lich bloc in 

:i:heir love of plu.:1cler e..ncl their ea:3er:nes~-; ta re-

caver the of J?eshs.-vrar , cou_plecl vii th 

t:1eir bi"'otrJ~:' v.roulû drive ,.., ' the Rus suu1 carn p • 

115. Eduardes, Ir. 
., ~ • ,, • T:f TI ,;_LaJor >:JJ.r H.J..l. 

1886 p.2§)0. 

i-Ter_c_orials of the :;:;ife and Letters of 
Ed\·rardes, co:1piled by his uife: Lon elon, 
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~--he'"~l "'O re··· oo--lea·1 1""\-T""'e'~ ce 116 • V.J....i. .:..- , ù c..... u l .J.JO.. ~ .J.. ......... • 

any trea ty 'di th the Af gha:ns • 117 • It i"!éW Dalhousie, 

Cannin.~ or Ed.v-rE,rdes
118 

• ·"'rila made the tres. ti es of 1855 Emd 

1857, 1vi th Dost Loha12122d. 

To tl1c ·;ali ti cal event~::; on the b.s:.nlc__; of the Amu 2.nd Sar 

Daria, Lavœence aL;:;?licd a::10ther :::œinci~üe. :re ]Jreferred 

t~1e ::;r::.rvrth of Rus:~ia in t~1& t re::;io11 to the clec;enere,ted 

civilization of the Uzbeks. L.s~1:.rrel1ce ;;;ac convinced that 

this 1-vould be fol, the Uzbel::s li3:e justice inflicted 1Jy 

na ture for the ir c'iei)rede,tor::r ;.:;:üri t, and also that i t \·ras a 

curse for Russia to lu .. "'..ve to lmdertake tl1e i:n.surrEom!.table 

Jl'"'O j ect of conc;_uest D.nd consolicle.tion in Ccntro,l Asia, 

he.r1Jourecl tb.e belief that the Rw::;sü:,n occupatio::. of Ce1:tr2.l 

Asia vrould be tem~JOr'-'cr~r, for these ·were barren lands in-

habi ted by :üghly fans~ ti cal races. 

face a treuendous o:::-,::?osi ti on 11 li~.œ 

Ru:c::sia vras bom1d to 
119. 

ov.r fat e in Z:e, bul " • 

ITencc he declined to listen to repeated apJea1s made by 

116. Lm·rre:nce :Féèpe:rs no. 7. IJav·Œence to :De Grey (priva te) 
Ee.;/ 17, 66. cmd to Cr<c:.nborne ()rivc:~te) Jul~c 17, 66. 

117. Pc:.r. Pcv~;. LVI 1873-9 Lc:rurence :;:inutcs }?ov. 25, 68. 
no. 14/4. 

118. Echrarci.es, Ee::wrié;.1s. o::-;. cit. ~).266. 

119. Lc:i;wrence Pa.[.)ers. no. 6. L<..~'.-.rre2-lce to Uoocl (:)rivs.te) 
!Ia;-y- 26, 6 :,; • Also L-.:. hi;::; v;c~riouc r:ünutes on the sub-
j ect of Central A:::is. he ex~·œe;:;:.::;cc: t:ü;::, vi e·l·!. 
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the :rtüers of K.1:~wtan, , and ~Jo ~d1ara :Gng:Lish 

He wLs 2. '";<Ünst estab1ishin:_::: e..n~" com:nercitü 

accredited 

Enc;1iuh 

su:_:.:;estions to this effect ';lere r::1.:~c1e b;y the Goverr.w•:ent of 

Punjall 1866.121 • 

No less s . .:n ir:mortF;.:nt e ct upo:n e ' :: r:lincl 1·ra s 

the blind attached to s o pi ni o1: b;r 

London. truth by both 

the Emd the Conserva ti ve Secretarics of State for 

Indi2.. Charles vlood endorsed hiD ideas. 
121. 

The 

of Cranborne, 1ater I1arc:J.uis of Salisbury, \vho ed Lmœe::.1ce 

in the seventies 11 the slmdm:.r of a e;reat nane llirder wlüch r::.~ 

notley assembla~e of wild follies and re 
12~ 

are trustfu11;:,r l:ïinc; dm-m toc;ether 11 5 • 

thé.tt Lén·rrence 1 ~' :JOlicy 1·ras 11 co:nsisteut 

ble truisms 

in the sixties 

Enc;1ish intere 

at fi 4-. To Sir Stafford ~·~OJ:.·t::.lCote, L&l·rrence 's i·r2,s • 

120. Pc::.r. Pa·n. XLVI 1868-9 Govern2~!ent of 
Oct. 28, 6G. 11).535-7. 

121. of Incli<..::. 

to ~u1jab 

jab no. 672 

122. Le.:,,.rrence Pe..·:Jers no. I. 
16, Ju1y 4, Oct. 15, 
:1.o • 2 • o ') • ci t . 

\·!ood to e (priva te) June 
4 c.nd Letters to India 1859-69/I 

123. L;rtto:~ Paneru 516/2 Sa1isbur::: to Lytton no. 40. (:;)rivate) 
Oct. 4, 77. 

124. L2"'.VTrŒ1Ce P2~:::ers no. 5. Oranborne to Laurer:.ce c~œive.te) 
Aug. 27, 66. 
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the lsst 1:IOrd on Central AsiL:.n 
. 125. 
l~)GUCS • sane tone 

1·ras adopted by EE:.rl de Grey Ri l;on, 11hen he HE:.c headinc; 

the 

Thi::o oru.:ni:potence credi to a on suc':c o bvious 

in :::; Dalœ-up, d not brinc benefits to the Briti 

intere on the nort{L we8tern frontiers of India. To the 

A:fghans looked unon 3riti India a8 the ir Ar{:;-us, i t 

vvas a ze.d injustice. 

';lainant conc J3ri tish attitude to'H[trds hir;l the 

-, He held the Englisl1 responsiD..Lu :for lic:;Htilli; 

·t..üe 'fi re 11in S COU:rll..:i..t. 
127. 

self:L nEètion 11 

soon as v1as 11e11 esta 

125. 

l12.c~ 11never seen the 

erreèl to stay 

L<e.1·.rrence Pa'Jers no. 4, 
Arœi1 10, Oct. 1, 1867. 
Dec. 26, 67. The st 
LVI 187G-9 no. 15. 

126. Lc::rvrrence J?a·Jers no. 3. 
11E<.:r 3 , .c .. nd. June 30, 6 6 • 

to j the Russi<~-E 

d in 128. 
Abc~ lü 

fit of EnG1i.sh 

lTOl'thcote to Lmrrence (pri VL~te) 
and Letters to India 1859-69/I 
letter c.lso in l'ar. Pa·,J. 

Gre~' to Lm·rrence (I;rivate) 

127. lrinetee:nt~l Centur'.r Hevie'i'l IV, 1878 
Hm·I1inson p. 971. 

9. Reh:man I o·.). ci t. ~s. 
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ThUl3 1re cc;,n a J;l e of hou Lavrrence 1 s ::.olicy 

in India, creat a ;IUlf between tl;.e Af::;hm1 and the 

Enzli Russia vrho i·ras subjugatin.z durin:; 

t.his ~Jeriod, found i t more easy to approach t~w Afghan 

nind.. Here lay the crux of the eL. 
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Eussian 11Hasterly Activity 11 continued 

Jo}:hara 1865-1869. 

Relations bet·ueen Russia :Bol;:.,.'IJ.ara durin.:;:; the fir 

of the nineteenth century vrere of a l;eaceful nature. 

Thcre h1::1-d been a re2;ular of betv1een tuo 
., 

t 
..L. 

cour s. 3oi::hara not er Rw:osü: ... "YJ. terri tory ei ther 

at t:ü:::; ti:;.1e or later Russie. occupiecl the LO'iJer 3r:.r-

Daria, for the Kizill:u.2~1 desert still sepal~ë.tecl tllŒ:t from 
2. 

each otller. Colonel ILl'. It.,'Tiatiev vl~"lo si tecl 

8 'dEJ.S 11 erful 2 .. nc1 contented, 

obtained all ~::.e wantecl fror:1 Ar'lir perhaps LJ.ore than 

he expected 11 wrote one of the ers of I0natiev's mi on. 

I.:;natiev, durin; his conversation vii Lord er, the 

3riti envoy to the Ozar's court, spoke well of the treat-

ment he received in l'las impres vii th the 

4. public order, the administr2.tion and the 2.:rr;1~r of Dokhara. 

3. 

1. Russion envoys fJe:nt to Bol.ch2.:ra the 19th century 
included Lt. Poverdovs}:i (1302) who did not Bokhe.ra: 
Sul!hmù:uloff (1809): (1824) : T olkovski (1224-), 

to reach son (1834): E. Vukovitch 
(1835): Oe.pt. ICovc:le::ù:i (1339) ~ Ca1)t. 13utnef (1840). 

2. On the frontier of 
mountains of 
north and l!e 

to tl1e eê~st '\18;8 

on t~::.e 
t desert. 

and 
on the 

3. Echrardes, li.S. Ruscü:m -orojects t~i;ainst India. on 
1885, quotecl, p.209. 

4. F.O. 65/367 er to ell no. 272, Aug. 26, 61. 
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I.::;ns.tiev'n csion, carefully studied abject 8JJ.èl 

nature of the i:ntere Afc;hani and in the 

te ories be~rond i t0 J::orthvre 8J.."11 borC.er, :olt the 

sub~ni tted i ts 

The rJission req_uestecl (I) the Anir to louer by l12lf, 

customs dutiec on Rm:;sia:r1 se; (II) to rœovlde 

ctior: to mcrch::.n1ts; . (III) to the 

ectablishr.J.ent of te:.:.porc:.ry Russian cœ-.-::Je:t~cial a,sencios 

(IV) to &llot 

(V) to permit of navi œ:. 811 the Anu 

;
6

• 2nd (VI) to liberate Rus;.;;ian subjects then in 

ca ivity in 

A.-rnir lJacsarullEth c-~cceded to the Rue posals, 

sin:; in tio:n not to receive :Sriti er.ü s: sari es in 

s dominion tJ:J.at he the ruler of Afg212.ni 

not to let ther1 throu:;h thr;.t 

e confi1"J':1ed theoe proce 

' 7. comrcry. sh intelli-

Kabu1 sources re1Jorted 

thirty-t-',10 Ru::::sians, uhCJ 1-·1ere rm.rried ta nclti ve ;irls, 

l'rere turned over to the mi 

<.::;c Bala tted to Ru~:.; 

5. :G1e.lfin OD. ci t • .57-8. 

6. so l;:novm 
(Arabie). 
locE~ted in 

(Sansl:::rit), Ü}..'liS (GrE. ) and Jehu .... TJ. 

vrord A.rrm is deri ved from the tovrn of lwul, 
:;:œese:nt day Char Joui. 

7. K.."1alfin p. 59. 

8. E.G.L.I. 1359/173 K.D. .457-8. 
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<3.t St. Petersburg 1ear:nt from a 

news:paper re that a decision been nade to 

estab1ish consu1o.tes in ~Sokhare. and the other states of 
0 

Ce11 tral Asia . .,.~ · 

some\rhst 

Lord 'dodehouse, the .t.. 
vl e11voy, vras 

se cleve1op;::ents, out 

tlw,t Bri tain 11neec1 not be alarmed as no demonstration 1·ms 

in tend 
. 10. 

in tlmt :part" of Central As1.a. 

Ignatiev's visit was returned by IG11·mja Naja.u ud Din, 

the Bokharan e::.1voy, -..rho met bath the Czar and Gortchakov. 

The envoy ;,·ras assureèt of the peaceful intentions of Russie. 

. 0 .... l A . 11 • 1.11 en ~;ra. s1.a. The Briti Foreign office intelligence 

irtdicated t a connercüü trea ty 1ras lmder c era on 

by the two covernme:nts that these ne;:;otü~tions h&cl 

l 't' l . l' ..... 12 • po l l.Ca lr1p 1.08. vJ.OllS. 

Tl1.e ci vili ti es v.rere short1i ved. I:ncreasin..., Russia.n 

pressure in Sar Daria,)roduced a sense of insecurity 

tllrougllout the nc:tio:ns of Central AsiE:., -"'articu1e,r1y on 
17 

Huzzafar uél. Din, the neu Auir of Bokhara. ::> • 

The RuE: occup;.~tio:n of Tashkand was the 

9. P.O. 65/1367. no. 259. 

stre.u, 

10. F.O. 65/867. Uoè.ehouse to Clarendon, ii[•.rc}l 25, 58. 

11. E.:3.L.I. 9/1873 r...D. OiJ. oit. a1so in :B'.065/ 
534. no. 59. 

12. :P .065/535 Cre.r.:pto:n to ITalr!~eslmry no. 
18 • 

13. :i.Tru:>saru11ah died in 1860 and vnw succeec~ed b;y ;::; son. 
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a::1d knir iYiuzzafar to i:;:.:-:1edia te ac on. 

Po1itica1 ascendancy in Turkistan been the key 

po1icy of the Amirs of Bokhara in the nineteenth century. 

Bokhara "''as the r:1.oct inf1uentia1 Emd t~1e major )Oli tical 

power the states of Centre.l Asie; in hour of 

cri s the nei;.:;hbourin,:_:; states loo1:ed to for zuidance 

The cry fron 

deliverance coulcl not urunet by a 11defender of 

faith". It lvHs not only Arc:ir z~far's DOlitical 

sat;acity, but broug.ht hi:m 

to the rescue of llis co-religionists. 

The of Taslù:and :::1ade action imperative und on June 

25 l 5, Arlir Huzzafar di ched. s envoy Khvmjc:;, c1..n1 u<l 
14. 

Din Parsa to St, Petersour{;. The envoy to with him 

t1·ro elephants as presente for t:::.e Czar, a letter contain-

in:; both a tes-t; a::;ai11st Rus OCCU}J8.tion :1:2 .. 8}1-

l::and and a rec:uest for s restoration. to 15. 
In 

the r:1ean ti1:1e tl"le Al"'lir on Y.J10lmnd occupiec: i t .for 

the tuo nontlw Jul~r 14 to pte~bcr 13, before 

restorinc; Khudayar Khan to the tlœone under 

of 
16. 

Bo::l1a:ca. - The kdl" t::.lco e.nnexed south-uestern area 

• ~ingh o~. cit. p.l3. 

15. F .065/868. Buchanan to Hu::.;sell no. 325. Oct. 25, 65. 

16. on. ci t. p. • 
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er1c1in.,e__:: 

. " 17. Janet. 

as ICani 

diplonatic circ1es 

an. cl 

not a~-.prove of A:t'lir 

I~zzafar's actions. To the:, he vms an intruùer H:usso-

Khoké..Uldi rs ancl an encroacher on terri tor~r. 

Ee:nce they set out to tr:.l:e t neasurec;; 

BoJ::hnra. A Bol:har2.n care.van wE.G 
- lü. 
Orenbur:;, 

lC 
restrictions tJere im11osec1 on the cornnercc of that state, ::;. 

jamud J)in v:as not allm·reà. to proceed to St. 

Petersbur . .;, and Bo~::har~:. was asl:::ed to thdrau fror:1 the 

recently co:nquered YJ1okandi terri tory. 
20 

• In July } .. mir 

journey to t~1e for 

a Rus Ch2..rnaiev rcjected 

both cl Iluz ud Din 

1·1i th out 

17. Ibid. 

18. T.he EdinburgJ1 Revievr c-:::..xv 
cited as E.R.) 

by clo 

ir.l-:1orta11t 

7 ou. oit. p.37. (Herec:~fter 

19. F.065/868. L"uclranan to Russell no. 274. SerJt. 12, 65. 

20. Ibid also no. 325. 

21. o ·; • ci t . ') . 

. g. 0 ;) • ci t . :? • 3 7 . 
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Di:n vrc.~s ::till inn:ci irl ::i.:he 

r 11 Jc;hacl R ,1 23. 
0000 • 

e chanc:;c in Rus cdtitude. In 

Fove;::ber 1865, ud Din iras per:mitted. to :~1roceed 

to St. Petersbur~,~~d. a mis on fro:J. Te.sJ.JJ;:<:_nd, Ul1c'.er 

1:. de Struv was sent to :So 
" -"- Lj- • 

k'lir ui thclra·vr fron Kholmndi terri tory open u:_r: that 

stste to Eus 

se à. to 

t 
~ 25. rao_e. The Bo2::har2. r::1is on in 3t. 

an audience Hi t:1 Czar 

its evE:~ces to t~le Ore:nburt; 

ti on. 
26. 

The Amir, in fury, d the e4 IÜ on 

candit U1J0l1 sa.:t·e-return of 
27. 

:lis o;,.·m mi 

Charnai ev rnade thir:.: a casu.s belli, cle -· i t a 

machination of sec:ret J3ri ti 

. . 28. 
Et2;Etln.st RuGsla. Gortchs.J.:::ov hc;.c.l alreacl~r inà.icatod to 

23. Singh 01J. ci t. }") .14-. ( 11 Jehad 11 ;.c.eans ho 
2rreans Russia. ) 

vœ.r. "H.ooss" 

24. Other neubers tl_-:Le s on were Lt. Col. Tatarinof, 
8J.1êt • Ghukho 

25. E.S.L.I. 1866/I 

26. ]? .065/868 3ucha~lan to Ru:ssell no. 377 c. 6, 65. 

27. :E1 .065/868 J3uchEman to Clarendon no. 111. 14, 66. 

28. P.065/868 Buc~1an2.n to Ià.ws no. 207 IIa:l 0 66. <::.). --'' 
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Buchanan that Struv' s detention in JJokhara L1i;;ht re sul t 
00 

in \!ar.c..':J• It was a forgone conclusion. The Russian 

r:1ission coulèl not e:::pect to l'lave better tre2.tment than 

Clw.rnaiev :::oved :lis forces <='~,_;sinst :Jol::l1arE:. on January 

30, 1866. The~" crossed tho So.r D2ri2 1ri th fourteen 

conpanies of infantry, six squ2.dron:::; of CossackD :::mel sixtcen 

c;tms z"ncl ree.checl Jize.J::A~ "the first fortifie<i Bol:l12ran tm!ll 

31. on }'eiJrl.lé'.r~r 16. 

forrüd.ablo force E~nd ~;rudencc ad.visecl ti-n iE:nediate \ri th-

32. 
clravral. 

Charnaiev' s retre&t frŒ: Jizc:ü:h was not well received 

at St. Petersburg - retreat as Gortchakov had said in his 

circulc~r of 1864, iG taJ:en as siGTI- of 'l.'leë?..k:ness by Asi2.ns. 

The saue uonth Ché:.rne.iev v'l'e.s reccüled, and he \·rc.u> succeedecl 

by Genero.l D.I. Roma:novsky. \'11üle Gortclw.kov blu:ffeèl 

~'uchan<::m, thé~ t the 11 inde2Jencle:nt and. insubordinc~te proceecl-

in~~s" of Ch~~n1aiev had led to the latter' s recall. 

Juch2-nan learnt fro::~ ot~1er oov_rces the actual stor;y of t he 

29. F.065/865 no. 111 oD. cit. 

30. Ji~ald1 mca:ns hot. ':C~1e _ple.ce is l:r:ovn1 fol' i ts :ü.=;h 
Te::~:;erdture; i t i s si tw::, te cl in_ t~'le de el) vc:.lley ne<::'.r the 
A:ct2u r;:;:.n._;e. 

31. Vsnbery, A. HiE.;tory of Bold1ara, L0::.1(~o::1 1873 p.402. 

32. Ibid. ~JP. 402-3. 3ut E. :::J .1 .I. 1866/I Ghulam Re.bbani 
account of Peb. 22, 66 ste:;.tes t':__;__;~t the RLwsié?JlS were 
defeated at Jize.~:h. 
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33. 
On co:ntre.r~' ev's 

v.re1~e be a~t , . 
U)Ol1 JUTI1 ho:-~d becn raised, 

his :9o1icy 

Charm::.iev' 2.d.vance on Ji Govcrr>..2.1en t 

recei ved s:n. o.ccount 

35. The re:;ort thct; thore vrere 20,000 

so1diers reaCy for on ac;[ünst , '\:rllose 

i1l-equi forces uould never be e 

to resist t~1e si2-n 2.dve.nce. The Gover:rment of India, 

on this re~ort, stronsly doubt "the ,::;oocl f<:,;_i th 

ci fic corJ.::ercia1 entions 11 of sia as 

e:x::oressed ii:. 

c01:..cluc:ec1 that pre sent qv.arrel betHe en J3oldl&ra and 

haè. been conductcè. er 11 the direct orcler of the 

H:ussie~n Gover:n.ment 11 • Ti:e action, the Governrnent 

Inclü~ ~oint out, 1.ras 11v..::.1Luthorised 11 

1:1as one i ts ~)rojects of on. 
36. 

Lord Clar<c;ndon, acti:nc; on tlw inîorn::.atio:n oî the 

ce, direct J3uol::.a:nz:m to verify the vc::r::.:ion of the 

• P .065/868 :Ouche_nan to ClareEdon :::w. • FE:b. 28, 66. 

34. Terentev, l .A. Istoria Zavovuny2. Serdni Sredni As ii, 
St. Petersburg 1906. Vol. I, p.335, ~iven in Pierce, 
}i.A. Russic.n Gentra1 Asia 1867-1917, Ca1ifo:>.'Tiia 1960, 
p.21J-. 

35. E.0.L.I. 1 6/I Ghule.r: bbani c.ccount 

36. s.rr.c. 1866/ r.o. to F.o. Jlme 21, 66. 
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to Gortcha:cov 

"H .:u. Gover:tŒlent recoG::üzes int 

an cl practi ce, is ~usti h:::win; recourse to 

neasures of co on t o r:ro cure release of her envoy 11 , 

but th~~t, the ain as une:_ ood fron the circular 

of lE364, 1r::~s to for.:: e, SL~fe li::1e \ri thout s-

turbin"" the 
•J 

ty of the Asian states. 

Subser.:_nent events th<::.t p~:~rt of the world ohowed 

11Ruosia seemo to ho:ve n2.de a st advance in this 

dirEction, ·~ pero.anent ~lassee on of tel~ri tory not 

req_uired sol for }~:oJ::in.:~ a :::;ooè. er. n37 • 

sone inq_uiries St. Petero 

intelli~ence was t~1e Rus Centro.l Asin vms 

not as large as re~orted by the 

re Nere elever;. 

)8. 
r,'"821t e 

~-q 

of about 500 nen.)_ • Ire thcn obtaineë:. m.:. audience with 

Gort ch.::ü:ov out to hLJ, a c<.:~nt ;:ortion 

ch on the subject. GortchaJ::ov 

calmly 2~nd infor::-::ed the envoy, that 

37. F.065/868 Clarendon to no. 201, Jvne 27, 66. 

38. e 

p.lB. 
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been c.J].:r:exed to the Russian dominion 

in Central Asia, and as to a:"Ly further e:;:tension in tJ"mt 

on, 11 the sié:J1 r1ili tar:y 2 .. 11thori ti es 1le:re the onJ .. ~l 

co:.(~;eterlt juclces as to •Jhat ct sicht be re~uirod to 

c:;i ve a sa cft:,ctory frontier to Rue sian ssesuions 

in Central Asia. 1140 • s e:q;lenation diC not sc, ;:;,fy 

her conque To t~li u c:uery Gort 

d te 
41. 

ansv:er". 

gave "no very 

The neu Russian co:m:mander Central .A.Gia, General 

Rm~1anovsl:y, 1·1as an educr::.ted SléW, vri th a sense of etlmic 

su:periority, advocated Ruscian 

42. 
ends. 5uchanan learned 

'~"·18°-"S 43 • J.• G.;..t. • s in:::Jtructions 

ension of in 

lee ni nd Asic~ns res 

negotia 44. 
• 

for release 

ct 

st nair::ly for moral 

zed the territorial 

ce. se ur:.;ency, 

force of arr.w <::1bove 

GO to te 11i th 

ni sion L1.ncl to 

4::: 
cor:nerce • ./ • 

40. ~-

41. I1Jièc • 

42. Roraano vs }::i o:J. oit. 11.17. 

43. F.065/863 no. 6. r)ï 66. • <-..L' 

Homtn1ovsl,..; op ci t n··J l 5 16 "T- • • l:x •-~ - • 

/.•.[:) • T1J;.; ri ...,_, ~· 
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I3ut c CcntrE~l Asia v.r<::w an unattainable 

The of the nercuntile clr::tn:::;, 

:œomotions the nili tEr;s~ the ho tor ,, of the 

Rusci:-.1n 
!;6. 

1 to tension::; ne":! 

ivi c1Lsh 

arms bet\Ieen RussiD. t~11d 

his \dllingncss to suspend ho.sti1i tics liberate the 

Rus r:üssion, Li-7 • but fai1in.:-: to recei ve a favourable 

res_9onse to s oi'fer, he c ectec1 45,000 r:1en <-:md t1.renty-

one t:,J.U18 Chinaz, a fortress on t~1e le ft baEk of the Sç~r-

Daria, to libcrate 48. Romano vs ky eèt l'fi t11 

4, 000 ne::-1 to r:wet the en emy, a fierce e w~ts fouc;ht 

on l~ay 20 Irjar, to 49. The Russü:.n 

ar till \'ron the 

the loft the ttlefielcl confusion ~~nd 

e {.?;OOé~ r:J eccc~pe to ,Ji 50. 

defeat at Irjar, Va;•11Jery '\·ras the 11 Cannae 11 of 

46. P.065/868 to Clarendor no. 53. Peb. 21, 66. 

47. F.065/868 
refers to a 
Llr- April, 66. 

to Clarendon no. 157. April 3, 66 
in 11 Inv2.lid 11 23 Eqrch,j 

48. Vfll;lbery, JJol::he.ra on. ci t. :; . 403. 

49. Ronanovsld ou. ci t. :p. 30. 
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1:urldstan. 51 • It humbl Bol'"J1ara, the rü:-~hty defend er of 

the fai tl1 in Central Asia. On !~lay 28, Nau \·ms taken and 

then on June 1, the ers r~1oved on Kho jand, an impreg-

nable fortress protee on bath sides by the üar. 

garrizon held out stoutly but heavy Russian artillery 

bombardment forced it to surrender within a week, the 

city fell on June 7.52 • 

Khcjand was mmexed to the Russian dominion in a 

procla.:oa-t;ion of June 9. 53 • Khudayar sent his t o 

the invaders on their vic tory a:~ainst :BoL:hara: sents 
54-. 

vrere exchanged between the t'Vlo states. He renounced all 

com!ections v1i th Bok:.'I-J.ara, extonded friendly overtures ta-
r: ·-

d Ii
. . ~~. , war s mssla, openea. s cotmtry to Russian trade, and 

equalised custom duties l:is dominion. 

\'fi th the subnission of Khudayar K..'I-J.an, and the occunation 

of Nau ?_.nd K...J..tojand, bath which bclonged to YJ:lokand, an 

important chapter in history of the Russian conq_uest 

of Central Asia, was closed. vii th lQwkand subdued' only BokhAra 

remained. Bokhara \·œ.s a country vfi th a population about 

51. Ibid. 

52. Singh on. oit. p.22. :B1 .0. 65/868. Buchanan's telegram 
of June 25, 66, mentions the fall of the city on Jtme 5. 

53. Singh on. cit. p. 

54. Ibid. pp.24-5. 

55. Ibid. p .14. 



- 139 -

3,000,000; renm•med for the fertility of its soil, and 

vuriety of climates, suitable bo for stanlc articles, 

like corn, cotton, silk, nudder, tobacco and also for sugar 

cane oviun ' ~ 

::;6 
1.. '"~(l-i ff0 ./ • 

.L. ~'-G • Bath sides of the A.-rrm were rich 

in silver, ., . 57. , copper ana lron. ~'he doninion 

Bolrhara '·ras recl:;:oncd anone: the rçardens of Asia, and 

h;c::.d "Oeen the fou..'ltain oî sorne the r1i{~.::1tiest empires in 

the rüiddle s. Eokhara had served as a r~rea t centre of 

culture even during the days of its decline it boasted 

nrunerous colle~es. 

· t · the re. 58 • eXlS lll{~ 

Vambery 3 found eighty colleges 

'l'o the RuGsian strategi s the subjugation of Bokhara 

was a neces ty: it would safeguard Russia'o trade route; 

leave open the resources of Zamshan Valley \'fOUld 

be a lo frontier. Amu Daria, and not Sar Daria, was 

declared be the matural boundary line in the .south, 

again.st any future incursion.s by Britain in that on. 

Plans and schemes \<lere once submitted to the Govorn-

ment for action on Bokhara. Lt. Col. Cflukhovsky, an 

officer on the general staff ltcl.monovsky presented a 

56. Rawlinson, H. En;;land and B.ussia in the East, London 
1875 p.l98. 

57. Ibid. p.l99. 

58. VaLbery, Travelo on. oit. p.365. 
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::1er:lorEmd.ur:~ to the la tt er :Ln July, 6, strongly 

recor:-::1ending tal::in.~: over of the Central Asian 

:Khanates, or at t.h.e rninir.1urn li:mi t t ' . . ' , 59. 
.tle~r ~nu.erJenaence. 

The :proposal eé.~led to General ~r .A. Kry janmwki, 

Governor-General of Orenburc;, 

in August 
60. 

pers on. 

fall of Kilo jand <::-.nd 

l Am ir zafar to search for 

mve~re of t1•:0 l)OWer8 hostile to Ru.s 

he arrived in Turki 

threat, 

ti 

tl1e OttmJan ruler, 

<=md. the Eri tis.h Gover:nrwnt. The former was s co-

ani himself fighting c.c;ainst Rus and SU'YDorted 

by tétin. The er v.rere his southvrard neighbotU'D, 

w11o were interested in the intec;ri ty of Afgi1Emistan to off-

set the Russian to India. Bold1ara uas about 100 

milec north of Afghanist2.n tl1c Russüh'1S coulc1 only 

anœoach the tt er throw;h the à.on1inion of JJoJ::::hare-. 

Deeper reasoning co~vinc A::: ir za.far to seek the advice 

of Ill'i ti Goverm:1ent on the subj oct. 

59. Y:..l1ristoaatia po Iotorie S.t;.S.R. III, Hoscov1 1952 
pp.316-17. 

60. RomanovsJ:::i oc;. ci t. • 46-48. j&:r:.mrE~d vre,s dis-
sa ti ed •:ri til Rona.:::wvs1:y' s eas~r ealings Central 
Asia. ~~.1e former -vras az1 iEs,eri~:.li to the core. 
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l::fforts to establish contacts with the Bri sh 

Government had started in 1857. They were indirect. 

Arnir Nasarullah of Bol:hara, had be en endeavouring since 

1857, to ally himself wi th Af,r~har .. istan t future 

emergency in the north. Dost Eoham.mad, on the eve of the 

p Conference, made exolicit inquiries, whether the 

Briti i'TOuld like hi!!! to join an alliance with 

61. 
but Sir John Lawrence shmved no interest in the matter. 

I:nces efforts continued to be made by Bokhara; 

d ched her envoys to Kabul, but nothing camD of it 

durin~~ the f ]) t ,. - 1 " 62 • o ' os l·~onamnaa . Durin.::; the ascendancy 

of Afzal Khan and his party, t~üs alliance vms gi ven more 

serious thow:;ht at Kabul. The Kabul rulers 1/;ere inclined 

towards a tish alliance wi th :Boichara, 63 • and volunteered 

Afghan help against Hussia, 64 • but the Governnent of Ind 

discouraged both the proceedings. 65 • 

In IIovenber 1866, A.>:lir Huzzafar approached the Viceroy 

of India directly. /u1. en voy Kh\t/aja Hoharrrnad Parsa, the 

chi Nufti of Bokhara, assisted by twenty follov;ers 

61. tome of Correspondence, on. ci t. p. 71. 

62. These envoys are chronicled during this time as (i) 
in Hay, 1857, (ii) Hirza Abid in Dec., 57, (i ) Eajam 
ud Din in Dept. 1860. 

63. .433-4. 

64. Par. Pan. LVI 1878-9. no. 8/3. 

65. no. 8/1. 
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brincin_::; horoes and some valuable cimcns of native 

handicraft as :;'Jresento for the Indiè'.n dic7li taries, 

reached ~ 66. s.::1e.1rar on 17ovenber 11, 1866. le tt ers 

for the Lt. Gover:nor of the Punjab, Viceroy of India, 

Que en of 1!!ngland, a.'1.d the Sul to.n of Turl:ey. T:1e 

letter to the Lt. Goverr.or uas a fornal reqrwst to ar:; st 

the envoy in J.üs journey. That to the Viceroy contained 

a wish for friendshi::;J vri the Govel~Jent of India, and a 

req_uest to relieve tl1.e Huslirns Central Asie. "the 

oppression exercised U)On 
67. 

Il • The 

tter to the Queen \\Tas e. 

deceit 11 of Rus The k.ür o bj ected to the Ru.csi2.11 

v""iolation of international by r:;eizing the 1<:;_,_'1.ch; of 

Turkiste.n ar:cesti:r1_:: s envoy Orenburg. 

expreo hic deten::ünation to resist enemy, but deemed 

i t necezsar<J to consul t 1d th others take tl1.eir advice 

first. A.t-:.d he he \·roulé~ lend his co-oneration to anv 
~ u 

forts of t~~e ti authorities to 
68. 

"the evil ::;:en" from Central Asi2. 

l?~ï a curious coincide:nce, in 

the RussiGnc:; -

66. :B.b.L.I. 1867/2 Goverru:;e:nt of c;.b to Govern:.:ent of 
IEdia., J;;:_.r:.uc.r;v 1, 67. p .87. La1œence Pc~·".Jers no. 7. 
La·wrence to Oran borne ( rœi VE'.te) Dec. 20' 66. Lmœence 
\\rri tes th1::.t I":an:.:.hul induced the .A.uir of J3ol;:hara to 
send an e:rtvoy to Indi2 .• 

67 "G> ., - I 1 ·-of' 7/2 
• J.:J.~ • .L. • ...t..üO • 

T' . c . ~· 
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the IC1o};:émdi on voy or1 lü s vray be,c};: to IG:l01mncl. from 

tantinople. :From l1irn, he leE~r·11ed 11nothin:·; but 

èii scoura{iÇement 'l:ms to be cteët i'rŒ:l ei ther po';rer". 
6S. 

Hence Kn.'..raja \:i t!iheld direct for 

isf-!. l1e c meetin::.; \·ri t:1 0ir Jo:!.1.::1 Lmœence in 

Calcutta on Jc:u:uary 

generali ti es 11 , 

70. 
9, 1867. lie 11 conver:.:, 

wh en whether his chi 

sh officers to train his 

vague 

needed 

agentD his dominion, the envoy answered that he had no 
71. 

ex:plici t instructiœ1G on the subj ect. 

La1-rrence, in ::1is rep1~· to Alilir of Bokhara "refu;:::;ed 

to h2.ve anythini; to do vd th the a11 

:Sokhara 

:Bo }::h.ara 

72. 
2.-::;ainst that pov:ertt. 

actua1 ~olitica1 state of 

to1d the ruler of 

in Central did not 

ena him 11 to rend er e.ny effective aie~ ei ther by a.,ivice 

73 or any for:n tt. • 

69. E. S .L .I. 7/2 Goverrment of Ind.ia to rm1jab no. 94-. 
January 24, 67. 

70. Ibicl. 

71. Lavœence J?apers no. 8. Lm·.rrence to Cran borne (Driva te) 
Janue.ry 22, o7. 

72. E.G.L.I. 1867/2 Viceroy to Secreta1"~' of State no. 1:3. 
J"''l'''.:'l~\"1" ?J. h7 <.-. .... l..-l.L.·J t) .._ -~ ' \.,J • 

73. E.J.L.I. U367/2 
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Amir IViuzzafar Din was ex'Jectin:~ a favourable reply to 

his correspondence with the British Government. He and 

his prime minister, called upon the Indian merchants 

residing in Bokhara, on every altern:J.te day to know 

v;hether the British Governmen t was v1ell-disposed tm·rarcl 

BokharR, and whether the se mercho:>.nts 1-·-rould help in pro­

mot in~ friendshiP between the two states. 74 • In fact the 

authorities in Bokhar~, becAme very friendly to 1 Indian 

subj ects, and t'"JO ishmen \'Tho were known to be livinp: 

there under assumed native names, were ordered to be treated 

1 f d 75 • polite y i trace out. 

Amir Muzzafar' s letter to the ·"'iueen be came a great 

subject of confusion in India. Lawrence promised Khwaja 

Parsa, that the ~ueen's reply to the ~mir's letter, would 

be communicated to him in Constantinople, through the British 

. b d h 76 • hm assa or t ere. In Constantinople, Parsa approached Sir 

Henry Blliot, the British envoy to the Porte, and request the 

d 1 . f th . t 1 77• h e l very o e '~ueen s reü y. .blliot sought out t e home 

74. ~.S.L.I. 1867/2. A. racha, July 27 and Sept. 11, 67., 
and A. ~adir, June 7, 67. 

75. Ibid. A. Paracha, Sept. 11, 67. 

76. ~.H.Q. 1867/61. Kh\'Jaja Parsa to the British Ambassador 
(copy), Nov. 24, 67. 

77. Ibid. 
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instrùctio~s on the 
7.-·.· 

C' • 
subject. The Forei&1 office 

consulted the India The l2.tter exnressed 

co:r:1nlete ignorsnce of bath the letter and ··:n"esents to 

the Queen, the~r had only recei veel a ed 

l~1tior:. of the 1 er. • The India office thon telegram..'Tied 

t2:w Viceroy on the su.'bject on Decer~'ber 19. He replied on 

cenber 24, both by a tel a letter. v:~wrence 

sen"t the letter in oriL;illfü on:; itc ho:::, but the 

been col(: ". 21. Inctle .• The 

in:lormeû t suitable 

nrese:nt:::> a let ter in re ply :Cro~! Que en be:: en 

forvrarc:_ecl to IndiL to be sent on-vrard to :Jol;:hé:ua. Krnqaja 

Po.rsa on l-:;.is j ourney throui;h Indic;., ret~uested to 
82. 

see the Queen 's cm:mnmîcation, but the Govenment of 

InG.ia had no recorc~ of i t 1rhatsoever. 
83 

• It \'!fJ.s la ter 

let:~rned tl.u::.t the JJuJ;:e of Argyll, \·rho ht:td come to the India 

of fi ce, in the neu Li bex·al stry, had r:mt the demc::.nG.~; of 

• Ibid. ot to bte.nl no . ~i5 (co::;;y) :Dec. ~~' 67. 

79. Ibid. ]}'. 0. I.O. Dec. 16, 67. 

é\0. I.O. to P.O. c. 19, 67. 

-., ., .,. I 1(_)6"/.7 . b.~.~. . u 0 ) Viceroy to Secretary of te, no. 1. 
Jc.J1Ui:'.ry 3, 68. 

82. E.~.L.I. 1368/3 

8 7. 
) . Ibid. 

69. 
Viceroy to 

to ceroy, Feb. 12, 69. 

Secretar:r of bta te, no. 162, llay 27, 
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Foreign ce. Indic. o cc had told the 

J!'oreis:n office a 11 suita e reply 11 be en e to 

A.:ür by the Vic \·Ji th ne ce return ::n·e i:3ent 

for that ruler. The Duke O}Jinecl, i t i-:as not 

ne ce tl1ët the presence of the ceroy as 

Que en • s re sentitive in tl1e t, she sllould herself 

"the ty _potentates of Central Asia 11 • 
84. 

(" C' 
uu 

Anir J::uzzafar isolated "i·reighed by misfortune, 

i:11 nlo:cecl p froY't sides, t~1.e rulers of Kc::bul, 

the of Turkey, e.nd fron the :Sri ti Govern-

nent - but none came to his re~wue. once turned 

to appease his power·ful invader. He de Jtruv 

sued for ~)eace the r.:.iddle of Jtme , 
or.; 

1866.
0

""• A...YJ. envoy, K1.v·r2.jc:_ Ismatu112h,vre.c ser.t in 

com;_Jany tlle liberE:..ted Rus Tc-~slllcartù, to 
86. 

e, but peace sals were not 

encourag:Ln::;. V!t:l.G to recoL;nise the 

sove1·ei:snty of Russia over all the conq_uered terri tories, 

to reduce duties on Rus 

inde:r:mi t;y of 50,000 for the 

nercllandise,and to 
en. 

e:cpenses of the la te vmr. 

84. S.H.C. 1368/3 I.O. to F.O., c. 31' 

86. Ibid. 

87. Qy.arter1y Revieu 11 Hussi2.n ad van ces in Centre.l Asia" 
C:X:x: .. \'li 1874, :p.412a Sil,;_g~l ,:_:ives 365,000 roubles as 
incler:mi ty, p. 27. 
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The Anir's envoy objected to the last mentioned condition. 

Rus , :however, released 150 Bo:maran soners along 

·vri th Khwaja Haje.nud Din. General Kryjanowski gave him 

ten days notice to pay the amount proposed. The A.rnir 

rejected the nrono and turned towards defensive 
sa. 

measures. :.; The Russian forces moved u-oon Urs.ti and 

laid siege to it. 90 • The city '\vas gallantly defended by 

its , the heredi te.ry ruler, ·Abdul Gha:ffar. The si 

lasted for eight daye, before heavy artiller;yr fire 

finally reduced it to submission on October 26. 91 • The 

Rus forces under the corm:1and of Gener2..l Kryjanow·ski, 

then advanced upon Jizalc...f}, which had been pm,,erfully :man..YJ.ed 

and strongly fortified. It a tri rüc vrall h·renty-îour 

feet hie;h and twenty-seven feet thick, surrounded by a tri~)le 

dit ch, nearly tl-:enty-fi ve de in so:me The 

garris on consisted of 10,000 r.1en 1:ri th 53 gu..YJ.s, comnanded by 

its bragging leader Allah Yar. The li:ussians onened fire 

on tb.e city on r-::-overr:ber 9, later the main 

es. Quarterly Review OD. cit. p.412. 

89. P .0. 65/868. Buchanan to t>tanley, no. :596., Jrov. 16, 
66. 

90. 3ingh on. cit. p.32. 

91. 1!1 .0. 65/868, no. 396. Bchuyler Ion. cit. p.312. 
Singh says the city fell on Seutm:1ber 26., p. 32. 

92. Schuylcr 1. on. cit. p.229. 
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as,:;au1 t was 1aunchcd; t:i1e ;::;arrison fou:;ht to é.'. men 

of the eic;htee:n city, sixteen died in to 

hand fightin:;; of 10,000 nen, 6, 000 1.rcre 1:i1 the 
0'"" 

city fe11 t:1e sarne ..,). 
It uc.G folloHecl by 

oc cu <JC:. ti on of Dar a at tl1e entrance to the 

Valley. 
94. 

VTinter c2.ne ho s ti li ti es \'re re 

KryjanovJSJd l11.:1,ving ac shed the desired objective left 

for Orenburg a t~e CEDture of Ji 

The vii:r:ter of 186 7 brought a lull. In the 

u.:~jor a.él.li:inistrative s tool;: place in Rus 

Turkistan. In 1865, "The Step~;e Comr_:.i ssion 11 vras set up 

to reconr::.end admini reforms in the conq_uered areas 

of Central Asis. 

F.K. Giers, as st 

I t wo..s headed by a state counse 
95. 

by three other me~bers. 

cotrrüssion studied carefully the social, :;oli ticc.l, econo:üc 

and ethnie conr)o tian the new area over a 

years, and the report uas submi tted to tl1e Czar 

1867. The })ro j ect vTE"LfJ diBCUGGec1 <::J.t a 

leve1, presided over b~ the er of vrar. 96. 

11, ~e reported the largely basee!_ o:-1 tlwse of 11 tl1e 

Steppe Conmi;:;sion", to Turkist:::m an indel;enclent :province, 

93. Ibid. p. 230: F .065/868 JJuchs~1an Tel. lTov. 28, 66. 

94. Sin::';h p. 33. 

95. Other r,1embers were Col. Dandeville, Col. Geins and 
Col. J?rotsenl:::ov. 

96. Schuyler II O'). ci t. n. • 



- 149 -

adding to it a part of the Siberian province of 

Semipalatinsk and to be placed under a governor-general 

attached to the ministry of war and directly responsible 
97. to the Czar. The governor-generalship of the new 

region would control the two provinces of Sar-Daria and 

Semiretchie, and be vested with absolute civil and 

military authority. 98 • The recommendations were approved 

in July 1867, and General K.P. Von Kaufmann was appointed 

as the first governor-general, with General G.A. Kolpakovski 

and General N.N. Golovachev as the military governors of 

the Semiretchie and the Sar Daria "oblasts 11 respectively. 

During this interim, negotiations for a settlement 

between Bokhara and the governor-general of Orenburg were 

in progress. 99 • Amir Muzzafar was in a great dilemma. 

Both inside and outside his dominion, hostility was arising 

against his authority. On the outside,the Russians had 

recently occupied the city of Yani Kurgan (June 1867); and 

inside,a formidable opposition was slowly organizing itself. 

Since the fall of Tashkand, he had lost rnuch popular 

support, and the fall of Khojand and Jizakh,further 

97. Ibid. p.204. 

98. Ibid. pp.204-5. 

99. Terentyef II op. cit. p.42. 
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diminished his prestige. The demand Bok.he,ra 

1m.s for an open fic;ht to oust vnbelievers fro~ 

land. To meet s derKmc1, the .Amir ced ..!.. • 
vlOn. 

The new taxes, colle ct as usmü in the of 

subsequently re-is2ued the!:l double the ve:üue 

rai the value fron 64 to 132 chelms, wh.ich the 

absence of incrcased to 200 
, , lOO. 

C~le~:Et.S. 

There vvas Liuediate de on poverty bec2.me wide-

s;::;read, especiall:r a:mong the f::::.rrners. Suspension of trade 

Russia further the economy. The An:ir in 

desperation laid hand on the property of priestly clo.su. 

This \"Jas a hornet' s nest. The forcible collections from 

the colleges nosclues, brought clecrees of "Kuffur 11 

asa.inst 
101

• and discontented politi figures stirred 

up fire. lenge the 

Amir' s au tho ri ty; one \'las led by s di scrm1tled. eld 

son, Kata Tor2, ( Cro·vm Prince) Abdul the 

other by Jorr;, , the gover:nor of sabiz, '.vho ·.·12nted 

to place Syed 
102. 

, tl1e Ar·1ir 1 s ne:;hevr on the throne of 

J3olché~ra. 

lOO. Terentyef p .51: Va::1bery, Anglo-Russian Fronticer .9.12.• 
ci t. 1). 76. -- ~ 

101. Vambery, A..11glo-Russian :J?ronti:er o·J. cit. p.77. 

102. I on. cit. p.241. 
ja anc1 the,t 

at • 66. 

nG.ElCS ne-phew as 
to the throne 
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Such widespread discontent confused the Amir. V/ar 

asainst the infidels became a popular slogan. The Amir 

himself did not intend war against a rival, where his 
103. 

failure was inevitable. In a state of mental strain, 

he set out to seek the benedictions of his spiritual guides -
104. 

the tombs of Khwaja Bahaud Din and Khvraja Abdul Khaliq. 

It \vas rtu:'loured that the Amir was fleeing the country. 

The mob surrounded him at the tomb of Khwaja Khaliq and 
. 105. made a violent plea for war against Russ1a, and the 

Amir was left with no choice. 

The ne;Gotiations with Russia were not moving smoothly. 

General Kaufmann, when consulted on the ten clause treaty 

proposed by Yœyjanowski with the Czar's approval, added 

two more to it.106 • It was signed by Kryjanowski on 

September 26, and handed over to the Bokharan envoy for a 

reply by the end of October.107 • Kaufmann reported to 

Tashl{and on November 19 when an a.nswer still had not come 
108. 

from Bokhara. There was a technical error in the 

103. Vambery, Anglo-Russian Frontice, op. oit. p.79. 

104. Ibid. p.79. Terentyefii op. oit. p.53. 

105. Vambery, An0lo-Russia.n Frontier, OD. oit. p.79. 

106. Terentyef II op. oit. p.42. 

107. ~· pp.42-43. 

108. Ibid. p.45. 
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treaty, for the Russians unm.,are of the geographical 

location of the begship of Naurata, had put it in the 

range of mountains dividing the boundary line between 

Bokhara and Turkistan.109 • This was not understandable 

to the Amir, but the Russians took his delay as an intend-

ed refusal to enter into the agreement. 

In early December, 1867, Amir :r.ruzzafar sent his envoy, 

!·fusa Beg to explain this situation to Kaufmann. 110 • But 

Kaufmann did not appreciate such technicalities and asked 

for submission of the ratified treaty. In the meantime 

a band of Bokharans had arrested a Russian officer, Lt. 

Sluzenkov with three soldiers. This further exasperated 

the new governor-general, who wrote a 1etter on December 

31, asking for the immediate release of S1uzenkov and his 
111. 

party,and transmission of the ratified treaty. On 

Narch 14, 1868 Bo:YJlara rep1ied to this 1etter announcing 

the re1ease of S1uzenkov, but giving no definite answer on 

the t 'f' t' 112 • K f t th 1 tt . ra l lCa lon. au man sen ano er e e~warn1ng 

the Amir of the consequences of delay. 
113. 

109. Schuy1er I op. oit. p.241. 

110. Terentyef II on. oit. p.45. 

111. ~· p.45. 

112. Ibid. p.46. Schuy1er II op. oit. p.303. 

113. ~f.lerentyef II OJ2o oit. p.47. 
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The rival groups in Bokhara took advantage of this 

uncertain situation and Jora Beg's me~attacked a Russian 

camp near Jizakh.114 • Kaufmann,who was about to leave 

for St. Petersburg, took this as aggression on the .A.rnir's 

part, cancel1ed his trip to the Russian capital and rushed 

via Jizalch to attack Samarqand •115 • The Amir sent 

repeated embassies to the general requesting him to grant 

more time in which to ratify the treaty,and attempting to 
. 116. 

explain the misunderstanding regarding ~t. On !'-1ay 13, 

when hostilities were about to cormnence, a fresh envoy 

arrived bringing the treaty complete with the Amir's 
117. 

signature, but it varied from the Russian draft. The 

Amir then made a final request to stop hosti1ities for two 
118. 

day~ and Kaufmann,granted him two hours. Then 

Kaufmann,ordered an advance,and the Bokharans rapidly 

dispersed before the invader, whi1st the inhabitants of 

Samarqand c1osed their gates to the fugitive army running 

114. Schuyler I op. oit. p.241. 

115. ~- F.065/869 no. 972, June 3, 68. 

116. Ibid. Terentyef II ou. oit. p.54. 

117. Terentyef II op. oit. p.54. 

118. Ibid. -
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119. 
from the banks of the Zarfashan. The next day 

(r·!ay 14 ), a deputatiàn of the Aksakals of Samarqand in­

vited the Russians to take over and provide asylum for 
. t . t. 120. 1. s Cl 1.zens. Its occupation was followed by the 

subjugation of Urgut, Chilek and Katta Kurgan. 
121. 

The fall of Samarqand roused the whole of Bokhara. 

The Amir appeared with a formidable army near Katta Kurgan, 

and General Golovachev then in command, seeing the super­

iority of the enemy's numbers urged Kauf.mann's help.122 • 

Kaufmann rushed to his general's rescue, leaving Samarqand 

with 762 men and the remainder, 450 in number, confined to 
. 123. . hosp1.tal. Samarqand was then besl.è3ed by Jora Beg 

with a huge army from Shahre-Sabz. Fortune favoured none; 

the Amir was defeated by Y~ufmann at Zarabulak on June 26, 

and Jora Beg hearing of the Amir's defeat and Kaufmann's 

rumoured advance on Shahre-Sabz, raised his siege begun on 

June 26, and repaired toward the defence of his own city. 

119. ~· p.55. 

120. The account given by the Government of India's news 
writers is very confusing. The chronology is 
defective. It says that the Russian campaign 
started in August and five gates of the city were 
beseiged. See E.S.L.I. 1868/3, R. Ku1i aooount 
Sept. 2, 68. 

121. Ibid. 

122. Sohuy1er I op. oit. p.243. 

123. ~· p.244. 
pp.82-86. 

Vambery, Ang1o-Russian Frontier op. oit. 
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Samarqand remained under sié.ge conducted by a remnant of 

the Bokharans till early July, when Kaufmann dispersed 

th 124. em. 

Repeated reversals at Russia•s hands, humbled Amir 
125. 

Muzzafar and he offered an unconditiona1 surrender. 

He was even \rllling to abdicate his throne in favour of 

the Czar, but Kaufmann cajoled him that it was never the 

intention of the Russian Goverr~ent to destroy his dominio~~6 • 
A treaty was signed on July 5, l868,under which Amir Muzzafar 

tms allowed to retain possession of Boldlara west of Katta­

Kurgan: a11 to the east inc1uding the valley of Zarfashan 

was annexed to Russia; the Amir also promised in a secret 
127. 

clause to pay one million roubles as an indemnity, and 

to open Bokhara to Russian commerce and trade. Kaufma..1111 

and his staff received suitab1e honours and awards for their 
128. 

successful proceedings against Boldlara. 

The fal1 of Samarqand 1ike that of Chamkand once again 

alarmed the British authorities, for intelligence sources 

124. Schuyler I op. oit. pp.245-6. 

125. ~' II p.304. Terentyef op. oit. p.62. 

126. ~· 

127. F.065/870 no. 122. Schuy1er II on. cit. p.305. says 
the amount of 125,000 tillas was payable only in one 
year: but Terentyefii op. oit. p.64. mentions that it 
was payable in five years. 

128. F.065/869. Buchanan to Stanley no. 124. June 20, 68. 
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in Central Asia, Persia, India and St. Petersburg had 
129. 

gi ven full reports of the proceedings to \'lhi tehall. 

Lord Stanley, the F.breigp!-1inister of the Conserva ti ve go vern-

ment instructed Buchanan to 11remind 11 Gortchakov of various 

Russian assurances, advanced through Buchanan and BnL~ow, 
130. 

to set aside further Russian expansion in Central Asia. 

Buchanan had already approached Gortchakov and was snubbed 

as "the Russian Goverrunent do not consider themselves 

called upon to offer explanations to other governments as 

t th . di d 1 . . C t 1 A · "l3l • o e~r procee ngs an po ~cy ~n en ra s~a. 

Two days later Buchanan again met Gortchakov,and read out 

to him Stanley's communication on the subject. Gortchakov 

remarked that circumstances had forced Russia to adopt 

stringent measures against Bokhara. He told the British 

envoy that the late war vii th Bokhara was the latter' s o'!Nn 

creation. However, Gortchakov gave renewed assurances of 
. 132. 

Russia's peaceful intentions in Turkistan. 

129. 

130. 

131. 

132. 

SUch assurances encouraged Buchanan to ascertain Russia's 

E.S.L.I. 1867/2, K.D. August 23, 67. Government of 
Bombay to India Telegram, :t-1ay 28, 67. Alison to 
Viceroy, Nay 27, 67: besides many telegrams of 
Buchanan on this subject as expressed above. 

F.065/869 no. 250, June 13, 68. 

:b1 .065/869 Buchanan to Stanley no. 158, July 28, 68. 

F.065/869 Buchanan to Stanley no. 134 and 137, June 
30' 68. 
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stand on Samarqand. He expressed fear to Gortchakov 

that Kaufmann in a letter to the Chancellor, proudly 

mentioning the tomb of Tamerlane opposite his residence•s 

window, might not be able to resist the temptation of 

"including so interesting a monument" within the Czar's 

Empire. Gortchakov brushed aside such apprehensions and 

expressed his explicit confidence in the conduct of the 
133. general. Almost a month later, Gortchakov reassured 

the British envoy that BoYJlara had accepted a peace treaty, 
134. and Russian troops had been ordered to evacuate Samarqand. 

In the Fall of 1869, Gortchakov met Clarendon at Heidelberg 

and assured him of the restoration of Samarqand to Bokhara~3 5· 

Nunerous such assurances again allayed British appre­

hensions, but the Russian political robots could not 

disengage themselves fron the spoils of war. Kaufmann, 

during his visit to St. Petersburg in Autumn 1868, was able 

to convince the Czar to retain the newly acquired area in 

Turkistan.136 • The British Ernbassy learned f'rom sources 

close to the Emperor and the Russian Foreign office, that the 

133. F.065/869 no. 137. 

134. The treaty concluded wi th Bokhara was not shmv:n to 
Buchanan. See F.065/869, Buchanan to Clarendon no. 
190, Sept. 9, 68. 

135. F.065/871 no. 220. op. cit. 

136. F.065/870 Rumbold to Clarendon no. 25. April 21, 69. 
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137. 
assurances on Samarqand were outdated. 

Amir 1Iuzzafar was under the strong impression that 

Samarqand would be restored to him. Early in l869,he 

deputed two envoys, YJl.waja Sada or and r•rusa Beg, to proceed 

to St. Petersburg for negotiations on Samarqand. Neither 

proceeded toSt. Petersburg,because Kaufmann did not 
138. 

approve of their journey ta the capital. In Autumn 

1869, the An1ir sent a delegation to St. Petersburg, headed 

by his fourth son, Syed Abdullah Fateh YJl.an, niclmamed 

Turajan, and assisted by the Dadkhwah (chief justice) of 
139. 

Bokhara. The delegation proceeded ta the Russian 

capital much against Kaufmann' s will. It was vested \vi th 
140. 

po\lter to appeal to the Czar for the return of Samarqand. 

It met the Czar on November 3. Bokhara at this time still 

had not fully paid off its war indemnity, hence the prince 

was to1d that until this was done,the A:rnir should not 

expect any negotiation on the subject of Samarqand's delivery 

to Bokhara.141 • The prince was also informed that in future 

no direct appeal to the centre would be acceptab1~ unless it 

137. F.065/870 no. 54. Run1bold had a talk with Col. de 
Schweinitz, the Prussian military attaché in St. 
Petersburg and held in great faveur by the Czar. The 
Colonel doubted whether Samarqand would be restored to 
Bokhara. 

138. Terentyef II op. cit. p.75. 

139. F.065/871 no. 192. 

140. Schuyler II op. cit. pp.306-7. 

141. F.065/872 no. 203. 
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was forwarded through the administration of Turkistan.142 • 

Turajan on his return to Tashkand, lodged an appeal to 

Kaufmann on the subject of Samarqand, March 14, 1870, but 

].'t t d 143. came o no goo • 

By the end of 1870, A.mir Nuzzafar had remitted the war 

, indemni ty •144 • 1-1. Stremoukov, the Director of the Asiatic 

Departmen~ confirmed this in his conversation with Buchanan. 

But the Director added that Samarqand would be retained by 

Russia as an assurance against the peaceful conduct of the 
. 145. Amir. Buchanan was surprised at this explanatJ.on. 

General !•Iilyutin, the !1inister of \•/ar, produced another 

interpretation. He . opposed - ~ wi thdrawal from Samarqand, 

because it would be taken by the people of Turkistan as a 

sign of llilssia's incompetency to hold that place. 
146. 

Whatever the true reason S~1arqand was not given back to 

Bolr..hara, though the British Government still entertained a 

hope for its restora1. Lord Augustus Loftus, the new 

British ambassador tc St. Petersburg,once again broached the 

subject of s~arqand during a conversation with Gortchakov. 

142. Terentyef II ou. oit. pp.78-9. 

143. Schuyler II op. oit. p.307. 

144. Ibid. p.306. Terentyef II op. oit. pp.72-3 says that 
the Amir borrowed the ~1ount invo1ved from the Moscow 
merchrults. 

145. F.065/872 no. 248. 

146. F.065/872 no. 77. Gortchakov himself was in favour of 
restoring Samarqand to BoJ.r..hara. He made a powerful 
speech in the Counci1 on this subject, see F.065/871 
no. 33. 
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The latter rep1ied that the occupation of the province 

over the last four years and the advantages gained by 

both Russia and the inhabitants of that province, had 

persuaded the L~perial Government to abandon the idea of 
147. 

making over Samarqand to Bokhara. 

Beaten and robbed of his dominion, .Amir l·ïuzzafar made 

another request to the Government of India with persona1 

instructions to the envoy Khwaja Abbas "to use every 

endeavour to obtain assistance from the British Government 

against Russia, in whatever form the British Government 
148. 

might consider best 11 • In November 1871, two envoys 

fron Bokhara descended on the plains of India: Khwaja 

Abbas \<li th letters for the Viceroy of India and the Queen 

of Eng1and; and K..~waja Abdul Hye an en voy to the Sul tan of 

Turkey. 

In his 1etter to the Queen, Amir l\luzzafar once again 

p1eaded against the Russian encroachment on Transoxianan 

terri tory, which "had be en from a.'Ylcient times the possession 

of our ancestors 11 • He admitted the incompetency of the 

i11-equipped and disorganized masses of the Central Asians 

against their powerful riva1,and appea1ed to the Queen in 

the name of brotherhood, to respond to the needs of the 

147. F.065/876. Loftus to Granville no. 72. Feb. 19, 73. 

148. E.S.L.I. 1872/11. Viceroy to the Secretary of State 
no. 9. January 24, 72. 
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During an audience '<li th the Lt. 

Governor of Punjab, Khwaja Abbas cor.1menced his story that 

in the not too distant past, Bokhara had be en a pm'lerful 

state, indifferent to having allies of any sort, but now 

she was hmnbled by a formidable state situated only 82 

11Kos 11 from the very city of :Bokhara itself. Russia, the 

envoy said, was botha deadly enemy and an unreliable 

friend, having gone back on i ts promises over Kh.okand, 

Tashkand and Samarqand. Khwaja Abbas hoped that the Queen 

of England \'TOuld ei ther take over Bolc..."mra or equip the 

. 150. Du h' people with arros to fight against Russ~a. ring ~s 

interview on December 22 with Lord Hayo, the Viceroy of 

India, the envoy repeated the miserable plight of the people 

and the ruler of his country. The envoy repented "the 

unfortunate occurences in for:1er years 11 and looked forward 

to a friendly future through the goodwill of the Viceroy. 

As to the nature and form of help, the envoy said that he 

was instructed by his ruler to leave this to the discretion 

of the British authorities. During his conversation with 

the foreign secretary of the Government of India on 

December 23, Khwaja Abbas suggested the usefulness of sending 

experts to train the Amir's an1y and to manufacture arms, 

149. ~· Amir to the Queen pp.355-6. 

150. ~- pp.349-351. 
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adding that all such officers stationed in Bokhara could 
151. 

be kept in dis6~ise. 

Lord }~ayo suggested to the home government the 

possibility of having the Queen herself address the Amir, 

but he expressed the complete inability of the Government. 

of India to help the ruler of Bokhara ei th er direct1y "'i th 

troops and arms or indirect1y with money. This was a 

procedure, the Viceroy pointed out, to which he could 11give 
152. 

no encouragement whatsoever". 

Lord Napier of l-lerchistoun, 153 • the acting Viceroy, in 

his rep1y to the Amir of Bokhara informed him that "the 

energies of the British Government are principa11y directed 

towards the improvement of the inte1~al administration •••• 

and it is contrary to their policy to take part in the 

concern of other nations". Also the existing cordial 

relations bet,.,een England and Russie., did not permit the 

former to undertake such a request as was contained in the 

letter of the Amir.154 • The Queen in her letter to the 

ru1er of Bokhara said that she could "only pray that the 
155. result may be permanent peace". 

151. ~· pp.356-361 

152. E.S.L.I. 1872/11. no. 9. op. cit. 

She also sent a copy 

153. Maya died in the Andeman Islands in February 1872. 

154. E.S.L.I. 1872/11. Acting Viceroy to Amir, April 3, 72. 

155. Letters to India 1872/4. Queen to Amir, Aug. 31, 72. 
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of the "Queen's Highland Journal" as a personal gift to 

th Am
. 156. e 1.r. 

Neither was Khwaja Abdul Hye inactive at Constantinople 

in approaching both the Turkish and the British Government, 

the latter through its ambassador Sir H. Elliot. The 

envoy requested the Government of the Porte ta lend him 
157. 

officers for raising a regular army in Bokhara. Then 

he met Elliot,and appealed for the stationing of British 

agents in Bokhara,to watch Russo-Bokharan relations since 

Russia was quite likely to make "an unfounded accusation ••• 

of the i11-treatment of the Russian merchants ••• a pretext 

for an attack on the independance of the Khan 11 •
158 • 

Khwaja Hye was advised by the Turkish authorities that 

his ruler should develop greater contact with the British, 

should put his administration in their hands and they would 

draw up a constitution, establish a council of state and 
159. appoint a consulate to the State of Bokhara. The 

envoy on his return journey, met the officiais of the 

Government of India, and made a formal request for an officer 

to Bokhara.160 • He requested that Forsyth should accompany 

156. Ibid. Secretary wf State to Amir. Aug. 31, 72. 

157. S.H.C. 1872/70. Elliot to Granville no. 41. (copy) 
June 4, 72. 

158. Ibid. no. 85. (copy) July 6, 72. 

159. E.S.L.I. 1873/15. Abbas interview in India pp.448-50. 

16 0 • ill.9:.. 
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him on :~is return journey.161 • 

:But the Governuent of Indie. turned clown this request. 

It 1·1as a pro Josa1, the V:Lceroy t:1ou:;.:.:t, to which no 

encoura.~;en:ent cou1d be gi ven, as 11 thc direct interest of 

the 3ri t:Lsh subjects at :GoJd1ara are not of sufficient 

importance to render i t necessary" to a 1!:Joü:.t an a.c::er2.t in 

. 162. 
that Clty. 

Hunbled by such trcat:oer;.t, receivin~ abasllnent and 

setl>acks from al1 quart ers, and in the f:Ln<:.ü analysis 

re sol ved to put himself at the mercy of the invader, Ar:lir 

r.Iuzzafar ud Din's attitude towards Russia, changed. 

Kaufrnann hel:ped him to subdue r:Lsings of his son Kata 

Tora, and the Beg of Shahre-Sabz. The A.mir sent his sons to 

be educated in Russia, and during the Russian invasion of 

Khi va, he ac ti vely su:9~'orted theL1. 

5;-/ the end of 1870 Eusoia was paranoun t in the Sar 

Daria region. vli tllin 2 lleriod of fifteen years' she had 

subjugated two o:f the riches states in Central Asia. 

Khudayar lilian signed a treaty in the aarly })art of 1868, 

under whic11 an ec1ualisiEi:~ customs duty \'/D,s il1troduced on 

Hus Gien :oerchandL:w; Khokand wa:.o o:)ened to Russicm traders 

161. Douglas Forsyth was heuding a mission at this time to 
Yarkand. 

162. E.S.L.I. 1872/12. Viceroy to Secretary of State no. 67, 
Sept. 16, 72. 
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with the privilege of establishing Carvansarais and 

depots at suitable places.163 • A treaty of similar type, 

mention of which was made earlier, was imposed upon Bokhara 

also. 

Russian ascendancy in the Sar-Daria and northempart 

of the Amu Daria, created a potential threat to the out-

lying frontier posts of India. Both the British public 

and the gove~~ent realised the risk involved in the 

po licy of "masterly inacti vi tyn. Serious consideration 

was given to the problem of Central Asia and suitable 

measures were adopted, the description of which is given 

in the follovdng pages. 

163. Schuyler II op. cit. pp.274-6. The treaty was 
signed by the Khan in February and approved by the 
Czar in November, 1866. 
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Restoration of British Influence 

1869-1873. 

nr am not much afraid of the Russians, but I 

think their neighbourhood may disquiet the 

countries on our northern border and give them 

a notion that there is a povrer behind them who 

might protect them if stirredu.1 • 

Sir Charles Wood in 1865. 

Charnaiev, by the occupation of Tashkand, laid the 

foundation of a Russian dominion in Central Asia which 

extended now to all the hilly districts of Bolr~ara directly 

adjacent to the Afghan districts of Darwaz and WalrJlhan. 

This acquisition was accomplished within a decade in· snite 

of ~epeated assurances of non-extension by the Russian 

leaders. Russia, becoming paramount in the two Uzbek 

states, set out to cripple British Commercial influence in 

Turkistan. Restrictive measures were adopted to stop the 

entry of English and Indianmerchandise into Bokhara by way 

of Persia and Afghanistan. The Turkistani merchants were 

1. Lawrence Papers. l'/ood to Lawrence (private) Feb. 27, 65. 
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warned by the Russian authorities not to continue their 

trade in English and Indian goods: only indigo and English 

muslin was exempted from general prohibition, but the duty 

on these commodities was raised to 25%,as compared to 2i% 
2. generally levied on Russian goods. 

Britain had great commercial interest in Central Asia. 

The Government of India report, compiled in 1862, indicated 

that there was a yearly trade of Rupees 1,030,372 between 

India and Central Asia. 3 • The loss of markets in Central 

Asia was deeply felt by the mercantile class, who wielded 

a strong influence on the government. The British 

Government itself was embarrassed to learn of these Russian 

prohibitions against English commerce. Enquiries were 

made to verify them: the answer was in the affirmative. 

Political writers on the subject of Russian Conquest in 

Central Asia had been warning the government of the 

consequences of Russian expansion in that region. Vambery 

2. Enclosures to Secret letters from India 1869/4. R. 
Kul to Manphul Nov. 24, 68. (Hereafter cited as 
E.S.L.I). Also in Secret Home Correspondance 1869/64. 
Buchanan Telegr~~ Nov. 10, 69. (Hereafter cited as S.II.C.) 

3. Davies, R.H. Report on the Trade and Resources of the 
Countries on the N.W. Boundary of British India. Lahore, 
1862, p.l. 

4. E.S.L.I. 1869/4 pp.l387-92: also a questionnaire was 
sent to the marchants of Peshawar: see pp.l401-3. 
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in his 11 Travels" had expressed his regrets in 1864 

over the British indifference to Central Asian question. 5 • 

]'our years later Va.mbery referred to England as "a child 

which after having once burnt itself at a fire, will not 

for a long time venture to draw near its warmth".
6

' 

Giffon Robert, another writer of this period, sadly noticed 

that two-thirds of Central Asia had gone to Russia. 7 • 

Blackwood's magazine informed its readers that the Russian 

occupation of Bokhara had "reduced the distance between the 

British and Russian outposts to less than seven hundred 

miles 11 •
8 • Even Wyllie, a great Russophil of Lawrence's 

school of thought could not conceal his sense of insecurity 

when he pointed out,that only Afghanistan separated the 

Cossacks from the Sepoys.9· 

But the greatest alarmist of this part of the century 

in England was Sir Henry Rawlinson. Speaking before the 

British Association for the Advancement of Science on the 

"Russian Frontiers in Central Asia 11 , Ravllinson opined that 

the Russian extension of frontier, if advantageous to the 

5. Vambery, A. Travels in Central Asia, London 1864. ~-n;. 9-43 

6. Va.mbery, A. Sketches of Central Asia, London, 1864. p.425. 

7. Fortnightly Rs;Yi!;li IV 1868. 11The Question of Central 
A . " 5 ~'p •• 

8. BJ..aQk\:lood~_.Edin:buriW magaz.in.e.. CV 1869. 11Sir John 
Lawrence , 11p • 711 • 

9. ~nightly Review VI 1869. '~·Iasterly Inactivity"p.586. 
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cause of science and learning, was highly disadvantageous 

politically. He told the society that this "frontier" 

was unstationery and would be nearing India every day.10 • 

This speech followed Rawlinson's two articles in the 

Qgarterly Review on the geo-political history of Central 

Asia.11 • He warned the English Russophils that Russia's 

proximity to India would bring chronic conflagration into 

India.12 • Rawlinson advised his countrymen 11to set our 

house in arder as to meet the crisis" because the Russian 

agents and embassies were about to appear in Kabul, Herat 

and Qandhar. 13 • 

Letters also appeared in The Times deploring the 

general ignorance of the public over the Central Asian 

affairs.14· "Hotar 11 called it a policy of "shortsighted­

nesstt to over-estimate the distance between India and the 

Russian possessions in Turkistan. This pattern of thought, 

he pointed out, had 11 encouraged" Russia in eastward movement. 

He suggested that i t v,ras still not too late to force Russia 

10. British Association for the Advancement of Science 
R~ports an~ansactions 1865, p.l28. 

11. Qua~ter1y Review no. 118, 1865, and no. 120, 1866. Both 
of these were reproduced in his book hng1and and Russia 
in the East, London, 1875. 

12. ~· no. 118. p.534. 

13. ~· no. 120. p.502. 

14. Times, Dec. 15, 68, p.6. c.6. 
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to respect the independence of Khokand, Bokhara and 

Kh . 15. 
~va. 

A notable feature of this period (1865-1869) was the 

publication of five books concerning the general situation 

f th C t 1 A • Q t • 16 • mh h th • t o e en ra s~an ues ~on. ~ oug ese wr~ ers 

arrived at varying conclusions, their works were valuable 

in furnishing information to the public on that distant 

part of the world. Two of the authors, Trench and Bell, 

were Russophobes, while the others took a lenient view of 

the situation. 

Equally disturbed at the Russian conquests in Central 

Asia, were sorne of the government officials both in India 

and Britain. Henry Green, the political superintendent on 

the Sindh frontiers, wrote a memorandum in August 1866, 

recommending the occupation of Quetta - a strategie post in 

northern Bilauchistan commanding the Bolan Pass. Green 

endorsed Jo~~ Jacob's views of 1856, that the possession of 

15. ~· Feb. 13, 69. p.5. c.2. 

16. (i) Trench, F. The Russo-Indian Question, London 
1869. 
(ii) Bell, Evan. The Oxus on the Indus, London, 
1869. 
(iii) British Subject, A. Russian Central Asia and 
British India, London, 1865. 
liv) Cotton, s. Nine Years on the North-Western 
Frontiers of India, London, 1868. 
{v) Willi~ & Northgate. The Central Asian Question, 
London, 1869. 
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Quetta was necessary for the norther.n defences of India. 

Green be1ieved that there would be little resistance shown 

to this occupation by the Y~an of Kelat and the tribes of 

Bilauchistan.17 • Sir Bartle Frere, the Governor of Bombay, 

considered this scheme flessentially sound" and urged the 
18. t Central Government to sanction this project. Green s 

proposal on the occupation of Quetta led to expressions of 

opinion by the Viceroy, Sir Jom1 Lawrence, the members of 

his council and sorne of the politico-military experts on 

the subject of Central Asia.19 • Although all of them 

opposed British occupation of Quetta, an apprehension was 

fe1t over the uninterrupted advance of Russia towards the 

frontiers of India and Afghanistan. G.U. Yule and H.M. 

Durand, both members of the Viceroy's council, urged a 

change of po1icy tm·1ards Afghanistan. 
20 

• Lawrence, after 

co11ecting their opinions, arrived at the conclusion that 

an Anglo-Russian understanding regarding Central Asia was 
21. 

a necessity. He forwarded the views of his experts to 

17. Parliamentary Papers LXXVII 1878-79, no. 1/2 

18. Ibid. no. 1/5. 

19. See for the vie\'lS of the se persons .I.2.!l! no. 4. wi th i ts 
enclosures. 

20. ~· no. 4/4 or 5. 

21. E.S.L.I. Viceroy to Secretary of Stat~ no. 3. Sept. 
3, 67. 
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the India office. 

But Lawrence's proposal for establishing an under-

standing with Russia did not receive a willing ear at 

the India office. J .R. :t>Ielville, the Assistant Secretary 

in the secret and political department of the India office, 

differed with Lawrence in his memorandum which he wrote on 

the subject of British policy in Central Asia. 22 • Melville 

called La\lrrence' s suggested understanding wi th Russia, a 

11worthless 11 measure •. He was of the opinion that such an 

understanding would not bind Russia, but would certainly 

"hamper us 11 • The memorandum suggested that the Russian 

advance in Central Asia had been, up to that point, on 

11tiptoe" fearing the jealousy of the British Government. 

But once assured of the latter's neutrality and indifference 

to her advance to a certain line, Russia would reach that 

line in just "one bound 11 and then v10uld rekindle intrigues 

and dissensions. 

The communication of the Government of India, along with 

Melville's memorandum were forwarded to Lord Derby, the 

Prime I1ini st er. Derby suggested that the papers on the 

22. Secret Home Correspondence 1868/62. Melville 
memorandum Dec. 2, 67. pp.7-15. (hereafter cited as 
S.H.C.) 
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subject should be circulated among the Cabinet to elicit 

their opinions. As to arriving at some understanding with 

Russia regarding Central Asia, Derby was sure that 11no 

understanding or engagement with the Russian Gover.nment 

will bind the latter if they see their advantage in breal::ing 

. tIl 23. 
l. • 

Then came the significant memorandum of Sir Henry 

Rawlinson on the policy of Britain in Central Asia. 

Rawlinson in his paper, made a general survey of the 

Russian conquest in Turkistan and proved that Russia would 

soon be a paramount power on the Sar-Daria lands.24 • This 

paramountcy would place Afghanistan at Russia's mercy. 

Rawlinson did not harbour any fear of Russian invasion of 

India, but he was emphatic that the presence of Russia on 

the frontiers of India would stir up 11 every chief throughout 
25. 

Norther.n India who either has or fancies he has a grievance", 

against Britain. Putting strategie light on his thesis, 

Rawlinson believed that Russia, once established in Herat, 

,.muld not be easily expelled. He agreed with Auckland's 

23. S.H.C. 1868/62. Stanley comments on the Paper, Dec. 
8, 67. pp.63-4: see also War Office memo on the Russian 
conquest in Central Asia in F.065/868. W.O. to F.O. 
no. 461/715, June 12, 66. 

24. Ral'llinson prepared this paper for a speech in the 
Parliament. Fai1in5 to get a turn, he foniarded it to 
the India office. The memorandum was also published in 
his book "England and Russia in the East" op. oit. pp.27l-
300. 

25. Ibid. p.287. 
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doctrine of "establishing a strong friendly power on our 

North-v/est frontier 11 • To achieve this end he pleaded 

for an effective support to Sher Ali whose "fortunes •••• 

are again in ascendent 11 •
26 • Rawlinson appraised the 

possibility of establishing a British mission at Kabul. 

He advised furnishing Afghanistan with arms, officers and 

money. 27 • Sir Henry appealed in the name of peace and 

moral and material improvement, "that interference in 

Afghanistan has now become a duty and that any moderate 

outlay or responsibility that we may incur in establishing 
1128. order at Kabul will prove in the sequal to be true economy • 

The gist of Rawlinson's paper was to take effective 

steps to check Russian expansion in Central Asia. He 

recommended a liberal subsidy to Sher Ali; to establish 

friendlier relations with Persia; to connect the Afghan 

frontier with a railway line, and to occupy Quetta. In 

fa ct, Ra'\'rlinson was asking for the reversal of Lawrence' s 

policy of 11masterly inactivity". 

Most of the Anglo-Indian statesmen agreed with 

Rawlinson's views especially those concen1ing Afghanistan, 

26. ~· p.292. 

27. ~· 

28. ~· p.293. 
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29. 
and the threat involving her by Russian expansion. 

Brigadier-General LQmsden of the Guides; Sir D.F. McLeod, 

the Lt. Governor of Punjab; Col. Taylor, the Commissioner 

of Amba1a; Sir Richard Temple, the Finance member of the 

Viceroy' s executive counci~ and the Commander-in-Chief. 

Sir W .R. Mansfield, approved Ravllinson' s idea of establishing 

greater contacts with Afghanistan. 

The se remonstrances from various quartera from vri thin 

and without India, compelled the Viceroy, Sir John Lawrence 

to change his former attitude on many of the pertinent 

issues. His policy of "masterly inactivity11 had become 

a subject of controversy both in India and Britain. It 

was commonly believed that it was an outdated policy. 

Lawrence, therefore, '\'rrote to Northcote in August, 1868, 

that he would be prepared to help Sher Ali as was demanded 

in England, provided Sher Ali succeeded in regaining his 

power. 30 • In the following mon th Sher Ali came to pmver 

in Afghanistan. 

The arri va.l of the Liberal Hiristry into power in 

Decernber 1868, further improved the situation. The 

Libera1s, as compared to the Conservatives, believed in 

29. Par. Pap. LVI, 1878-99. no. 14/1,2,3,5,8. 

30. Laivrence Papers. no. 9. Lawrence to Northcote (private) 
Aug. 17, 68. 
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peaceful co-existence vli th Russia in Central Asia. 

To the Liberals of Gladstone•s age, imperialism was 

synonimous to immorality. As discussed in Chapter Two, 

they made an attempt during the days of Palmerston to 

come to some sort of understanding with Russia in Central 

Asia. It did not, however, materialise. Another attempt 

was made now. It did succeed. Improved relations with 

Afghanistan were a major factor in bringing about such an 

understanding wi th Russia. British help to Afghanif:;tan 

in the form of arms and money alarmed Russia that Britain 

was manufacturing a plot to overthrm.,r Russian dominance in 

Central Asia. This apprehension forced Russia to listen 

to the British appeal. 

For the sake of analysis, the events discussed below 

are divided into three sections:-

(i) the restoration of British influence in Afghanistan. 

(ii) the division of Central Asia into sphere of influences. 

(iii) the British commercial venture into the Chinese 

Turkistan. 

I 

Sher Ali's rise to power in 1868 was well timed. Public 

and official pressure on the government had paved the way 

for his support. During the course of November, Sher Ali 

requested the Gover.nment of India for help. Lawrence 
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immediately sanctioned two lakh of rupees for his 

as si stance. This sum was raised in late December to six 

lakh in cash with 3500 stands of arma and necessary 

ammunition. 31 • Before departing from India, Lawrence 

sanctioned another grant of six lakh of rupees for the Amir~2 • 
This was a big step in improving the relations with Afghani-

stan. The Calcutta correspondent of the Times hailed this 

11 changed policy towards lav1ful rulertt. 33 • 

Sher Ali in September, 1868, had expressed a wish to 

meet the Viceroy of India, and Lawrence had acceeded to it. 

But Sher Ali 1 s pre-occupation in his newly-won dominion 

prevented him from seeing Lawrence before the latter's 

departure and replacement by the Earl of Mayo in January, 

1869. Mayo's early days in India were also busy. In 

February Sher Ali made fresh overtures to meet the Viceroy~4 • 

r~Tayo invi ted him to me et at Ambala - a mili tary cantorunent 

in northern India. It was felt that if the Amir's journey 

took him near to the centre of India, he would have to pass 

a considerable part of British territory and thus learn 

31. E.S.L.I. 1868/3. Government of India to Punjab. 
Telegram Dec. 21, 68. Par. Pap. LVI 1878-79 no. 14A/I 
and Edinburgh Review CXXXVIII, ''Recent Events in Afghani­
stan""'p:267. 

32. E.S.L.I. 1869/4. Viceroy to ~~ir, Jan. 9, 69. Also in 
Par. PaE• g~. cit. no. 14A/4. 

33. Times, Harch 10, 69. p.4. c.3. 

34. Par. Pap. op. cit. Ata Mohd. to Pollock, Feb. 7, 69. 
no. 15/3. 
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something about "the wenders of the western civilisation 11 •
35 • 

Sher Ali left Kabul on February 16, and reached 

:Pe shawar on l'•!arch 3 • He was accompanied by his son, 

prince Abdullah Jan, and three senior counsel1ors. Du ring 

his five days stay at Peshawar, the Amir visited the army 

barracks, a photographie studio and the submarine cable 

plant. The Amir reached Lahore on March 14, where he 

spent his next six days. He was received in a public 

Darbar by the Lt. Governor and visited the troops, railway 

factory and telegraph office. 37· Sher Ali reached Ambala 

on Harch 24, where a splendid reception a\"raited him.38 • 

Three days later Hayo arrived in Ambala. The se..me day in 

the evening the Viceroy received the Afghan chief in a 

public Darbar, attended by all the dignitaries of the native 

states and the government officials. The Amir and his 

troupe were presented with gifts by the Viceroy. 39 • On 

March 29, ~~yo visited Sher Ali's camp and received the 

35. BlaCkwQOQ 1 § magazine CVII 1870. Lord Maya and the 
Ambala Darbar. p.64. 

36. :Par. Pap. op. cit. Pollack's Diary no. 16/1 and 2. 

37. Blackwood' s magato;~;ine. 'Ambala JJ~:bar" op. ci t. p. 66. 

38. ;wveraray :Pa pers. :f.1a;yo-Ar,gJ!:ll Correspondance no. 1. 
Mayo to Argyl1--rprivate) APril 4, 69: also see the 
description of the camps and the reception of the Amir 
in ~kwo où' s UJ.S3..tmzine.. 11Ambala DaJ::bar11 op. ci t • pp. 6 7-8. 

39. :Par. :Pap. op. cit. no. 17. and its enclosures. 
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Afghan gifts brought for the Viceroy. The highlights of 

the Amir's next two days stay at Ambala were entertainments 

like horse races, elephant combat and military manoeuvres. 

The Queen sent a telegram welcoming the Amir to India and 

congratulated the Viceroy on his successful management of 

the Amir's visit.40. 

While the Amir was in Ambala, he and the Viceroy 

discussed Anglo-Afghan relations. ~~o similar discussions 

took place between the Indian Foreign Secretary, Seton-Karr, 

and the Amir's Senior Minister, Syed Noor Mohammad Shah. 

In addition, there were numerous unofficial meetings between 

Captain H. Grey, the interpreter and secret agent of Lord 

Ivlayo, and Syed Noor.4l. Due ta the recently restored 

friendship, Sher Ali had come ta Ambala with high hopes of 

assistance, but Hayo, with his typical charming Irish manners 

and successful diplomatie handling, kept the issue of assist-

ance out of the talk. Central Asia and Russia did not 

appear at all in the interviews "beca.use it is desirable not 
42. 

to show to the Amir that we have apprehension from the North". 

40. Qambridge E~~~ Lord Mayo's Private Papers. Additional 
Nanuscripts 7490/4. Queen•s Telegra:m, April 23, 69. 
(Hereafter cited as Cambridge Papers). 

41. Inverar~ Papers, ag. cit. no. 3. Mayo to Argyll 
(private Oct. 17, 9. Also Par. Pap. op. cit. no.l6/2. 

42. Inveraray Pavers, op. oit. Maya ta Argyll (private) 
April 18, 69. 
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However the Amir did receive written assurances of the 

good intentions of the British Government tO'\<Tards his 

personal rule. Hayo, besides assuring him moral and 

material assistance in an emergency, assured him that the 

British Government "will view with severe displeasure any 

attempt on the part of your rivals to disturb your position 

as a Ruler of Cabul 11 • 
43 • 

Sher Ali left ~\mbala for Kabul on April 3. His de-

parture from India was followed by remittance of six lakh 

of rupees promised by Lawrence, plus 6,500 more stands of 

arms, four eighteen pounder seige guns, two eight inch 

howitzers, one mountain battery of artillery, besides pro­

portionate runounts of ammunition. 44 • Sher Ali was definitely 

satisfied with his visit to India. There is even evidence to 

shovv that he was willing to receive British agents in his 

state. 45 • 

43. E.S.L.I. 1869/4. Viceroy to the Amir, Harch 31, 69. 
Also Par. Pap. op. cit. no. 17/3. 

44. Cambrigge Papers op. cit. no. 7490/3/I. Burne to McLeod 
April 27, 69. Lt. Col. Bur.ne was Mayo's private secretary. 
Also E.S.L.I. 1869/4. Nemorandum to Hilitary Department 
no. 462. April 8, 69. p.l021. 

45. This subject became most controversial during the years 
1878-79. Seton-Karr, the ex-foreign secretary of the 
Government of India at the request of Lord Lawrence sent 
a statement to Parliament to the effect that Sher Ali was 
opposed to receiving any British agent in Afghanistan in 
1869. This statement was censured by Stanhope the Under 
Secretary of State for India on Dec. 9, 78 in the House of 
Commons (Hansard, Commons no. 243, 1878-9, cc.320 and 358). 
Seton Karr was inflamed by this treatment and wrote a 
letter to the minister, a copy of which was forwarded for 

•. continued •• 
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Sher Ali left IIJ.dia impressed by the friendly entions 

of the Government of India and touched by the might of the 

British power in India. On his return to Kabul, he made 

sorne earnest attempts, during the course of the next three 

years to introduce the new system of administration \-Thich he 

45. (continued). publication to the Daily 1\fews (Dec. 12, 
78. p.5. c.7.). Karr clained that he was distinctly 
empowered by Hayo to aslc the A."nir on the subject of 
receiving an English Resident in Afghanistan. The 
Arnir considered it objectionable to his ple. Hayo 
therefore dro:l)ped this subject al together from future 
discussions. 

Karr's letter brought to light another statement by 
an equally quthorative hand. It was H. Grey (now 
.fl1ajor and Comnissioner of Bahawalpur 1878-9). Grey 1 s 
letter apneared in the Times (Feb. 24, 1879. p.6. c.5). 
Grey claimed that he had seven interviews with the 
Afghan authori ti es, the reports of •Hhich he sent in his 
three notes. In his re1Jort of Narch 29, 9, Grey 
sta ted tha t t''e Amir would like to erect s on his 
northern frontiers, and would like to adr.li t buropean 
garrisons if ever desired. As to the location of a 
British Resident, the Aoir had no objection except to 
his presence at Kabul, ~1ere the people were hostile. 
Grey said that in his reoort of April 4, 9, he men-
tioned also the Anir's willingness to the presence of an 
hn.gli sh agent • 

The Goverrunent of India started an inquiry into this 
subject during 1875 and 1877. Grey's report, which he 
claimed to have been submitted on Harch 29, is dated 
here on Harch 31. (See Par. Pap. LVI 1878-9. pp.547 
and 669): X.Y. or F.B. report also confirms Grey's 
statement. F.B. learnt of the Amir's willingness from 
Mirza Hohd. Hassan, the Arür's Hir-~·1unshi, and Syed N. 
Ishaq, Prince Abdullah's tutor. (See E.S.L.I. 1875/4 
p.29. and Par. Pau. on. cit. no. 32/11). 

Grey's and F.B.'s statements were also supported by 
Col. 0 .T. Burne, then Priva te Secretary of Lord I>Iayo. 
See Times, (1!1eb. 26, 1879. p.l1. c.2.). 
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observed in the host country. 

the fields of administration. 

His reforma touched all 

He established a Council 

of advisors, enunciated a system of watch and ward, 

introduced a regular postal system, and advised native 

manufacturera to produce articles like those of the West. 46 • 

In his military reforma he abolished the semi-feudal organi­

zation of the army and instituted in its stead a regularly 

'd B 't' hl' 47 • An tt t d t pa~ one on r~ J.S ~nes. a emp was ma e o 

integrate the treasury and the administration of his five 

provinces and a budget system was introduced. However this 

drive for reforma did not live long. Nodernisation needs 

planners and these Afghanistan badly lacked. 

Anglo-Afghan relations between the years 1869 and 1872 

were of the most cordial type. Mutual confidence developed 
48. on both sides. An interesting proof of the improved 

46. Edinburgh Review. Afghanistan pp. cit. p.272., and 
Black:wood's Nagazine: Ambala Darbar op. cit. p.73. 

47. Blackwood!.s J:vlagazi:p.e: Ambala Darbar op. cit. p.73. 

48. Sher Ali before his visit to Ambala had deported his 
four brothers to India. The re were Ahmad Khan, Omar 
Khan, Zaman Khan, and Ra..hmat ullah. His visit to 
Ambala was followed by deportation of Ismail Khan, 
Zulfiqar Khan and Mohd. Saleh. In 1872 Sharif Khan 
was deported to India. 

Gover.nment of India in 1869 conditioned Abdul Rehman 
and Azam Khan assylum in India to their abstention from 
political activities. In 1871, Ishaq Khan, the son of 
the late Azam Khan, appealed for assylum in India. It 
was refused because the Amir did not approve of it. 
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relations was the Amir's willingness to act on Lord Mayo's 

advice during the rebellion of his son, prince Yaqub. To 

this prince more than anybody else, Sher Ali owed his 

victory over his brothers during the Civil War. Sher Ali's 

leaning towards his younger son Abdullah Jan, irritated the 

elder prince who revolted on September 2, 1870. 49 • Prince 

Yaqub set out to take over Herat, the province he had been 

ruling since 1863. Sher Ali sent forces against him. 

Yaqub was beaten and fled to Siestan.50. Lord Nayo deemed 

it necessary at this time to interfere and settled the 

dispute of the "savage lot".5l. On September 24, I1ayo 

addressed a letter to the Amir counselling him to reconcile 

himself with his son and to remove, if possible, the causes 

f . •t t• 52. o ~rr~ a ~on. This was followed by another letter from 

the Viceroy in reply to the Amir's letter on the misconduct 

of his son, Yaqub. Mayo again counselled him to use 

moderation rather than the firmness usually exhibited in such 

circumstance~~ • !-1ayo' s influence prevailed over Sher Ali and 

49. E.S.L.I. 1870/7. Y~bul Diary (hereafter cited as K.D.) 
Sept. 4, 70. 

50. Ed:bnb"l!_!'K.h_jt§_vie.Jl... 11Afghanistail' op. ci t. p .290. 

51. Invararax PaeerE?_• op. cit. no. 2. Mayo to Argyll (private) 
Nov. 16, "187 • 

52. E.S.L.I. 1870/7. Viceroy to the Amir, Sept. 24, 70. 

53. Ibid. Nov. 16, 70. 
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the latter addressed a conciliatory communication to his 

rebel son now residing in Siestan. .Negotia.tion :failed in 

~ace o~ ill-natured intrigues. 54 • Another attempt at 

reconciliation came ~rom Hir A:fzal Khan, the governor o~ 

Farrah and the grand-:father of Prince Abdullah. This 

ef~ort also met the same fate. 55 • 

Prince Yaqub's plans for the conquest of Herat, met 

with the approval o~ the Persian authorities. I1aJO in~ormed 

the British Legation in Persia to make sure that no hostile 

attempt against the authority of Sher Ali was encouraged by 

Persia. Hayo was assured by Charles Alison, the British 

Minister at Teheran, that Yaqub would not receive any aid 

~rom the Shah's Government against his father. 56 • 

By the close of March 1871, Yaqub appeared before Herat 

and on May 6, he invested the city. 57 • After taking Herat, 

Yaqub thought of making peace \vith his father. He sent a 

deputation to his father, expressing his willingness to visit 

54. Edinbll:rgh Revie\v, "Afghanistarl' op. cit. p.291. 

55 • .ll!9:.· 
56. E.S.L.I. 1871/8. !1ayo's telegram to Alison, Dec. 27, 70. 

p.53: Alison 1 s reply Dec. 29, 70. p.50. and January 2, 
71. p.691. Also see S.H.C. 1871/76. Granville's 
telegram to Alison on June 13, 71. and A1ison's reply 
June 15, 71. 

57. E.S.L.I. 1871/7. ~· June 1, 71. 
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him and to apologise for his misdeeds. The Amir was not 

in a mood for reconciliation, he was furious with his son 

and planning to subdue him by force. But at this point 

~~yo's third letter arrived in which he repeated his views 

on the necessity for amicable relations between father and 

son. Nayo referred to Yaqub 's proposal to submi t and 

although he denied any desire to defend the rebe1 son's 

conduct, he declared that "our desire to support you is as 

strong as ever, but our power to do so is weakened by your 

quarre1 wi th your son •••• Accept my advice. Disregard the 

recommendations of interested counsel1ors: be reconci1ed 
58. 

to your son and thus restore peace to your country". 

This counci1 prevailed upon the Acir. Sher Ali invited 

Yaqub to visit him assuring him that he need have no fear 

of treachery.59. 

Yaqub arrived at Kabul on July 5, 1871. It took the 

Amir seme time to heal his injured pride, but in the middle 

of September the repentent son was appointed to the governor­

ship of Herat. 

58. Cambridge Papers 7490/3/I. Viceroy to the Amir, June 6, 
?I: Also-In-E".S .L .I. 1871/8. 

59. ~~JL. "Afghanista8 9P• cit. p.295. 
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The rise of Russia in Central Asia was a most difficult 

question which dominated the thoughts of both the Liberal 

and the Conservative administrations of England. Both 

parties envisaged a solution, but each a different one. 

To the Conservatives, if Russia was capable of expansion 

in Central Asia, so was Britain. The Conservatives in 

their two short-lived administrations of 1858-1859 and 

1866-1868, neither had time nor an opportunity to accomplish 

something concrete in Central Asian diplomacy. Lawrence's 

presence in India and his hold over the north-western 

frontiers' affairs constituted a major impediment to the 

Wnitehall policy-makers. The Viceroy on-the-spot wielded 

greater influence than a minister-in-charge of India at 

London. And Whitehall had not yet learnt how to dictate 

to Calcutta. Lawrence, since 1865, had been proposing to 

the home-government to enter into some agreement \rlth Russia 

regarding unsettled affairs of Central Asia. 60 • The 

Conservatives during their reign doubted the wisdom of this 

policy. 

The Liberals both under Palmerston and Gladstone were 

60. Lawrence Papers. no. 6. Lawrence to Wood (private) April 
4, 65. 
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opposed to the idea of territorial acquisition beyond the 

north-western frontiers of India, but they shared Lawrence's 

view that certain parts of Central Asia should be assigned 

to Russia where she could expand with the consent of the 
61. 

British Government. Keeping in mind this object, Lord 

Clarendon had held a "confidential interview" with 

Gortchakov in 1868,and had discussed the possibility of 

establishing a neutral zone between the ~to countries. 62 • 

Clarendon, after this interview, had spoken ta Baron Brunnow 

"more than once 11 appraising the liklihood of drawing a 

boundary line in Central Asia, which in no circumstances 

should be crossed. 63 • Gortchakov hailed Clarendon's views. 

Renee the Russian Chancellor was of the opinion that the 

territories of Central Asia up to the borders of Afghanistan 

h ld b . d t Ru . 64 • s ou e ass~gne o ss~a. 

But the Russian proposition was not acceptable ta the 

Government of India. The new Viceroy, Lord I1ayo, was 

altogether a different person from his predecessor. Mayo 

61. See Lord John Russell's view on it in Chapter II 

62. F.065/870. Gortchakov to Brunnow, Narch 7, 69. Also 
in Par. Pap. LXXV 1873 no. 1/1. 

63. F.065/870. Clarendon to Buchanan no.88. Narch 27, 69. 
Par. Pap. op. cit. no. I. 

64. F.065/870. Gortchakov to Brw..now, :f-1arch. 7, op. cit. 
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had been rewarded by the Conservatives for his dis-

tinguished services to the Party. He was Disraeli's 

1 t
. 65. personal se ec ~on. Mayo, trained in the Conservative 

traditions, was keen to assert himself in the Central Asian 

poli tics. Mayo believed that Russia should consent to 

place herself in the same position as regards Khiva, the 

unconquered part of Bokhara and the Turkomans of that 

region, as Britain was willing to do as regards Kelat, 

Afghanistan and the newly emerged state of Kashgharia 

(Chinese Turkistan). Both the pOi'lers, he thought, should 

have authority to punish any misbehaviouYof their satellites 

but that after punishment had been administered they should 

be obliged to retreat. 66 • Clarendon, adopting the views 

of the India Government, replied to Gortchakov that 

Afghanistan was not the state which could fulfill the 

requirements of a buffer zone. 67 • He argued that only the 

upper Amu Daria in the south of Bokhara would meet the 

conditions necessary for such a zone. This area included 

65. Nonypenny, W.F. and Buckle, G.E. The Life of Ben amin 
Disra.eli, New York, 1929. vol. 2. p.41 • The Conserva­
ti ve 1-linistry \t/as defeated bef ore J:.Iayo reached India. 
But Gladstone consented to his appointment. 

66. Mayo to Rawlinson, June 10, 69 in Rawlinson's England 
and Russia on. cit. p.309. 

67. F.065/870. no. 88. op. cit. 
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68. 
the Merv oasis and the territory of Khiva. But Russia 

bad strong objection to this division of Turkistan. Both 

Khi va and Merv were in the plan of Rus sian conquest. The 

idea of neutral zone was dropped and M. de Westmann, the 

Russian Foreign }tinister, attributed the failure of the 

scheme to the envy held by the Government of India for the 

Ru · ·t· · Central As~a. 69 • ss~an pos~ ~on ~n ~ 

The idea of the neutral zone was all at once revived. 

The initiative, this time, amne from Russia. The improved 

relations between India and Afghanistan and the military 

assistance provided to the latter, alarmed Russia. It \vas 

supposed in Russia that Britain was forming a confederacy 

of the Central Asian states led by Afghanistan to expell 

Russia from Turldstan. Brunnow expressed this fear 
70. personally to an Anglo-Indian official Douglas Forsyth. 

Amir Sher Ali had actually sent an envoy to Bokhara proposing 

the alliance of the two states and waging a holy war against 

Ru 
• 71. 

l SSJ.a • Discontinuation of Lawrence's policy of 

"masterly inactivityu - much deplored in Russia, and Hayo's 

keen interest in Central Asian affairs further alarmed the 

68. F.065/870. Clarendon to Rumbold no. 25. April 17, 69. 
also Par. Pau. on. oit. no. 3. 

69. F.065/870. Rumbold to Clarendon no. 42. liay 10, 69. 

70. Cambridge Papers no. 7490/9/6. Forsyth to Hayo (private) 
Tune 25, ·69. 

71. Inver~ray Papers no. I. F<layo to Argyll (priva te) July 29, 
70. 
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Russian authorities. 11 Russia should •••• pursue an honest 

course and if it does not she would lay upon itself 

trouble and danger" wrote the redoubtable Viceroy to 

Buchanan. It was a great warning for Gortchako~ who 

11looked rather caught 11 vrhen Buchanan read out the Viceroy' s 

letter to him. 72 • 

Coinciding wi th this policy v1as the hostile attitude 

of Sher Ali upon his northern borders. At Ambal~ Sher Ali 

had been assured of British support to consolidate his 

authority in the north against his internal rivals. But 

he went a step further. Sher Ali invited to his dominion 

Abdul Malik Tura, the rebel son of Amir Muzzafar of Bokhara. 

He married his daughter to the Bokharan prince and promised 

him help against his father, the latter now in alliance with 

Russia. 73 • He gave shelter to the governor of Kulab vrho 

had rebelled against 13okhara.74 • Sher Ali also sympathised 

with Jora Beg the rebel chief of Shahre-Sabz.75. And he 

started subsidising the Tekke Turkomans against any future 

exegency. Hence Terentyeff, the contemporary Russian 

historian, attributed Sher Ali's hostility against his 

72. Cambridge Paners no. 7490/6. Buchanan to Mayo (private) 
d"üne 26-;e-71Y~"'--

73. Vambery, A. Qentral Asia and the Anglo-Russian Frontier 
Question, London 1874. p.245. 

74. Edinburgh Revie\v-. "Afg.ha:nistan" on. cit. p.278. 

75. Ibid. p.280. 
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neighbours to the Ambala conference where a pact was signed 

between India and Afghanistan to counterba1ance Russian 

. C t 1 A . 76 • power ~n en ra s~a. 

Hostile movements of Sher Ali alerted the Imperial 

Gover:nment. Czar Alexander II persona11y expressed his 

fears to Buchanan on Sher Ali's openly aggressive activities, 

which the Czar thought had been encouraged by the Government 

of India. 77 • Westmann even went to the extent of directly 

bl~~ing the Queen's government for Sher Ali' s militancy on 

b rd 
78. his northern o ers. 

It was against t!ùs background that Gortchakov invited 

Clarendon to Heidelberg in the early Fall of 1869. Du ring 

their three-a.nd-a-half hours talk, Gortchakov complained 

about the British assistance to Afghanistan and the hostile 

attitude adopted by that state against its neighbours- an 

apprehension which took Clarendon some time to a11ay. 

Clarendon reiterated the British plan of making the upper 

Amu a neutral zone bet,ITeen the ~vo powers in Central Asia .. 79 • 

Bu.t Gortchakov "the crafty man ..... only practising upon my 

youth and innocence" requested Clarendon not to press for 

76. Terentyef, i·T.A. England and Russia in Central Asia, 
St. Petersburg 1875. Translated by F.O. Dankes, Calcutta 
1876. vol. 2. p.346. 

77. F.065/870. Buchanan to Clarendon no. 112. July 26, 69: 
also Par. Pap. op. cit. no. 8. 

78. ~· no. 116. July 28, 69: a1so Par. Pap. 9P• cit. no. 9. 

79. F.065/870. Clarendon to Buchanan no. 122. Sept. 3, 69: 
also Par. Pap. op. cit. no. 11. 
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the Amu line, but to agree to Afghanistan being a neutral 

zone between the two states. 80 • 

Luckily for Russia, Thomas Douglas Forsyth, the 

Commissioner of Jallandhar division, was intending to visit 

Russia at this time. The Russian diplomats decided to 

talee ad va...'l tage of his vi si t • Forsyth had served for a 

long time on the north-western frontiers of India and was 

deeply interested in establishing commercial links between 

India and Turkistan. He had been endeavouring since 1867 

to attract the attention of Central Asian merchants by 

organising trade fàirs at Palampur. But he did not receive 

any encouragement fron the governnent of Sir John Lavœence. 81 • 

lV"..ayo welcomed his endeavours. Early in 1869 Forsyth app1ied 

for leave to the government, expressine his desire to visit 

Russia via Europe and to return to India via Central Asia. 

The object of lus visit was to ascertain the truth of the 

prohibitions imposed by Russia on English imports in Bokhara: 

to discover the prospects for British trade in that region 

and to study the object of Russian activities in the 

direction of Kashgharia.82 • Mayo, after having interviewed 

the app1icant, forwarded hi s case to the India office. The 

80. Naxwell, Sir H. The Life and Letters of Fourth Earl of 
Clarendon, New York 1913 vol. 2. p.3bl. 

81. Forsyth, Sir Douglas. Autobiography ~nJLReminiscences, 
London 1887. p.44. 

82. S.H.C. 1869/4. Forsyth to the Government of ?unjab 
April 14, 69. 



- 193 -

latter considered the whole proceedine a "difficult 

question". It doubted the fitness of the agent whose 

vi si t would be confused ''li th his official capaci ty. 83 • 

The ~~e of Argyll personally did not take any interest 

. th b . 84 • J.n e usJ.ness. It was Mayo's letter to the Duke on 

the subject of Forsyth's visit - "a golden key to unlock 
. . 85 • ••••• an impassable door" that moved the IndJ.a offJ.ce. 

The application was forwarded to the Foreign office, which, 

in turn, forwarded it to Brunnow for the necessary action. 

In the meantime Forsyth met Sir Roderick I1erchison "a 

:friend in need" who introduced him to Brtmnow.86 • 

Brunnow hit upon a plan. The question of the boundary 

line had been dropped out from negotiations and Forsyth's 

visit to Russia could be utilised towards that end. 

Brunnow suggested to Clarendon that Forsyth should proceed 

to Baden Baden to meet Gortchakov who would arrange Forsyth's 

visit to Russia. Clarendon agreed because Forsyth's know-

ledge of India and Central Asia would help to solve many 

misunderstandings between the two pm.'lers, especially tho se 

83. Ibid. See J.W. Kay's remark on the application of 
Forsyth. 

84. Forsyth's Autobiography op. cit. p.47. 

85. Cambri~Paners. Add 7490/9/6. Forsyth to Mayo 
{private) Aprfl-27, 69. 

86. Ibid. June 25, 69. 
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concerning the commercial relations in \'lhich Forsyth was 

deeply interested. Brunnow handed over a letter of 

introduction to Forsyth containing five points of mutual 

interest to the two governments. 

(i) entente cordiale. 

(ii) understanding on tariff. 

(iii) exchange of officers. 

They were: 

(iv) to show to the Central Asian states that perfect 

understanding existed between the two states. 

(v) confidence in success of negotiations conducted 
87. 

through the officials of the two states. 

Forsyth met Gortchakov during the last week of July, 

1869. Gortchakov refused to discuss co:mmerce because "he 

uld t 11 Il t• ft "ff t t . t d" 1 88 • co no a ow ques 1.ons o ar1. o en er 1.n o 1.p omacy. 

Hm.-1ever, he assured the British officer that commerce and 

tariff wou1d be discussed during his visit to St. Petersburg. 

Gortchakov was much p1eased to 1earn from Forsyth that Lord 

Hayo was anxious to continue Lawrence's policy on the frontiers 

of India.89 • Clarendon approved Forsyth's proceedings at 

Baden Baden and sanctioned his journey to the Czar's capita1~0 • 

87. ~· Ju1y 22, 69. 

88. Ibid. July 27, 69. Also in S.H.C. 1869/64. Forsyth to 
Clarendon, July 30, 69. 

89. Ibid •. Also in S.H.C. 1869/64. Forsyth to Secretary of 
State for India, Aug. 3, 69. 

90. ~mb~~~!'a;g!~· 
.H..Ugus " • 11 , • 

Add 7490/9/6. Forsyth to ~iayo (priva te) 
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Clarendon also attached "some kind of official term 11 to 

Fbrsyth's conservation at St. Petersburg. 

Forsyth had planned to visit St. Petersburg in a 

private capacity. Contrary to his expectations, he noticed 

that the nature of his visit had suddenly changed. For 

the proposed negotiations at St. Petersburg he had no 

instructions either on pol~tical or commercial subjects. 

The India office was not at all encouraging. Clarendon 

was if,>norant of the sandy deserts and rocky mountains of 

Central Asia. Forsyth was at a loss. However he re-

quested the Government of India to furnish him ~dth in-

structions on the subject of Central Asia. 91 • Lord Nayo 

sent him a letter addressed to Gortchakov and also some 

instructions on the political state of affairs in Central 

A . 92. 
s~a. 

Forsyth visited St. Petersburg in the Fall of 1869. 

There the discussion was only confined to the issue of the 

neutral zone, i.e. Afghanistan. .By Afghanistan, the Russians 

meant Afghanistan proper only. They did not include in it 

Afghan-Turkistan. Forsyth had a hard time to explain to 

them that Afghan-Turkistan was an integral part of Afghanistan. 

91. Ibid. Forsyth to Burne, July 17, 69. 

92. F.065/871. Forsyth to Buchanan no. 222, Nov. 2, 69. 
Also Par. Pap. op. cit. no. 15/1. 
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However, i t was concluded that the Uzbek states of Balld1, 

Kunduz and Bada~~ghan, should form the proposed boundary 

line marking the limits of Af~hanistan.93 • The 8t. 

Petersburg authorities aŒreed to recognise only that area 
94. 

as the state of Afghanitltan whic:L1 was then held by ~her Ali. 

It was also ae;reed upon that bath England and Russia should 

exert their influence on Afghanistan and Bokhara respectively, 

to avoid trouble on their borders. 

Both Buchanan and Clarenden appreciated "the ability and 

judgement displayed 11 by Forsyth during his mis on to 8t. 
95. Petersburg. Forsyth, hm·tever, was not allowed to visi t 

Central Asia. The arrangement concluded between Forsyth 

and Stremoukov \'Tas forwarded by the Russia.n Asiatic Department 

to Kaufmann for his study and comnents. 

It a~)pears from the negotia ti ons conducted at St. 

Petersburg and the corres:Jondence that followed this negoti-

ation, that the Liberal r:linistry of lligland felt satisfied or 

was made to believe by Russia that the area. beyond the north-

ern limits of Afghanistan should be left over to Russia. 

Forsyth himself says that Mayo's major abject in sanctioning his 

93. F.O. 65/871. Forsyth to Buchanan in no. 222, op. cit. 

94. Ibid. Also Canbridge Pauers Add. 7490/9/6. Forsyth 
te Hayo (priva te), Kov. 5, 69. 

95. S.H.C. 1869/64. F.O. to I.O., Nov. 30, 69: and Cambridge 
Papers Add. 7490/6/2. Buchanan to Hayo, Nov. 6, b9. 
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visit to St. Petersburg was to define Sher Ali's possessions 

in Central Asia. 96 • Jv!ayo himself, since the middle of 1869, 

had been collecting data on the actual boundaries of 

Afghani stan. He also consulted Rawlinson on s subject.97 • 

However, \1'hether consciously or unconsciously, the tish 

policy makers handed over Central Asia, up to the border of 

Afghanistan, to Rus 

It was soon realised, both in India and at the India 

o ce, that Forsyth's ste.tements on the Afghan boundary line 

were not well-based. Both H.q.wlinson' s ;::md Hayo' s findinc;s 

pointed out the k~u Daria constitut t.i1e northern limi ts 

of Afghanistan. :b1orsyth had not mentioned the .Amu at 

in his conversation with Stremoukov. Another point of ec~ual 

imlJortance was that the present Afghanistan v1as not to corn-

pr:Lse what was :Jossessed by Sher Ali, but that which was 

possessed by his fe.ther. 'l'he Government of India cleared 

tlli s point by sta tin[: tl18. t an arrangement hc::~d be en \·rorked 

out between Dost HohaPJ'lad of Afghanistan and Amir I;asarullah 

of Bokhe"ra in 1859, to the effect that Af stan -vmuld not 

intervene wi th the Turkomans on the north of Arm, while 

96. Forsyth. Autobiography or). cit. 
Inveraray ParJers ou. ci t. no. 2. 
[n'i va te), Aug. 12, 69. 

p.49: e also 
Hayo to Argyll 

97. S.H.C. 1869/64. Rawlinson Hemora:ndum on Afghanistan 
June, 18, 69, 
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Bokhara on her part promised not to lay any claim to 

Badakhshan, Maimanah and their dependencies on the south 

of Amu lik:e Shibergan, Al-ccha and Saripul. Renee, the 

Government of India's despatch on the subject of the 

Afghan boundary line in Central Asi& pointed out that the 

Amu,served as the northern limit of Afghanistan. from the 

district of Balkh on the west to Badakhshan at the most 

easterly point. The western bo1mdary was Badakhshan wi th 

the whole area between the Amu and the Hindu Kush. 98 • 

The Government of India' s viewpoint was forwarded to 

the Russian Government. The Asian Department at St. 

Petersburg sent it to I<aufmann at Tashkand for his obser-

va ti ons. 

Sixteen months passed and nothing was heard from St. 

Petersburg or Tashkand. Buchanan pressed for a reply at 

the Rus sian capital. In Uovember, 1871, the Russia..11. Foreign 

office communicated to London its reaction to the Government 

of India's statement on the boundaries of Afghanistan. 

Gortchakov made strong objection to makinG Sher Ali possessor 

of the dominion o\~ed by his father.99. Stremoukov once 

again raised the question of Badalmshan and Maimanah, which 

he thought should not belong to Afghanistan but should be 

98. Par. Pap. op. cit. no. 60/I. Viceroy to the Secretary 
of Sta te , Iviay 20, 1870 • 

99. F.065/873. Gortchakov to Brunnow :Nov. 12, 1871: also 
in Par. Pan. on. cit. no. 79. 
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considered an independant area along with a cordon of 

small states between Herat and Badak:hshan. In reply to 

Buchanan•s strong defence of Afghanistan's claims, 

Stremoukov withdrew his objections to giving all the other 

principalities to Afghanistan vnth the exception of 

Badakhshan, which the Director of the Asiatic Department 

b d ' t A . t lOO. t elieve snould not become par of fghanls an. Bu 

the India office, at the persuasion of the Government of 

India and Rawlinson, pressed its point that the Amu should 

form the boundary line of Afghanistan.101 • Lord Granville, 

the British Foreign Secretary, sent another comnunication to 

St. Petersburg in reply to that of Gortchakov•s of November 

1871. This was quite a comprehensive statement on the 

geographical features of the Afghan borders. The corrJ11uni-

cation informed the Russian Government that the British 

Goverrunent had l'J'ai ted long for Kaufmann' s re ply on the 

subj ect, but, having recei ved no ans,ver from that authori ty, 

had in the meantime arrived at the conclusion that all the 

territories up to Khoja Saleh on the Amu belonged to Sher 

Ali, who had been advised to defend them and that the 

lOO. F.065/873. Buchanan to Granville no. 254. Oct. 24, 71. 

101. E.S.L.I. 1872/12. Viceroy to Secretary of State no. 21. 
April 5, 72: and Granville Papers P.R.O. 30/29/51. 
Argyll to Granville January 4, 72; Argyll says that 
both Rawlinson and Lawrence assume that Afghanistan 
reaches to the AL1u. 
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Gover.nment of India would be willing to assist him in 

that project. This area, Granville declared, comprised 

Badakhshan and Wakhan from the Sarikol lake on the east 

to the River Kokcha on the north, runnin~ all along the 

Amu Daria to Khoja Saleh, containing in it the districts 

of Kunduz, Khulm and Balkh. The north-western boundary 

of Afghanistan would contain the districts of Akcha, Saripul, 

I-1aimanah, Shi ber gan and Andkhoi • The western Afghan frontier 

would run from the dependencies of Herat to the Persian prov­

ince of Khurassan.102 • 

Granville's communication had been couched in formal, 

courteous, diplomatie phrases. Lord Augustus Loftus, the 

British ambassador at St. Petersburg, sensed that if a 

definite decision was to be reached the communication should 

bear a tone strong enough to stop further Russian objections 

to it. The Foreign office agreed to his suggestion and the 

communication was delivered to Gortchakov in a revised and 

f . f 103. 
~rmer orm. 

The new communication alarmed the Russian authorities. 

Brunnow asked Granville confidentially whether the despatch 

102. F.065/874. Granville to Loftus no. 197. Oct. 17, 72. 
Also in Par. Pap. op. oit. no. I. 

103. F.065/874. Loftus to Granville Telegram, Oct. 28, 72: 
and Granville reply by telegram Nov. 2, 72. 
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in question should be considered as an ultimatum.104 • 

Gortchakov also took it as an ultimatum.105· Stremoukov 

was reported to have said that "the English were very 

violent on the subject and •••• threatened us with war.n106. 

In the meantime, General Kaufmann had compiled his 

findings after a study of two years. His observations 

were tha t the possession of Badakhshan and \'/akhan, would 

make Afghanistan a paramount power among the Central Asian 

states. From its base at Badakhshan, Kabul would be able 

at any time to threaten Bokhara, Khokand and Kashgharia. 

Kaufmann's enquiries led him to believe that Sher Ali had 

no hold over Badakhshan or Wakhan. 107 • The Russian 

authorities also raised objections to Sher Ali's authority 

over Akcha, Saripul, Maimana, etc .108 •. 

But Whi tehall had taken a strong stand no\ll. The India 

office had a great share in it.109· Granville, in his reply 

to Gortchakov, stated clear1y that the creation of Badakhshan 

104. F.065/875. Granville to Loftus no. 221. Dec. 14, 72. 

105. F.065/875. Lof tus to Granville no. 370. Dec. 25, 72. 

106. F.065/877. Loftus to Granville no. March 27, 73. 

107. F.065/875. Kaufmann to Gortchakov Nov. 29' 72: also 
in Par. Pap. pp. oit. no. 2/I. 

108. F.065/875. Gortchakov to Brunnow, Dec. 19, 72. 

109. I~verar_~~ Pa~e~~· Register of Despatches Drafted: see 
I.O. to F.O. anuary 25, 73. 
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and Wakhan as an independent state in Central Asia was 

fraught with danger. Sher Ali would never give up his 

right to these principalities. His authori ty had been 

recognised in both the principalities and both the chiefs 

th 1 . t hi 110. of ose principalities owed al egJ.ance o m. 

This energetic attitude of the British weakened the 

opposition of the Ozar's Government. Rt1ssia at this time 

was planning an expedition against Khiva, besides the 

financial exi:sencies of the empire and gro'V-Ting differences 

'rlth Germany made it inadvisable for Russia to offend England 
111. 0 openly. The zar sent his confidential envoy, Count 

Schouvalov, to London to assure Britain of the friendly 

attention of Russia tm·.rards her. This mission was followed 

by Gortchakov's despatch of January 31, agreeing to the 

boundary line laid down by England.112 • 

110. F.065/875. Granville to Loftus no • 22. January 24, 73: 
also in Par. Pap. on. oit. no. 4. 

111. F.065/875. Granville to Loftus no. 6. January 1, 73. 

112. ]
1 .065/875. Gortchakov to Brunnow. January 31, 73: 

also in Par. Pa;Q. OJ2 • oit. no. 5. 
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ill 

Strategy and trade were two major impulses attracting 
. 113. 

Kasghar~a to Britain in the latter half of the Nine-

teenth century. Early in 1858, on the order of the House 

of Commons, a select Coil'lr.littee was appointed to investigate 

113. (i) Kashgharia assumed different names at different 
periods of its history. Early Arab historians called 
it Turan or Turkistan. The later historians in their 
attempt to distinguish it from Turkistan proper, named 
i t 11Bilad-e-Sharq 11 (the eastern ci ti es) • The historian 
Rashid ud Din in his Tarikh-e-Rashidi called it "Mashrik 
Turldstan 11 (Eastern Turkistan). 
(ii) Sorne of the Persian writers called it 11 Kichak 
Bokhara 11 (Little Bokhara), a name that was later on 
popular with most of the early European geographers. 
(iii) During the period of the r'Iongol occupation, 
Kashgharia was known as 11!-!ongolistan 11 • Und er la ter 
Chughtai Khan, the name of their capital, i.e. Kashghar, 
\vas applied to the ·whole of the region of Kashgharia, 
while the name l-1ongolistan was applied to the home of 
the Mongol nomads in the northern valley. 
(iv) The Chinese held this region up to the western 
province of Ili and hence called it "Tianshan Nan Lu" 
(the way south of Tian Shen). 
(v) The western neighbours of Kashghar, i.e. Khokand, 
Bokhara, etc., called it 11Alty Shahr" (six cities) or 
"Jaty Shahrn (seven ci ties). 
(vi) :rrost of the European travellers of the Nineteenth 
century called it Chinese Turkistan. 
(vii) China after its conquest in 1877-8, named it 
"Sinking 11 (the new province). This term had been in 
vogue even prior to their conquest in 1877-78: but 
the name be came better knmm after this period. 
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the possibility of colonising India and also to explore 

means suitable for extension of trade with the states of 

Central Asia.114 • The Cooonittee consisted of sixteen 

members headed by 'Vfilliam Ewart (1798~1869) •115 
• The 

Co~ittee interviewed the Schlagintweit brothers on July 

6, 1858. These three German brothers, Herman, Robert and 

Adolphe toured India and Central Asia between 1854 and 1857. 

Herman and Robert returned to Europe while Adolphe was killed 

in Kashgharia during his second trip to Central Asia. 

Talking about Kashgharia, both the brothers affirmed that 

it was rich with mineral resources and carried on an extensive 

trade with all the parts of Central Asia. 

\vas in great demand in Kashgharia.116 • 

Tea they asserted, 

T\vo years let er, Evvart put a question in Parliament as 

to whether any measures had been adopted by the Government 

to open up Kashgharia to British trade. Sir Charles Wood, 

replied that the Government of India had been approaching 

th Ch . th 't' th' b' t ll7. e 1nese au or1 1es on 1s su JeC • The Government 

of India in the meantime had been active in collecting 

necessary information on trade routes and resources of Central 

114. Parliamentary Papers VII 1857-58, part 2. p.ii 

115. Hansard. Commons CXLIX l'larch 16, 58. CC.269-293. 

116. Par. Pap. op. cit. pp.1-10. 

117. Hansard; Dehates; Commons CLVII r'Tarch 16, 1860, 
0.734-5. 
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Asia, and a detailed report on the subject was compiled in 

1862 by R.H. Davies, the Secretary of the Government of 

-n. ....... b 118. 
.-vu..~.Ja • This report was primarily concerned \'li th the 

commercial potential of the countries be~qeen the British 

frontiers in the north-11est to those of Russia in Central 

Asia. The report also provided a unique account of the 

trade routes, geography and climate of Central Asia at this 

time. It pointed out that British products could easily 

d 119. A d t isplace those of Russia in Central Asia. goo par 

of the report was devoted to prospects of trade with 

Kashgharia. The latter state stood in need of skin, 

cotton fabric, opium, spices, saffaron and tea. The report 

deplored the heavy duties imposed by the I1aharaja of Xashnir 

on the Indo-Kashghar trade. Davies' report recommended the 

holding of comoercial fairs in India to attract Central Asian 

merchants and urged the government to improve roads towards 

Kashgharia and to approach the Chineseauthoritieo for co-

operation in these projects. 

Davies' report was much appreciated at home and was 

published in 1864 for study by Parliament. ~To proper steps 

had been taken so far to establish co~~ercial links with 

Kashgharia. Russian hostility and Chinese caution stood in 

118. Davies, R.H. Trade and Resources of the Countries on 
N.W. of India. op. cit. 

119. ill_g._. p.46. 
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the way of Eritain's endeavours in that direction. The 

end of the Chinese rule in Kashgharia ushered in brighter 

prospects for linldng Kashgharia commercially with Irtdia. 

The Chinese occupied Kashgharia three times. First 

in 94 A.D. during the Han dynasty (202 B.C. - 220 A.D.); 

again in 650 A.D. under the Tang rulers (618-907 A.D.), and 

for the last time in 1759 under the JIIanchus (1644-1911). 

The Chinese rule throughout the course of this period had 

been unpopular. There had been repeated risings against 

them resulting in the retreat or slaughter of the Chinese 

soldiery and emergence of one or more autonomous states. 

The inhabitants of Kashgharia, the Uighur12~ (Taranchis) 

Dung 
121. 

and ans had been converted to Islam during the tenth 

century A.D. At the close of the Seventeenth century a 

120. The origin of the Uighur is not exactly knovm. 
Kuropatkin call them the descendants of the Huns. 
See A.N. Kuropatkin, Kashgharia (translated by W.E. 
Gowan), Calcutta 1882, p.92. 

121. Many theories are advanced as to the origin of the 
Dungans. They are sometimes claimed to be of common 
stock with the Uighurs, also they are called original 
Chinese. Eut both the theories are considered wrong. 
Another version advanced in many of the English sources 
of the 19th Century, is attached to the meaning of their 
na.me Tungan (a Turkish word meaning 11 remnant"). It is 
said that they were the remnants of those Turghai 
tribes who came in the tenth century A.D. from Transo­
xiana. But modern Russian_accounts repudiate this 
theory. It is believed tl;tat the \·Jard Dun~an is a 
combination of the two Chinese words, Dun (East) and 
Gan (Kansu). The l-Iuslim settlers inhabi ting the east­
ern region of Kansu got this denomination from their 
Chinese neighbours and rulers. See Terentyef op. cit. 
pp.225-27, and The Central Asian Review vol. IX 1961 
pp.202-3. 
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priestly class k:nown as Khwajas, 122 • became bath spiritual 

and political leaders of the state of Kashgharia. In 

1759 the Chinese took over Kashgharia for the third time. 

The descendents of the Khwajas migrated to Khokand, and from 

there made repeated crusades to regain their lost dominion:
23

" 

The decline of the Chinese power in Kashgharia for the third 

time is a tt ri buted to the Dun·\an risings. The sanctity 

a ttached in Kashgharia to the K.1-twaja house, }Jlayed a con-

siderable role in overthrowinr; the Nanchu yoke. The watchword 

in Kashgharia had be en "·when Buzurg K..han mounts his steed, 

Altishehr shall be free 11 •
124·• J3uzurg \vas Jehangir's son. 

Jehangir had been executed by the Chinese in 1828. 

122. The Khwajas were the descendants of YJlwaja Ahrar, a 
celebrated saint of the fifteenth century Central Asia. 
In Kashgharia he held a considerable influence and one 
of the Khans of that region bestowed upon him an estate. 
His two sons Khwaja Kalian and Khwaja Issar Vali were 
the founders of two politico-religious groups of Ishkias 
and Isakias respecti vely, who la ter on were k:nm,m as 
Nont Al banians (White Nountaineers) and l·:ontenegrins 
(Black Hountaineers). 

123. Since the beginning of the 19th century the Khwajas 
had been making attempts at the conquest of Kashgharia. 
In 1825 Jehangir, in 1830 Yussuf, in 1846 Seven Khwaja 
brothers and in 1857 Vali lillan, invaded Kashghar, but 
none of them succeeded to establi~:Ü1 himself nermanentlp:. 

124. Wyllie, J.W.S. Essays on the exter~al nolicy of India 
bd. W.W. Hunter, London 1875. p.214. This is an 
article re-oroduced from The Edinburgh Review. "Western 
China" CXXVII 1868. 
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Nany factors contributed to the fall of the Chinese 

rule A 1tmve of reli,::ious resurgence in 

Kashgharia coming out of Chinese o~:;pre , and I\.ussian 

expansion in 1'Urldst:::m, were tl:1e major causes of the Dungan 

. 125. 
rebellion in Kashghar~a. The general decay of the 

Chinese Ernnire in the lJineteenth centurJ also made the 

insurgents wo easier in Kashgharia. Especially after 

the Taiping Rebellior~ (1850-64), the Nien Hebellion (1853-

68), t!1e Opiu:n vvar (1839-42), the lm?,lo-]1rench occupation 

of Canton (18 ) and the fall of Peking (1860), the hold 

of the Central Government over its distantly located nrov-
. 126. 

inces, van~shed. 

It was in 1862 that the Dun,:sans of Salar or IIocho\·1, in 

the province of Kansu, defied the Chinese authority. :&"'rom 

Kan su the spark s-oread throuc:;hout Kashgh.aria. Dun,c·ans 
~) 

of Kansu, having dedl9.red their indet1endence, sent their 

emissaries into Shensi and Zungaria. Risings started at 

, Uru.rnchi, Turfan and l''îanas, and all successfully over-

threw the Chinese authority, and established their independent 

goverr.:.m s. The v.rave of insurgence came to Yarkand in 

125. Forsyth, Sir T.D. Douglas. Report of the ;:,Iission to 
Yarkand in 1873, Calcutta 1875. p.201. 

126. Hu.1mel, A.vl. Eminent Chinese oi' the Ching Period: 
article on Tso Tsung-tang by Tu Lien-che: Washington, 
1944. p.765. 

""--""""""" ---------------
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1863, wherefrom it spread to Yangi Hissar, Kasl~har, Aksu, 

Khutan and Kucha. Everywhere the ri was successful. 

The Nanchu soldiery in most of the forts was put 

to the sword, died in defence, or committed suicide. 

Yangishehr v-ras the only place le ft in Chine se hands. 

fhe close of the Nanchu reign Kashgharia was followed 

by almost a dozen independent principalities. Eivalries 

and schisms novv erupted amone; the victors. i'he city of 

Kashg.har hecame a subject of dispute between the two es. 

0 . . t d "' d. B K. hi . . f t 1 127 • ne groupe 1nv1 e ôa 1q . eg, a urg z cn1e , o ru e. 

The latter invited Buzurg Khan from Khokand and Buzurg was 

accompanied by Yakoob Beg, the latter being a veteran soldier 

and a talented administrator. 

Buzurg and his party of sixty-eight persons left Khokand 

early 1865. The residents of Kashghar 'i·lelcomed s 

arrival and raised him to the throne. The subjugation of 

the v1hole of Kashgharia was under the 1üan of the nev1 IC..lTt·mja 

ruler, but he had neither will nor power to undertake it: 

hence it fell to the lot of Yakoob Beg. 

Yakoob Beg, born in 1820 at rishbek near Të.shkand, \·Tas 

the son of a Qazi and connected with the influential group 

127. Yuan. 11 Yakub Bep; and the Huslim H.ebellion in 
Chinese Turkistan". Central Asian Journal: The 
Hague and Wiesbaden vol. VI, June 1961. üee also an 
article in The Edinburgh Review "Eastern Turkistan" 
OXXXIX 1874. The account given in this article is not 
very accurate. 



- 210 -

at Khokand. He had suffered many t s during his 1 

before enterin~ the politica1 arena in Aashgharia. In 

1853 he was cor•unand of the 1l.k-Ivias.i id fort when i t w as 

1ost to huss In ~hokand, he never hesitated to ch 

to the v:innin~7 sida during the ooli ti cal contest between 
1 ') ~' 

Khudayar and his ve.rious ri vals from 1858 to 1865. '-'h 

.uuring various wars thet Yakoob had fought against the 

Russians, he had received five woufuds on his body. 

In the middle of 1865, Yakoob BeG set out to out an 

end to netty ootentates of Kashgharia. The first one he 

conquered w~s Yangishahr, then he ught the Dungans of 

Aksu, Kucha and Turgan, defeating them all at Yangi Hissar. 

This victory was follovved by the surrender of Y~;rkand to 

Yakoob. Then followed a rupture between Buzurg Khan and 

Yakoob. The former envied the growin:; influence of his 

lieutenant, while the latter hated the authority of a 

puppet ruler. In a battle th~t was fought at Yangi Hissar, 

Buzurg w.qs and arrested. The defeated ch was 

banished to Tibet, from whence he went to Necca via India 

:=md th en returned to Khokand. 

128. Forsyth. on. cit. pp.9B-99. See a1so Bou1~er, C.D. 
The Life of Yakoob ~eg, London 1878. Boulger's aocount 
is rnisleRdin~ and confused. His chronology is so 
poor. There is also an article in Thé ~estminster 
l>'.eview 11 'rhe La te Yaqub Ba:! of Kashghar", LIV. 1872;. 
Tn:l.Sis 3lso not :-J. systematic account. 

1?.9 • .;.:..o.L.I. 1369/5. Ladakh Diary, Oct. 12, 69. 
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Yakoob Beg was nov1 a ruler over the western part of 

Kashgharia. \'/ithin a year he carved out a state for 

himself. He held Kashghar, Yangi Hissar and Yarkand. 

Bath the rulers of Sirikol and Khotan in the south acknow­

ledged his authority.l30. 

The break up of the Chinese rule in Central Asia 

opened better prospects for Britain to establishe political 

and commercial lin1Œ wi th Kashgharia. Among the government 

officiais, Lumley was the first to turn the attention of 

the home government to this "extensive scale 11 movement on 

the borders of India, which he thought would not be without 
131. 

interest for the Government of India. But the govern-

ment of Sir John Lawrence in India did not show much aware-

ness of the situation. Efforts in India were made to 

familiarise the government and people of India Hith the new 

rulers of Kashgharia, but all such efforts were made on 

private and non-gover.nmental level. In August 1863, 

Captain T.G. Hontgomerie, the astronomical assistant in the 

Great Trignometrical survey of India, sent a native agent, 

Hohammad Hamid, to Yarkand. Hamid reached there on September 

130. Boulger op. cit. p.ll8. 

131. F.065/867. Lumley to Russell no. 55. Sept. 14, 64. 
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132. 
30, and spent six months in Yarkand. The next 

attempt to explore Kashgharia emanated from the same 

department. Vl.H. Johnson, a civil assistant, undertook 
135. 

a journey to K..'YJ.otan at his o\vn ri in the middle of 1865. 

Johnson visi ted Khotan on an invitation from lilian shah 

l'Iufti Habibullah, the ruler of Khotan.134 • Johnson's 

journey had a double purpose: to learn about the actual 

Russian position in Central Asia, and to knov1 the geographical 

135. Kh location of Khotan. Johnson reached otan during the 

last \.<fe of Septe:lJ.ber, 1865. ·vre.s v!ell recei ved by Khan 

Badshah, a man of eighty years of age whom he described as, 

"stout, well-built and of a very fair complexion 11 • The 

Khan had visi ted India in 1861 on his way to l·Iecca, and on 

his return had waged a successful ri against the Chinese, 

resul ting in his accession to the throne. Khan Bad shah \vas in 

great fear of Russia and earnestly looked for some assistance 

from outside. He ,,,anted to detain Johnson as a hosta;};e until 

132. Journal of the Royal Geographical ::~ociety. 11 0n the 
Geographical position of Yarkand and sone other -olaces 
in Central Asia", vol. XXXVI 1866. 

133. Journal of the hoyal GeograRhical Society. "Reuort of 
Johnson's Rourney to K'YJ.otan', vol. XXXVII 1867. 

134. Ibid. p.3. 

135. Ibid. 
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he received sone as stance from the Government of India.
136

• 

Johnson found the lands of Kh.otan fertile, and the mountains 

rich in minerals including gold and coal. He was much 

impressed with the native il.ospitality. He a1so found that 

the ruler of lillotan was keen to open trade relations vd th 

India.137 • 

Khan Badshah' s po si ti on in Khotan was shaky. was 

surrounded by 1:>owerfu1 enemies, i.e. Russia, China and 

Yakoob Beg. Barly in 1865 he had amJroached the Government 

of India, through the ru1er of Kashmir, for help, but the 

overture did not meet with approval from the Governrnent of 

India.138 • Johnson's vi t to lillotan and the assurru1ces he 

advanced of British assistance, encourac;ed the ruler of Khotan, 

who forwarded two letters to the Government of India, one 

throu[:;h Johnson and the other through his envoy, Juma Khan. 

Johnson, on his return to India, forv,rarded the Khotan 

letter to his governrnent, reco:m...'1!ending that the ruler of Khotan 

should be assisted with a supply of' small arms~39. The envoy 

Juma Khan, met the Lt. Governor of Punjab at Hattian. 

The letter that the 

136. Ibid. p.4. 

137. Ibid • p. 6 • 

138. E.S.L.I. 1866/I. Hemorandum on Iillotan pp.99-100. 

139. E.S.L.I. 1866/I. Goverlli!lent of l1mjab to India no. 
59-80. Feb. 5, 66. 
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envoy bore was an open request for supply of artisans and 

arms.140. The envoy then proceeded to Calcutta and met 

the Viceroy, Sir John Lawrence. The envoy in a written 

statement expressed the wishes of his ruler to enter into 

a treaty with the Government of India and repeated his 

request for help in the form of artisans and arms.141 • 

Lawrence, in his reply to the ruler of Khotan, expressed his 

inability to comply with the req_uests of the ruler of Khokan~~2 • 

In the meantime political events in Kashgharia were 

rapidly changing. The new ruler of Kashghar, Yakoob Beg, 

was a man of undaunted energy and great skill. In 1867 he 

took Khotan by a strat~gem. During the next three years, 

Yakoob subjugated the Dunsans to the north and east.143 • The 

surrender of Kohna Turfan in 1870 and the submission of 

~anas the same year extended his hold to the north-west. 

By the end of the year 1870 Yakoob Beg was the acknowledged 

master of the Muslim population in Kashgharia. 

In Britain, Johnson's visit to Khotan was highly commended. 

The president of the Royal Geographical Society called him "a 

true, bold and scientific manager of the expedition".l44. 

140. E.S.L.I. 1866/I. Ruler of Khotan to Viceroy, p.llO. 

141. E.S.L.I. 1866/I. Hemo op. cit. p.107. 

142. E.S.L.I. 1866/I. Viceroy to Ru1er of Khotan, Feb. 17, 
66. 

143. E .s .1 .I. 1871/8. Ladakh Diar;y:, January 23, 71. 

144. Proceedings of the Royal Geographica1 Society no. XI, 
1866-67. November 12, 66. p.11. 
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Raw1inson, in his paper on Johnson's trip to Khotan, 

described the journey as a work of great distinction.l45. 

Johnson's name appeared for many days in the columns of the 

London newspapers. 

Another enthusiast and adventurer 1ike Johnson,was 

Douglas Forsyth, who has been mentioned previous1y. Forsyth 

had visited Russia in 1864 and was present at a commercial 

fair at Nijni Novogorod. His on-the-spot observations 

convinced him that Britain had a good chance of competing 

with Russian products in Central Asia.146 • As a commissioner 

of the Jallandhur division, his jurisdiction extended over 

the outlying provinces of Kulu, Lahole and Spiti, all of 

them bordering on the states of Tibet and Ladakh. While on 

his regular visits to the border stations, he assessed the 

trade situation. He became convinced that the traditional 

trade bet,.,reen India and Kashgharia could be increased by 

offering positive encouragements to the merchants of the 
147. area. Forsyth a1so expressed a wish to visit Khotan; 

however, although Sir Stafford Northcote approvea,148 • 

Lawrence opposed it. 

145. Ibid. pp.6-11. 

146. Parliamentary Papers, XLVI 1869. p.487. 

147. ~· pp.487-9: also in Forsyth, Autobiography op.nit. 
pp.43-4. 

148. Par. Pap. op. cit. Secretary of State to Viceroy, 
March 7, 67. pp.491-2. 
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During the course of 1865-1866, the Government of the 

Punjab appointed a native agent at Ladakh to collect news 

on the swiftly changing political events in Kashgharia. 

The agent was also instructed to inspect the observance of 

the Indo-Kashmir agreement of 1864,under which the Kashmir 

authorities had to levy reduced duties on English import~~9 • 
Next year, on the recomn1endation of the Government of the 

Punjab, the Central Governn1ent approved the appointment of 

Doctor Cayley as Assistant Commissioner at Ladakh.150 • 

Also the ruler of Kashmir was instructed to lower its tariff 

duty to 5% on importa of English goods into Kashmir.151 • 

Oayley's reports from Ladakh showed that Yakoob Beg of 

Kashgharia had been taking keen interest in the promotion 

of trade in lris state. He imposed only a 2!% duty on 

imports,while export was free of any charge.152 •· During 

the su~er of 1868, Forsyth visited Ladalm and met both 

Kashghari traders and an official Kashghari representative, 

Mohammad Nazar, then visiting Kashmir. Forsyth lear.nt from 

the Kashghari representative that Yakoob Beg was eager to 

develop commercial ties with India. Forsyth immediately 

149. Par. Pap. L. 1867-68. Gover.nment of Punjab to Govern­
ment of India. Dec. 13, 66. pp.707-8. 

150. ~· Government of India to Punjab. J~~uary 22, 67. 
pp. 709-10: and Government. of Punjab to India, Sept. 
26, 67. p.716. 

151. ~- p.717. 

152. Ibid. Ladakh Diary. Sept. 24, 67. p.723. 
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reported the matter to the government. In his report he 

recommended the appointment of an Indian agent at Kashghar 

and the establishment of commercial i'airs in India.153 • 

Whitehall showed considerable interest in Forsyth's 

proceedings,and it showed willingness to sanction a 11moderate 

grant" for improving the trade routes between India and 

Central Asia. But the Viceroy, Lawrence, took less san-

guine a view of the opportunity. He thought that the roads 

to Kashgharia were hazardous, trade insignificant, the land 

distant and the problems of labour and transport insolubl~~4 • 

During the course of 1868-1869, three adventurers 

entered Kashgharia in purely private capacities. First 

among them was Robert Barkley Shaw (1839-1878), a tea planter 

in the Kangra Valley. Shaw reached Kashghar at the end of 

the year 1868. He was warmly received ·by Yakoob Beg, who 

showed considerable interest in promoting trade with India. 

During three interviews that Shaw had with Yakoob, the latter 

showed his hearty desire to live on friendly terms with the 

British Government. 11 Your Queen is like a sun", said the 

ruler of Kashgharia, 11which warms everything it shines upon. 

153. Par. Pap. XLVI 
Sept. 23, 68: 
pp.44-5. 

1868-69. Government of Punjab to India 
also in Forsyth, Autobiography op. cit. 

154. Par. Pap. XLVI 1868-69. Government of India to Punjab 
Oct. 28, 1868. 
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I am in co1d and desire that some o~ its rays shou1d 

~a11 upon me. I am very smal1 (showing the tip of his 

finger), a man of yesterday. In these fe\v years God has 

given me this great country. I am very glad that you have 

come.nl55. Shaw-described Kashgharia as a prospering state 

and a potential market for tea and calico. 

Simultaneously with Shaw's jour.ney, another traveler, 

G.vl. Hayward, entered Kashghar in Harch 1869. Yakoob met 

Hayward on the second day of his visit to the Kashgharian 

capital. Yakoob was glad to see him and expressed a hope 

that 11 the English in future would visit his countryn.156 • 

I~yward's account of Kashgharia, besides being of scientific 

value, provides rouch contemporary information on the politica1 

and commercial state of the territory. He pointed out that 

Kashgharia constituted a considerable market for tea. This 

market, he continued, had been monopolized by Russia, under 

the Russo-Chinese treaty of 1861. Russia lost the monopoly 

with the rise of the new Kashgharian government and was at 

th t t . tt t' t . •t b . t' 'd t' y k b 157 • a ~e a emp ~ng o rega~n ~ y ~n ~rn~ a ~ng a oo • 

155. Proceedings of the Royal 
to Yarkand ~nd Kashgharfl 
133: also in Shaw, R.B. 
1871. p.356. 

Geographical Society. "A visit 
by Shaw. XIV 1869-70. pp.l32-
Visit to High Tartary, London 

156. Journal of the Royal Geographical Societ*. 
journey from Leh to Yarkand and Kashghar • 
p.lOO. 

nHayward ' s 
XL 1870. 

157. Ibid. p.98. 
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Hayward noticed that· the Kashgharian market consisted of 

spices, sugar, tea, calico, leather and utensils, while it 

t 158. produced wool, gold, silver, cotton, silk, e c. 

The third visiter to Kashgharia during this period was 

Captain r-Iontgomerie's native agent, Hirza Shuja, who reached 

Kashghar in February 186~ and stayed there for more than four 

months. ~ürza had audiences with Yakoob Beg. He received 

the impression that the ruler of Kashgharia looked forward 

anxiously to establish commercial ties with India.159 • 

Equally active in India was Forsyth, who saw in Kashgharia 

not only a potential market, but a strategie post as well. 

He believed that Russian penetration into Kashgharia would 

threaten India more than their presence on the Amu. The 

latter was separated from India by barren lands, while 

Kashgharia provided al1 the wherewithal to the invader. 160 • 

The Himalayas were no longer impassable, Forsyth told a dis­

tinguished gathering in London. He even thought of linking 

Y k d b '1 d 'th I d' 161 • ar an y a raJ. -roa wJ. n J.a. 

These individual enterprises and initiatives received 

appreciation in Calcutta. La"vœence had been replaced by 

158. Ibid. p.l34. 

159. Journal of the Royal Geographical Society. "Report 
on rtirza' s exploration of Kashghar". XLI 1871. p .145. 

160. E.S.L.I. 1868/3. Forsyth :Hemorandum onE. Turkistan 
Oct. 7, 1868. 

161. Report and Transaction of British Society for Advancement 
of Sciences. "Trade Routes between Central Asia and 
Northern India" by Forsyth. 1869 p.l62. 
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J:.Iayo. To the latter leaving affairs alone on the north-

west of India was a policy which was "nei ther F".t11gli nor 

commercial 11 •
1 • Hayo, from an interview with 5havr, learnt 

that a ttnew country containing .•••••••• 3 or 4 million tea 
163 

drinking people" had been discovered. • Hayo, after 

l1aving learnt of the possibilities of the success the 

project under consideration, set out to persuade the ruler 

of Kashmir to secure a safe trade route to Kashgharia. A 

treaty was signed on Iv:ay 2, 1870 wi th the Huharaja of Kashmir, 

with the abject of improving trade relations with I~shgharia. 

Under the new treaty, Kashmir promised to levy no duty on 

goods in transit; and a trade route was to be selected 
164. 

which would remain 11a free highway in perpetuity". 

\'/hile negotiations for a treaty with Kas hm ir were in 

progress, an en voy from Yakoob Beg, Hirza Shadi, came to 

India. The en voy met Lord Hayo on l'>'Iarch 28, 1870. The 

object of the mi was to ouen friendly relations between 

the two govermnents to promote trade, to buy arms in Ind 

to persuade artisans to go to Kashghar, to invite an 

English officer to vi t Kashgharia, and to eeek 

162. Inverara~ Pauers 1870/I. OJ2• cit. Nayo to Argyll 
(private • June 2, 70. 

163. Inverara1 Papers 1869/I. on. cit. t::ayo to Argyll 
(private • July 2, 70. 

164. E.S.L.I. 1870/6. Anglo-Kashmir Treaty. pp.412-14. 
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advice as to Kashghar's dealings with its neighbours in 

1 d Ru . . t' ul 165. genera an ss1a 1n par 1c ar. 

Lord r.Iayo's reaction to the mission encouraged the 

envoy. The Viceroy in~ormed him that he was at perfect 

liberty to buy arms in India and induce artisans to go to 

Kashgharia. Concerning Kashghar's neighbours, Hayo advised 

Yakoob Beg to con~ine himself to maintaining internal order 

and stability and to avoid getting embroiled with other 

nations. This was the advice Mayo added, he had tendered 

to A~ghanistan, which was now free ~rom Russian violation o~ 

her borders. I1ayo reciprocated Yakoob' s ideas o~ promoting 

trade between the ~~o countries and at the end intimated 

that the Government o~ India was considering the possibility 

o~ appointing an English officer to accompany the envoy to 

T?.-. h h 166 o 
~s g ar. 

~~yo sent a letter to Yakoob to be delivered by the envoy 

on his return. He advised the Kashghar ruler to have 

"-v1atch~ul and vigorous internal government by strengthening 

the de~ences o~ your frontier 11 and to abstain from the con-
. 167. 

~licts beyond h1s borders. 

165. E.S.L.I. 1870/6. Intervie\·1. pp. 343-46. 

166. Ibid. 

167. E.S.L.I. 1870/6. Viceroy to Ruler of Kashghar, April 
4, 70. 
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It was finally decided to send a British officer to lead 

a mission to the Kashghar Court,and Douglas Forsyth was 

a~pointed to the post. His instructions emphasised avoid-

ing discussion on political affairs, but to concentrate on 

commercial objectives. Forsyth was requested to study the 

prospects of trade in that part of the world and to recon~end 

t . 168. measures necessary for i s promot1on. 

Forsyth set out for Kashghar in the summer of 1870. 

His mission consisted of seventeen men including Robert Shaw. 

The party reached Yarkand on August 28. Unluckily, Yakoob 

Beg had had to go to the eastern frontiers to suppress a 

Dungan rising in the cities of Turfan and Urumchi. Forsyth 

waited for a fortnight, and realising Yakoob's engagement 
169. 

was indefinite, left Yarkand on September 5, 1870. 

Yakoob Beg lear.nt with regret of the departure of Forsyth 
170. from Yarkand. As no further word reached him from India, 

he despatched another envoy, Syed Ahrar Khan Tura, to India 

in the Fall of 1871. At Calcutta, Syed Tura met the Viceroy 

and both the comL1ercial and political objects of his visit 

were discussed. The envoy expressed a fear that his ruler 

168. Ibid. Government of India to Punjab. no. 5A. April 14, 
1870. 

169. Par. Pap. LI. 1871. 
Yarkand. pp.619-65: 
ill· p.74. 

Forsyth Report of the Mission to 
also in Forsyth Autobiography 2E• 

170. Proceedings of the Government of Punjab 1871/141. 
Governor of Ladakh to Ruler of Kashmir, Aug. 71. p.891. 
(Hereafter cited as P.G.P.) 
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was harbouring a fear of Russia. He went on to point out 

that Russian occupation of Kulja constituted a great threat 

to Kashgharia. 1 71 • On his v1ay homeward at Lahore, the 

envoy requested a return visit of an English officer.172 • 

The Government of Punjab requested the Central Government 

to exploit this opportunity by sending a fresh envoy to 

Kashghar. But Mayo's successor at Fort William did not 

look favourably on the idea and postponed the proposai for 

t t . 173. a more oppor une 1me. 

Russo-Kashghar affairs at this time present a very 

interesting contrast to those of Anglo-Kasl~har relations. 

The Russians looked upon Yakoob Beg as a rebel and usurper 

of the Ohinese dominion in Central Asia, while Yakoob looked 

upon them also as usurpers and aggressors in Central Asia. 

In addition, he was afraid of them. For this reason he 

banned Russian merchants from his territory.174 • General 

Von Kaufmann, on his part, was also getting worried about 

Yakoob's friendly overtures to England. As a safety measure 

against Anglo-Kashghar hostility, Kaufmann fortified in 1868 

171. E.S.L.I. 1872/11. Interview. Dec. 25, 71. pp.381-85. 

172. E.S.L.I. 1872/12. Government of Punjab to India no. 
471. April 13, 72. 

173. Ibid. Government of India to Punjab no. 992. p. 
April 23, 72. 

174. Schuyler II op. cit. p.317. 
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175. 
the Valley of Narain on the Russo-I<ashghar border. 

This further increased fear in Kashgharia of the ill-

intentions of the northern neighbour. The same year, 

Yakoob sent his envoy, Hirza Shadi, to Tashkand. Kaufmann 

had left for St. Petersburg and Hirza Shadi followed him 

th 176. ere. 

At St. Petersburg, Mirza Shadi was given the draft of 

a commercial treaty to take to Kashghar and to be ratified 

by his ruler. But Yakoob refused to enter into any treaty 

engagement until the boundary line was demarcated between 

the two states. Yakoob had an eye on the Valley of Narain, 

which had been a part of Kashgharia. 

Forsytl1's visit to Yarkand in 1870 and Yakoob's occupation 

of Turfan the same year alarmed Kaufmann, who deemed i t 

necessary to occupy Kulja (Ili) - the only link of Russian 

trade and influence between Alma Ata and Urumchi, Hamil and 

Peking. The occupation of Kulja by Yakoob, the Russian 

strategists thought, would extend British influence to the 

whole of Zungaria and would open, not only Russian Turkistan, 

175. Terentyef I[op. cit. p.263. By the treaty of Peking, 
the Valley of Uarain had been assigned to Russia. 

176. F.065/869. Buchanan to Stanley no. 279. Dec. 2, 68. 
Captain Reinthal in the meantime was sent to Kashghar. 
Reinthal was much impressed by Yakoob's administration. 
It was at the receipt of Reinthal's report that I1irza 
Shadi was invited to St. Petersburg. See Reinthal 
Re~ort in Letters to India 1870/12. 
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but even Siberia to British hostile penetration. General 

G.A. Kolpakovski occupied Kulja in August 1871. 

This was one of the major reasons for despatching Syed 

Ahrar Khan Tura to India. In the meantime, Kaufmann 

devised another move. The Russian attempted to induce 

Khudayar, Khan of Khokand, to use his sovereign rights over 

Yakoob Beg and to invade Kashgharia,annexing it to the 
. . 177. t' 

dom~n~on of Khokand. It \vas a great tempta ~on. But 

it would not have been popu1ar among the subjects of Khudayar. 

The latter presented his services for mediation and sent an 

envoy to the Kashghar Court counsel1ing Yakoob Beg to 
. 178. a:ppease Russ~a. But Yakoob refused to be bullied. 

He dismissed the idea of mediation and requested Kaufmann to 

approach him direct1y if the latter wished to settle the 

points in dispute. 

A Russian mission under Baron Kaulbars was sent to 

Kashghar. The abject of the mission was to sign a commercial 

treaty vli th Yakoob. Russian forces in the meantime were 

deployed on the Kashgharian border, to be used if the mission 

failed in its object.179 • Yakoob we1comed the mission to 

177. E.S.L.I. 1869/5. Ladakh Tiiary Aug. 24, 69. Cayley 
learnt this intelligence in 1869 from Nirza Shuja: also 
see Schuyler II op. ci,!. p.320. 

178. Schuyler II. op. cit. p.320. 

179. Ibid. p.32l: Terentyef I op. cit. p.282. 
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his Court, but refused to negotiate a treaty under the 

threat of war.180 • Russian troops were withdrawn from the 

border. T~e Russo-Kashghar treaty was sig.ned on June 22, 

1872. The treaty lm·1ered the duties on Russian goods to 

a uniform rate of 2~~and its main result was to open the 

state of Kashgharia to Russian trade and merchants. 

The Russo-Kashghar treaty created great anxiety in 

England. Since the visits of Shaw, Hayward and Forsyth to 

Kashgharia, it had become a centre of scientific and cultural 

discussion in London. Books, articles and lectures, many of 

which have been mentioned in this chapter appeared on the 

inhabitants and the state of Kashgharia. To satisfy the 

interest of the curious English public, the Crystal Palace 

arranged a nyarkand Courttr from the collections of the various 
181. 

visitors to Kashgharia. Half of the annual medals of the 

Royal Geographical Society during this period went to the 

explorers of this area of Central Asia.182 • 

Kashgharia was considered as the future market for English 

commerce. This market vras lost wh en Russia imposed i t s tenns 

180. Schuyler II op. cit. p.321. 

181. Forsyth. Autobiography op. cit. p.77. 

182. See for the prizes and medals the Proceedings of the 
Royal Geographical Society, 1866-73. 
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on the ruler of that state. Britain had failed to avail 

herself of an opportuni ty when i t arose, l'ras the op~n~on 

of Robert Shaw as expressed in the columns of The Times.183 • 

The government was approached to safe-guard the mercantile 

interest of the country. The Derby, Bedford, and Nanchester 

Chambers of Commerce, sent their memoranda. to the Foreign 

office and the India office, requesting the two governments 

not to miss any more opportunities for opening regular trade 

with Kashgharia.184 • The Society for the Encouragement of 

Art, Ivlanufacturers and Commerce sent on April 25, 1873 its 

twenty-three man deputation, led by its Chairman, Major-

General Erdley Wilmot, to the Duke of Argyll, the Secretary 

of State for India. The deputation presented an eleven-

clause memorandum to the Duke, emphasising the importance of 

trade with Central Asia in general and Kashgharia in 

particular. It requested the government to sign a commer-

cial treaty with Kashgharia on the basis of most-favoured 

nation.185• 

The Government of India itself was keen to promote both 

183. Times. January 25, 73. p.6. c.2. 

184. F.065/876-879. Derby Cha~ber of Con~erce Memorandum 
on March 24, 73. 

185. Journal Society of Arts and Institutions in Union, XXI 
1873. 
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commercial and political relations with the ruler of 

Ka.shgharia. Lord Nayo wanted to see Kashgharia as a 

strong buffer state on the north of India between Russia 

and England in Central Asia. In 1871 he took Robert Shaw 

into the government service and appointed him joint 

commissioner at Ladakh. Shaw ~delded a considerable influence 

in Kashgharia and was deeply interested in the establishment 

of greater intimacy between England and Kashgharia. The 

Government of India had been urging the home government to 

make it knovn1 to St. Petersburg that Kashgharia was beyond 

Russia's sphere of influence:186 • it even requested White­

hall to get the boundaries of Kashgharia defined in collabo­

ration with St. Petersburg.187 • Forsyth, during his 

conversation with the Russian authorities in 1869, had given 

them an impression that Britain would not be indifferent to 

Ru · · Ka ,_ h · 188 • B th L 1 d ss~an aggress~on on s11g ar~a. o um ey an 

Buchanan had been assured of the peaceful intentions of 

Russia towards Kashgharia.189· 

186. E.S.L.I. 1872/12. Viceroy to Secretary of State no. 
54, July 18, 72: and Par. Pap. LVI 1878-79 no. 22. 
Viceroy to Secretary of State, June 30, 73. 

187. Par. Pap. LXXX 1878 no. 10/1. Viceroy to Secretary of 
State, June 30, 73. 

188. F.065/871. Forsyth to Buchanan in no. 222. Nov. 2, 69. 

189. F.065/868 no. 19 and 27: F.065/871 no. 273. 
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It was in the beginning of 1873, that Syed Yakub Khan 

Tura, a nephew of the ruler of Kashgharia and a statesman 

of great ability, reached India. He was proceeding on a 

mission to Constantinople. He was met bath by the Viceroy 

Lord Northbrook and his foreign secretary, Charles Aitchison. 

The envoy was asked whether he had authority to conclude a 

formal treaty engagement with the Government of India. 

The envoy regretted that he was unable to do this but 

suggested that the matter be referred to his ruler, though 

he showed his personal willingness to enter into preliminary 

negotiations.190 • It is hard to say from which side the 

initiative came.l9l. 

But one point is clear the Government of India was 
192. 

willing to enter into a conunercial treaty wi th Kashgharia. 

The Queen herself, in her letter sent by Forsyth in 1873, 

expressed the view that "the pro,secution of comnercial 

intercourse \'li th all parts of the '\'lOrld •••• is one of the most 

cherished objects of the British Government and the British 
lt 193. people • It was, however, arranged tha t Syed Yakub 

on his retur:n from Constantinople, would be accompanied by 

190. E.S.L.I. 1873/14. Interview. Feb. 27 and March 28, 
73. pp.553-58. 

191. Ibid. p.554. 

192. E.S.L.I. 1873/14. Viceroy to Secretary of State no. 30. 
r~rarch 14' 73 • 

193. Letters to India. 1873/5. Queen to ruler of Kashghar 
July 18, 73. 
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a British mission to conclude the treaty. 

Syed Yakub's proceedings in Constantinople delayed him 

for a while. The Viceroy sent 11 several pressing telegrams" 

to Elliot requesting him to expedite Yakub's departure from 

Turkey. In the meantime, the British mission to the Court 

of Kashghar, again headed by Forsyth, was staffed and 

equipped better than the first. The mission consisted 

altogether of three hundred men and four hundred mules. 194 • 

The mission left India during the early Fall of 1873. At 

Shahidula it was joined by Syed Yakub. It reached Kashghar 

on December 4. On Feb. 2, 1874 the Anglo-Kashghar Treaty 

of Commerce was signed.195 • The treaty allowed the British 

subjects to enter, reside and trade in Kashgharia. Import 

duties in Kashghar were fixed at 2i%. A house for the 

British embassy was provided in Kashghar and Forsyth requested 

his government to send an envoy to take charge of his 
196. 

diplomatie assignments. The mission left the capital 

after staying there for four months. 

The treaty of 1874 was a landmark in Anglo-Kashghar 

relations. More than anything else it led to a considerable 

194. Forsyth. Report op. oit. pp.l-3. 

195. E.S.L.I. 1874/17. Ang1o-Kashghar Treaty. pp.768-771. 

196. E.S.L.I. 1874/17. Forsyth Report from Kashghar. Feb. 
2' 74. 
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increase of trade between the two countries. In 1873 

the import-export between the two countries was estimated 

to be Rupees 17,76,729; next year it increased to Rupees 

20,10,932, and during the year 1875 this trade stood at 

Rupees 21,60,789.197 • A Central Asian Trading Company 

was formed by some of the Civil servants and wealthy natives 

in 1874, with exclusive object of monopolising Kashgharian 

t d 198. ra e. 

197. P.G.P. 1874/144. Ladakh Diary, April 13, 74: P.G.P. 
18767859. Ladakh Diary, April 26, 76. 

198. The manager of the Company was T. Russel and his 
assistant was Da1gleish. 
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Russian Conquest of Khiva. 

Khiva or Khwarizm
1

' was the first object of Russian 

conquest in Central Asia, but all their attempts to occupy 

that state, prior to 1873, ended in fiasco. Diplomatie 

relations between the states are traced back to the 

Fourteenth century, but actual intercourse started in 1557 

when an envoy from Khiva attended Ivan's Court. 2 • A 

native report that the sand of the ~~u contained gold in 

it led Czar Peter the Great to send the traeic expedition 

of Prince Bekovich Charkaski in 1716-1717. 3 • Doctor 

Blankengal,a Russian physician who visited Khiva in 1793, 

gave another exaggerated account of Khiva's "rich and in­

exhaustible gold and silver mines.n 4 • Hence Russia made 

another attempt in 1839, again resulting in failure. 

1. Khi'larizm in old Persian means "east\11/'ard 11 • Khwarizm 
once formed a mighty empire in the middle ages. Its 
ruler Ala ud Din (1200-1220) seized Kashgharia, Samarqand, 
Bokhara, Ballm, Khorassan and Nazandaran. Chaneez Khan 
valued the friendship of the Khwarizmshahi rulers. In 
the later years it became an appanage of the house of 
Juji (son of Changez). Khiva did not form properly the 
Khanate of Tranxotiana. It was Temur who attached it 
to his dominion. At the collapse of Temur's Empire an 
independent Uzbek Khanate was established at Khiva in 
about 1515. 

2. Hichell op. cit. p.536. 

3. ~· pp.538-39. 

4. Spalding on. cit. p.l25. 
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However, in 1842 a commercial treaty was signed between 

Russia .qnd Khiva, but it came to nothing, though the 

exchanp;e of envoys between the two Courts was retsularly 

maintainect. 5• 

Russian entrenchment in the Sar Daria around the middle 

of the Nineteenth century, created anxiety in Khiva. The 

latter state had established its settlements on the southern 

banks of the Sar in 1825, had subjugated the Kazaks of the 

region, and had erected several forts around the year 183o. 6· 

To the west of the ltussia.n fort Perovski and to the south 

e=tst of Fort No. 2. (Karmakchi), v1as situated the Khivan 

Fort of Khwaja Niaz (knovm after its first gov;::rnor). 

It occupied a strategie position, control1ing the trade 

route between Bokhara and Orenburg. 

it in 1S56. 7· 

The Hussians occupied 

During the Nineteenth century, the dynasty of Inak 

Iltizar was ru1ing over Khiva. To the nussians the ru1ers 

5. Khivan envoys to rlussia came in 1557, 63, 1566, 15S3, 
1700, 1703, 1714 1750, 1837 and 1857. rtussia sent 
i1 rince Bekovich (1717), Col. Herzenberg (1731), Lt. 
uladish6v, Mouraviz and Nazenof (1741), Ur. Blankengal 
(1793), Capt. Monrasvief (1819), Gen. ~erovski (1839), 
Capt. Nikiphorof (1841), Lt. Col. Denilevski (1842). 
ûf these envoys and expeditions, Col. Herzenberg was 
not allowed to enter Khiva, G~neral Perovski's expedition 
failed to reache Khiva, and trince Bekovich's party was 
massacred in Khiva. 

6. I'-'Iichell .Q.P...!-Cit. pp.Jl8-l9. 

7. Ibid. 
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. 8. 
of this dynasty were "usurpers 11 who had dethroned the 

legitimate rulers of Khiva. 9• Hm.vever, Syed Mohammad 

Khan, the ruler of Khi va (1856-18.64 ), deputed an ambassador 

to St. Petersburg in 1857, announcing his accession to the 

throne and to congratulate Czar Alexander II on his 

accession.10 • Ignatiev's mission to Ithiva initially found 

the Khan co-operative to Russian proposals to enter into a 

commercial alliance. These proposals were upset firstly by 

the arrival of a third steamship to the two already stationed 

in the Amu, then by the 11manoeuvering 11 of the steamer Perovski 

in the river, and finally by the protection provided to a 

Persian slave on the deck of that ship.
11

" Ignatiev was 

highly annoyed at the failure of his mission. He oalled 
12 Khiva a 11den of robbers", • and wrote to Katenin,the 

8. Board Drafts 1857/22. Wodehouse to Clarendon (copy) 
Oct. 2, 57. General Kovalesky, the Director of the 
Asiatio Department called them 11usurpers 11 in an inter­
view with Wodehouse. 

9. Since the year 1700 when Shahniaz Khan the ruler of 
Khiva (1687-1702) sent his envoy to Peter, Khiva was 
he1d to have acknovfledged Russian over1ordship. 
Shahniaz was succeeded on the throne by Arab Hohd. II 
in 1702, Abul Khair in 1741, lfoor Ali and Haib Khan in 
1770. They were a11 Kirghiz subjects of Russia ruling 
over Khiva. 

ID. lv1ichell op. cit. p.552. 

ll.Edwards. Russian projects op. cit. p.202: Khalfin 
op. cit. pp.45-49. 

~. F.065/867. Napier to Russell no. 272. Aug. 26, 61. 
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Governor-General of Orenburg,saying that to expect any 

consideration or respect from Khiva for an international 

agreement was a farce.13 • 

Of the three Uzbek states of Turkistan, Britain was 

more interested in Khiva than Khokand or Bokhara. Full y 

aware of the three main Russian expansionist attempts, 

namely the Cossack expedition in the Seventeenth century, 

Bekovich's in the Eighteenth century, and Perovski's in the 

Nineteenth century, Britain feared that Khiva would be the 

first victim to succumb in Central Asia. Hence in 1840 

two British officers, Captain James Abbot and Richmond 

Shakespeare were sent to Khiva to advise the Khan on the 

policy to be pursued in regard to his powerful enemy. 

Again in 1859, a native agent, Bajab Ali was sent to Khiva 

by the British Legation in Persia, with the object of learning 

the actual state of political affairs in Central Asia.14 • 

Rajab Ali stayed for two years in Khiva, and on his retur.n 

submitted a detailed report on the Russian position in Central 

Asia with respect to Khiva; he also brought a letter from the 

Khan addressed to the British Minister at Teheran, in \·fhich 

the Khan had expressed his great apprehension at the Russian 

13. Khalfin op. cit. p.55. 

14. F.060/237. Stanley to Doria no. 28 and 32. May 5 and 
June 2, 59. respectively. 
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expansion in Turkistan.15· 

The Adaef' Kazaks inhabiting the southern banks of the 

Sar Daria were the subject of dispute between Russia and 

Khi va. The Adaef had ackno\'lledged the au tho ri ty of both 

Khiva and Russia. The latter had subjected them to a 

nominal tribute since 1850, but they had always defied this 

authority and occasionally plundered the Russian territory 

and carried off Russian subjects as prisoners. Khiva was 

also a potential market for Adaef goods. This situation 

itself was embarrassing for the Khan of &~iva. To over-

come a future misunderstanding, the Khivan authorities had 

suggested to Ignatiev in 1858 that the boundary line bet\"een 

the two states be def'ined. This pro9osition was not 

acceptable to the Russian authorities and Ignatiev dismissed 

the YJmn' s request, calling the demarcation of the boundaries 

. . bl . t 16 • an ~mposs~ e proJec • 

It is interesting to note that Khiva on her part never 

sent any expedition against Russian territory, nor directly 

encouraged the capture of Russian subjects, on the contrary 

Russian prisoners sold in Khiva had been well looked after 

in that state.17 • Also during the Russo-Bokharan war, 

15. F.060/237. Alison to Russell no. 14. January 30, 61, 
and its enclosure. Rajab Ali's account, as pointed out 
by Alison exaggerated the Russian conquest. 

16. Terentyef II op. oit. p.l60. 

17. Schuyler I op. cit. pp.49-50. 
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Khiva is reported to have remained peaceful and abstained 

from interference in the struggle even when requested for 

h 1 b B '::h 18. e p y oT ara. 

After the subjugation of Khokand and Bokhara, Russia 

turned tO\•rards Khi va. But the latter state was not easily 

approachable. It was distantly situated and separated by 

vast deserts from Tashkand six hundred miles away, and from 

Orenburg nine hundred and thirty miles away.l9. The closest 

base for any operation against Khiva was the Caspian, and 

since 1837, Russia had been endeavouring to establish it­

self in this area. During 1837-1<338, the island of Ashurda 
20 

\VUS captured. • In 1864 a fort vras erected at the mou th 

of the Attrek. 21 • The following year it was decided to 

erect a fort on the eastern coast of the Caspian in the Bay 

of Krasnovodsk22 • which vlOuld short en the distance to Khi va 

to five hundred miles. 

A fortification at Krasnovodsk was very popular '"i th the 

Ru . t"l 1 23 • ss~an mercan ~ e c ass. In the beginning of 1869 the 

"Society for Promotion of Russian Trade and Industry 11 got an 

18. Terentyef II on. oit. p.l55. 

19. Schuyler II on. cit. p.335. 

20. Raw1inson. England and Russia on. oit. p.l40. 

21. F.065/867. Alison to Russell no. 123 (copy) Nov. 30, 64. 

22. F.065/867. Buchanan to Russell no. 85. Harch 3, 65. 

23. Another idea nonular at this time was to restore the Amu 
to its ancient bed. It is said that the Amu used to flow 
into the Caspian sea. 
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expert opinion on this "shortest land track" to Central 

Asia and submitted it in the form of a memorandum to the 

government.24 • The memorandum requested the government 

to occupy the Bay of Krasnovodsk, for this would guarantee 

a firmer hold on Central Asia and the Caspian. Buchanan's 

intelligence indicated that the St. Petersburg authorities 
25. approved the scheme. The British ambassador then 

approached Gortchakov for the verification of the report, 

which the latter confirmed and added that the establishment 

at Krasnovodsk would be confined to a small factory. To 

another query, the Russian Chancellor replied that the 

Turkomans of the Caspian region were neither subject to 

Persia nor ~1iv~ but were independent tribes. 26 • Gortchakov 

positively denied any intention of using the Krasnovodsk Bay 

as a base of operation against Khiva. 27• 

At the end of 1869, Colonel N.G. Stolietov landed his 

forces at Krasnovodsk and occupied it without any resistance. 28 • 

24. Letters to India 1870/2. Michell's Report on Krasnovodsk 
Bay. Narch 25, 70: F.065/871 no. 73.-

25. F.065/871. Buchanan to Clarendon no. 215. Nov. 1, 69. 

26. Ibid. 

27. F.065/871. Buchanan to Clarendon no. 261. Dec. 1, 69. 

28. F.065/871. Buchanan to Clarendon no. 92. Dec. 14, 69. 
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The Ru~sian authorities throughout the year of 1869 

denied having any intentions of opening hostilities against 

Khi va. The r~Iichell Brother~ intelligence indicated that a 

formidable army was being equipped for 11 serious military 

action" against Khiva in the Spring of 1870. Robert J:.li chelL) 

attached to the India office, and translater of many Russian 

accounts ·on the subject of Central Asia, visited Russia in 

1869 and went up to Orenburg. His findings showed that 

serious consideration was being given to despatching an 

expedi tian against Khi va. 29 • His brother Thomas Ivlichell, 

the British consul at St. Petersburg and another author of 

numerous works on Central Asia, in the meantime made the 

acquaintance of General Heymenn, the proposed commander of 

the expedition of twenty-five thousand troops to K.hiva. 

Thomas learnt that General Heymenn '\rJ'Ould launch his expedi­

tion against Khiva in February 1870 from Krasnovodsk Bay. 30 • 

Gortchakov was somewhat embarrassed to l~ow that the 

proceedings had leaked out. 31 • He renev1ed once again his 

assurances of peaceful intent,and bath he and StremoUL~ov 

added that the restoration of the Amu to its old bed had been 

under the consideration of the Russian Gover.nment for some 

29. F.065/871. Buchanan to Clarendon no. 251. Nov. 18, 69. 

30. Ibid. Same to same no. 295 (enclosure) Dec. 29, 69. 

31. Ibid. Same to same no. 295. Dec. 29, 69. 
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time now. 32 • 

Since his arrival in Tashkand, General Kaufmann had 

be en in correspondence wi th Syed I'Iohammad Rahim the nev.r 

Khan (1864-1890) of Khiva. Kaufmann in his first letter 

to the Khan on December 1, 1867, advised the latter to 

punish border robbery and excursions. 33 • Khiva replied 

to tlris letter in February 1868, promising to do so if the 

offenders were caught and requesting the general to do the 

same on his frontiers.3 4 • But to attain peace in the 

Steppe region was a chimera. Since 1824, the Kazaks had 

been grumbling against the Russian administrative reforms. 

During that year, the Khanate held by the house of Abul 

~1air was abolished, and the Steppe was divided into three 

districts, each under the authority of a Sultan Regent. 35 • 

This division had destroyed the Kazaks tribal distinctions, 

their right of land-holding, and the aristocratie structure 

of their society. The Kazaks had showed their resentment 

to the new system in their risings under Syrem, Kenisar and 

Izat Kutebar. 36 • The Russian reforms of 1869 in the 

Steppe region, further excited the Kazaks. Under the nelrt 

reforms the land of the Lesser Hordes was put under the 

32. Ibid. 

33. Terentyef II op. cit. p.l57. 

34. illi· p.l58. 

35. Schuyler I op. oit. 

36 • Ibid. p. 32 • 

.31-32. 
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t 1 f Ru · 'l' t 37 • el ct· con ro o ss1an ml 1 ary gover.nors, an e 1on 
38. 

system was introduced, and taxes were raised on each tent. 

The influential section of the populace - the Khans and 

the Hullas, whose position had been most affected by the 

new system - stirred up a rising early in 1870. 39 • General 

Kaufmann blamed the Khan of Khiva for instigating the 

Kazaks to rise, but contemporary chroniclers completely 

b 1 Kh
. 40. 

a so ve 1va. 

Kaufmann wrote two letters to the Khan of Khiva on 

August 24 and October 2, 1869, war.ning him of the consequences 

f . t' t· th K k . t Ru ' 41 • I h' th' d o 1ns 1ga 1ng e aza aga1ns ss1a. n 1s 1r 

letter1 written on January 30, 1870, Kaufmann adopted "more 

decided terms 11 and sent the Khan an ul timattun of ami ty or 

enmity, with no middle position. The proposal for amity 

was couched in terrns of a request to the Khan to open his 

state to Russian merchants. 42 · The Khan replied to the 

37. ~- p.33. 

38. Terentyef II op. cit. pp.l68-69. 

39. Schuyler I op. cit. p.33. 

40. Schuyler reproduces a letter of Gen. Charnaiev published 
in Ruski Mir of Feb. 2 (14) 1875, shovring that Khi va had 
no hand in the rising of the Steppe. (Schuyler II 2.P.!. 
cit. p.331). Neither is Terentyef definite on this 
point (Terentyef II op. oit. p.l99.) 

41. Terentyef II op. cit. pp.l76-77. 

42. Ibid. p.l89: F.065/872. Buchanan to Clarendon no. 104. 
Harch 22, 70. 
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first two letters in March 1870, expressing his amiable 

intentions, with an explanation that Khiva had never 

committed any aggression on Russian territory. The 

Russian prisoners then held in Khiva, the letters explained, 

had been brought by the nomad Kazaks to that city, and that 

the prisoners would be released soon. The Khan also re-

quested that an end be put to the infiltration of Russian 

troops into Khivan territory. 43 • 

Kaufmann replied to these letters on April 6, 1870. 

He claimed that, all the terri tory on the Yani Daria (a 

branch of the Sar) as far as Akchakul belonged to Russia, 

while the area of the Bukan Mountains, and the whole road from 

Kizil Kum to Irkabai, belonged to Bokhara, the latter now 

being subject to Russia. Renee Kaufmann asserted his claim 

to the area immediately south of the Sar. In addition he 

asked for the immediate release of the Russian prisoners. 44 • 

On April 26, the Khan replied to Kaufmann's letter of 

January 30, and complained against the Russian occupation 

of Krasnovodsk. The Khan trusted that Czar Alexander II 

would be as peaceful as his ancestors, and hoped that the 

paramountcy of his position would not lead him to encroach 

upon his neighbours; the great sovereigns, the Khan said 

43. Terentyef II op. oit. pp.l90-91. 

44. ~· p.l93. 
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"are not aggressors", that if the Czar wanted ta make 

war, let i t be lmown to him that battles \vere decided by 

Gad, and Russia might be mistaken in her confidence of 

victory. 45 • 

In the meantime the rising in the Steppe had been 

suppressed,and Kaufmann realized that Khiva's turn for 

subjugation had come. The Tashkand authorities believed 

that Khiva, whom Kauf'mann termed as tlmineur", should be 

reduced to submission by force. 46 • General Milyutin, the 

Ninister of War, in his letter of l•Iarch 25, 1870, approved 

the Taslùcand proposa1, 47 • and Kaufmann closed all further 

correspondance with Khiva. 48 • 

At St. Petersburg a considerable re-orientation in the 

type of explanations given to Britain began to occur. 

Grumbling against Khiva was started along the lines that 

Khiva had instigated the Kazaks, that the Khan had addressed 

Kaufmann insolently; that the Khan had refused ta reply to 

Kaufmann's letters, and that the Khan's proceedings were 

injutbus ta the promotion of trade. 49 • Buchanan was told 

45. F.065/872. Buchanan ta Clarendon no. 219. June 15, 70: 
Terentyef as given in Schuyler II op. cit. p.421. 

46. F.065/872. Buchanan ta Clarendon no. 125. April 6, 70: 
Terentyef II 0}2· cit. p.l94. 

47. Terentyef II 012• cit. pp.l94-95. 

48. ~· p.201. 

49. F.065/872. Buchanan to Clarendon no. 85. (March 8, 70), 
no. 122 (April 5, 70), and no. 213 (June 14, 70). 
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told that the Khan deserved punishment, and an expedition 

against Khiva would be despatched from Turkistan and 

Krasnovodsk. 50 • Stremoukov substi tuted the 'l.·mrd 
51. 

"reconnaissance" for "expedition" against K..hiva. These 

explanations convinced Buchanan that "the prospect of his 

(the Khan' s) retaining his independence do es not hm.,rever 

appear to be very satisfactoryn.
52 • 

Impending Russian hostility against the Khanate of Driva 

was looked upon \Vith great apprehension by the British. 

K.E. Abbot, the British Consul-General at Odessa, opined 

that the Russian occupation of Khiva would ultimately 

disturb "our ••• quiet possession of India 11 • Abbot believed 

that Khiva's intee;rity was a "matter of vital importance" 

for the British position in the East. 53 • I.S. Lumley, the 

British Minister at Brussels, learnt of the Russian expedition 

from an Austrian officer who was leaving to join the 

expedition against Khiva. His estimate was that the Russian 

occupation of Khi va v1ould 11 increase to an enormous extent 

the aggressive power of Russia for action against Persia, 

50. F.065/872. Bucha."l.an to Granville no. 584. Dec. 28, 70. 

51. F.065/873. Buchanan to Granville no. 104. r;lay' 24, 71. 

52. F.065/872. no. 122. O:Qo ci t. 

53. S.H.C. 1871/67. Abbot to Grru1ville no. 13 (copy) March 
14, 71. 
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Afghanistan and even British Indian. 54 • Anxiety was also 

felt in Parliament over the Russian concentration of troops 

against the state of Khiva. 55 • Equally alarmed was the 

Government of India. The Viceroy sent a telegram on May 

25, 1871, followed by a despatch the next day, stating the 

apprehension felt in Afghanistan and on the frontiers of 

India over the hostile proceedings of Russia. The Govern-

ment of India hoped that "H.:H. Government will lose no 

opportunity of stating in the most unmistakable terms their 

clear disapproval of such a course as inimical to British 

interest and calculated seriously to imperil the peace of 

the East 11 .56 • The India:. office suggested the sending of a 

confidential agent from Teheran to Khiva, with presents for 

the Khan, to know the actual state of affairs. 57 • 

~he proposed Russian expedition to Khiva in 1871, was 

not executed that year. The British intelligence reported 

54. Ibid. Lumley to Granville no. 114 (copy). April 16, 71. 

55. ffiL~sard. Co~~ons. CCV 1871. April 18, 71. 0 1241. 

56. E.S.L.I. 1871/8. Viceroy to Secretary of State no. 28. 
nay 26, 71. The I.O. forwarded the Viceroy's telegram 
to F.O. on Hay 26, requesting he get Rtlssian assurances 
of abstention in the affairs of Afghanistan. ]1 .0. 
directed Buchanan on the subject (F .065/873. no. 79. !I'Iay 
29' 71). 

57. S.H.C. 1871/3. I.O. to F.O. July 1, 71. But the 
proposal '"as disapproved by the Government of India. 
Therefore no agent \'ras sent. 



- 246 -

that Kaufmann would have ordered a march on L~iva, but 

for the financial liabilities of the Turkistan administra­

tion.58· Buchanan learnt from confidential sources that 

the impending expedition against Khiva had become a subject 

of 11 controversy" betvveen the mini stries of \var and finance. 

It was said that the finance department of Turkistan had 

promised to supply the necessary funds for the general's 

plans, but that the f.finistry of Finance had over-ruled the 

decision of its subordinate department. This treatment 

infuriated Kaufmann and he memadalised the throne on the 

subject. Each of the ministries rose to the defence of 

their subordinate. The Hinistry of Finance argued that 

the financial agents in the provinces were independent of 

the mili tartJ authori ti es, and that by their recent action 

they had averted an unnecessary war. The :f.'Iinister of War 

held that the Governor-General in an hour of need, possessed 

the authority to declare war without even referring it to 

St. Petersburg. The issues were again debated in the 

Oouncil of Î'!inisters at a later date, but none of the parties 

had modified their stands. 59 • 

The St. Petersburg authorities in their conversations 

58. F.065/873. Buchanan to Granville no. 190. Aug. 23, 71. 

59. F.065/8?3. Buchanan to Granville no. 220. Sept. 18, 71. 
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with Buchanan began to deny any idea of commencing 

hostilities against the state of Khiva. 60 • 

Kaufmann failing to coerce I01iva, turned once again to 

negotiations vli th that state. This time he opened 

correspondence through Bokhara. He proposed that ID1iva 

should liberate all Russian personnel, shou1d refuse 

protection to the Kazak robbers, and that the Khan should 

enter into an alliance with Russia. These proposa1s were 

taken to Khiva by a Bokharan envoy; Syed Rahim took this 

mediation from Bokhara as an affront. The envoy was told 

that if Kaufmann desired to maintain peace, he shou1d him­

self write a 11 politen 1etter to the Khan, promising therein 

not to transgress the Khan's dominion, in return for which 

the Khan wou1d liberate the prisoners, and wou1d punish 

the p1underers of Russian territory. 61 • The Khan 

dispatched with s rep1y to the Amir of Bokhara, a Khivan 

envoy, who denied that there was any just grounds for the 

existing Russian hostility to Khiva. The Amir of Bokhara 

60. Ibid. Same to same no. 120. (June 12, 71) and no. 127 
(June 13, 71). 

61. Terentyef II op. cit. pp.201-3. The numbers of the 
Russian prisoners in Khiva varies in different accounts. 
In this ietter the Khan ntunbered them as e1even. Amin 
Bai, the Ifrllvan envoy to India in 1872, said that there 
were twenty-four, and a memorandum prepared by the 
British War office said tlrlrty-nine. Schuy1er says 
that they were twenty-one in number. He saw them at 
Kaza1a after their release from Khiva. 
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directed the Khivan envoy to meet Kaufmann, but the latter 

f d t . h" 62. re use o rece2ve 2m. 

In his endeavours to remove misunderstanding as to 

lus conduct towards Russia, Syed Rahim deputed two envoys 

during the early part of 1872, to meet higher Russian 

authorities. One envoy was to proceed to the court of 

the Grand Duke l'licha el, the Governor-General of Caucasia, 

and the other to that of Kryjanowsky, the Governor-General 

of Orenburg. Bath the envoys were then to proceed to St. 

Petersburg, and there to lay their case before the Czar. 63· 

In his let ter to the Grand Duke, the IChan complained against 

Russian encroachment on the coast of Kh't<larizm (KrasnoïVodsk), 

and the territory of Nin Bulak in Turkistan. The Khan 

suggested that if Russia's intentions were honest, he was 

ready to sign a treaty with her under which bath should 

t th th ' ~ . . 64. respec e o er s uom2n2on. 

Neither of the Khivan envoys were allowed to proceed to 

their destination, one was stopped at Alexanderoff and the 

h 65. ot er at Orenburg. They were informed that no request 

for negotiation would be entertained until Kaufmann received 

an apology from the Khan, the prisoners were released and a 

62. Terentyef II on. cit. pp.203-4. 

63. F.065/874. Loftus to Granville no. 65. April 3, 72. 

64. Terentyef II pp.205-6. 

65. F.065/87. no. 65. op. cit. 
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66. 
treaty of comL1erce was concluded with Russia. 

This affront shawn to his mission exasperated the Khan, 

who is reported ta have said "I am not a smaller man than 

the othersn. 67 • Astate Council (Divan) was then con-
68. 

vened and it was decided not to release the captives. 

1'1eanwhile an envoy was dispatched ta the Government of India 

ta make them aware of the existing tension between Russia 

and Khiva. The envoy,Amin ud Din Bai,was the bearer of a 

letter for "the Queen of India". He reached India at the 

close of July 1872. On September 5, Amin Bai had an 

audience with Lord lJorthbrook, the Viceroy of India. 

During the interview with the Viceroy, the envoy 

exonerated Khiva of any complicity in arresting the Russian 

subjects. Amin Bai, though unaware of the subject of the 

Khan's communication with Kaufmann, asserted strongly that 

Khiva would never have declined to send courteous replies 

ta Kaufma~~'s letters. The envoy pointed out that if the 

release of the prisoners was the only path to peace, the 

Khan would certainly have not missed this opportunity. 69 • 

66. June 12, 72. MoscO\v Gazette 

67. Ibid. Sept. 26, 72. Noscow Gazette (translation) no date. 

68. Ibid. 

69. E .s .L .I. 1872/12. Interviev1. Sept. 5, 72. 
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Northbrook was impressed by the 11 emphatic manner" 

of the envoy' s presentation, \'Illich showed "the earnest 

and sincere desire of the Khan" for peaceful co-existance 
70. 

with Russia. The main abject of Amin Bai's visit to 

India was to use the good-offices of the British Government 

to help adjust the relations of Khiva with Russia. He 

proposed to Northbrool: that ei ther the British Government 

communicate vdth the St. Petersburg authorities to obtain 

an amiable understanding between Khiva and Russia, or that 

it should appoint a British officer to the Russo-Khivan 

border to ad just rna tt ers on the spot vfi th the local 

tl . t. 71. au 1or~ ~es. Northbrook expressed his inability to co-

operate on either of these proposals. However, he requested 

the home governrnent to appraise the possibility of obtaining 

d t d . b t th t t• 72 • an un ers an J.ng e vreen e wo par ~es. 

In his reply to the Khan of Khiva, Northbrook advised 

the former to liberate the Russian prisoners without any 

further delay and to approach the Russian authorities in 

Turkistan with friendly overtures. 73 • 

70. E.S.L.I. 1872/13. Viceroy to Secretary of State no. 
Sept. 26, 72. 

71. E.S.L.I. 1872/12. Interview. on. cit. 

72. E.S.L.I. 1872/13. no. 69. on. cit. 

69. 

73. E.S.L.I. 1872/13. Viceroy to lilian of Khiva. Sept. 10, 
72. 
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The Khivan communication with India probably alar.med 

Kaufmann,f'or Loftus noted that in St. Petersburg,the "most 

exaggerated reports" vrere being circulated about British 

interference in the Russo-Khivan dispute. 74 • Kaufmann 

then visi ted St. Petersburg in the Ir1all of 1874 and spent a 

"great portion of Winter there 11 •
75 • 13y his 11wi:ru1ing 

manners and social popularity~ he succeeded in obtaining 

the sanction of the Czar for his long cherishGd idea of 

b . t' Kh' 76 • th d f thr l' su JUga ~ng ~va - e graveyar o ee ear ~er 

Russian attempts. 

In the meantime Russian strategists familiarized them-

selves 1'/i th the na ture of the desert area separa ting the 

oasis of D1iva from the Russian base in Turkistan. Du ring 

the sunn:ners of 1871 and 1872, the Kizil Kum desert to the 

north of Bokhara and stretching towards Khiva was surveyed. 

Using Kazalinsk as a base, the region in the direction of 

Ivfin Bulak and the Bukan Tau mountain '\vas explored, and from 

Orenburg, the country south of the Emba River. In the 

Autunm of 1872, Colonel Harkozov set out vri th an expedition 

to try and take Khiva by a coup de main; he got as far as 

Igdy and then was forced to retreat in the face of a vigorous 

74. F.065/875. Loftus to Granville no. 364. Dec. 24, 72. 

75. F.065/874. Loftus to Granville no. 261. Sept. 16, 72. 

76. Schuyler II op. cit. p.334. 
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attack by the ~urkomans. 77 • 
Kaufmann,assured of support at St. Petersburg, set out 

to make preparations on an extensive scale against Khiva. 
78. 

Heavy siege guns were purchased from Germany. Foreign 

"1" t t . . t d t t. . t . th . 79 • m1 1 ary exper s were 1nv1 e o par 1c1pa e 1n e campa1gn. 

And the Spring of 1873 was fixed for the march on Klü va. 

The Government of India foresaw that the Russian 

demonstration in Central Asia would disturb the balance of 

peace in that area:and the home government was once again 

h d the b . t 80 • Ath th L d T" approac e on su Jec • orne e on on 1mes 

reported without fail everything that went on in Central Asia, 

and considerable agi ta ti on a..."l.d alarrn be gan to brew in poli ti cal 

circles over the blatently apparent designs of Russia on Khiva. 

Brunnow, the Russian Ambassador, tried to appease Granville. 

The latter replied that "peace at any priee is not the 

special tradition of the Government of India. 1181 • Brunnow 

then telegraphed St. Petersburg, making the Czar's govern-

77. Ibid. pp.332-)5. 

78. S.H.C. 1871/67. 
no. 12 • Hay 2, 

Steven (Consul at Nicolaiev) to Granville 
71. 

79. Lt. H. Stui1nn, a German officer, accompa:nied the C8Jl1paign. 

80. Par. Pap. LXXXV 1873 no. 94 and 95. 

81. Gladstone Papers (private) Oct. 20, 72. F.065/874. 
Granville to Loftus no. 205. Oct. 31, 72: also in Ram, 
A. The Political Corresnondence of Nr. Gladstone and 
Lord Gladstone, London 1852. vol. 2. no. 772. 
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82. 
ment aware of the situation in London. 

The Czar immediately sent his personal envoy, Count 

Pierre Schouvalov, to London to first assure the British 

government of the peaceful intention of the Emperor in 

Central Asia,and secondly ta forward a personal concern 

of the Czar. 

Schouvalov's mission for a long time remained something 

of a mystery, for i t was kno\'m that he was the Direct or 

General of the Russian Secret Police and a confidential 

counsellor of the Emperor. 83 • In January 1873 he set out 

to visit the western European courts. At.St. Petersburg 

i t 'it'Tas rumoured that he was vi si ting the continental courts 

and London to discuss the organization of an "International 
84. 

Society". J3oth Gortchakov and Westmann expressed 

ignorance of the actual abject of this visit abroad. 85• Nor 

did Brunnow 1mow much about the whole nature of the visit to 

London.86 • He could only assure Granville that the latter 

82. Letters to India 1873/5. Hichell intelligence Dec. 11, 
73. 

83. F.065/875. Loftus to Granville no. 8. January 8, 73. 

84. ~· 

85. ~· 

86. Granville Papers. P.R.O. 30/29/114. Granville to Loftus 
(private) January 1, 73: 



- 254 -

could not meet a "more satisfactory" l)erson than Schouvalov 

to talk to on Anglo-Russian affairs. 87 • In London it was 

known that Schouvalov had come to discuss the outstanding 

Anglo-Russian questions with the British Governr.1ent, 

particularly in Central Asia - K.hiva and the Afghan boundary 

1
. 88. 1.ne. 

But the real nature of Schouvalov's visit, as it was 

knovn1 on his arrival in London, was neither political nor 

international but merely social. He had arrived to under-

take the preliminary arr~gements for the marriage between 

the Duke of Edinburgh and the Grand Duchess r·1aria of Russia. 

Schouvalov had instructions to sound out the Duke as to 

whether the latter would agree to the Czar's proposal of 

meeting his only daughter in short sojourns in Germany and 
89. 

Russia after the marriage. To prevent confusion it had 

been decided that all the nreliminaries for this matrimonial 

alliance between the two royal houses, should be confined to 

only two persans - Granville and Schouvalov. 

directed to keep silent on the subject.90. 

Loftus was 

Hence Central Asia served as a cloalc for Schouvalov's 

87. Gladstone Papers. Add. I·Tss 44169/101. op. ci t. 

88. F.065/875. Granville to Loftus, January 8, 73. 

89. Granville Paners. P.E.O. 30/29/114. op. cit. 

90. ~· 
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11 confidential and private 11 mission in London. 91 • 

Schouvalov during his fifteen days stay dilated on Central 

Asia as well. He told Granville that Kh.iva would be in-

Vdded by a force consisting of four and a half battalions 

during the following spring. But neither its annexation 

1 d t . d . d t . 92 • nor a pro onge occupa ~on was un er cons~ era ~on. 

The essence of Schouvalov's talk on Khiva was that the Czar 

"promises",wrote Granville to his uolitical chief, "not to 

take possession of ~1iva, or even to occupy it and that we 

may say so to Parlt.n93. Renee it was decided in London 

not to remonstrate against the Russian march on Khiva. 94 • 

In the meantime plans for the conquest of Khiva had been 

completed at St. Petersburg. Kaufmann suggested an advance 

on Khiva from 1urkistan and Krasnovodsk, but on Kryjanowsky's 

insistence, Orenburg's participation in the operation was also 

approved. The plan came before the Central Committee pre-

sided over by the Emperor in December, 1872. The vote in 

the Council stood thirty-eigpt in favour of capturing Khiva 

· 91. Loftus , Lord A. 
series, vol. 2. 

The Diplomatie Reminiscences, second 
London, 1894. p.49. 

92. :1!1.065/875 no. 8. op. cit. 

93. Gladstone Papers. Add Nss. 44169/148. Granville to 
Gladstone (private) January 8, 73: also in FEru QE• 
ci t. no • 810 • 

94. F.065/875 no. 8. op. cit. 
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and nine aGainst it. 

majori ty. 95 • 

Even Gortchakov supported the 

was 

l'he Imperial mandate for the full conquest of Khi va 

issued on December 24, 1872. 96 • The Russian forces, 

di vided in to fi ve columns, set out in J:1arch 18T3. The 

entire expedition consisted of fifty-three companies of 

infantry, twenty-five sotnias of Cossacks, fifty-four guns, 

six mortars, two mitrailleuses, five rocket divisions, 

nineteen thousand two hundred c~els, with a compliment of 

about fourteen thousand men. 97 • V!ith Kaufmann,who was the 

supreoe commander of the whole operation, went two dukes, 

the Grand Duke lJicholus Constantinovich and the Duke Eugene 

of Lutchenburg. 

All the columns, with the exception of that of Orenburg 

(under General Verevkin) and that of Alexandrofsk (under 

Colonel Lomaldn), suffered privation a..""'1.d numerous disasters 

during their march towards Y~iva. The Krasnovodsk column 

(und er Colonel :f\1arkozov), faced a terri ble ordeal in the 

valley of the Amu's ancient bed. The column had to return 

95. F.065/875. Loftus to Granville no. 68. Dec. 24, 72. 
:Sut Schuyler II op. cit. p.336, says that the vote was 
35 to 9 and Gortchakov opposed the occupation of Khiva: 
~Times, January 14, 73, p.g. c.6. also supports 
Schuyler's statement. 

96. Stumr1, H. Russia's advance Eastward: Official Report 
of Lt. Sturrm1 (translated by C.E.H. Vincent) London 1874 
p.48. 

97. Stumm, H. Russia in Central Asia (translated by Ozanne 
and Saches) London 1885 pp.42-43. 
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to Krasnovodsk at the end of Hay. The Turkistan column 
97. narrowly escaped total disaster in the desert. 

General Kau~nann having occupied the city of Shura 

Khana on May 28, and the town of Hazarasp (forty-five 

miles to the north of ~1iva) on June 4, received a letter 

from Syed Rahim, informing him that the Ru.ssian prisoners 

had been released, and the general should refrain from 

hostilities for the Khan would consent to undertake a treaty 

with Russia. 98 • This was followed by another letter from 

the Khan on June 7, repeating his previous requests. 

Kaufmann replied that negotiations for peace would be con-

ducted when he reached Khiva and he advised the Khan to 

surrender without any resistance.99. 

General Verevkin occupied Kungrad on ~~y 20, and reached 

Chanakchik (three miles from Khiva) on June 7. The Khan 

also approached him sueing for peace on June 5, but Verevkin 

ha.ving no po;.ver in the absence of Kaufmann, turned dow.n the 

request. Verevkin after waiting for two days, opened fire 

on the city on June 9. The same evening a Khivan deputation 

arrived to discuss the Russian conditions for peace and were 

97. MacGahan, J.A. Campaigning on the Oxus and the Fall of 
Khiva, London 1874 pp.l63-72: Schuyler II op. cit. pp. 
336-47. 

98. Schuyler II op. cit. pp.342-43: Terentyef II op. cit. 
pp.212-13. 

99. Schuyler II on. cit. pp.342-44. 
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advised to wait for Kaufmann's arrival. In the meantime 

the lilian fled the city, leaving affairs in the hands of his 
r-

uncle Syed Amir ul Umar. On June 10, General Skobelov 

captured the northern gate of the city. 
. 100. 

The same day 

Kaufmann reached Kh~va. 

On June 10, Kaufmaru1 received the city's submission 

from Syed Umar: the gates were opened to the invader and 

the city was taken over •101 • Syed Rahim 'ViaS in vi ted back 

to F..hiva. A special Divan consisting of four Russians and 

three K..'fli vans vras appointed to assist the lilian in the ad­

ministration of the state. 

Russia having taken Khiva, the question that the British 

statesmen pondered whether she would 1vi thdraw. Granville 

was getting suspicious of Schouvalov's assurances. 102 • 

\fith the approaching success of the operation against Khiva, 

the tone of the St. Petersburg authorities changed. In 

Iv~ay, Gortchakov informed Loftus that no imnortance should be 

attached to Schouvalov's discussion with Granville,since it 

was in the nature of a personal conversation. He added that 

Schouvalov did not admit any legal basis on the part of 

Br . t . f . t t . . t, ff . f Kh. 10 3 • ~ a~n or ~n-erven ~on ~n ne a· a~rs o ~va. 

100. Ibid. pp.348-50. 

101. Ibid. MacGahan QP· cit. pp.226-27. 

102. F.065/875. Granville to Loftus no. 26, Jan. 31, 73 
and a telegram of the same day. 

103. F.065/877. Loftus Telegram May 2, 73. 
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Gortchakov's language astonished the British Foreien Office; 

the latter telegraphed Loftus for further details on the 

subject, 104 • and he replied next day that "Gortchakov is 

endeavouring to convert the forrnal assurances gi ven by 

Count Schouwlaff in regard to Khiva to mere intentions of 

the Emperor; which intentions as we have had experience of 

in the case of the Poles, may be altered by circumstances1~ 5 • 
The Russian Gover.nment and the public were very sensitive 

on the subject of a withdrawal from L~iva, for they believed 

that the recent Khivan campaign had no parallel in the 

history of military campaigns. The difficulties encountered 

by the British in Abyssinia, and Alexander the Great in 

Central Asia, were 11 light 11 in comparison to the Russian march 

across the deserts towards Khiva. 106 • The Russian press 

started a crunpaign for ~liva's retention; the Exchange 
107. 

Gazette called the conquest of Khiva a historical necessity; 

the Iv!oscow Ga,zette challenged England' s right to question 

Russia's actions against Khiva; 108 • the Golos advised the 

government not to listen to the tales of ethers, but to 

104. F.065/877. Gra.."lville Telegram, Nay 22, 73. 

105. F.065/877. Loftus Telegr~~, May 23, 73. 

106. Letters to In dia 1873/5. !1ichell' s Report, July 10, 

107. Letters to In dia 1872/4. r.Tichell's Report, Dec. 13, 

73. 

72. 

108. F .065/877. Loftus to Granville no. 116. Harch 27, 73. 
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consider its o\vn best interests in Central Asia.109 • 

Loftus observed a fierce battle raging in St. Petersburg 

about the assurances advanced to Britain on Khiva, and his 

conclusion was that to be fair to these assurances, the 

town of Khi va would be ei ther burnt or ra·zed to the ground -

it would neither continue to exist nor would the "assurances" 

last.110 • 

Khi va l'ras not burnt. It was not razed to the ground. 

On August 12, 1873, the Russo-Khivan Treaty was signed, 

under which the lilian of Khi va be came subject to the Czar 

and all Khi van terri tory on the right bank of the Amu i'las 

ceded to Russia; the Russians also received the right of 

residence ru1d tax free trade in the Khanate and the I<han 

was obliged to pay an indemnity of 2,200,000 roubles, 
111. 

payable over a period of twenty years. 
112. 

The Times of London published the Russo-Khivan Treaty. 

The English press '\'laS highly exci ted by the terms of the 

treaty, calling them inconsistent with the spirit of the 

declaration which the Czar had 11 spontaneously 11 ordered 
113. 

Schouvalov to make. 

109. Ibid. Same to same no. 119. March 28, 73. 

110. F.065/878. Loftus to Granville no. 211. Nay 27,73. 

111. F.065/879. Doria to Grru1ville no. 428. Dec. 20, 73. 

112. Times. Hov. 23 and 24, 1873. p.4. and 5. col. 1 and 2. 
respectively. 

113. Granville Papers P.R.O. 30/29/114. Granville to Loftus 
(private) Nov. 27, 73. 
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Schouvalov was the only person to be personally 

embarrassed by the affair with Khiva. He had been charged 

with instructions for the :British Government that 11 pas un 
• Il 114. , pouce de terrain ne serait ·oris nar la Russ1.e • Tnus 

he requested the Czar either to disavow the promises made 

to England or to repudiate the course ado:pted by Kaufma.nn 

. . Kl . t R . 115 • J3ut tl Em' d 1.n annex1.ng 11.va o uss1.a. 1e · peror appease 

him by pointing out the.t Gortchakov believed that the 

assurances given to England referred only to the town of 
116. 

Khi va and not to the \vhole of the Khanate. 

The history out1ined in this chapter and in the one 

preceding it form part of the Liberal ?arty's dip1omacy in 

Central Asia. The Li berals la.lo\·ring full well the Rus sian 

intentions with regard to Central Asia, deceived both them-

selves and the British public. The rise of the Conservatives 

to power in 187 4, changed the v'! ho le concept of British dip-

lomacy in Central Asia. The keypoint of their policy was 

to be that Russia must be sto;Jped at all costs. The 

followine cha1Jter will give a picture of the Conservatives 1 

attempt not only to checkmate Russia in Central Asia, but 

to expel her fron that part of the world. 

114. Quoted in Loftus. Diplomatie Reminisences op. cit. 
p .106. 

115. Letters to India 1873/5. Michell's Intelligence. Dec. 
19' 73. 

116. Loftus. Diplomatie Reminiscences op. cit. p.l06. 
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England's Plan for the Liberation 

of Central Asia 1874-1877 

By the end of 1873, H.ussia had taken over three major 

states of 1"u.rkistan - Xhokand, Bokhara and Khiva. At the 

end of the Khivan campaign, Kaufmann appointed his political 

advisor on Turkistan affairs, M. de Struv to Bokhara, to 

persuade the Amir for signing a new treaty with Russia. 

11he Russo-Bokhara Treaty of 1868, made public in 1872, was 

replaced by a nevr treaty signed on October 10, 1873. Und er 

the new treaty, the Amu Daria was made accessible to Russian 

navigation. Russia obtained the right to erect piers and 

storehouses on the Amu. The state of Bokhara was opened to 

the Russian traders, with an equalising duty of 2i% on 

Russian goods. The Rus sian subj ects vrere en ti tled to hold 
1. 

land and property in Bokhara, subject to local land tax. 

A part of the territory (from Kukestli to I1eshekli) 

detached from Khiva on the right bank of the Amu was given 

to Bokhara, and the rest of the terri tory ''~as formed into a 

military district of the Amu Daria, and placed under a 

governor (Colonel N.A. Ivanov) centered at Petro Alexandrovosko 

(now 1\lrtkul) situated at a distance of twenty miles from the 

city of lC'li va. The Yamud tribes in the vicinity of 

1. Por full text of the Treaty see Rawlinson, H. England 
and Russia op. cit. Appendix 7: Times, J)ecernber 31, 
73. p.3. c.l. 
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Khiva were reduced to submission, suffering heavy lasses 

of life and property. 

Another important step towards consolidating Russian 

position in Central Asia was the formation of the Trans-

caspian Province in 1874. The new nrovince comprised the 

territories of Hangishlak and Krasnovodsk. General N.P. 

Lomavkin was appointed its first military governor. 2 • 

The risings of 1874 and 1875 in Khokand, .helped H.ussia 

to annex Y~okand to the Russian ~npire. Khudayar Khan,as 

is knownJwas unpopular in his country for his tyrannies 

and his excessive dependence on Russia. r1any plots against 

his authority had been hatched and several revolts had 

errupted since ~ludayar's third accession to the Khanate 

in 1865. The Kirghiz and Kiptchak had revol ted in 1871 

and 1873. Hany claimants to the throne had shovm up during 

the last ten years. Foremost amont; them were Karim Khan, 

the Khan' s nephe'\·q l!1aulad Khan, the son of the la te Sul tan 

Hurad; and the two sons of YJmdayar, Hohanl.L'lad A.lJlin and 

Nasarud Din. 

The rising of July 1875, led by Abdur Reh'IJlan Aftabchi, 

the son of the late Hussalman Quli, was the biggest of all. 

KJ:1udayar was expelled and he sought refuge at Tashkand. 

His son Nasarud Din \<!as made YJlan. War was declared 

against Russia. But it was shortlived. On Nasarud Din's 

2. Schuyler II op. oit. p.378. 
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request a treaty of friendship \vas signed wi th Russia. 

It was followed by another rising in the Fall of 1875, led 

by Aftabchi in the name of Faulad Khan. Kaufmann crushed 

this rising easily. On the recom.r.1endations of Kaufrnann, 

an Imperial "Ukase" was issued on February 19, 1876 in­

corporating ~1iva into Russian territory: the new oblast 

was restored to its a.ncient name Farghana and Colonel N.D. 

Skobe1ov was made its first governor. 
3. 

The conquest of Khiva completed the Russian process of 

expansion up to the northern banks of the Amu: it also 

brought Russia, both into contiguity with the state of 

Afghanistan and into hostility with Persia. The Russian 

conquest of Khiva also opened the oasis of Herv to Russia. 

Since 1870 Russia had kept an eye on Nerv. And Stemoukov 

had hinted Buchanan during that year that Herv \'/as Si&lifi­

cant for Russian commerce.4· 

The area on the south of the Caspian across the desert 

of Korakurn to the Arnu, and along the Persian f'rontierB to 

the east up to Herat on the Afghanistan border was held by 

3. Schuyler I oy. cit. pp.354-358, II pp.281-301: Singh 
op. oit. pp.38-55: F.065/929 nos. 259, 262, 272, 282, 289, 
290: :b1 .065/930 nos. 310, 328: F.065/956 no. 101: Par. 
Pap. LXXVII 1878-79 no. 1/4. Karim Beg's Report. ---

4. F.065/872. Buchan~~ to Granville no. 363. Sept. 21, 70. 
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the nomad Turkomans. 5 • The Turkomans of this region 

numbered around 200,000 camps. Out of this vast horde 

Russia vms concerned greatly wi th four tribes. They were 

the Chaduras, the Yamuds, the Goklan and the Tekkeh.
6

• 

Both the Chaduras and the Yamud had acknowledged the 

Russian hegemony by this time. But the Tekkeh proved 

most restless of all in the defence of their homeland. 

Between 1871 and 1873 three Russian expeditions were sent 

against them to chastise them. The Tekkeh,placed between 

the Attrek and Herv, approached both Persia and Afghanistan 

for help. 7 • General Lomakin, since his appointment to the 

Transcaspian administration, had been both threatening and 

inducing the Tekkeh and the Goklan to surrender to him. 

It is against this setting in Central Asia that the 

5. The Turkomans belont; to the family of the Uzbeks. Their 
chief tribes were: 
(i) the Chadur, 12,000 tents, between the Caspian and the 
Aral. 
(ii) the Ersari, 50,000 tents along the Amu. 
(iii) the Salov and Saruk, 20,000 tents on the Nurghab 
and the Tejend. 
(iv) the Tekkeh, 60,000 tents on the skirts of the hills 
from Nerv to the Caspian. 
(v) the Yamud and Goldans, 50,000 tents along the P ersian 
borders on the shore of the Caspian (Rawlinson op. oit. 
p.333). 

6. Rawlinson op. oit. pp.332-33. 

7. Ibid. pp.333-38. 
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British attitude regarding that part of the world, is to 

be studied. The new attitude on Central Asia vTas no more 

based upon delusion and ignorance. For the first time in 

British history, the British public became aware of the true 

geography, history and the culture of the Central Asians. 

Sorne of the unique works on the subject of Turkistan were 

published during the early seventies of the Nineteenth 

century. They weree. Rawlinson's England and Russia in 

the F..ast (1875); Vambery's Central Asia and the Anglo­

Russian Frontier Question (1874); and Boldhara (1873); 

vfyllie 1 s Essays on the External F·olicy of India (1875); 

Bary's Russia in 1870 (1871); Bell's The OÀ~S and the 

Indus (1874); Bellew's Kashmir and Kashghar (1875); 

Hutton's Central Asia (1875); Green's The Defence of the 

N2rth Western Frontiers of India (1873); Cotton's The 

Central Asia.71 Q!lestion (1872); Shaw' s Vi si t to High 

Tarta~ (1871); and Jl!acGahan' s Campaigning on the Oxus and 

the Fall of Khiva (1874). 9 • 

Another important feature of this period was the trans­

lation of sorne foreign publications on the subject of Central 

8. The books mentioned here are only those which were pub­
lished between 1870 and 1875. For full details of these 
books see the bibliography at the end of the work. 

9. lYiacGahan, J .A. was an American journalist. He was the 
corresnondent of New York Herald, \·!ho vi si ted Central Asia 
during-the early seventies. He accomnanied the Turkistan 
column to Khiva. His book was published in London. 
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A.sia. Fl.omanovsky' s pamphlet, fr otes on the Central Asia 

versions in London 1$74. One oi the most laudable 

works of the ~oyal Geographical jociety was, to have 

assigned the na~es of its journals to exnlanations of the 

• • 1 1 d . . f ... l . . 10. most 1ntr1cate ana unKnown enom1nat1ons o Gentra_ ASla. 

üther contemoorary journals and periodicals, nublished most 

thought nrovokin~ material on the politics of Turkistan. 11 • 

Hence Russian movements in Central Asia during the early 

course of the seventies were not without outbursts of 

excitement in London. '~en talked wisely ~nd learned in 

t ' Cl b f th ' l) t' ~ r l)r d th 00 
' t kit 12 0 ne us o _e Amoo arya, ne ...,ar arya an e il."G re • 

The Hussian expedition to Khiva raised a considerable agita-

ti on both in the press .c;nd the Parliament. lVJ.any letters 

.qppeared in the Tim_e_~ de~olorin?; British inactivity in the 

,..., t 1 . t. 13 • . dl . d ~en ra Aslan ques lon. ~uest1ons were re~eate y ra1se 

in Parliament on the hussian proceedin~s against Khiva. 

10. ~ee the Journals of the Society XXXVII - ~LVIII: also 
its )?roceeèiT-ngs -xvi - XVIII. · 

11. ~ ee for example -~uarte.:.:'CJY Heview CXXXIV and CXX.XVI: 
The Macmillan M~azill~ XXII, XXVII and XXX: The _Fo:r::~nightly 
Revfew XV and XVIII: The .t;dinburgh_Review CXXXIX and CXII. 

12. Baker, V. Clouds in the bast, London 1876. p.l. 

13. Times, Oct. 29, 72., p.s. c.4. and Nov. 2, 72., p.6. 
c.5. 
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East"Vlick, a member of Parliament and a former officer of 

the British Political service in Persia, in his long drawn 

speech, challenged Russia's justification of her conquest 

in Turkistan. He warned the British Government of the 

grim consequences of Russia's expansion in the direction 

of India.14 • Rawlinson in his 11 Notes on Khiva 11 , a paper 

read before the Geographical Society in the London University 

lecture theatre, predicted Irussia 1 s betrayal over the 

assurance she has given to England regarding Khiva.15 • 

The Prince of Wales and the Duke of Cambridge - "two men 

of iron",insisted upon Granville to be "firm 11 with Russia 

on Central Asian issues.16 • Even a pacifie man like North­

brook, the Viceroy of India, doubted the fitness of British 

policy wi th regard to Central Asia, "our silence is drifting 

us into a war 11 wrote the Viceroy privately to the Duke of 

Argyll.17 • Loftus at St. Petersburg vms getting sick of 

Russian "assurances". He urged the home ministry that 

11Russia must be timely warnedll of the consequences of her 
18. 

fUrther extension in Turkistan. 

14. Hansard. Co~Jnons CCXV 1873. April 2, 73. cc.818-48. 

15. Times, Narch 25, 73. p.?., c.4: Rawlinson op. cit. 
p.400. 

16. Gladstone Papers; Add. Mss. 44170/11. Granville to 
Gladstone (no date), also in Ram II on. cit. no. 963. 

17. Inveraray Papers. Northbrook to Argyll, Sept. 26, 72. 

18. F.065/901. Loftus Hemorandum on Central Asia.(private) 
Hay 1874. 
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In February 1874, the Conservatives under Disraeli came 

to nower. The nevf Cabinet, c0nsistin("J' of twelve members, 

w;::.,s decidedly 11 one of the stroYl?est of the Csnturyn .l-l. 

It contained sorne of the most talenterl men of thPt part of 

the century. Cairns, Derby, Salisbury, Northbrook, G~thorne 

Hardy, CéirnArvon 8.re worth rnentioni:r1p; among them. Central 

Asia fro~ the very outset attract0rt the attention o~ the 

Conserv~tive chief. On March 7, 1g74, Disraeli reauested 

Salishury, the InrliRn 8ecret~rv, t0 lay before him even the 

private correspondence of the Viceroy to the ~ecret2ry of 

0tate, vrhich should be lftreated as a nrivate letter from an 

i-lmbassador to For. ~eC'!• of St:;te ••••. !=Üways forwArd,:::.d to the 

?ü ':J. l·:inister11 • ·- • 

DisrEJ.eli,thouph seventy and "nower11 h""d come "laten t.o. 

h im, was still spiri ted, él:r1 d was a f-Lrrn beliPver in an 

imperial policy for his nimnerial countryn. The East, 
) 

ov,::;r Disraeli' s mind like that of Burke~ exercised a con-

siderable fascination. The only difference between the 

two st.atesmen ·was that Burke wa.nted to leëŒn from the L2.st, 

Uisraeli vrant ed to teach her - law and order. It wa .. s a 

lust for po':-Jer, surpassino; the rna~nificence of the great 

19. Seton~Watsc:m·t ~~.:-~. Br:h._~'\ÎD..._~!l~~rop_€2, Cambridp;e 1955, 
>). 506. 

?O. IJionypenn·y, .l.P. and Buckle, G.i~;. f_h_§_] .... if~ __ of_Di~~raeli, 
NevJ York 1929. ,'p.750':"'51. (Hereafter cited as Buckle 
Disraeli.). 
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empires of India, and that of its rulers that haunted 

Disraèli 's dreams. 21 • He :aeqU:iredL the Suez Canal in 

1875, the sane year he sent the Prince of Wales to India, 

and next year he proclaimed Victoria as the Empress of 

India. 

Disraèli like most of the Conservatives of his time, 

was highly suspicious of Russian conduct. 111 have no great 

faith in a real understanding with Russia as to our Eastern 

possession" he \'/rote during the early days of his ministry~ 2 • 

And he warned Salisbury that "it is quite on the cards that 

in the course of next year, something may occur in Central 

Asia which may make us rather a laughing stock, if we give 

this decoration, but to be laughed at is no bitter lot if 

we are anxious that we have not been gulled, and on the whole, 

I am in favour of conferring grand X as solicited 11 •
23· 

This warning set Salisbury in action. On June 12, 1874, 

when the Russian forces in Turkistan were celebrating the 

decennial anniversary of their conquest of Central Asia, 

Salisbury was indoctrinating his Viceroy with his seductive 

suggestions. Russia in the West, Salisbury wrote, was 

21. Noyee, Jr. England, India and Afghanistan, London 1902, 
p.62. 

22. Salisbury Papers. Disraèli to Salisbury (private) June 
2, 74. 

23. I.l?ll· 
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hardly pregnable. England must chç~nc;e its tactics. nrt is 

of no use 11 Salisbury continued, 11 to rely on diplomatie 

remonstrances here. It can not be followed by any 

1:0:!r.2P~§.!! action, .~md that Russi9. knm<Js perfectly well. All 

dinloma.tic remonstra.nces and threats must have a cko.;round 

of force. ,ihat I desire to ss is th~t that background 

must be iatic ••••• I presume your a:overnment R.re familiar 

'ü th the c:uestion of a mar ch to He rat from the Incius •••• I 

should be verv glad to he;:._r from y ou ~) s fu1ly ;:)_s y ou have 

time to write tome on this vital questionrr. 24• 

any hostile action a;:;:ainst 1tussia in Central :\sia, 

britain required a considerable or~aniz2tion and planning 

beforehand. ce system on the frontiers of 

India must be perfect. India, to b isbury 1 s mind, was 

very defective in procurinrc: accnrate information on the 

political state of affR in Jentra1 M. • ba1isbury 

advised lforthbrook to establish an int 1i>"ence deDartment 

at .Lahore, pla under sorne highly qualified man to furnish 

the home fl'overnment vü th A informRtion desired by her. 2 5 • 

!3Ut Northbrook did not see any adva.ntap;e in Salisbury' s 

proposal. llis contention \'Jas that the nro ed intelli5:ence 

?.4. Northbrook Papers no. 11. Salishurv to i\jorthbrook 
rry-r:fv::>te r·no •. 16'.' June 12' 74. . 

25. Ibid. no. 1?. ~;ame to same {private) no. L~., J-"Iay 22, 
7h~-



- 272 -

department would not improve upon the already established 

system. 26 • Salisbury was not satisfied with this explana­

tion, and he sent a reminder to lus reluctant Viceroy telling 

that the sources of information from India were inadequate 

d h t kt d . . th 27. an e mus wor owar s 1..mprov1..ng _ em. 

lJor was l\forthbrook in favour of putting any physica1 

pressure on Russia in Central Asia. He was an ardent ad­

herent of Lawrence's preachings. Free and frank talk with 

Russia, Northbrook believed,would solve many of the mis-
28. understandings existing between the two powers. 

Salisbury was getting annoyed. He asked what would happen 

if Rus invaded !1erv? lrorthbrook replied, "come to 

understanding vii th Russia 11 • 
29 • 

1•/hen this controversy over Central Asian issues though 

privately, was going on between the Viceroy and the Secretary 

of State, Sir Bartle Frere, 30 • then a member of the Secretary 

of State Council, sent to the India office lus views, in a 

26. Ibid. Northbrook to Salisbury (private) no. 20. June 
ïb,'"74-. 

27. ~· Salisbury to 1-Torthbrook no. 39. Dec. 3, 74. 

28. Northbrook Panera. no. 11. Northbrook to Salisbury 
(private) no. 30. Aug. 20, 74: a1so the srune in 
salisbury Paner. 

29. Ibid. 

30. Sir B. Frere (1815-84) Chief Commissioner Sindh 1850-59: 
Hember Viceroy's executive council 1859-62: Governor of 
Bombay 1862-67: Ner;1ber India Oouncil 1867-77. 
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letter form, on the subject of British policy in Central 

Asia. This letter is considered to have made a considerable 

impression on the Conservative administration. 31 • Frere 

penned32 • down his vie'VlS that Russia in Central Asia could 

only be stopped either by a mountain barrier or by a civilised 

pmver. Russian policy, Frere said,had been positive, active, 

and aggressive, while that of .England in Central Asia was 

purely defensive, stationary, and even negative. This 

policy of 11standstill and do nothing" had purchased for 

Britain suspicion a..nd misunderstanding on the part of the 

~rientals. Sir Bartle Frere concluded his papers by saying 

that Britain should (i) establish political agencies in 

Afghanistan (ii) shoul6. occupy Quetta and garrison it with 

strong military force (iii) should place immediately at Herat 

a British mission. 

Salisbury personally approved many of Frere's views on 

Central Asia. 

Northbrook. 33 • 

He forwarded a copy of this memorandum to 

The latter kept quiet upon the subject.34. 

3l.J:.iartineau, J. Li fe and Corresuondence of Sir B. Frere, 
London, 1895. vol. I. p.49l. 

32. Ibid. pp.491-98: also a selected portion of this letter 
appeared in the Times, Oct. 17, 1878. p.lO. cc.l-5. 

33. Horthbrook Pa.uers no. 11. Salisbury to Northbrook 
(private) no. 35. Nov. 5, 74. 

34. Ibid. Northbrook to Salisbury (private) no. 46. Dec. 
'i'47""74. 
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In the meantime Lawrence (new Lord) wrote a counter 

memorandum on that of Frere's.35. Lawrence strong1y 

supported his policy of 11masterly inactivity" and vigorously 

pleaded its continuation. Northbrook in India i:rnmediately 

voted for Lawrence's po1icy because Lawrence seemed "to 

have sounder judgement than Frere 11 • Northbrook a1so opposed 

schemes of taking over Quetta or Herat. 36 • 

In London, Frere-Lawrence controversy led to Frere's 

second memorandum in which he strongly reiterated his earlier 

stand. 37 • :E1rere argued that Bri tain was not land hungry, 

but it certainly would not "suit us that our weaker neighbours 

should be swallowed up by the strong mi1i tary pov-rer 11 • He 

recommended treating Afghanistan 1ike Rolland or Be1gium 

whose defence against aggression was more important to 

Bri tain than her occup2.tion. Frere strongly doubted the 

competency and honesty of the British native agent stationed 

at Kabu1. He was of the view that the Amir of Afghanistan 

wou1d prefer the presence of an Englishman to a native as 

the British representative. 

35. F. 065/904. Lawrence !'Iemorandum. lJov. 4, 7 4. 

36. Northbrook Pauers, no. 11. Northbrook to S~1isbury 
no. 50. Dec. 18, 74. 

37. F.065/926. Frere Nemorandum. January 11, 75. 
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Frere's polemics encouraged Salisbury to a considerable 

extent in his views and policy regarding Afghanistan, the 

Amir of which state was drifting slowly out of Britain's 

hand. The Amir 11 does absolutely nothing" he wrote North-

brook, "in returntt for the money and protection that Britain 

had provided him. 38 • On January 2, 1875, Salisbury 

sounded Disra~li that he intended to instruct Northbrook 

frankly to take measures for placing a British resident 

either at Herat or Qandhar. 39 • Disraèli responded promptly 

(January 6, 1875) "I have be en strongly in favour of our 

Government being represented in Afghanistan, tho, not un-

aware of the difficulties and dangers. The necessity, 

however, outweighs everything. It is a question whether 
Il 40 

we should not have an agent both at Qandhar and Herat. • 

Two weeks later Salisbury addressed a despatch to North­

brook on the subject of appointing an accredited British 

agent in Afghanistan. 41 • Salisbury instructed Northbrook 

to take Sher Ali's assent for establishing a British agent 

38. Northbrook Paper~ no. 11. Salisbury to Northbrook (private) 
no. 35. Nov. 5, 74. 

39. Box 93 B/XX/Ce/268. Salisbury 
January 2, 75. 

40. Buckle. Disraèli II op. oit. p.767. 

41. Par. Pap. LVI 1878-79 no. 31. Secretary of State to 
Viceroy. January 22, 75. 
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first at Herat and later at ~andhar. He added that Sher 

Ali had ready expressed his willingness to receive ar?;ents 

in his dominion. Salisbury noticed no immediate sian 

threat to Afghanistan, but the aspects of the rs were 

ff . . tl d h . ' . 1 t. 42 • su · 1c1en y grave an t ey requ1rea t1me y precau 1on. 

The Indian Secretary doubted the conduct of the British 

Vake stationed at Kabul. He was of the view that the 

uolitical activities inside ~1.fghanistan and on its borders, 

required the presence of 11 only a iuropean11 ao:ent that 

state, v.rho could furnish many details of knowl necessary 

f 1 43 • . or the mi itary authorities to possess. 

horthbrook telegranhed the Indie. office on .F'ebruary 18, 

lG75 thet the Government of lndia's records did not sunport 

:.Jalisbury' s contention tht't the 11.r:1ir had shown his readiness 

to recei ve a i;;urope9.n .s.p;ent in his state. 1~4. [) isbury 

repl by a telegrRm on F'ebruc:,ry 23, thr"t the Amir had ex-

nressed willingness 2t A~bala to receive ~uropean agents 

reports of tollock, Thornton and Girdlestone - alJ. of the 

?unjab Civil 5ervice. 45 • Northbrook consulted the Anglo-

42. Ibid. 

43. lbid. 

44. Jar. Pan. LVI 1878-9 no. 32. Viceroy to Secretary of 
State, June 7, 75: refers tu the telegrams despatched 
on the subject. 

45. Ibid. 
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Indian officers named by Salisbury, on the subject, but 

none corroborated this statement. Northbrook sent this 

report to Salisbury on f\1arch 24. 46 • 

In the meantime the Government of India issued a 

questionnaire in particular to all the officers attached to 

the Amir during his visit to India, and all those officers 

who had been familiar with the Afghan politics in general. 

The questionnaire asked them (i) whether the Amir ever 

expressed his willingness to receive European agents in 

Afghanistan; (ii) whether the appointment of such agents 

would be advantageous, and (iii) whether the reports of the 

native agent (Vakeel), were reliable, sufficient and 

satisfactory. 47 • 

The general conclusion of all the officers consulted, 

including that of the two former Vakeels, Fonjdar Khan and 

Ghulam Hussain, was adverse to the proposai of sending agents 

to Afghanistan. They also denied the general willin&~ess of 

the Amir to receive such agents. 48 ' The only exception 

among these officers were Captain H. Grey and F.B. Both 

believed that the Amir was willing to receive the ~uropean 

46. ~-

47. Par. Pap. LVI 1878-79 no. 32/1. Government of India to 
Punjab, Iviarch 27, 75. 

48. Ibid. no. 32/4-13. 
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LO 
state.~/· 

D es h@d come between the Viceroy and the Indian 

Secretary: both were justified in r stands. 1\orthbrook 

as as Fall of Hi73, had turned down the request 

the enterin.f:l' into an offensive-defensive alliance 

vrith Britain. 50. 0lnce then the was shovving a veiled 

h . . 1 . t t th B . t' s' " t 51 • T' t . t os-cl l y o e rl l n uovernmen • tJ.e lme was mos 

inopportune to put forth such a r st, which would 

necessarily be turned down by the i-~.mir. ~alisbury on 

his prtrt believed that the time was highly advantap_;eous, 

the fiscal worries of the Amir, chaotic condition of 

the country, .::md the grvming intrigues of li.ussia on the 

frontiers of A.fghanistan would force Sher Ali to pay willing 

ear to the Bnglish request. Northbrook did not share e 

vievvs. found the Amir :far away from embarrassment and 

apprehension. i~orthbrook looked forv;ard to hussia' s seizure 

of IVlerv. 'l1his ',vould terrorise theAmir. And here would 

. d . B . . h t th · · S 2 • come 8 tlme to lctate rltlS terms o e Amlr. To 

49. This point had been discussed in Chapter V. ?PlS0-181 

50. 

51. Northbrook r'apers. no. 11. Northbrook to Salisbury 
\:Drivate) no. 32. 0ept. 8, 74. 

52. LVI 1878-79. no. 32. 
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Salisbury this was 2 useless scheme to wait for, and an 

unfortunate hour for 0roposals. He arsued that by this 

t ~ngland would have lost its influence at bul 

Court. 53. 

Differences vrere ?.ettin'< stron>::f:r betvrc;en the Vic 

and the India Secret2ry. Jisraeli sensed the tian, 

and in the middle of H~75, he '·,rrote to 0 isbury nmy im-

pression is thé'.:..t son~o.h01v or oth··:r Northbrook reicsn 1tJ'ill 

saon terminatr; and you and I must look for ri 54 man 11 • · • 

orthbrook also on his n~rt re sed th~t he could no 

more with his dictatinp superior, and in ~ ( 12) ' 

he rec:uested ~é=ilisbury to r elieV·3 him of h dut s in 

India.55. ln the sea.rch for nthe rL~ht mann Lord Powis, 

the p;rePt grandson of Lord Clive, snd Lord John Manners vrere 

consulted. Both declined the offer. 

found, vrho C8me forward vrith a. dicturn, nr know not vrhether 

I can s<c:.ve the shi:r;, but I vmuld rsthr;r do so or e vriththe 

rudàer in my ri-:o:ht hendn. 56. Lytton had been se cted, as 

53. Ibid!.. no. 33. Secretanr of ot,ate to Viceroy, l'Jov. 19, 75. 

54. ~:!alisburv .PapeŒ• .Jisraeli to 0:üisbury ( private), June 
~7-
·~,' ) . 

55. l] et :.:J '"1·'n' o'"n .':>"' _ , u. .._ ... o, 

190~, p.lll}. 
Ceorr,e, ~arl of Northbrook, London 

56. B/XX/LX/20. Lytton 
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Disraèli wrote to him, to cope successfully \vith the 

11critical state of affairs in Central Asia 11 •
57 • 

Coming back to Central Asia, we notice that after the 

conquest of Khiva, Russia had been manoeuvering for the 

occupation of Merv. Both the British public and the 

Government were sensitive at this point to Russia. To 

allay their apprehension, Gortchakov had assured Granville 

that any demonstration against the Turkomans of Merv would 

b 1 . t• 58. e mere y pu~ ~ve. 

But the Conservatives took a different view of the 

situation. Russia must understand that in the event of a 

Russian advance upon Merv, the British troops would also 

advance into Afghanistan. Derby, made it clear to 

Schouvalov, the new Russian Ambassador in London, that 

England would not be the first to take steps in Central Asia, 

but certainly would not be late to miss a chance if ever 

created by Russian movements on the other side. 59 • This 

warning had an effect upon the St. Petersburg authorities. 

In a meeting of the Cabinet, presided by the Czar, and 

attended by Schouvalov, who was visiting the capital for a 

57. Balfour, Lady Betty. Lord Lytton's Indian Administration, 
London 1899, p.2. 

58. F.O. 65/901. Gortchakov to Brunnow, Feb. 2, 74. 

59. F.O. 65/926. Derby to Loftus no. 65, I<1arch 19, 75. 
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briefing, the idea of further advance in the direction of 
60 .. 

l-1erv, as urged by the mili tary party, was discouraged. 

But Russia, nevertheless claimed complete liberty of action 

over the territories situated between the Russian frontiers 

in Turkistan and those of the Afghanistan. This was the 

understanding, Russia asserted, established between Engl~d 

and Russia under the negotiations of 1873. Merv, Gortchakov 

pointed out in his memorandum, dra \tm up for the study of 

Schouvalov, fell under the Russian sphere of influence. 

He called Afghanistan an intermediary zone, whose independance 

was respectable both to England and Russia. 61 • 

This explanation exasperated the Conservatives. The 

Indian sources called Gortchakov's memorandum inaccurate and 

misleading. 62 • The Foreign office with the consent of the 

India office, told the Czar's Government that the idea of 

the neutral zone had been abandoned, the minute Clarendon's 

suggestion of neutralizing the upper Amu to the south of 

Bokhara was rejected by Russia. It added that Forsyth's 

mission to St. Petersburg was not conditioned to "re-open 

60. F.O. 65/927 Loftus to Derby no. 134. April 27, 75. 

61. F.O. 65/927. Gortchakov to Schouvalov, April 17, 75. 

62. F.O. 65/928. I.O. to F.O. June 21, 75: Viceroy to 
Secretary of State no. 37. Aug. 23, 75. 
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the question of neutral zone". It was the delimitation 

of the Afghan boundary and makine Afghanistan exte~~al to 

Russian influence that constituted the Anglo-Russian under-

standing of 1873. 63 • Disraéli~in the Parliament, called 

the idea of the neutral zone a mere "speculation in a 
64. 

diplomatie despatch, and nothing else 11 • Bence the 

Russian Government was warned in explici t terms that any 

further southward Russian advance, might result in serious 
65. consequences. 

This brought an end to the idea of the neutral zone 

put forward by the Liberal Ninistry of .Eneland. Both the 

Russian press and politicians hailed it. Gortchakov sent 

his approval to London.
66

• Baron Jomini, the acting Russian 

Foreign minister, called the neutral zone system an 
67. 11impossibility in barbarie lands". Journal de Ste. 

Petersburg, in an article on July 18, 1875, advised both 

Russia and England to help each other in subjugating the 

Nohanrrnadans of Central Asia. It asserted that Russia as 

next door neighbour to India, would be a source of assistance 

63. F.O. 65/930. Derby to Doria no. 318. Oct. 25, 75. 

64. Hansard. Gommons CCXXIX 1876. c.l35. 

65. ]'.0. 65/930. Derby to Doria no. 318. op. ci t. 

66. Par. Pap. LXXX 1878 no. 62. Gortchakov to Schouvalov, 
Feb. 15, 76. 

67. F.O. 65/928. Doria to Derby no. 215, July 13, 75. 
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to Britain in controllinc its two hundred million unruly 

subjects. 68 • Schouvalov used the same language to Lytton 

during the latter's interview with the Russian envoy in 

London. Schouvalov persuaded both Derby and Lytton to 

pave way for direct correspondence between the Viceroy of 

India and that of the Russian Turkistan. Schouvalov also 

proposed to Lytton to partition Afghanistan and to establish 

a common frontier between the two Empires in the East. 69· 

Armed with instructions both from Disraêli and Salisbury, 

Lytton set out for India in March 1876. Lytton was sent on 

a mission to India. The mission concerned Central Asia only. 

His first and foremost duty was 11 to ascertain and remove if 

possible, the causes of Sher Ali's undisguised alienation ••• 

and to spare no effort to place its relations with him on a 

more cordial and substantial footing 11 •
70 • Lytton from the 

very outset of his administration in India, concentrated on 

the north-western frontiers. He wanted to form a net.., 

68. F.O. 65/928. Doria to Derby no. 217. July 19, 75. 

69. Lytton Papers no. 3/1. Lytton to Salisbury (private) 
Feb. 26, 76: F.O. 65/956. Derby to Loftus no. 108. 
Harch 2, 76: Lytton Papers no. 518/3. Lytton to 
Cranbrook (private) July 1, 78. 

70. Lytton, Robert. Personal and Literary Letters: edited 
by Lady Betty Balfour, London 1906, vol. 2. p.3: Par. 
~· LVI 1878-79. no. 35. Instructions to Lytton.---
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province beyond the Indus. The new frontier province should 

comprise of six frontier districts (Hazara, Kohat, Peshawar,Banu, 

Dera Ismail Khan, and Dera Ghazi Khan). It would be placed 

under a Chief Commissioner located at Peshawar, to be under 
71. t the direct control of the Viceroy. Lytton's nex 

pre-occupation was with Amir Sher Ali. He had to convince 

the Amir of Britain's friendly intentions towards him. But 

before convincing the Amir, he had to convince his council 

of the friendly intentions of Britain regarding Afghanistan. 

Lytton wanted to send an envoy to the Amir to confer with him 

on matters of common interest. To deal with Uorthbrook's 

trained council,"a very stupid council 11 as Lytton called it, 

was a hard job.72 • General H.W. Norman and Sir William 

Muir were holding a strong opposition to the Viceroy's policy 

regarding Afghanistan. 73 • It was after a considerable amount 

of canvassing that the council agreed on the general policy 

laid down by the new Viceroy. 74 • Lytton also started a tour 

71. Lytton Papers. no. 8. The organization of N.W.F. 
Province. 

72. Hughendon }Wnor Papers. Box 105, no. B/~LY/230. 
Lytton to Disraëli (private) April 21, 76: Carnarvon 
Papers. P.R.O. 30/6/15. Lytton to Carnarvon {private) 
Nov. 29, 76. 

73. Lytton Pa pers., no. 7. Norman and }luir minutes on June 
19' 76. 

74. Lytton. Letters op. cit. Lytton to Salisbury, April 
20, 76. 
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of the frontier districts to have first hand knowledge of 

the affairs on the borders. He was planning to make a 

military demonstration on the borders a.e;ainst Afghanistan, 

if the l,g_tter state did not consent to the new En,o;lish 

proposals. 75 • Luckily the Amir did not reject the British 

proposais and exoressed his vdllingness to send his envoy 

to India. Both Salisbury and Disraeli were nimpressed •••• 
76. 

very favourably" with Lytton's proceedings India. 

Central ùs for the Conservatives was to vlay an 

important role in European politics. The cr4ffibling 

structure of the Ottoman Bmpire in the -ineteenth century 

nrovided s fert ground for Hussia nd itustria in the 

Balkans. Turkey, under its weak ruler, t-~bdul Aziz, shattered 

finances, having acquired nine foreign loans between 1845 

3nd 1875, and faced with a resurgence of n;Jtionalism 

among its non-Muslim minorities of the Balkan Peninsula, 

present a chronic problem for the British policy makers of 

the Nineteenth century. In the summer of 1875, Bosnia and 

Herzegovina revolted against the ~orte. This movement 

received considerable support from Serbia and the southern 

75. Lytton ?apers 516/I. Salisbury to Lytton no. 30, June 
23, 76, refers to Lytton' s vim'lfs. Salisbury opposed 
this measure. 

76. Hu~hendon Ma.:n.or_._p~...e.ers. Box 92, no; B/XX/ce/75. 
Salisbury to Disraeli (private), iviay 13, 76: Lyt_"ton 
Papers 516/I. Disraeli to S isbury (private}, Sept. 
3, 76 in S isbury to Lytton no. 48. 
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Slav lands~. This brought the Russians as well into 

action. Czar Alexander II was visiting Ems at this time. 

He invited Germany and Austria for negotiations. In Nay 

1876, the Berlin memorandum was drawn up. The memorandum 

proposed an armistice of two months and Turkey was warned 

to arrive at an agreement with its be]igerents, failing 

at which the Powers would intervene to maintain peace. 

Italy and France accepted the proposais. London disagreed: 

on Hay 24, the British fleet was sent to Basika Bay in the 

defence of Turkey. 

plan of action. 

It brought an immediate end to the Czar•s 

But next week brougaproblems more complicated in the 

Ottoman Empire. Sul tan Abdul Aziz v1as murdered on ~Iay 30, 

followed by the death of his two ministers. The same month 

a revolt broke out in Southern Bulgaria. Serbia and Honte-

negro declared war on Turkey on the last day of June 1876. 

Czar Alexander concluded his trip by entering into a secret 

convention with Austria on July 8 at Reischstadt, for the 

partitioning of Turkey. 77 • 

Russia sent its volunteers to Serbia under its Central 

Asian warrior General Charnaiev. But the Turks knew the 

art of warfare. They pushed the Serbian at flight. The 

77. Seton..Watsoo. op. cit. p.517. 



latter's defe2t at Aleksinac opened 3elgrade to the Turks. 

Russia sent an ultimatum on October 31, 1876, to the new 

Sultan Murad V, insisting upon a cessation of hostilities 

within forty-eight hours. She limited the duration of 

the armistice to one month or six v.reeks under which 'I'urkey 

had to conclude peace terms. The ?orte requested for more 

time. Huss:i.:a refused, \'Thile f3ritain supported Turkish 

78. demand. The Cza .. r in lv10scow announced that if burope 

fRiled to come to the rescue of the Christian subjects of 

the ?orte, Russia \<'Tould nact alonea. 79. 

This vvas a critical situation. Constantinople would 

-necessarily fall to Hussia, in case of the latter's·war 

against Turkey. );J:any in .Gngland thour>;ht tha t Bri tain 

should occupy ~gypt, so as to secure Britain's highway to 

India. 11 Constantinople11 said Disraeli (now :ê.:arl of Beacons-

field) in his intervie1.-v to Lord Barrington on October 23, 

l876n, is the key of 1ndia and not Egypt and the Suez 
~:o ,-. 111'--' • liana • 

Next day, that is on October 24, Lytton received a telegram 

of inouiry from Salisbury: Beaconsfield wanted to know of the 

78. Buckle. Disraeli Il QR..!... cit. pp.955-57. 

79. Cecil, Lady Gwendolen. Life of hobert 1 Mar9J:!.._i....ê_ of 
oalisbury, London 1921, vol. II p.89. 

80. Buckle. Disraeli II. op~ cit. p.956. 
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possibility of striking a rapid blow on Russia in Central 

Asia.
81

" Lytton was thrilled and immensely excited to 

hear the prospects of a war with Russia in Central Asia. 

He boasted superiority of his arms in India. 11If war 

is declared 11 wrote Lytton the next day, "I would propose 

that the Government of India should at once take the offen-

sive in Central Asia, where Russia is really very weak, and 

where I believe that without any great expenditure of force, 

we could easily raise the Khanates against her, and put a 

sea of fire between us. I think i t vtould be a mistake to 
82. 

wait attack from her." However, Lytton required sorne 

grace of time - one month at least, when he could mobilise 

his army on the borders and could enter into necessary 

negotiations with Kelat and Kabul~3 • 

Next day Lytton addressed Salisbury another letter, 

informing that he was consulting his two military experts 

General Sir Henry Norman, the military member of the Viceroy's 

Council, and General Sir Frederick Haines, the Commander-in-

Chief of the army in India, on the possibility of striking a 

81. gughendon ~ffinor Papers. Bilix 93. no. B/XX/ce/273. Salis­
bury to Disraéli (private) Oct. 29, 76: refers to 
Disre4li's inquiry. 

82. Lyt~on Papers, no. 3/1. Lytton to Salisbury (private) 
Oct. 25, 76: also same in Salisbury Papers. 

83. ~· Same to same (~rivate) Oct. 27: Hughendon Manor 
Papers. Box 93 no. B/XX/ce/273 a-b. Lytton to Salis­
bury (private) Oct. 27, 76. 
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11 telling blow" on Russia in Central Asia. Lytton feared 

that winter had started, and all the passes of Central Asia 

would soon be covered with snow. He pointed out that 

presently he could easily strike a blow on Russia, in the 

direction of the Caspian, but not actually in Turkistan. 

He suggested that the spring would be the most opportune 

time for an advance on Central Asia. Lytton, therefore, 

hoped that war in Europe would be postponed till then. 84• 

1wo days later Lytton telegraphed Salisbu1~ that the British 

regiment und er orders to embark for England, would be detained 

in India: he requested the sending of more officers to train 

the newly raised native troops: he also requested the supply 

of rifles and guns for the equipment of the native soldiery.85 • 

Henceforth Lytton's dreams were haunted by the British 

conquest of Central Asia. His dramatic skill, his poetic 

prosev10rk, his devotion to his duty, and his administrative 

potentialities, influenced the men and events around him. 

He called the war vii th Russia a game in vlhich 11 prestige, 

sentiment, and political influence perhaps be even more 

important than military operation- dash, boldness and rapidity 

84. Bœlisbury Papers. Lytton to Salisbury (private), Oct. 
28' 76. 

85. Hughendon ~~nor Papers. Box 93. no. B/Y~/ce/274a. Lytton 
to Salisbury (private) Oct. 30, 76. 
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86. 
must be the main elemen"ts and conditions of success". 

Both Norman and Haines came out \·li th their plans for the 

impending British car.J.paign in Central Asia. norman thought 

that the successful proceedings of the campaign would 

require a whole-hearted co-operation of Afghanistan, 

Ka.shgharia and Turkistan. \'ii thout obtaining the co-

operation of the Hohammadans of Central Asia, any injury 

to Russia from India 11 would be a great enterprise; I 
87. 

venture to say beyond one means", Norman planned to 

send in the first instance about 150 British officers, in 

small groups to selected places in Afghanistan, where they 

should start offensive operations. This should follow· by 

despatching three British columns composing in all of 40,000 

men to Herat, Kabul and Qandhar, for full scale war against 
88. 

Russia. 
89. 

Haines in his memorandum on the subject of the 

British conquest of Central Asia, took less sanguine view 

of Sher Ali's co-operation for the success of the operation. 

86. Lytton Pa pers no. 3/1. Lytton to Norman (priva te), Dec. 
b, 76: Lytton to Haines (private), Dec. 10, 76. 

87. Carnarvon Papers. P.R.O. 30/6/115. Norman r<!emorandum on 
war with Russia in Central Asia. Dec. 2, 1876: Lytton 
Papers no. 3/1. Norman Memorandum. Nov. 2, 76. 

88. Ibid. 

89. Carnarvon Paners. P.R.O. 30/6/115. Haines Memorandum on 
the Conquest of Central Asia. Nov. 27, 1876. 
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He advised the government to crush Amir's hostile attitude 

and 11 makinç:; our immedi~"te aY)pe8rance at Cahul11 , on the 

other ha.nd if the nmir vr3.S co-opera ting' then Haines 

sugr:;est.ed th;:,t tv-.renty British officers, assisted by three 

hundred n~J.ti ve officers and soldiers, should be immedia tel y 

sent to Afghanistan and shp:haria. Thei r duties '"'ould be 

to drill the native forces, to aonroach the chiefs and tribes 

the ïurkomans of Central n , to procure intelligence on 

the routes, and to colle ct sunplies for the imoendinp; 

ex:Jedition. This should be followed by an advance of 5,000 

men of all ~rms to Kurram and Jolalabad. .c~. fort should be 

erected at Bamian, and Herat's fortification should be 

strengthened. Balan s and ~andhar should serve the 

route for advance on Turkistan. ~ngineers should be sent 

to 11.fghanistan to inS]Ject the defences. The amir should be 

' ~ncouraged to instigate the Turkomans and other tribes 

inhabiting the area betvreen the Pamir to the Caspian, in 

rebellion to dislodge riuss at C:harjoui. 

the Commander-in-Chief recormnended, shoulà commence in lVJ.ay 

or June next. 'Ihe whole expedition should be composed of 

three columns. (i) Kurram column, 6,320 men and 22 guns; 

(ii) Multan Colu.mn, 3180 men and 34 guns; (iii) bindh Column, 

4,430 men and 4 guns. rit the departure of this expedition, 

a reserve force of about 16,000 men and 43 guns should be kept 
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ready at Nrutan, Peshawar and Sindh to reinforce the first 

expedition. A detailed list of fray and forage, plus 

equipment for this hazardous journey of the army was 

attached to the memorandum. 90 • 

Lytton himself considered that the march from the 

Bolan alone would not be expedient: and that the Khyber 

route via Balkh would directly put the British attack on 

Tashkand - "the heart of Russian power in Central Asia 11 • 

He also considered that Sher Ali's acquiscence was necessary 

for an aggressive campaign against Russia: failing to 

acr~eve the Amir's agreement, Britain should fall back to 

her defensive position.91 • Lytton was sure that Sher Ali 

would co-opera te t'li th the English: so would do the 

I·1ohammadan of Central Asia who t'lere frantic at this moment 

t R . t 92. a uss~a s aggression on the Porte. 

In the meantime Lytton signed a treaty with the Khan of 

Kelat (December 8, 1876), under which the long-coveted 

strategie post of Quetta was occupied. Relations with 

Kashmir were improved and its ruler was urged to extend his 

90. ~· 

91. Lytton Paners no. 3/1. Lytton to Haines (private), 
Dec. 10, 76. 

92. Ibid. Lytton to Salisbury (private), Nov. 8, 76. 
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hold over the border states of Chi tral, Yasin and Iviastuj, 

to control the Baroghil and Iskoman Passes, both a great 

link with Kashgharia. In early January 1877, Lytton 

learnt that Sher Ali was sending his envoy to negotiate a 
93. 

treaty with the Government of India. By this time 

roads on the Kohat Pass had been improved. By the end of 

the year 1876, the following forces had been concentrated 

on the border:-

(i) Artillery. G. Battery, 8th Brigade and No. 6., 

13th Brigade at Rawalpindi. 

at Kohat. 

Hazara Mountain Battery 

(ii) Cavalry. 4th Hilssar at Rawalpindi: 8th Guide at 

Hardan, and 12th Bengal at Jehlum. 

(iii) Infantrz. 2nd Battalion 9th Foot, and 4th Battalion 

Rifle Brigade at Rawalpindi: Guides at Mardan: 20th 

Punjab infantry at Peshawar: 32nd Pioneer at Jehlum: 

and 5th Gorkha at Ahbotabad. 

(iv) Sappers and :f\Iiners. One Company at Rawalpindi and 

one Company at Roorki. 94 • 

Provisions and equipment of an army of around 40,000 

men, scheduled for a journey of 500 miles proved to be a 

93. Hughendon Hanor Papers Box 105, no. B/XX/LY/246. Lytton's 
Te1egram. January 5, 77. 

94. l'Ü1itary Pro~edings of the Government of India, 1877/961. 
Roberts to Burne no. 380c. Dec. 21, 76. 
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Hercule::tn job. Individual soldiers' wherewithal, food, 

arms and A.rmnuni ti ons, he.CJ.Vy clothing, :;;nd c."'rriao:e proved 

to be a lengthy work. Tr,c:msportation rovided another 

difficulty. Hüwever,necessary stores were established r=lt 

I\ohat to meet the demands of the sne!=lrhead of the army. 

But the shorta~e of boots was a serious problem. 

Inouiries the army stores revealed th!:).t shoes WP.re not 

+''"'. • f ,• 95. 
su~r1e1ent even :or one reg1ment. The boots ~ere neither 

pooular with the native soldiery, nor were they in vor;ue on 

the hot plains of lndia. lt vias a ~uroDean import. Orders 

were placed to the Cawnpur manuf;:; cturers in the Fall of 1876, 

but their supply did not come up to exnecta.tion. 96 • Urgent 

demands were address 

immediate re onse. 

sunply India. 

to ~ngland, but they f:=tiled to meet 

It took them three to four months to 

However, by the Spring of 1877, Lytton was well-equioryed 

for an exoeditionary force to mobilise at tta moment's noticen. 

He was hoping to conclude his negotiations with Sher i 

successfully.90. ~ should desire nothin~ bette~' wrote 

Lytton to Rawlinson, "than an early v>'él.r with Hussia, 

95. Lytton Papers no. 3/2. Lytton to Carnarvon (nrivate) 
Ja.nu:=1ry 21, 77. 

96. lvi~ li tar:L.froceedings of_!.he. Gove~~ent of India 1$77/961. 
Commander 3'2nd Pioneer to i>djutant General Delhi, Dec. 
28' 76. 

97. Ib:hS:1. Viceroy to Secretary of State no. 33, Feb. 9, 77. 

98. C~rn~Y._9n Pa:Rers. P.R.O. 30/6/15. Lytton to Carnarvon 
[privateT,January 11, 77: also sa.me in Lytton Paners 
no. 3/~. 
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90 
whose diplomacy I dread more than her arms 11 • /• But the 

home-government was cool now on the is::me of war with 

Russia. This was quite irritatin~ to Lytton. In burope 

the B2lkan question wa.s calmin.o; down. The Porte acceoted 

the hussian-proposed armistice. Un November 2, 1876, the 

British Government rroposed a ~uropean conference on the 

Eastern ~uestion. Salisbury was selected to represent the 

British interest at the Constantinople Conference in December 

1876. The Conference failed to reach any conclusion. J.i.nd 

L . b .l h b . lOO • ,n. . ytton was JU 1 ant to e~r a out 1t. 1n1s was a great 

ch;:.nce to 11 annihil:1te 11 the Eussian suoremA.DY in Gentral As 

But he received no orders for action. 

Lomakin took over Kizil .. œvat on the n.ttrek. Lytton 

considered an opportunity fit enou~h for openin~ hostilities 

inst :Z:mf>sia. 

::my further Action of Lom:ckin in the direction of Merv should 

be considered a 11 Ca. sus Belli11 c. nst n.uss 
101. 

IÜSO he 

rec~uested authoris,"Jtion for orP:ani.sin? and encour:;;l.O:ing the 

99. 1,yttonJaJ2ers .• no. 3/2. Lytton to Rawlinson(private), 
January 11, 77. 

DO. Ibid. Lytton to Carnarvon (private), January 21, 77: 
~lso same in Carnarvon Papers. • 

In. Hugh end on Iv~fl:_0-or Pa pers. Box 93, no. A/XX/ ce/2SOa. 
Lytton to S:üisbury, I•Iay 30, 77: F.O. 65/992. Viceroy 
to Secretary of State no. 21, July 2, 77. 
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Turkomans of Nerv for war against Russia. 

The attitude of the home-government towards Russia 

had changed. The idea of war with Russia had originated 

with Beaconsfield. But the Cabinet led by "the three 

Lords" - Derby, Salisbury and Carnarvon, did not approve 

of it. The India office was totally indifferent to the 

scheme of war with Russia in Central Asia. Sir Louis 

}~llet, and Lord George Hamilton, both of them Salisbury's 

assistant at the India office termed it an insane idea.102 • 

The India Council was getting "wilder and wilder" on Lytton 1 s 

proceedings on the north-western frontiers of India. They 

believed that the doctrines adopted by Lytton's government 

were not of the 11Indian origin".
103

• Sir Horace Walpole, 

permanent private Secretary at the India office, was horrified 

to read Lytton's private correspondence addressed to Salisbury 

on the subject of War with Russia.l04. 

In Parliament, in the press, and in the Cabinet there 

was alarm prevailing over Lytton's bellicose attitude. An 

impression was growing both in the India office, and in the 

Cabinet that Lytton was going to war with Russia without the 

102. Lytton Papers. 517/2. Hamilton to Lytton (private) 
Nov. 16, 7e: lv!allet to Lytton (private), Dec. 29, 76. 

103. Lytton Papers. 516/2. Salisbury to Lytton (private) 
no. 26, July 13, 77, and no. 33, Aug. 14, 77. 

104. Carnarvon Papers. P.R.O. 30/6/15. Walpole to Carnarvon 
{private), Dec. 25, 76. 



- 297 -

approval of the home-eovernment. hven 11 so ber' pa pers 

like Economist and the Saturday Review had an allusion to 

this.l05. The public opinion was against such a policy. 

The London press - Times, Daily H~, and London Society 

were anti-Russian, while the country press was unanimously 

the other way. 106 • 

And worst of all, Salisbury was absolutely a changed 

man after the Constantinople Conference. He returned home 

convinced that Turkey was doomed beyond hope, and its only 

solution was not integration but disintegration. This idea, 

there are evidences to show, was àpl!:$s:Sed::.i. upon Salisbury 

by Ignatiev, the shrewd Russian soldier-statesman. 

Beaconsfield himself was surprised at this change and remarked 

that Salisbury had become more Russian than Ignatiev. 11 Sal. 

seems most prejudicedn, wrote Beaconsfield on December 28, 

1876 to Derby, "not to be aware that his principal object, 

in being sent to Const. is to keep Russians out of Turkey, 

not to create an ideal existance for Turkish xtiansn.107 • 

105. L~tton Papers. 516/2. SBlisbury to Lytton (private) no. 
2 op. cit. and no. 33. on. cit. 

106. Lytton Pa12ers. 517/2. Nal1et to Lytton (private), Dec. 
29, 76. 

107. Buckle. Disraèli II on. cit. n.983. The rise of 
Bismark's Germany was one of the foremost factors that 
was changing Bri tain' s attitude tovrards Russia. This 
idea \'ras emphasised upon Salisbury' s mind by Ignatiev 
as well. See Lytton's correspondence on this subject 
in Loctton Papers no. 3/2. 
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Salisbury's change of mind was most shocking to Lytton. 

"Instead of relying on his support", wrote Lytton to Layardt 

the nevv British Ambassador in Turkey, "I have to struggle 

against his indirect but power:ful opposition". In another 

letter to the sarne :persan Lytton remarks that Salisbury 

"adheres to his new gospel with all the exaggerated fervour 

of a convert, and I :fear he carries with him Carnarvon, 

Northcote, Cross and the majority of the Cabinet. I :feel 

equally ashamed of my party. It reall;y seems as though the 

English E:npire were doomed, and all our present statesmen 

stricken with :political blindness 11 •
108 • Lytton was grieved 

both by Beacons:field and Salisbury who had gone back on their 

promises, after he had gone so far on their 11 private 11 

advices.109 • 

In his private correspondence on the subject of the 

Cabinet's conduct and betrayal, Lytton's literary skill and 

injured pride coupled together, produced most embellished 

products of his pen. Eut Salisbury, "a man o:f big words 

and timid acts 11 as Burne called him, llO • vras al together 

changed. He saw no advanta,çr,e in a war with Russia, whether 

108. Lytton P apers, no. 3/2. Lytto:n to Layard, July 2 and 
3, 1877. 

109. Ibid. Lytton to Hamilton, Sept. 3, 77. 

llO. Lytton Papers. 517/6. Burne to Lytton (private), Oct. 
11, ?s. 
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conducted officially or unofficially. Salisbury believed 

that Britain in Central Asia would not be able to occupy 

any fortified place, because the Russians, like the Turks, 

fought well behind the wa11. 111 • Nor did he feel that it 

ld b h bl t . 't th T k tt k R · 112 • wou e onoura e o 1nc1 e e ur oman a ac on uss1a. 

However, Salisbury appeased Lytton by telling him that in 

case of Russian occupation of Merv, the Cabinet had decided 

to take over Herat. But to achieve that end, the Afghan 

co-operation would be necessary. He advised Lytton to use 

his every endeavour to compromise with the Amir.ll3. 

But Afghanistan proved to be a stumbling block in 

Lytton's programme. By the end of 1877, Britain lost its 

influence, not only in Afghanistan, but in Kashgharia as 

well. The latter state was virtually lost to Britain. 

The following pages give the story of the loss of the 

British allies in Central Asia. 

111. Lytton Papers 516/2. 
No. 26, July 13, 77. 

Salisbury to Lytton (private) 

112. Ibid. Same to Same (private) No. 20, June 1, 77. 

113. Ibid. Same to same (private} No. 33, August 14, 77. 
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The Loss of Allies - Afghanistan 

and Kashgharia 1877-1878. 

The loss of British influence in Afghanistan can be 

attributed to the rise of the Liberals under Gladstone 

(1869-187 4). Gladstone, the Duke of Argyll, and Northbrook 

form a trio, responsi ble for cstr-ainïng; the relations between 

Afghanistan and Britain. To the Gladstonian Liberals, 

imperialism was synonymous with i~~orality. England, 
1 

Gladstone believed had become limitlessi it had taken 

administrative responsibili ti es unassurned in the history of 

mankind. The Roman Empire itself, despite its vast terri-

torial possessions, had never taken on such responsibilities 

that now rested on the British Parliament and Cabinet. 2 • 

The new Liberal slogan was that England must remain 

stationary. War and sQuabbles were not in Gladstone's 

programme. In 1868, soon after his assumption of power, 

he preached the limitations of armaments in Europe. 3 • At the 

same time his deep religious convictions urged him to condemn 

the oppressive Turks in the Near East, he condoned the 

oppressiveness of Russia in Central Asia. Russia, to 

1. Nineteenth Century Review IV 1878, "England's r1ission 11 

by Gladstone, p.584. 

2. Nineteenth Century Review II 1877, 11Aggression in Egypt 
and Freedom in The East" by Gladstone, pp.l51-52. 

3, Knaplund, P. Gladstone's Foreign Policy, Hew York 1935. 
p.ll. 
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Gladstone's mind, was the introducer of Western traditions, 

civilization and morality into the wilds of Central Asia. 

The government of the Czar, emphasised Gladstone, ttexhibits 

a career of marked moderation and prudence and a rather 

reluctant submission to the inexorable causes which drove 

them forward in an anxious, costly and uninvited career 11 •
4 • 

No wonder Gladstone's portrait decorated a Russian office 

in St. Petersburg. 

1 5. genera • 

11 1 admire him much" said one Russian 

To the Liberais of the Gladstone era, Central Asia beyond 

the north-west of Afghanistan, belonged to Russia. Both in 

priva te and in public they gave vsnt to this thought. In 

Parliament they applauded Lawrence's 11masterly inactivity 11 • 

Called Russia's a civilizing mission in Turkistan: and 

underated the i~portance of Afghanistan in the north-western 

defences of India. "Nature", said Grant Duff, the Under-

Secretary of State for India, 11is the greatest bulwark 

against Russia 11 • Hence they discouraged subsidies to Sher 

Ali, and considered Russia's expansion inevitable.6 • 

4. Contemporary Review XXVIII 1876. 11Russian Policy and 
Deeds in Turkistan", p .875. 

5. Marvin, C. Russian Advance Towards India, London 1882. 
p.229. 

6. Hansard. Commons. CXCVII 1868-69. cc.l567 and 1561-65: 
CCXV 1873. cc.848-863. 
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As early as 1868, The Duke of Argyll opined that 

Afghanistan would soon be the "only one" state sting 

between India and Russia. 7· "About Central Asia," wrote 

the Duke to Granville, 11 1 am so bored by it that it is all 
8. 

I can do to gi ve i t any attention 11 • Granville once 

asked the Duke whether the latter could tell "why 11 the 

Russians were tpushing on" in Central Asia. The Du.ke 

replied that i t \tas only the "philosopher' s ,.,orry" to run 

after 11whys 11 •
9 • An interesting letter is preserved in the 

Granville Papers, \v.ritten by the Duke of Argyll to Granville. 

The letter, though obviously not written in a serious mooù, 

gives an idea of the type of view held by sorne influential 
10. 

Liberals. The Duke wrote:-

11You will be delighted to hear that I have 
determined to give up India. I find we get nothing 
from i t. It even costs us a good deal. It imrJoses 
Oustom duties on our goods - 5 pet. on cotton and 10 
pet. on other goods. It obliges us to keep a large 
army and a great part of the expense falls on the 
poor British tax paper. The whole thing is an 
antiquated delusion. I have desired 1-Iayo to reinstate 
the Eoguls and I have suggested that a great part of 
the country may be put under Nana Sahib, if indeed he 
be alive and unhanged. 

7. Inveraray Papers. Duke of Argyll :Eemorandum on 
Rawlinson' s l>Iemorandum, 1868. 

8. Granville Papers. P.R.O. 30/29/51. Argyll to Granville 
(private), January 9, 72. 

9. ~· January 9 and 11, 1872. 

10. Ibid. Argyll to Granville (private), Dec. 1, 1869. 
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Will you before Parlt. meets circulate a little 
memo: explaining yr proceedings? I shall have one 
ready- as like yours as I can make it 11 • 

It was during the days of the Liberals that Russia 

opened correspondence with Amir Sher Ali. Seventeen 

letters were exchanged between the Russian authorities and 
11. 

the ruler of Kasul, during 1870 and 1874. Sher Ali 

was frightened after receiving the early communications of 

Kaufmarm. The A~ir suspected the Russian motives in 

opening correspondence with him. The Liberals allayed his 

apprehensions, encouraged him to communicate 'lili th Kaufmann, 

and assured him of the good intentions of the Czar's 
12. 

government regarding Afghanistan. 

Sher Ali received very cold treatment from the Liberals 

even after the restoration of his power. In 1869 Sher Ali 

visited Ambala with high hopes of receiving pecuniary 

assistance from the Government of India. He did not conceal 

his displeasure with the past activities of the Government 

of India. He looked forward to such concessions as an 

offensive-defensive alliance, an annual subsidy and active 

support a.gainst his enemies. But as discussed earlier, 

Lord f.layo handled the si tua ti on v.ri thout commi tting Bri tain 

in any way. Sher Ali obtained neither treaty, fixed subsidy, 

11. Par. Pao. XCVIII 1881, no. 1/1-17. 

12. Pap. Pap. LXXX 1878, no. 1/7. Viceroy to ruler of 
Kabul June 24, 70. 
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13. 
active help, nor dynastie pledges. The Amir ivas 

returning totally 11 empty handed 11 • Hayo sensed 

A':lir was disappointed: to ap 2:.ease any possible wounded 

feelings he expressed "severe displeasure 11 of the 

Government at the seditious activities of his rivals. 

the 

tish 

The Liberals did not appreciate the liberty taken by the 

Viceroy in making "certain expressions" the meanin6 of 

which mieht be misconstrued. by the Amir. The home stry 

k d th V. t d' '· 1 to the AmJ.·r.15 • as e e J.ceroy o J.savow nJ.s an[;uage 

Eayo was at pains to explain the intricacy of the 

situation. wrote privately to the Duke that had the 

la tt er be en on the spot, even he "would have agreed \vi th 
., 16. 

US' • Hayo impressed upon the Duke's mind that tain 

had gained everything, out lost nothing. 

The end of !v1ayo 's rule in India, was indeed a great 

loss to British diplomacy in Central Asia. His successor, 

Lord Northbrook, was "a stupid fellow v1ho did not appreciate 

the real condition affairs but still •••••• would have done 

13. Inveraray Papers 1869/1. Nayo to Argyll (private), 
April 18, b9: Par. Pap. LVI 1878-79 no. 19. Viceroy to 
Secretary of State, July 1, 69. 

14. Ibid. 

15. Par. Pa~. 1878-79 no. 18. Secretary of State to Viceroy 
f,1ay 4, 9. 

l6 •. Inveraray Papers. 1869/1. Ivlayo to Argyll (private), 
July l, 70. 



- 305 -

something •••••• h.ad he not been over-ruled by a cowardly 

d . . t t. Ill 7. a mJ.ru.s ra 1on. It t.tras during l'Jorthbrook' s rule 

(1872-76) that the Amir was irritated. Northbrook tried 

to step into Mayo's shoes, regarding Afghanistan, but he 

lacked the essential ingredient of Mayo's policy- tact. 

Three problems cropped up during Northbrook's administ-

ation which strained his relations with the Amir. They 

vvere (i) British arbi tration in Siestan; (ii) 1Torthbrook' s 

interference on behalf of Prince Yaqub, and (i ) the Amir's 

apprehension at Russian proximity to his state. 

Siestan is situated on the banks of Helmand with an 

area of about 500 square miles. It was inhabited by people 

of Afghan, Persianand Bilauchi descent. It is bounded on 

the north and north-vvest by Khurassan, on the west by Persia, 

and on the south and south-east is separated from Nakran by 

a desert. It belonged to Persia in the ancient days. 

Persia had a classical attachment to this province. It was 

in Siestan that Rustarn was born, Afrasiyab fought, Babman 

scored victories and Naushervan ruled. It was lost for a 

while to Persia during the incursion of the Ivrongols, but 

was recovered under the Safavids. ~1mad Shah Abdali, the 

founder of modern Afghanistan (1747-1773) incorporated 

17. Gladstone Papers. Add Mss. 44266/49. Northbrook to 
Gladstone (private), Nov. 25, 78: refers to the comnents 
made about him by the Conservative party. 
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Siestan in his dominion. Follmvinr; the turmoil of the 

~2rst Anglo-Afghan War, Persia occupied Siestan in 1853.
18

• 

The conquest of Siestan was in Dost Noh2-m1:1ad 1 s in 

1862-1863. The Persian Government was alive to this 

threat and in the :E'all of 1862, it urged the British Govern-

ment to warn Dost Hohammad of the consequences of attack on 

the Persian province of Siestan.19 • The British Foreign 

office declined to recognise Persian sovereignty over Siestan, 

hence, the Foreign office excused itself the execution 

of the Article Seven of the Treaty of Paris 1857, under 

which Britain had promised to arbitrate in Perso-Afghan 

border disputes. 20 • But this explanation did not satisfy 

Persia and the latter state persistantly approached the 

British Governr.1ent to prohibit Ka.bul's acgressive designs 

upon Siestan. Hard uressed on the subject, Lord Russell 

infonned the Persian Government in 1Jovember, 1863 that the 

British Goverrunent had decided not to interfere in the Perso-

Afghan dispute over Siestan, and he added that Britain would 

"leave it to both parties to make good their possessions by 

18. ~S.L.I. 1868/3. Memorandum on Siestan. Dec. 20, 67, 
p.82. 

19. §_.H.C. 1862/56. F.O. to I.O., Oct. 22, 62: sends 
Erskine's telegram from Constantinople containing Persian 
protest. 

20. F.O. 60/273. Russell to Alison, no. 80, Oct. 30, 62. 
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force of anns 11 • 
21 • 

Henceforth Persia steadily made efforts to establish 

itself in Siestan. Force, conciliation and intrigues were 

the common methods employed by Persia to win both Persian 

and non-Persian elements in Siestan. In 1867 Persia 

deposed i ts ruler, Taj r<Ioharmnad, and took over the ad­

ministration directly by appointing a governor. 22 • 

During this period (1863-1867), v1hen Persia was 

consolidating its ho1d over Siestan, Afghanistan was torn 

up by the Ci vil War. The issue was taken u:o by Sher Ali 

in 1870, who requested British mediation in 1870. Lord 

r~·Iayo agreed. 23 • General F .J. Goldsmid, assisted by two 

Anglo-Indian officers, was appointed to settle the disnute 

between Afghanistan and Persia, each represented by a 

commissioner. 

In Autumn, 1872, Go1dsmid declared his award. He 

divided Siestan into two parts, (i) Siestan proper, and 

(ii) Outer Siestan. 

Siestan proper was defined as the region, bounded on 

the north-west by the Hamun dividing it from Lash Jowain and 

21. ]1 .0. 60/273. Russell to r~1ohd. J:illan, lfov. 5, 63. 

22. E.S.L.I. 1868/3. lV!em.o on Siestan on. cit. p.88. 

23. E.S.L.I. 1870/7. Viceroy to Amir, Sept. 8, 70. 
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Neh Benden districts; on the south by the Hamun and 

Dashte-Sanghar and the barren tracts south of Sakuha and 

Burje Alam Khan; on the east by the main branch of the 

Helmand. Outer Siestan was cor.rposed of the country on 

the right bank of the Helnand extending 120 miles in length 

on the north to Rudbar in the south. Siestan proper was 

assigned to Persia, vnlile outer 8iestan went to Afghanista~~· 
It was decidely a thankless job. :Both Persia and 

.Afghanistan were annoyed at this partition. Persia got all 

the productive lands of Siestan, much coveted by Afghanistan; 

while the former lost all the strategie posts recently built 

on the eastern side of the Helmand. 

Amir Sher Ali was expecting sorne undue favour from 

Goldsmid, and failin:g to get i t, he got irri tated. "The 

atmosphere at the Court" wrote the Kabul Vakeel, 11is changed. 

None of them is contented with arbitration".
25

• The Amir 

himself in his letter to the Viceroy, tenned the partition 

as 11 imaginary 11 and based upon 11 shortsighted" views. 26· 

Yaqub-Sher Ali relations have been discussed in the 

preceding pages, i t \'lill be remembered that Nayo had be en 

successful in patching up the differences between the father 

24. Go1dsmid, F.J. Eastern Persia, London 1876. p.407. 

25. Po1itical Proceedings of the Government of Punjab, 1873/14 
Vakeel to Commissioner, January 20, 73. 

26. E.S.L.I. 1873/14. Arnir to Viceroy, January 20, 73. 
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and the son. Yaqub had been appointed to the governorship 

of Herat, but was carefully \vatched through his three 

deputies - Hirakhor Ahmad Khan, who held the control of the 

finances, Abdullah Khan lJasiri, commanding the irregular 

levie, and Hafizullah Khan, the Commander of the regular 

forces. 27 • But Yaqub gradually overpowered them and took 

control of the total aruninistration in the province. 28 • 

}tirakhor came to Kabul in August 1872, and complained 

against Yaqub's mishandling of the admir.istration and finances 

of Herat. He was reluctant to serve any more under the 

annoying prince, but the Amir insisted upon his presence in 

29 He rat. • After a year r•1irakhor again vi si ted Kaibul and 

opened a tirade against Yaqub's misdoings in Herat. 30 • 

In October, 1873, Sher Ali fell ill, and Yaqub sought to 

advance on Kabul and obtain powers, but he was disappointed 

to learn of his father's quick recovery. 31 • In early 1874, 

Sher Ali appointed his younger son, Abdullah Jan, his heir-

27. Political Proceedings of the Government of Punjab 1872/142. 
J:IG 2-5 Feb. 72. 

28. Ibid. K.D. June 18-20, 72. 

29. ~· K.D. Aug. 27-29, 72. 

30. Ibid. L..D. September, 72. -
31. Po1itica1 Proceedings of the Government of Punjab 1873/ 

143. K.D. Nov. 11-15' 73. 
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apparent. This led Yaqub to retaliatory measures. He 

exhibited seditious intentions against the Kabul authority, 

ref'used to celebra te the ne,., he:iP-apparent' s appointment, 

approached the Persian authorities f'or help and made a 

demand upon the Amir to assign him permanently the 

administration of' Herat. 32 • 

The Amir thought to reconcile his of'f'ended son, and 

sent his two trusted officers Mira~1or and Sherdil to invite 

him to Kabul. Yaqub refused to listen to their advice, 

and sent his own agent Tahir Khan to clarify his position to 

the Amir. 33 • Nirakhor reported from Herat that the prince 

could only be overpowered by deceit, and he advised the ~mir 

that the latter should take Tahir K.h.an into confidence and 

to induce Yaqub to come to Kabul "for success of the 

objectn. 34 • The plan was approved at Kabul and a delegation 

was sent in the company of Tahir Khan to Herat. The 

delegation carried written promises of safety of life, 

dignity, and property, as had been demanded by Yaqub 

through his agent. Yaqub arrived in Kabul in early November. 
35. 

Three days later he was arrested. 

32. Po1iti_ca1 Proceedings of the Goverrunent of Pu..l'ljab 1874/ 
144. ..K...Jl.,. Dec . 30, 73 to Narch 26, 74. 

33. Ibid. K.D. -- Ju1y 17-20, 74. 

34. Ibid. K.Jl, Aug. 7-10, 74. -
35. Ibid. K.D. Dec. 16, 74. 
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Northbrook, follovring the footsteps of Nayo, inter­

fered in the matter. 36 • The Kabul Vakeel was directed to 

convey to the ~Trir the Viceroy's regret over the breach of 

the conditions under which Yaqub came to Kabul.37 • 

The Kabul Court was annoyed at lJorthbrook' s direct 

interference in the internai affairs of Afghanistan. The 

courtiers called it a meddling in the Amir's ttfamily 11 

affaira, and the Arnir himself sneered, "I wonder what the 

English consider by making enquiries about Yaqub 11 •
38 • In 

his reply to lirorthbrook, Sher Ali justified his action in 

arresting his son, and considered Yaqub's release detrimental 

to his authority. 39· 

The rise of Russia in Central Asia had disquietened 

the mind of Sher Ali like mo other Central Asians·. 

Russia' s next move was on l"'erv, and the Aiuir was aware of 

it. Kaufmann had opened correspondence with him, and Sher 

Ali had been alerted by it. The Russians \vere at his 11 elbow 11 

said Sher Ali once, after drawing a map by his own hands of 

36. Argyll had urged Nortbrook in November, 1873 to 
induce Sher Ali to recognise Yaqub as his successor. 
N'orthbrook considered that Yaqub's claim to the throne 
should be supported on the death of his father. This 
was an alarming suggestion to the Duke (Northbrook Papers 
no. 9. Argyll to Northbrook no. 58, Nov. 19, 73). 

37. Par. Pa~. LVI 1878-79 no. 30/5. Government of India to 
Cornmi s si on er Peshawar, ITov. 17, 7 4. 

38. Ibid. no. 30/1. Vakeel to Commissioner Peshawar, Dec. 14, 
74. 

39. ~· no. 30/2. 
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the Russian conquest in Turkistan. 40 • Nore than once, 

the .Amir to1d the British Vakeel, of his fears of the 

approach of Russia. Everytime the British Government 

lu1led his fears and conso1ed him with the assurances that 

the British Government had herse1f received from St. 

Petersburg. 11It is imPOoSible 11 said Sher Ali 11for the 
" ' 

Ru . t . 1 f. . th . t . t. Il 4l • ss~ans o rema~n a ways ~nn ~n e~r nego ~a ~ons • 

Sher Ali l'lanted a guarantee and securi ty against Russian 

invasion of .Afghanistan. He proposed to the Government 

of India in Hay, 1873, to fortify s northern frontiers, 

d 1 t t . d . ' . f 42 • And f th' an a so o ra~n an equ~p n~s orees. or ~s 

abject his trusted counse11or Syed Noor Hohammad Shah 

reached India in July, 1873, to wait upon the Viceroy. 

The envoy was explicit on the point of Russian aggression 

against Afghanistan, and he requested that an aggressor on 

the Afghan state should be considered an "enemy" of England 

as well. He asked for &~ explicit written assurance against 

Russian invasion of Afghanistan. 43 • 

Northbrook had sought home government instructions by 

40. E.S.L.I. 1871/8. Vakeel to Comrnissioner, l'~Iay 11, 71. 

41. Par. Pa,. LVI 1878-79, no. 26/2. Vakeel to Commissioner 
N:ay 5, 3. 

42. Ibid. 

43. ~· no. 26/4. Interview between Syed lJoor and North­
brook, July 12, 73. 
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the dispatch of a telegram on June 27, followed by a 

letter three days after. Northbrook asked for authorisa-

tian to assure the Arnir that in a contingency.of aggression 

on Afghanistan, the British Gover~~ent would assist the 

Amir. 44 • The Duke of Argyll in his return telegram on 

July 1, disa:pproved Northbrook's proposa1. 45 • Uorthbrook 

sent another telegram on July 24, that Sher Ali was getting 

suspicious of British assurances and he was keen to know 

how much he could depend on British support in case of an 

unprovoked violation of his borders. Northrbook proposed 

assisting the Amir under such circumstances. 46 • T'>·:o days 

later the Duke replied that the Cabinet did not share Sher 

Ali's apprehension of Russia and added that the British 

Gover.nment would prefer to pursue its former policy regarding 

Afgha...Y~.istan. 47 • 

Renee !\iorthbrook during his interview wi th Syed No or 

used guarded language on the subject of Russian threat to 

Af'ghanistan. In his letter to the Amir, once again, the 

Viceroy assured him of friendly intentions of Russia 

regarding Afghanistan, and the Viceroy advised the .Amir not 

44. I!Uii· no. 21 and 22. 

45. ~· no. 23. 

46. Ibid. no. 24. 

47. Ibid. no. 25. 



- 314 -

to incur any large sum on the unnecessary northern 

defences of India. 48 • 

Syed Noor's visit to India was a turning point in 

Anglo-Afghan relations. Sher Ali was somewhat rude in his 

reply to the Viceroy. His letter contained sarcastic 

remarks and peculiar taunts. 49 • 11 I am pretty well sure", 

wrote Northbrook to Argyll privately, 11 that the mission had 
50. 

done more harm than good". Sher Ali, after this event, 

was entirely changed man. He refused to allow English 

officers to enter his dominion. He also refused to accept 

Northbrook's present of 5,000 Enfield rifles, though he was 

desperately in need of them, and had been contacting a 

Lo d f . f th h f 51 • non ~rm or e purc~ase o ar.ms. 

The Liberals had lost Sher Ali, the Conserv~tives 

opened their reign with a determination to regain him. The 

attempt ~ms ill-timed. Lytton came to India \'li th instructions 

to appease the Amir at all cast. On May 5, 1876, he sent a 

letter bearin{!, the signature o:f Colonel Pollock, the 

48. Ibid. no. 26/7. Viceroy to Amir, Sept. 6, 73. 

49. Ibid. no. 28/1. Amir to Viceroy, Hov. 13, 73: North­
"b'r''Ok Paners no. 9. l'Jorthbrook to Argyll (private) 
Dec. 26, 73. 

50. Northbrook Papers no. 9. Northbrook to Argyll (private) 
Feb. 5, 74. 

51. Political Proceedings of Government of Punjab 1873/143. 
K.D. January 4-6, 73. 
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ConMissioner of Peshawar, but drafted by himself, to Sher 

Al; · th h d f th v· , 1 A'd d 52 • ..... v~a e an s o e ~ceroy s persona ~ e- e-camp. 

The letter contained a nlain reauest to the Amir to receive - ~ 

a British mission. This mission was to visit Afghanistan 

to announce the new Viceroy's arrival, and the impending 

proclamation announcing the Queen's assumption of the title 

11Ernpress of India 11 • In addition, it was to discuss 

matters of conmon interest to the two governments. 53 • Sher 

Ali declined to receive the mission for further negotiations 

on Anglo-Afghan relations, ho\·lever he did not pre elude 

sending his own envoy to India, if the negotiations were of 

vital interest. 54 • 

Lytton retaliated by refusing to receive the Kabul 

en voy. The British Vakeel was instructed to warn the Amir 

that by employinB dubious diplomatie methods, he was aliena-

ting British s~npathies. The Nnir was alerted and he 

proposed that the British Vakeel should visit India to learn 

the views of his government, and also to explain the ~~ir's 
. . t 55. 

v~e'l.<rpo~n • 

52. E.S.L.I. 1877/14. Instructions to Pollock, Auril 24, 
76. 

53. Ibid. Commissioner to Amir, Nay 5, 76. 

54. Par. Pau. LVI 1878-79, no. 36/7. Amir to Com.missioner 
Hay 22, 76. 

55. Ibid. 36/8-10. 
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Ata I·;ohammad K.."-lan, the British Vakeel at Kabul, 

visited Simla in October 1876. He was interrogated by 

Lytton and his officials, both on his personal performance 

in the diplomatie service of the Government of India, and 

upon the indifferent attitude of the ~~ir of Kabul. Ata 

Hohammad after defending the integrity of his judgement 

and work, explained the misunderstandings created by some 

of the events that had ha9pened during the previous ad-

ministration. The gist of the Vakeel's talk was that the 

Amir had given up any hope of concrete gain from Britain, 

and he was highly suspicious of the recent sudden overtures 

of friendship. 56 • 

Lytton told the Vakeel to dmpress. , upon the Amir' s 

mind that in the recent British overtures lay an opportunity 

of becoming 11 the strongest sovereign 11 that Kabul had ever 

seen. His rejection might lead to 11wiping Afghanistan out 

of the map altogether". The Viceroy expressed an earnest 

desire the J3ri tish Government to er into an offensive-

defensive alliance with the Amir, guaranteeing him personal 

and dynastie safety both al;ainst internal and external threat, 

plus a yearly subsidy; recognition of s nev..r heir-anparent, 

and the fortification of his northern frontiers. The 1\..nir 

in return should receive British agents at Herat and elsewhere; 

56. Ibid. no. 36/18-19. A ta Noham.rnad interviews, Oct. 7 
and 10, 76. 
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he had to act on the Indian Government advice in his 

externa1 affairs; to discontinue conmunication with Russia; 

and shou1d open s dominion to the Eng1islnnen visitin.::; 

. tl 1 . t . 1 . 1 b . t . 57 • vll 1 po J. J.ca or co:mr..ercJ.a o JeC J.ves. 

Lytton authorised Ata Nohammad to conduct negotiations 

on the 1ine suggested, and an ~ide memoir'was furnished to 

the Vakee1 for his guidance. It was emphasised upon the 

Vakee1 to make it c1ear to the Amir that he shou1d send his 

envoy for negotiation on1y if he was wi1line to accept the 
58. 

Briti 11 conditions 11 • 

Serious consideration \vas gi ven to the British proposa1s 

at Kabu1. A ta ?lohammad met the Amir on November 22, 

December 4th, 9th, 18th and December 20th, 1876. A1so, 

the Vakee1 conversed \vi th most of his ministers. A ta 

Hoha:r.nnad 1 s impre s on was that the Kabu1 's court was mu ch 

against yie1ding to the extraordinary British conditions. 59 • 

However on December 21, Ata Hohammad reported that the Amir 

was sending a deputation to India, and the Kabul Court was 

willing, though hesitantly, to receive the British agents 

. Af h . 60 • J.n g anJ.stan. 

57. Ibid. no. 36/19. 

58. lli.2:_. no. 36/20-21. 

59. ~· no. 36/26-31. 
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Syed Noor, accompanied by Hirak:hor Ahmad Khan and 

Nunshi l•'lohammad Baqir, reached Pesha-vvar in January 1877. 

Lytton had appointed Sir Lev1is Pelly, his agent for the 
61. 

negotiation of the Angle-Afghan treaty. Pelly waited 

for the Afghan deputation at Peshawar. He had with him a 

draft Angle-Afghan Treaty containing twenty clauses in it. 

The treaty guaranteed internal and external security to Sher 

Ali and his dynasty in Afghanistan. It provided a grant 

of twenty lakh of rupees to the Amir at the ratification 

of the treaty, besides twelve lakh as an annual grant. 

The treaty asked for British agents at Herat and else\'lhere 

while Kabul ''fas to be represented by a native agent. 

Afghanistan would be represented by an envoy at the Viceroy's 

C t 
62. our • 

The conference '\'laS opened at Peshawar on January 30th, 

1877, and lasted almost till the end of Harch, 1877. The re 

were nine official meetings of the Anglo-Afghan representa-

tives, besides numerous parleys of a private and personal 

nature. The Afghan delegate, Syed Hoor, opened the 

61. Pelly had accompanied Lytton from ~gland as special 
advisor to the Viceroy on Afghanistan. Pelly had 
served in the Political service of the Govermnent of 
India, both inside and outside India. Sir George 
Campbell called Pelly an adherent of 11forward policy". 

62. Par. Pap. LVI 1878-79. no. 36/24 and 25. 
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negotiations with a tirade of grievances against the 

British attitude during the course of the last eight years. 

The envoy pressed the point that the Amir harboured no fear 

from Rus si a. He said, the assurances advanced by Haye, 

Northbrook, Kaufmal'l...n, Gortchakov and Grt1nville had removed 

all the anxiety from the Amir's mind. 63 • As regards the 

presence of an English agent in Afghanistan, "we mistrust 

you", said the Syed privately to Dr. Bellew, "and fear you 

vvill wri te all sorts of reports about us, which will some day 

be brought forward against us, and lead to your taking the 
64. 

control of our affairs out of our hands 11 • Syed Noor 

also inforrned Pelly privately that the :Sri tish demands were 

unacceptable. He said none in Afghanistan would be happy 

over the British presence. The Afghan leader said that he 

had no definite instructions as to whether to agree to the 
65. 

British proposals or not. 

Pelly va::hly tried to emphasise upon the Afghan's mind 

the benefits of the treaty for Afghanistan, butSyed Noor 

responded only by referring bitterly to the past. On 

Narch 15, 1877, Pelly on the instructions of Lytton, asked 

63. Ibid. no. 36/45. 

64. Ibid. no. 36/40. 

65. E.S.L.I. 1877/14. Pelly to Viceroy, Feb. 1, 77. 
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for a definite reply whether Kabul desired an alliance 

or not. Obtaining no encouraging response, Lytton 

withdrew his offers. 66 • Syed Noor died in Peshawar, 

suffering from a chronic stricture of the urethrea. 

Lytton ordered that the conference be closed on Harch 30. 

This was the end of direct negotiations with Kabul. The 
67. 

Afghan friendship had been lost. 

If the Liberais lost Afghanistan, the Conservatives 

lost Kashgharia. The latter state represented a major 

piace in the diplomatie chess grune bei.."lg played between 

England and Russia in Central Asia. Both the powers had 

entered con~ercial treaties with Kashgharia. But Yakoob 

Beg was more inclined towards Britain. The conclusion of 

Anglo-K.ashgharia Comr.1erce Treaty of 187 4 put an end to the 

advantages gained by Russia in her corn:mercial treaty. 

Yakoob Beg once again imposed restrictions on Russian ods. 

Their marchants were subjected to compulsory sale and 
68. 

seizure in Kashgharia. Colonel Reinthal, the Russian 

envoy who visited Kashgharia in 1875, gave an a1armist view 

66. Par. Pan. LVI 1878-79, no. 36/46. 

67. An attempt was also made to use the Porte's influence 
in restoring relations with Afghanistan. But Sher 
Ali paid no heed to it. 

68. Terentyef II on. oit. p.287. 
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of the situation in Kashgharia. Reintha1 reported that 

the Kashgharian anny was drilled and controlled by the 

British and the Turks. He found a fantastic build up of 

. '? h ' . 69. armaments ln r,as gn::œ1a. the Russian authorities eyed 

with displeasure Yaqub Beg's activities. otremoukov 

cal1ed him "an usurper, a cruel, and des :;otic tyrantn. 70 • 

General Ign0tiev was sending w::1rnings from Constantinople 

thst Kashghar and Merv were "the rallying points of enemies 

of ltussia in Central Asia, and of the Anglo-Turkish intrigues"?
1

• 

To Kaufmann, Kash~?;haria was a mere !!creation de Monsieur 

L, th" 72 o l'ors y • 

In June 1874, Stremoukov raised with Loftus the c;uestion 

of a close alliance between Britain and Kashgharia, under 

which arms had been supplied to that state. 73 • Almost a 

year after Schouvalov complained to Derby ag;ainst the British 

build up in Kashghar. Derby tried to set the ambassador's 

mind ,s_t peace, but he was still harpin~; on the seJTie string a 

year later. 74 • Derby thPn wrote privately to Schouvalov 

6J, Kuropatkin 2J2..!_Cit. pp.l93-94. 

70. F.U. 65/904. Loftus to Derby no. 406, Nov. 10, 76. 

71. Ibid. Same to same no. 469, Dec. 23, 74. 

72. F.U. 65/926. ,Jillsly to Lof tus no. 2, January 6, 75. 

73. F.u. 65/902., no. 197. 

74. F.O. 65/956. Derby to Loftus no. 12, Fe b. ')9 
,_ ' 76. 
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that no arms had been sent to Kashgharia except a :few 

"arms de luxe", as presents :for the personal use o:f the 

chie:r. 75 • 

Both Loftus and Forsyth ,,rho were fully avmre o:f 

Russian intentions in Central Asia, expected an ultimate 

occupation of Kashgharia by Russia. Forsyth in his 

confidential report on his last mission to Kashghar, and in 

his two letters from that capital, indicated that Russia 

was looking for a pretext to invade Kashghar. He advised 

Yakoob Beg to revert to defensive measures and suggested 

to him to abandon Urmnchi and l·1anas the t,.,o outlying 

provinces in the eastern valley which had exposed his 
76. defences. Yakoob Beg willingly agreed. 

Loftus, like Forsyth, was a firm believer in the 

integrity of Kashgharia. He even recommended to the home­

government to confer "The Star of India 11 on Yakoob Beg. 77 • 

Robert Shaw, who visited Kashghar in the Fall, 1874 as the 

British ~'1bassador to the Court of ICashghar, found Yakoob 

75. F.O. 65/956. Derby to Schouvalov, Feb. 
Salisbury was personally ar;ainst supply 
Kashgharia. See Lytton PaDers 516/I. 
Lytton (private) no. 8. Harch 10, 76. 

26' 76: 
of any arms to 
Salisbury to 

76. E.S.L.I. 1874/17-18. Forsyth to Goverrunent of India 
no. 147. I1arch 4, 74, and no. 163. May 16, 74: E.S.L.I. 
1875/4. Forsyth Report on the J::Iission, pp.307-323. 

77. F.O. 65/877. Loftus to Granville, Telegran, April 21, 
73. 
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proud of the British alliance and keen to work on their 

d . 78. a v1ce. 

In fact, the invasion o:C Kashgharia did not come from 

the north, but froc the east. The British Legation at 

Peking had been vmrning both the Government of India and 

the home ,;over11l!lent since 1870 that China vmuld never agree 

to the idea of abdicating its claim to the territory of 

Sir Thomas Vade, the new British :•Iinister 

at Peking, sounded out the vievrs of ?rince Kung, the Chinese 

:L'rime !·linister, on the touchy question of Kashgharian 

inde-oendence. The Chinese Government 11has to sharpen its 

arms and ration i ts horses for their extermination" re-plied 

the angered Chancellor. 80 • Wade also sent a rejoinder in 

1873 on the subject of the pending Anglo-Kashghar treaty of 

Commerce, infoming the British Government that China would 

78. E.S.L.I. 1876/9. Shaw's }1emorandum on Eastern 
Turkistan, April 11, 76. Shaw had been instructed not 
to stay as permanent envoy at Kashghar, nor to give 
any impression of his permanency of deputation to 
Yalwo b. The Goverrunent of India favoured making this 
embassy permanent but Salisbury OPlJosed i t. (Letters to 
India 1874/6. Secretary of State to Viceroy, July 24, 
74). 

79 .. E .s .L .I. 1870/6. \vade to Viceroy, Harch 30, 70: Sir 
Rutherford Alcock, the British Nini in China had 
met "r·iayo at Calcutta, during; the for:m.er' s vi si t to India. 
Alcock gave his general observation on the subject. 
See Inveraray Pa;eers 1870/1. Nayo to Argyll (private) 
Feb. 8, 70. 

80. Kung to Wade, April 11, 70, in F .0. 17/548. V/ade to 
Clarendon, April 12, 70. 
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81. 
highly deprecate this alliance. 

China, since 1866, had been meditating on the>--

possibility of reconquering Kashgharia. Actual credit 

for recovery of Kashgharia goes to Tso-Tsung-tang (1812-

1885), a born general and a man of indomitable energy. 

Since his appointment to the governor-generalshi-p of Shensi 

~d Kansu in September, 1866, 1'so had be en planning to 

regain the lost north-\V"estern terri tories of China. His 

unsuccessful preoccu:oation wi th the Nien-fei r1s1ng during 

that period deviated his attention for a \•!hile. 
82 

• 1'so 

had pledged in honour to complete the conquest of Kashgharia. 

In 1868 he launched his offensive against the north west. 

In Spring, 1869, Shansi was pacified and by Eovenber, 1873 

th . f K d d t b · · 83• _e prov1nce o ansu was re uce o su m1sS1on. Tso 

was re,V"arded for his services: and in Autumn, 1874, he was 

promoted to the rank of grand secretary, and in the following 

year was assigned the charge of military affairs in 
<.:!' , • 84. 
>.Jln.Kl8...11.g. 

The Government of India up till this time was unaware 

of the Chinese proceedings against Kashgharia. Cap tain 

81. F.O. 17/654. Wade to Granville Telegram, June 27, 73. 

82. Hurnmel, A.W. Eninent Chinese of the Ching Period; 
article on 11SO by Tue Lien Che: Washington, 1944, vol. 
II pp. 764. 

83. Ibid. p.765. 

84. Ibid. 
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Biddulph, a member of Forsyth's second wission to Kash-

gharia,was the first to learn about it. "A new complication 

has arisen '! wrote Biddulph from Yarkand in January, 187 4. 

His intelligence v1as that the Chinese had reached up to 

the Barakol district. Britain should not 11allow this man 

to be kicked t
il 85. ou • Next came Loftus' intelligence in 

June, 1874. He learnt from Stremoukov that China had 

invaded Kansu.
86 • It was followed by Robert Michell's 

report deduced from Hussian and Chinese sources, that 17,000 

Chinese troops had been mobilised for the recovery of 

Kashgharia. 87 • And lastly, Shaw reported in December from 

Kashghar tha t the terrorised Dungans of Urumchi and Nanas 

had approached Yakoob Beg for help against Chinese 
. 88. aggressJ.on •. By the beginning of the new year, reports 

on the Chinese proceedings against Kashgharia were pouring 

into Whitehall from Peking and St. Petersburg. 

Incessant reports on the Chinese invasion of Kashgharia 

alarmed the Government of India. In October, 1874, the 

85. Letters to India 1874/6. Letter from Biddulph, January 
27, 74 (The addressee of the letter is not known. The 
India office possesses ru1 extract of his letter). 

86. F.O. 65/902. Loftus to Derby no. 203, June 22, 74. 

87. S.H.C. 1874/77. July 24 and Aug. 8, 74. 

88. E.S.L.I. 1875/2. Shaw to Government of India no. 31. 
Dec. 14, 74. 
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Viceroy approached the India office on the possibility 

of preventing the Chinese attack on Kashgharia. The 

Viceroy suggested that since Kashghar had been recognised 

as a sovereign state both by Rus and Britain, a joint 

or indenendent British diplomatie action at Peking would 

be advisable to end the growing quarrel bet1-·1een China and 

Kashgharia. Northbrook pointed out that the independence 

of Kashghar was of material gain for the British interest 

in the East. 89. The In dia office moved the Foreign ce 

the subject. 
90. 

on 

Sir Thomas \'/ade, the British !<!inister at Peking from 

the very outset was as much against Tso's campaign as he 

\vas against Forsyth' s treaty. Wade believed that this 

campaign \vas disastrous both poli tically and conunercially 

for China. He thought that China was playing Russia' s garne 

in Central Asia by conquering Kashgharia. He had been 

pursuading since November, 1874, Li Hung Chang, the Grand 

Secretary and the Viceroy of Chihli, to abandon the idea of 

the north-western conquest. Li gave a willing ear to this 

advice and tri to con vince the Tsungli Y aman (the Foreign 

Aff airs Board established in 1861). But this persuasion 

89. E.S.L.I. 1874/19. Viceroy to Secretary of State no. 
61 • Oct • 2, 7 4. 

90. S .H. C. 187 4/81. L. 0. to F. 0. Nov. l 7, 7 4. 
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brought to Li an 11angry denunciation as an unpatriotic 

Chine se 11
• 
91 • 

In early 1876, Sir Douglas Forsyth on furlough for 

E:ngland, visited China 11 as a private gentleman". Li 

expressed a wish ta meet Forsyth; and Wade immediately 

arranged an interview between the two at Tientsin. :E'orsyth 

himself, well-trained in Central Asia diplomacy, was further 

prined by \'fade on tl1e intricacies of the Chinese poli tics 

for Li 1 s intervie\'1. Li 

i:nsisted that Yakoob Beg shoulcl submit to China on conditions 

similar to those of the King of Korea. Forsyth, as coached 

by Wade, replied that Yakoob Beg should not be treated as a 

rebel, but one i'lho had chastised the rebels against China. 

Yakoob would never surrender, sàid Forsyth. 11 What he had 

won by the sword, and as he himself says by God's will, that 

he will defend by the sword so long as God gives him life".92 • 

Forsyth appealed to the grand secretary ta help and not to 

destroy the wise government of Yakoob. Li 11really agreed" 

to Forsyth's views about Kashgharia, and again requested him 

ta write to Yakoob to take an initiative in extending 

91. F .0. 17/825. i:fade ta Forsyth (priva te), April 6, 76: 
F.O. 17/677. Wade to Derby no. 234, Dec. 3, 74: F.O. 
17/825. v/ade to Derby no. 136, July 8, 76. 

92. F.O. 17/825. Forsyth to Wade (private), kJril 9, 76. 
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t f f . d l . d b . . 93 • over ures o · r1en s up an su m1sS1on. 

\'/ade, hmvever, kept the issue ali ve, and on Se:9ternber 

15, 1876, he broached the subject of Kashghar at Chefoo 

durine his talk with Li. He :9ersuaded the ter once 

again to wri te to Prince Kung, and to rn ove him to com:muni-

cate with Tso, suggesting the possibility of receiving 

Yakoob's emissary. Wade then a·o]Jroached the Prince himself. 

The Prince agreed, and it was learnt that Tso assured the 

Central Government that an envoy from Yakoob would be well-

received. Li then suggested that Yakoob better hurriedly 

send an envoy. 94 • 

In the meantime, Wade had left for England, and Hugh 

Fraser, the British charge d'affaires did not have any 

instructions on the subject. Nei ther v1as there any direct 

conununication between Pekinp; and Calcutta for approaching 

K.ashghar. 

Luckily an opportuni ty 'ltras opened by the arri val of 

a Kashgharian envoy to India. In the Sumrner of 1876, Syed 

Yak~b Khan Tura, the roaming ambassador of Kashghar, arrived 

in India. He was on a mission to procure a permanent 

93. Ibid. 

94. F.O. 17/825. Fraser to Derby no. 219. Dec. 10, 76. 
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British resident for Kashghar. 95 • The envoy stated that 

Kashgharia '1i'JaS threa tened by China. He said Rus si a had 

offered her good officers to negotiate peace between China 

and Kashghar, but the envoy pointed out that the ru1er of 

Kashghar would prefer British representation and negotiati~R: 

This was a great opportunity to send an envoy to 

Kashghar and advise its ruler to send an agent for negotiation 

to China •. Lytton asked authorisation from Salisbury for 

Shaw's permanent appointment at Kashghar. 97 • Salisbury 

rep1ied, 11 that advantage is not tvorth the risk". However 

he preferred to consult his council on the subject. 98 • 

The question of locating a permanent agent at Kashghar 

was debated by the India Counci1. The po1itical committee 

of the India office favoured despatching a resident to 

Kashghar. The India Cotmci1 a1so voted in its favour. 

On1y Salisbury and Sir Henry Haine dissented. 99 • ~alisbury 

95. Robert Sha\'r, who had gone to Kashghar in 187 4 as 
British resident, returned next year. The Government 
of India, as discussed earlier, was not keen now to 
appoint a resident. 

96. E.S.L.I. 1876/10. Iviemorandum of conversation '\-dth Syed 
1ura, Sept. 30, 76. 

97. Ibid. Telegram, Aug. 12, 76. 

98. ~- Telegram, Aue. 17, 76. 

99. Political and Secret DesEatches to India 1877/3. The 
Ninutes of the Council. 
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in hisËtter to the Viceroy regretted ever having entered 

into alliance with Kashghar, and expressed his sorrow for 

having made the resident clause in the treaty so fi:rm. He 

advised Lytton to defer the de-oarture of the mission "till 

towards the close of ensuing tra~relling season 11 • By that 

time Salisbury was hopeful that 11 circumstances 11 in Kashgharia 

would have developed in such a \•ray that Bri tain \'.fOUld not 
100 have to send an agent. • 

Tso Tsang-tang, at this time (1875) was facing two 

major ])roblems - food and funds. Tso' s army was short of 
101. 

food, and also it had not been paid for many months. 

Food was a necessity. Tso employed his soldiers in their 

spare time on the cultivation of lands, but it did not solve 

the problem. His vras a large army of 89,000 men divided 

into 178 battalions.
102

• It was in early 1875 that a Russian 

mission under Colonel Sosnowsky visited China. Tso enter-
103. 

tained the Russian mission well at Lanchu in June, 1875. 

On Tso's request, the mission readily agreed to supply three 

million chins of Siberian grain at the priee of 7! taels 

100. Ibid. Secretary of State to Viceroy no. 31. April 5, 
n:-

101. Wade wrote to Forsyth on Anril 6, 1876 that there was 
an annual arrear in the pay of Tso's army of about 

5,000,000. 

102. Bales, W.L. Tso Tsung-tanG, Shanghai 1937. p.325: 
Fraser numbered Tso's a:rmy as 50,000 men while Loghis' 
report sho\'Ted tha t the army con si st ed of 40, 000 men. 

103. F.O. 17/825. Hayers (British Secretary in the Pelüng 
Legation) learnt this account from Li. 
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( b t JI 2) h d - h. 104 • a ou ~ per un red c ~n. By April next, Tso had 

stored his food supply. 

In Spring, 1875, Tso had memorialised the throne for 

2,000,000 taels. 105 • The Chinese economy at this time was 

passing through a cri ti cal stae;e. The state income since 

1865 had declined. The re v1ere i. 9, 000, 000 in arre ars from 

th . . 1 b ·a· 106. e provlnCla su s~ ~es •. The Alcock convention of 1869 

further hit the economy: under this convention the Custom 

duties imposed upon foreign trade had been abolished. The 

war indemnity payable to France and Britain had further 

damaged the economie structure of the Empire. 

Tso's demand for funds embarassed the central authorities. 

In his second application, Tso raised his demand to ten 

million taels ~3,000,000). Tr~s amount he requested to be 

borrowed from the forei;g]l banks. This proposal provoked 

opposition from sorne of the Chinese officials who considered 

the coastal defences and the establislooent of a na~J more 
. 107. significant than the subjugation of a distant prov~nce. 

But Tso emphasised the importance of Kashgharia and considered 

i t vital for the retention of }:ongolia, the la tt er place in 

104. Bales, op. cit. p.336. 

105. F.O. 17/705. Robertson to Tenterden no. 33. July 23, 
75. 

106. F.O. 17/825. vlade to Forsyth, April 6, 76. 

107. Hummel op. cit. p,765: F.O. 17/721. Wade to Derby 
no. 83. Narch 24, 76. 
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. 108. 
itself necessary for the safety of Pek~ng. Tso even 

threatened to resign if his application was turned down. 

Tso's pertinacity won the day. The government 

decided to pro vide him wi th funds, half of which \'lere to be 

raised by foreir,n loans. DUl~ing 1876-1877 a foreign loan 

of;{l,60ü,OOO, the first of its kind, was raised from the 

B ·t· t Bank f H K d oh· l . lOg. Obt . . th r~ ~Sll o ong ong an o ~ng 1a~. a~n~ng e 

funds, Tso moved his headquarters to Kansu. By the middle 

of 1876, Tso was all equipped for an advance on Kashgharia. 

There are indications in the British Foreign office 

records that Tso v1as planning to employ foreigners for speedy 

execution of his expedition against Kashgharia. \·Tade 

confirms that besides provisions, Russian arms were also 

supplied to the Chinese for tl:.e conquest of Kashgllaria. 110 • 

Fraser also sent intelligence that Tso preferred employment 

of Rus sian mercenaries as they were familiar wi th vmrfare 

;n 0 t 1 A · 111 • .... en ra s~a. Moreover, one point is definite. 

German arms and experts were used extensively.112 • 

108. Ibid. 

109. F.O. 17/825. Fraser to Derby no. 180, Oct. 8, 77: 
.November 16 (Te1egram), and no. 211, :Nov. 16, 77. 

110. F. 0. 17/825. \'fade Nemorandum, Jviarch 26, 77. 

111. F .0. 17/825. Fraser to Derby no. 45 and 46. Narch 5, Tf. 

112. Von Brandt, the German minister at Peking wielded con­
siderable influence at the Chinese Court, and had been 
a great instrument in encouraging the Chinese idea of 
conquering Kashgharia. A certain Herr Schnell, a 
German drill-master was training the Chinese forces. 
Krupp field guns and mortar pieces were successfully 
handled by Tso's men. 
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Tso occupi Urumchi on August 17 and Manas on 

lJovember 6, 1876. Only the Tian Shan range separated 

Yakoob from Tso. Yakoob Beg in the meantime had concentrated 

his forces at Turfan, Takhtasun and Divanchi, the three ad-

vance posts in the east. Yakoob himself had advanced to 

Kerala, appointing Hakim Khan Tura to Turfan and Haq Quli 

( ) 
113. 

Beg Yakoob's younger son to Takhtasun. Loftus learnt 

at St. Petersburg that Yakoob had collected 50,000 men, and 

he stood equal chances of repulsing the invader.114· The 

winter of 1876-1877 stopped collision between the two forces. 

Wade learnt in London that his advice to Tsungli Yaman 

bad paved the way for conciliation. On January 24, 1877, 

Wade sent a memorandum to the Foreign office recommending 

British mediation in the Kashghar-China dispute.115• This 

idea was not accepted by the British politica1 observers. 

The India office a1so gave it a cold shoulder. Salisbury 

personally was against it. His contention was that the 

strugg1e between China and Kashghar 11does not directly effect 

113. Kuropatkin 9P· cit. p.246. 

114. F.O. 65/989. Loftus to Derby no. 130, March 27, 77. 

115. I could not get this memorandum in the F.O. records. 
References to this memorandum are made in Wade's other 
letters and in F.O. and I.a. corresnondence on this 
subject. .. 
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Indian interest, but is in reality a Chinese question". 

However he did not over-rule the assistance of the Govern-

ment of India in the mediation, if requested by the Foreign 

office.116 • Loftus warned from St. Petersburgh that 

single mediation of England between China and Kashghar 

would create jealousy on the :yart of :rtussia, which mip;ht 

produce serious 11 embaJTassment 11 in the .:Bast. He suggested 

that a proposal for joint mediation should be made to Russia 

"in the interest of humani ty and civilisation" •117 • 

Wade disagreed with Loftus and proposed to 11abstain 
. 118. 

altogether, rather than attempt in concert with Russ~a 11 • 

Salisbury immediately endorsed v/ader s views. He warned the 

Foreign office that India was not interested in the affairs 

of mediation, and if the Foreign office -vras keen, "the 

responsibility which such mediation might involve must fall 

wholly on the Imperial, and in no degree upon the Indian 
1 119. Government '· This warning alerted the Foreign office. 

The idea of British mediation was immediately drolJped. 
120. 

116. F .0. 17/825. r.o. to :B, • 0 • Feb. 23, 77. 

117. p.o. 65/989. Loftus to Derby no. 97. l·Iarch 2, 77. 

118. Jil.o. 17/825. Wade I1emorandum. Narch 5, 77. 

119. F.O. 17/825. r.o. to :p.o. Harch 21, 77. 

120. Ibid. F.O. to I.O. April 16, 77. -
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The idea of mediation was revived all at once. Syed 

Yakub Khan Tura, the roa.ming ambassa.dor of Kashgharia 

appeared in London in early 1877 • On Harch 5, vlade 

reported that the Khan desired British intervention as 

mediator •121 • In April the Tsungli Yaman debated the 

question of Kashgharia at Peking, and Prince Kung supported 
122. 

termination of hostilities with Yakoob Beg. From 

Canton, the British Consul, Sir B. Robertson, reported on 

the authority of the Viceroy of Kwang,that China was anxious 

to maintain Kashgharia as a neutral state between Russia 
123. 

and China in Central Asia. 

Wade found an opportunity to revive the idea of British 

mediation. But the India office, a major actor in the drama, 

was inactive. This annoyed Wade. He suggested to the 

Foreign office that i t should send 11a word of \varning 11 to 

Salisbury's office, to which the Khan's visit was as much 

related as to the Foreign office.124 • In the meantime Wade 

121. F .0. 65/869. v/ade Nemorandum in no. 45. March 5, 77. 

122. F.O. 17/825. Fraser Telegram. Hay 8, 77. 

123. E.S.L.I. 1877/4. Charge d'affairs to Viceroy, May 23, 
77: re fers to Robert son' s re!)Ort of May 8: vide 
Viceroy to Secretary of State no. 24, July 16, 77. 

124. Tenterden Pa pers. 1!' .o. 363/4. Wade to Tenterden 
(private), May 19, 77. 
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met Yakub Khs.n at the .• 1exandra Hotel, in the company of 

Forsyth who h3d arranged this meeting.v 5• The Khan 

sted that the British me ti on ~rms well-timed: the 

Ch ese so f~r h2d been fighti st the Dungans; and 
., ' • ' ·- 1 126. had not y et be en dravm betvn.;en ~· eKln:~ ana !\..EtSügha.r. 

Kuo-ta-jen, the first of Chinese resident ministers Abroad, 

had on1y assumed his duties in London in January, 1877. He 

was ing nervous on 1earning the Khan' s and ·Jade' s 

movements. O .. ,n 1· ~5 lc!-77 ·' ' t ~ay ~ , 6 . , uaae me him. i(uo st::1ted 

n1ain1y th&t he wou1d not take initiative in any direction 

either to acidress his government on the subject of Kashgharia 

• It must come first from or to open negotiations with the 

either of the other parties. 127· Kuo dreaded lest he would be 

penalised by ?ekin°~ for underminine: their position by taking 

an it ive. WAde invited both Syed Yakub and Kuo to the 

dinner of the Asiatic Society on May 28. 
128 wou1d at least bring them together. • 

This, he thought, 

On June 4, 11 the Kashghar mann met Salisbury, and 

125. F.O. 17/825. viade to Derby, Ivlay 24, 77. 

126. 

7. B'. 0. 17/825. ûade to Derby, l'-lay 26, 77. 

128. Ibid. 
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persuaded the latter to use his influence for saving 
129. Sa . d Kashgharia from the horrors of 'I.V'ar. ·· lJ.sbury agree • 

Q 130. Th also took him for an audience with the ueen. e 

India office requested the :Poreign office to take early 

steps in ascertaining the views of the Chines Government 

on the subject of Kashgharia, and establishing the basis for 

'bl a· . a· 131 • t,r d a f K ' a possJ. e mo us VJ.Ven 1. vta e sense rom uo s 

conversation at the 11dinner table" that the latter was quite 
132. 

willing to meet Yakub Khan, though 11 informally 11 • 

Everything in favour, Wade came forth with his scheme 

of negotiation. This scheme involved several suggestions, 

first that the Chinese and the Kashgharia envoys shoula be 

brought together in London, secondly, that each should be 

"educated 11 before-hand to avoid confusion, thirdly that the 

matter should be treated in top secrecy and finally that 

after the terms had been arranged, the should leave for 

I\ashghar, and Kuo should report to his government, and Fraser 

1 ld t ' tt · 13 3 • h I s1ou pursue ne ma er at PekJ.ng. T e ndia office 

approved the plan, and the Forei office authorised Wade to 

9. Lytton Paper~ 516/2. Salisbury to Lytton 
(private), June 8, 77. 

no. 21. 

130. Ibid. no. 25. (private) July 28, 77. 

131. F.o. 17/825. I.O. to F .0. June 8, 77. 

132. F.O. 17/825. Wade to Tenterden, June 4, 77. 

133. Ibid. \"/ade T•Iemorandum, June 12, 77. 
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go ahead with it.134 • 

Wade met Kuo on June 22. Kuo ~ad gone back on all 

he had said or indicated. He saw no advantage in meeting 

the Khan and found no sense in approaching his government 

on the subject of Kashgharia. Hm'lever, he proposed that 

the Khan should make the first overture in the form of 

written proposals for reco&~ising Chinese overlordship and 

ceding sorne of the towns to China necessary for its north­

western defences •135 • v/ade requested Forsyth to sound the 

Khan, and if agreeable to submit his proposals for negotia-

tians. Forsyth had already talked over this with the Khan, 

and had prepared a memorandum in which he made the ruler of 

Kashgharia equal to the king of Burma, in relations to China, 

and proposed demarcation of the boundaries between the two 

states, and assistance to Kashgharia against external and 

internal troubles.136 • The Foreign office sent Forsyth's 

proposals for the India office's approval. The latter 

insisted on omitting bath the references to "the King of 

Bunna11137 • and the internal and external enemies.138 • 

134. Ibid. I.O. to :H'.O. June 14, 77: Derby to \'/ade, June 
'lÇ77. 

135. F.O. 17/825. Vfade to Derby, June 25, 77. 

136. Ibid. Forsyth to Wade, June 23, 77. 

137. Upper Burma was under schemes of annexation. 
later it was annexed to British India. 

138. F.O. 17/825. I.O. to F.O., July 7, 77. 

~en years 
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The Foreign office then addressed a note to Kuo, 

extending the good offices of the British Goverrunent to 

re store peace between Kashgharia and China, and .for\varded 

the Khan's proposals, which the Foreign office pointed out 

resemb1ed tho se discussed between Kuo and 'dade. Under the 

proposa1s the ru1er of Kashgharia recognised the sovereignty 

of China and promised to send embassies periodica11y to 

Peking, carrying presents or tribute. The proposa1 included 

an assertion of complete control of his territory by the 

ruler of Kashghar. Fina1ly i t sted a demarcation of 

the boundaries between the two, and an agreement ta assist 

each other in case of need.l39. 

Kuo did not 1ike the mentioninG of his name in the 

F'oreign office note, which indicated an initiative taken by 

him. He requested that it shou1dbe deleted from the 
140. 

cor::ununication. Kuo was a1so somewhat upset at the 

intervention of a Nohamrnadan convert Eng1ish baron, Lord 

Stanley of A1derley, 141 • \..;ho was getting annoyed at the slow 

139. Ibid. Derby ta Kuo, July 7, 77. 

140. F.O. 17/825. Kuo's interview with Tenterden on July 8, 
77: Kuo ta Derby, July 12: Tenterden Papers, F.O. 363/4 
Wade ta Tenterden (private), July 8, 77. 

141. Lord Stanley of Alderley (1827-1903) entered the foreign 
service in 1847: attached ta Constantinople embassy 1851: 
Com1se11or Vienna 1853: Secretary Athen Legation 1854: 
Secretary Danubian Cornnission 1856-58: resigned 1859: 
Learnt Arabie, Persian, Turkish, and Chinese languages. 
1869 succeeded ta Peerage. Greatly interested in Indian 
questions, anà. was a warm supported of the Indian national 
Congress (D.E.JJ. Rev. F. Jaunders pp.383-84). Also see 
CarnarYJ?n Pauers P.R.O. 30/6/2 for Stanley's correspondence 
on the Eastern and Far Eastern Questions. 



- 340 -

proceedings of the Kashgh<1r-China neGotiations. 142 • \vade 

wa.s also using a so:oewhat tough attitude tovrards the Chinese 

diplom~t.143. The Foreign office note further embavassed ~/ 

him. This maà.e Kuo el 11dm,m-cast and sullen11 •
144 • On 

July 12,Kuo informed the Poreign office that he had neither 

authority nor geographical k:nowled to open the question of 

Kashgharia. He reiterated the suggestion that Yakoob 

should cede some cities to China, and asked for a guarantee 
145. from the British Government for the good conduct of Yakoob. 

Th F . ff . d 1 . " t t 1 th . . b . 1 . t l46 • e ore1gn o 1ce ec 1nea o a~e on 1s respons1 1 1 y. 

However, the long-coveted meeting between Kuo and Khan 

took place on July 16, at Wade's house. Kuo was calm and 

unconcerned. He did not make any co.cl!:lents on the subject of 

the talk.147 • Nevertheless, Derby forwarded on the 

correspondence on the subject to Fraser, instructing him to 

ascertain whether the Chinese Goverrunent \las prepared to agree 

in principle to a settlement on the basis of the terms proposed, 

and whether that government would like to receive an envoy 

from Kashghar. 148 • Fraser, after meeting Prince Kung on the 

142. î,enterden I:~12ers F.O. 363/4. Vlade to CJ..lenterden (private) 
Jtme 29, 77 and July 10, 77. 

143. lliii· 

144. lli9-_. Same to same July 8, Tl. 

145. ]',O. 17/825. Kuo to Derby, July 12, 77. 

146. Ibid. Derby to Kuo, July 23, 77. 

147. D.i9:.· 1tlade to Derby, July 25, 77. 

148. Ibid. Derby to Fraser no. 9. Aug. 3, 77. 
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subj ect, t egraphed tha.t the negotia.tions for peace cou1d 

1 b d d b rr 149 0 rôj • • r b 1rJ.77 on y e con ucte -y so. ln1s was ln oeptem er, o • 

But the a irs in Central Asia had taken now a new 

turn. o 1 s army was makinç; successful marches. On _\.pri1 

18, 1877 Divanchi fell to the Chines~. 150 • On ~~y 16, 

Turfan was 151. On l'llay 29, Yakoob Beg died at 

TT l 152. hUra a. His àeath t'Vas a turninc; point in Kashgharian 

po1itics. .u sension and desertion spread thrOU!shout 

Haq ~u1i, a ointing Hakim Khan Tura as 

r::overnor of a, set out on June 6 to take his father's 

body to r.153. Haq Qu1i was murdered byan assassin 

hired by der brother Beg ~u1i, near Aksu. Beg ~u1i pro-

claimed hims as ru1ler of Karashahr. fdaz Ber:, the 

governor of Khotan, defied thP central authority and made 

himse1f ruler of th:1t province •1 54. 

149. ser to Derby, ~ept. 23, 1877. 

o. Kuropatkin op. cit. p. 2lt-7. 

151. 

1 • 

153. 

154. 

Hummel Q.P __ !.,_cit. p.765: F'.ü. 17/ 5. 
no. 132, June 28, 77. 

er 

stories were spread about Yakoob's death. One 
was th~t he was poisoned by the rlussian envoy, second 
th.::'t he died in ernbr0il v.rhile qw=Jrre11inr:~ wi th his 
officer. It is a1so said that he was poisoned by 
HP k5.M KhRn T11r-8 .• 

LXXVIII 1880 no. 15/5. Yussuf i 
Yussuf wa.s a so1dier from Turkey, emp1oyed 

cava1ry. 

Kuropatkin on. cit. pp.250-5l. 
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A civil war started in Kashgharia. Beg Quli first 

marched against Hakim Khan "\vho had occupied Aksu as well. 

In a bloody combat near Shur Kudak, Hakim was defeated and 

he made his \·ray to the Russian terri tory. On August 13, 

Beg Quli took over Aksu. Then he turned towards Khotan. 

The Khotani army was defeated on October 20. Jüaz Beg, 
155. unable to resist any longer, joined Tso's army. 

It was a;ainst this background that the British offer 

for mediation reached Pekin6. Fraser noticed the astonish-

ingly changed attitude of Prince Kung when he met the latter 

on September 23, 1877. The Prince was eager to impress 

upon Fraser the ideas of Tso's victories, the soundness of 

Chines claim on Kashgharia, Kuo's irresponsibility and Tso's 

responsibility. 

d . t' 156. me 1.a 1.on. 

Prince Kung was sarcastic on the British 

Tso also memorialised the throne.on the 

subject of China-Kashghar dispute. He call it a pure 

d . 157. omestic affair of China, and called Britain an 1.ntruder. 

Ci vil v/ar in helped the Chinese advance. 

The invaders took over Karashahr on October 7, Kurala on 
158. 

October 9, and Kucha on October 18, 1877. It was 

155. Kuropatkin op. cit. pp.25l-52. 

156. F.O. 17/825. Fraser to Derby no. 172, Sept. 24, 77. 

157. H~~e1 on. cit. p.766. 

158. F.O. 65/992. Vide Fraser to Derby no. 232, Dec. 5, 77. 
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159. 
fo1lowed by the Chinese occupation of Aksu and Ush. 

Beg Qu1i, having defeated his rivals, turned to settle 

the disuute with Tso. He approached the Government of 

India to use their good offices in bringing out a recon­

ciliation between the two, but received no response.
160

• 

Then he approached Dalg1eish, the Assistant Nanager of the 

Central Asian Company, who had been stationed at Yarkand 

for the last three years. Beg Qu1i intended to appoint 

him as his envoy to Tso's Court, for negotiation of peace. 

This attempt a1so failed. Dalgleish, who reached India in 

December, 1877, re:ported that the new ruler needed both 

moral and physica1 support from India. 161 • 

The successful Chinese forces were pushin:; towards 

Kashghar. Beg Qu1i's forceE: were getting disheartened. 

In the middle of December, the Chinese approached Kasht:;har. 

Beg Quli's troops f1ed the city. On December 16, Kashghar 
. 162. 

fel1 to Cluna. By the beginnin{; of next Spring China 

was holding the whole of Kashgharia. The Peking Gazette of 

6 . 163. !<Iarch 1 , 1878 announced complete conquest of Kashghar1a. 

159. Ibid. Fraser Te1egram, Dec. 29, 77. 

160. E,S.L.I. 1878/17. Ladakh Diary no. 15-17, 77. Report 
by Haji Qurban the Kashghar Vakee1. 

161. Ibid. Ladakh Diary, Dec. 12, 77. 

162. Kuropatkin op. cit. p.253. 

163. :B'.O. 17/826. Fraser to Derby no. 50. Harch 16, 78. 
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Beg Quli and his followers fled to Rus , and delivered 

th 1 t K fm 
164. emse ves up o au ann. 

It is against this setting that we have to study the 

last chapter of this thesis. Afghanistan and Kashgharia 

\'Te re tvm allies of Bri tain in Central Asia. Kashgharia 

was lost, Afghanistan was about to be lost. The latter 

had onened correspondence with the Russians, and had 

refused to listen to R~glish advice or guidance. The 

fall of Afghanistan to Russia vras intolerable. 

164. Ibid. no. 41. March 7, 78. 



- 345 -

The British War Against 

Afghanistan. 

11 \'/hat am I to do in the face of an alliance 

between the Ameer and the Rus Government? 

What am I to do in the event of the death of the 

Ameer, and a bold bid for the throne of Afghani-

stan by Abdul Rehma..."l wi th the support of Rus~üa 11 • 

Lytton in 1878. 

Kashgharia \vas taken over by China. Afghanistan was 

drifting into the Russian camp. Sher Ali's refusai to 

receive the British mis on was considered by Lytton, a clear 

sign of his hostili ty tm'lards Bri tain, and his inclination 

towards Rus • 11 Small bodies gravitate to great ones 11 , 

·.vrote Lytton in his minutes on Afghanistan, "If Afghanistan 

do es not gravi tate tm·mrds the British, i t nust gravi tate 

towards the Russian Empire. And between bodies of equiva-

lent gravity, the attraction force of one that is in move-
2. 

ment \'lill always exceed that of the one which is motionless 11 • 

Russia was in motion and Afghanistan vras gravi ta ting towarcls 

1. Lytton Paners 518/3. Lytton to Cranbrook (private), 
Aug. 3, 78. 

2. Lytto~ Paners no. 7. July 5, 76. 
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her. An attempt is made here to show the course of 

Afghanistan's gravitation towards Russia. 

General Kaufmru1n immediately after conquest of 

Bok.hara,had opened correspondence with Sher Ali. His first 

letter to Sher Ali on February 28, 1870, 3• was complimentary, 

and this was followed by twelve more letters over the next 

six years. 4• The nature of this correspondance was 

essentially friendly, though occasionally political issues 

were raised like Abdul Rehman's arrivai in ~ashkand, Russia's 

disapproval of Prince Yaqub's hostility to s father and 

the Russian conquest of K.'IJ.i va, along wi th their annexa ti on 

of Khokand. Sher Ali used to fo;Mvard these letters 

regularly to the Government of India, reques the type 

of reply to be made in each case. The Kabul Court ah,1ays 

considered Russian correspondance objectionable, pre§Sllant 

with evil consequences. But the Gove~~ent of normally 

consoled the Amir that the correspondance was prompted by 

the endly attitude of Russia towards Afghani in 

consonance vli th the promises and obligations entered into 

between l!lngland and Russia. 5 • All this correspondence was 

3. Buchanan dates this letter as l1arch 30, 1870. Vide F.O. 
65/872. no. 229. 

4. Par. Pap. XCVIII 1881 no. 1/1-22. 

5. Par. Pap. LXXX 1878 no. 3/7, no. 4/5, and no. 8/5. 
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forwarded by the Government of India to the India office. 

Never was any apprehension felt in 'Whitehall over the 

consequences of this correspondence. The Russian letters 

in the subsequent years were co~~unicated a~d exchanged by 

native Russian envoys who were courteously received at Kabul. 

The Government of Lord Lytton did not approve of the 

Russian correspondence with Sher Ali. Lytton expected that 

:Sri tain at any moment vmuld be forced into open hostili ti es 

wi th Russia, not only in Europe, but also in Asia as 1·rell, 

and the Russian machinations in Afghanistan would constitute 

an inordinate threat to India. In the middle of September, 

1876, Lytton took up the matter of Kaufmann's corresrJondence 

with Sher Ali. Lytton informed Salisbury that Kaufmann's 

regular correspondence, and the presence of his agents at 

Kabul, had created a 'tveb of intrigues which would seriously 

impair the British relations with Sher Ali. He forv1arded 

the letter of Kaufmann wri tten in February 1876 'i.ihich had 

references to both the internal and foreign affairs of 

Afghanistan as an example.
6

• Lytton complained that the 

Amir had discontinued his usual consultations with the 

Government of India as to the rep1ym be made to the Russian 

6. E.S.L.I. 1876/10. Viceroy to Secretary of State no. 41. 
Sept. 18, 76: also a te1egrmn on Sept. 16/ 76. 
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authori ti es, and he had ha bi tuated himself to acknov1ledge 

this correspondence 'tin cordial termsn. The Viceroy, to 

make his point clear, added thet the Russian agents hold 

"secret nightly meet with the t~.mir, from which he 

concluded th8t the time had new arrived when Kaufmann's 

correspondence with Sher Ali should be stopped, and the 

Czar's government requested to abide by its earlier assuran­

ces that Afghanists.n be permitted to remain neutra1. 7• 

was about this time that a rumour spread in India that ...,her 

Ali had been induced by the rlussian agents to sign a treaty 

wit h Russia. 8 
• 

The India office forwarded the Viceroy's comments to 

the Foreign office, with the reauest that a remonstrance 

against Kaufmann' s correspondence should be sent to the 

Russian Government. 0 isbury privately wrote to Derby 

that nothing less than "a written disclaime~' by hussia of 

their intentions to negotiate a treaty with Afghanistan, 

would satisfy Lytton.9• Derby instructed Loftus to obtain 

from St. Petersburg a disclaimer as requested by the Government 

7. Ibid. 

8. Polit~cal Despatches to India 1876/2. I.O. to F.O., 
Oct. 24, 76. 'rhis report was published in a local 
newspaper. The India office believed it unreliable. 

9. F.O. 65/957. Salisbury to Derby (private), Sept. 28, 
76. 
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f . I d. 10. o..: n 1a. Schouvalov when contacted by Derby on the 

subj ect of a Russo-Afghan tr(';aty, expresseè. s ip:noraxlCe 

11 and prornised to consul t his govern.ment. • Schouva1ov t,ras 

authorised by Gortchakov in a t egraph to deny cater~orically 

any action by Kaufmann at Kabu1, either through agents or 

'1 h . ' 12. 
"t~1roug. any o"tner mee .. ns. At St. ?etersburg, • de Giers, 

the Head of the hussian Asiatic JJepartnent, denied this 

report, basing his denia1 on the vlar office records which 

indicated neither the dispatch of a 1etter or the sending 

13 agents by Kaufmann. • 

This prompt denial by the Russian authorities led the 

British Govern~111en t to for\'lard to St. Petersburp; a copy of 

Kaufmann' s letter of February 1876 to Sher Ali, as a mJecimen 

of the general's actions in Afghanistan.14 • This counter-

action brought change of tone in the Ruusian authorities. 

Bath Gortchakov and Giers then ac.k:novr1edged Kaufmann's 

correspondence -vd th Sher Ali, but denied once a,;ain the 

presence of any Rus aeent in Afghanistan, or the con-

tinuation of any negotiation for a Husso-.. Afghan treaty. 

10. ]'.O. 65/958. Derby to Lo.ftus no. 480, Oct. 2, 76. 

. Ibid. Same to same no • 501, Oct.10, 76. 

12. ~- Seme to same no. 505, Oct. 12, 76. 

13. IPli· Loftus to 'Derby no. 495, Oct. 19, 76. 

14. F.O. 65/958. Derby to Loftus no. 535, Oct. 24, 76: 
a1so a copy of it W'dS de1ivered to Schouvalov. 
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Kaufmann's correspondence, the Russian authorities termed 
15. 

as comp1imentary and courteous. 

Hone of the Russian exp1E1..11ations really satisfied the 

British Government. Producing further evidence of complicity 

it forwarded to St, Petersburg the Kabul Diaries of October 

and Uovember, 1876, which reDorted the arrival in Kabul of 
16. 

t·~r~o Russian agents, Hirza Yussuf Narvi and Hula Saifu1lah. 

Giers exonerated F~ufmann of any part in this office, 

and suspected that the persons concerned had assumed the 

characters of Rus sian envoys of the ir mvn volition. However 

he infonned Loftus that the parts of the diaries in question 

bad been dispatdhed to Kaufmann with a warning that the 

assumed character of the envoys tvas liab1e to cause mis­

conceptions and should be guarded ac3;cinst in the future •17 • 

:the British Foreign office considered this exu1anation 

sufficient,18 • but the India office was not at al1 satisfied. 

Salisbury considered Giers' instructions to Kaufmann as 

11var:rue" and uoint 
0 ' J. 

out that the instructions had not pro-

15. Ibid. nos. 536, 543 and 585. 

16. Ji~.o. 65/989. Derby to Loftus no. 12, January 19, 77. 

17. F.O. 65/989. Loftus to Derby no. 65, February 14, 77. 

18. Ibid. F .0. to I .0., Fe b. 23, 77. 
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hi bi ted the general from correD1')onding ·vri th Sher .Ali, but 

ra th er had enj oined hir.1 to take more precaution against 

English detection. 19 • The India office reouested the 

Foreign office to urGe u-,1on the Czar' s GOVernment the 

necessity for the connlete discontinuatio:n of Kaufmann's 
20 

correspondence wi th Afr;ha11i stan. • :.!:he }1oreign office 

instructed Loftus accordingly. 21 • 

In India, at this time, Lytton had closed the Pcshawar 

Conference. He had broken off diplomatie relations vli th 

Sher Ali. The British agent on his orders vras wi thdrawn 

from the Kabul Court, 22 • and he left Sher Ali alone "to 

stew in his 0\m gravy". 

The Hussian authorities in Central Asia sensed the 

situation. British intelli:gence fron J?eshm·mr reported tha t 

Ru.ssian courriers were bringing letters for the Alnir almost 

l 
23 ° -, t' A, • ' ld • t • t • • th every wee -:, anet ne ~'llr was no lE.'_'; secre ln ervlews i'll • 

24 
thciJ., and intended to send a.n agent to '.Lashkand. ' 

10 -' . :P .0. 65/989. I.O. to F .0., Harch 9, 77. 

20. Par. Pap. LXXX 1878 no. 97. I.O. to ],.o., January 
77. 

21. P.O. 65/989. Derby to Loftus no. 28, Fe b. 7, 77. 

22. A ta Nohai:'lrlad was not sent back to Kabul. 

Captain 

27, 

23. Par. Pan. LVI 1878-79 no. 36/48. Qazi Ahmad Khan Diary, 
Harch 22, 77. 

24. l'ar. Pan. LXXX 1878 no. 143/3. Hews from Peshawar, Anril 
:50, Tf • . 
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Cavagnari, the Deputy Commissioner of Peshawar, reported on 

May 8, that a Russo-Afghan treaty was under the consideration 
25. of the Kabul Court at that very moment. 

It is not out of place here to delve for a moment into 

the Balkan situation, because in the event of a war with 

lîussia in .6urope, ttthe bmpress of India would order her 

armies to clear Central Asia. of the Muscovites, and drive 

them into the Caspiann.
26

• The Constantinople Conference 

had ended in failure (January 20, 1877). It w8.s followed 

by Ignatiev's mission to London in M2rch, resulting in the 

signing of a protocol by six ~uropean powers, advising the 

Porte to stop the coercion of its non-lVluslim subjects and to 

introduce reforms, a failure to meet this demand would be 

followed by joint action by the poHers. ~he Porte rejected 

this protocol on April 7, élnd li.ussia declared war _a~ainst 

Turkey seventeen days later. 

Beaconsfield was becomin~ restless and uneasy at ~ussia's 

aggression and so was the ~ueen. Both plended for a spirited 

policy, and a bold stand Rgainst Russia in the Near Last. 

nit is not the question of upholding Turkeya, the \,J.ueen wrote 

to the Cabinet on ùpril 19, 1877, ttit is the question of 

25. lbid. no. 161/5. 

26. Buckle. Disraeli II op. cit. entry, July 22, 77., p.l027. 
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Russian or British supremacy in the world 11 • 
27. In her 

private note attached to this nes for the Cabinet, the 

Queen even preferred to abdicate rather than "to kiBf> 

Russia's feet 11 • 
28. She \'Tas so annoyed at Lord Derby's 

29. 
negative attitude, lvho called any lvar with Russia unnecessary. 

11 Such a Foreign hinister 11 she. conplained to Beaconsfield on 

June 25, 1877, "the Queen really never remembers 11 •
30 • 

Beaconsfield single-handed, was leaving no stone unturned 

in his efforts to convince the Cabinet of the necessity for 

taking firm steps against Rus But the Cabinet was both 

nervous and hostile, and not to be intimidated or cajoled. 

As early as April 21, 1877, Beaconsfield proposed the occu-

pation of the Dardanelles, agai11st the Russian seizurc of 

Constantino~le, 31 • but the Cabinet opposed it. It took him 

~vo months to prevail and convince then of the importance of 

preparing for war with Russia in case the latter did take over 

Constantinople. 32 · On October 5, seeing 1urkish resistance 

27. ~- p.l005. 

28. ~· p.l004. 

29. Victoria, Queen of Great • The Letters of Queen 
Victoria. Edited by G.E. Buckle·, T'oronte 1926. vol·. TI 
(second--series). Derby to Queen, June ll, 77. pp.541-42. 

30. Buckle. Disra~li II op. oit. p.l019. 

31. Victoria. Letters II on. oit. p.530. 

32. Buckle. Disra:eli II on. ci!. To Queen, July 21, 77. 
p. 1026. 
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collapsing, Beaconsfield asain proposed British intervention 

. th b t . t' 0 b. t . d. d 35 • J.n e war, u agaJ.n ne a J.ne \vas J.n 1spose • And in 

November, the ruling British Cabinet of twelve persons was 

divided into seven "parties or policies 11 • The seventh 

party composed of the Queen and her prime minister, a;reed 

that Russia be made to gi ve a vrri tten agreement that under no 

circumstances vvould she occupy ei ther Constantinople or the 

Dardanelles. 34• 0 "I b ll R . t d K d n .t\ovem er , ussJ.a cap ure \.ars an 

then marched upon evna. On December 4, Beaconsfield 

proposed to the Cabinet that any further threat to Constanti-

nople be taken as a casus belli, but Derby as usual demurred. 

On December 9, Plevna fell. In the Cabinet meeting of 

December 17, Beaconsfield trœeatened to resign in protest 

against the complete pas si vi ty of his colleagues; hoivever 

his protest was less than whole-hearted for he sensed that 

the "tr...ree lords 11 \vould resign, though he was not sure about 

Salisbury. 35 • On Ja....11uary 9, 1878 the Shipka Pass was taken 

by Russia, but the Cabinet was :till preoccupied. Next day 

Victoria wrote to Beaconsfield 11 oh if the Queen \'lere a man, 

she would like to go and give those Russians, whose words one 

33. Ibid. p.l055. 

34. Ibid. pp.l066-67. 

35. Ibid. p.l076. 
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cannet believe, such a beating".
36

• The Queen's taunt led 

to a stormy 2ession of the Cabinet on January 12. Derby 

opposed everything and proposed nothing. Beacon5field re­

quested that the dissenters should have resigned. 37 • 

On January 17, the Cabinet met asain. Russia ,,,as still 

adva:ncing southward towards the Ottoman capital. Six days 

later Beaconsfield won the sunport of the majority of the 

Cabinet to send the fleet to the defence of Constantinople. 

Derby m1d Carnarvon immediately resigned and the Queen 

expressed 11her immense satisfaction and relief 11 at their 

. t. 38. res:t.ena 1.ons. But neither the fleet nor Derby could 

depart, for in one case the Porte feared that Russia would 

retaliate by seizing Constantinople, and in the other that 

it would have a disintegrating effect upon the !arty. 

11owever Carnarvon le ft. 

On January 29, Russia occupied Adrianople, and on Pebruary 

1, an armistice was signed between Russia and Turkey. 

Beaconsfield considered the 'tvhole affair of the an'listice 

11a comedy 11 and suspected that Russia would continue to advance 

along other lines. His position in the Cabinet was strong 

now. 'Ihere was little in the li1oreign office that was le ft in 

36. ~· p.l089. 

37. Ibid. p.l09l. 

39. ~· Queen to Beaconsfield, January 24, 78. p.llOl. 
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the control of Derby. It was run by a secret cor:urri ttee 

com;)osing of Beaconsfield, Salisbury and Cairns. 

On Harch 3, Russia forced CL1urkey to Treaty of 

San ::;te fano. The treaty ge;,ve independence to Hontenegro, 

Serbia and Roumania. Russia acquired all the eastern 

portion of Armenia, besides Bassarabia. Host striking was 

the creation of 11 Big Bulgaria" extending from the Danube to 

the Aegean, and from the Black Sea to Albania. 

Tlris treaty was a great diplomatie triumph for Rus 

It avenged the humiliation of the Crimea.n \'far 

Russia nredominance in the Rqlkans. 

eed 

In Britain the reaction was not so triumphant. Beacons­

field proposed to the Cabinet on Harch 27, 1878 that the 

"reserves" should be called out and Cy:;;rms and Alexandretta 

should be occu1)ied. Derby resigned at once, and sbury 

succeeded hirn at the Foreign office. On April 1, 1878, 

J3ritain ;:mblished a circular proposing that the treaty be 

submi tted to the consideration of the Pm·1ers. s circular 

received a favourable response at the continental courts; 

though naturally was not acceptable to Russia. Saon after 

this parliament endorsed the calling out of the "reserves", 

and in April, 7,000 Indian troops left for Halta. Schouvalov 

the Russian aobassador in London, was exceedingly alar.med by 

England's preparations for war, and this was not alleviated 

by the fact that on his departure for St. Petersburg in the 
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second vTeek of I•iay, 1878, Beaconsfield had t,old him qui te 

distinctly rrthat vre could not, the slightest degree, 

cease from our plans of prep;Tation11
• 4° • 

It is against this background that Lytton's policy in 

Central hSia should studied. o action against Russia 

in Central Asia could be taken c~use of the lack of co-

oPeration from ~her 1-l.li. 

B.ussia in the meantime 1r1as not inactive. To her, lndia 

was Britain's Achilles heel. It was only in G Asia 

that Russia could fight England on equal terms. Loftus sent 

home an article from the Col~~ of December 3, 1877, written 

by Ma.i or 'Vies sel, which argued thi::Lt in the event of war in 

burope, Hussia should mass a force of 30,000 men on the 

borders of India to intimidate Britain.4l. Loftus' next 

intelligence was a report that the Czar had had an audience 

with two Generals, Charnaiev and Stolietov on March 24, 1878, 

after ~rrhich both left for Central "i.sia on sorne important 

mission. Stolietov, it was le;:;,rnt at ~Jhitehall, had been 

ced on Kaufmann' s general staff. 4'.2 • At the end :q:)ril, 

40. Buckle, Disraeli II op. cit. pp.ll55-ll65. 

41. F.O. 65/992. Loftus to Derby no. 672, Dec. 5, 77: also 
durinc; this time Skobelov had submitted a plan for Indian 
conquest. See Political Des12atches to India, 1877/3, 
no. 77. 

42. F.O. 65/1029. 
and no. 442, 

Loftus to Salisbury no. 415,April 12, 78. 
19, 78. 
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Taylor Thomson, the British J.Tinister at Teheran, procured 

a secret docw~ent from the Russian Legation in The 

document contained the minutes of a secret Cabinet meeting 

held at St. Petersburg, in \vhich. General l•Iilylltin, the 

Hinister of \'/ar, presented his nlan for the invasion of India. 

The plan proposed that H.ussia should mass her forces on the 

border::; of India, and this 1Hould force Bri tain to weaken and 

wi thdra"l:r her forces from the European front. This strategy 

the Ninister believed would eve British uressure on Russia, 

in b'urope; further it might excite the discontented Indians 

to rise against Bri tain in India. The scheme '\vas approved 
43. 

and the !ünister in charge was authorised to implement i t. 

Then came Loftus' report of liay, that the Russian forces in 

Central Asia had been ordered to move towards the frontiers 

of J3okhara. 44 • During the course of the next three months, 

the British Embassy at St. Petersburg collected information 

from numerous newspapers and journals indicating that sorne 

30,000 mon had been mobilised in Turkistan for the proposed 

action against India. The reports said that thrèe colmnns 

already be en equip::;ed. 45 · 

43. :1!"'.0. 65/1030. Thomson to 
29' 78. 

The main body under Kaufmann 

sbury no. 16 (copy), A~.;ril 

44. F .0. 65/1030. Loftus to Salisbury no. 491, I11ay 6, 78. 
45. F.O. 65/1030. Loftus to Salisbury nos. 639, 651, 676, 

715, 722: F.O. 65/1031 nos. 744, 759: for Russian prep­
arations at Vladivostok in the sea of Japan, see Admiral 
Ryder's Report in F.O. 65/991, AuG• 2, 77: also Rawlin­
son' s article in lfineteenth Century Revie\>1 IV 1878 on 
Russian preparations for war in Central Asia. 
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was to march from Samarqand via Kabul and Khyber Pass. 

The left w·ing column under General JL."'lramov vms stationed at 

Farghanm,and was to proceed via the Alai mountains to Chitral 

and Kashmir. The right wing under Colonel Grotengelm at 

tro-Alexandrovsk was to move via Khi va, Charjui and l\1erv 

to • The main body of the force reached Sarikol and 

Jam on July 8, 1878. 

The news of the Russian concentration of troops on the 

Amu created a sensation in Afghanistan. 1rhe Governor of 

Afghan-Turkistan, Sher Dil Iillan, renorted to A.r:J.ir Sher Ali 

that England and Russia \vere on the brink of war all over the 

world; and that the Russians were inducing Abdul Rehman to 

assert his claim to the throne of Afghanistan, counting that 
46. 

an ally on the Afghan throne would help them invade India. 

The next report said tha t roads \vere buil t vJi th great 

speed bet-v·reen Khi va and Char joui. It also said that eighty 
47. 

thousand Russian soldiers had been stationed at the Amu. 

These renorts had a very frightening effect on bher Ali. 

The absence of the British Vake at Kabul's Court was 

one of the most unfortunate mistakes that Lytton had made. 

It not only left Sher Ali accessible to the Russians, but 

46. Par. PaD. LXXX 1878 no. 143/4. shav1ar news1etter, 
Nay 13, 78. 

47. Ibid. no. 144/3 and 6. Cava,s,rnari reports, June 13 and 16, 
~ 
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British intelligence in Afghanistan became a mere collection 

of "'baZ,aar go Cavagnari at Peshawar vras collecting a 

most exaggerated account of Russe-Afghan politics and at 

t t 48. grea cos • 

I:n June, 1878, Sher Ali 'vas informed by Kaufmann that a 

Rus sian en voy of high rank vmuld be visiting his ca:yital. 49. 

Sher Ali made evasive excuses not to receive him and was 

informed in reply that the envoy had already left and his 

safety and an honourable reception would be the A:mir's duty~0 • 
The Rus sian r.ü~;:;sion vms heacled by Naj or-General Stolietov, 

and assisted by three Russian officers, Colonel lJ.O. Hosgonov, 

lJ. V. Benderski, and Do ct or Yavorski, accorapanied by three 

Persian and 11lrkish translators, one English translater and 

twenty-three Cossa.cks. Leaving Tashkand in IVIay, they 

reached Sher-abad on the Afghan-Bokharan frontier on June 27. 

Sher Dil Khan, the Afghan governor, had no authority to allow 

the mission to cross the border, but Stolietov made s way 

48. Lytton Paners 519/7. Cavagnari to Lytton (private), 
April 18, 78: for examlüe the Russian envoy \</aS first 
named Charnai ev, then Kaufman..""l, then R .I~I. Abranov. It 
was the Foreign office who corrected it. 

49. The question of sendinc a.1'1 envoy to Kabul was thrice 
debated during the month of Nay in the Cabinet meetings 
at St. Petersburg. See }1 .0. 65/1032. Plunket to 
Salisbury no. 867 and 808, Sept. 25, 78. 

50. Par. Pap. LXXX 1878 no. 144/2 and 4: Lytton, Letters 
op. cit. p.llO. 
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at his own ri He informed P ~overnor th8t the rn sion 

considered i t. an insL<l t to vrai t on the borders, and th:ctt if 

the ~mir w~s unwill ~ to receive the mission, it would return 

home. On July 5, the mission ente red I'"'Iazar-Sharif, the 

c.9pital of ;ifp:han-Turkist;::m, where it vJ?S receiv by the 

state officiais. It left there on July 17, 8nd on RUgust 

9, i t entered the vicini ty of Kabul, lllfhere i t VlFl.S re ceived 

by the heir-app?rent, Abdullah Jan. Dur the next march 

the mission wqs received by the Afghan Foreign Minister, 

h h ~ r h d 51. a 1v1o ammf.:l • 

In the meantime events in .L~urope had taken a peaceful 

turn. Huss had agreed to enter into negotiations for the 

settlement·of the Balkan sue. 1he Berlin Congress had 

opened on June 13, l$78 and after a tedious sitting of exactly 

one mont~ had settled the of the Balkans. cons field 

had returned home with npeacen and nhononrn. At this time the 

Stolietov mission had net entered Kabul. Kaufmann's instructions 

reached him on Au~ust 9, 1878, to the effect that the Berlin 

Congress had settled the differences, and Stolietov during 

51. The account of the mission is taken mostly from the 
Russian sources. J.Iajor among them is Yavorski, I.L. 
J ourney_of a hus sian En bassy thr,ou_g.fl_~fghaiüstall ~llQ 
J3okhara in_f:.:ê..Z[-72. iibridged and translated by B.R. 
Ellis and \if.i!:. Gowan, Calcutta 1885. vol. I., pp.l1-167. 
A part of it is taken from Loftus' reports derived from 
Russian pres~, see far. ?<;3-_p. LXXVII 187$-79, nos. 6/2, 
$/2, 15/1, l/1, and 11/1. 



- 364 -

s negotiations \ri th Sher Ali should "abstain fror.J. decided 

measures, promises etc., and generally not 

Il 52. would have done in the opposite ce.se • 

so as he 

Next day the 

nission entered the capital and met the Amir. Stolietov 

delivered to the ~1ir a letter from Kaufmann suggesting that 

Anglo-Russian relations needed 11deep consideration" and that 

the government of the Amir vmuld benefi t much by i ts alliance 

and friendship with Russia.53. 

Stolietov then met the Amir on the 13th and 14th of 

August and a Russo-Afghan offensive-defensive treaty was 

. d 54. s1.gne • 

Lytton \•!as becoming embarassed by reports of a là.v~:sü:m 

envoy's journey towards the Afghan capital. On June 7, he 

telegraphed the Indian office on the subj ect v/hi tehall 

approached Loftus for verification. The latter was ~tssurèd, 

by Giers tl:a t no en voy ei th er from Tashkand or St. Petèrsburg 

had been sent to Kabu1. 55 • Lytton, having received additional 

information now sent another telegra:m to the India office on 

v 1. 't 167 ..... avors.;:J.. ou. Cl .. p. • 

53. Par. Pap. XCVIII no. l/30. Ka.ufmann to 
1878. 

Ali, June 

54. British Government could not get ho actual 
text of the treaty either before or even er the 
conquest of Kabul. At General Robert 1 s request, T·:irza 
Nabi and Hirza Nohd. Hassan, the tvm Afghan translators 

the treaty, wrote dmm the contents i t from me:r.wry. 
Yavorski also mentions the si,:çnin,r_; of this treaty. Par. 
Pa·o. XCVIII 1881, no. l/32: Yavors1:i on. cit. p.lBO. - -"' 

55. ]1 .0. 65/1030. Loftus to Salisbury no. 263, July 3, 78. 
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July 30, re9orting that the envoy had set out and had 

reached Afghanistan. He soli ci ted instructions ,.,hether 

the question as it stood then, should be treated as an 

imperial or local one. If the latter, the Yiceroy declared 

then he was of the opinion that the Amir should be persuaded 

into the rece1Jtion of a British mission.
56

• 

In charge of the India office at this time '!.vas Gathorne 

Hardy, first Viscollikt Crru1brook. The new India:n Secretary was 

not at home with the delicate :problem of Indian foreic;n policy. 

Cranbrook advised the Viceroy by telegram on August 1, 1878, 

to ascertain the actual state of affairs regarding the Ruscian 

1 • t K b 1 b f t 1 . t 57 • -- t en voy s Journey o a u , e ore a_ang any s -ep. 111ex 

day Lytton sent an express telegraph that any further delay 

vmuld be injurous to Bri tain' s prestige in India. He 

requested that the question of Afghanistan should be left to 

the Goverrœ1ent of India, which would hru1dle i t successfully 

and wi thout re course to v1ar. Lytton was expecting that the 

Amir would not resist a British mission, and would be eager 

to play one power against the other for his ovm benefit. The 

mission, Lytton wrote, vmuld induce the Amir to enter into a 

trea ty alliance 'Vli th the Government of India. 58 • 

Cranbrook did not wru1t to make the question of Afghru1istan 

57. Ibid. no. 43. 

58. Ibid. no. 45. 
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only an Indian one, but rather a part of. imperial policy; 

and wi th tlüs end in view he had been persuading Salisbury 

privately since the July before to make a protest at St. 

Petersburg over Stolietov's mi on. But Salisbury was 

hesitant, a protest he thought would make little impression 

at St. Petersburg nor did wish to confuse the Turkish and 

Balkan questions with that of Afghanistan. The withdrawal of 

Ruusian troops from Bulgaria and Asiatic Turkey was more im­

portant to him than Stolietov in Kabu1. 59 • Disappointed in 

his endeavours to convince Salisbury, Oranbrook with the 

approval of the Cabinet, agreed to Lytton's idea of sending 
60. 

a British r:lission to Afghanistan. This was on Au,sust 3. 

It was a daring step thst Cranbrook took. The con-

sequences of this action might be serious. The India office 

did not like to take the full responsibility for the action, 

for the refusal to receive the British mission on the part of 

the Amir, or the expulsion of that of Russia on the insinua-

tions of the Briti , mieht result a war one of the 

powers 'Hith Afghanistan. Burne, the political secretary at 

59. 00\·.rling, N. 11 Lytton the Cabinet and the Russian" in 
English Historical Review, London, January 1961 pp.65-67. 

60. Par. Pan. op. cit. no. 46: Hardy-Gathorne, A. Gathorne 
Hardy First Earl of Oranbrook. A memoir, vol. II, 
London 1910, p.83. 
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the India Office}was annoyed to learn of the Foreign office's 
61. 

lack of participation in the affairs of Afghanistan. 

He persuaded Cran brook to make a move, a11d on August 8, the 

India office requested the Foreign office that a complaint 

against the Russian mnbassador's forcible entry into Afghani-

t . d t <.:!t. p t ' 62 • s an be na e a >.J e ersourg. Eleven days later, Salis-

bury issued his instructions to the British Bmba.ssy at St. 
63. 

Petersburg. The India office was not informed of this 

action till September 15. 
64. 

In the meantime Lytton received ru1 authorisation 

from Cranbrook, appointed GhuleJTI Hussain, a former British 

agent in Afghanistan, to visit Kabul and de1iver to the Amir 

a persona1 message and 1etter from the Viceroy, requesting the 

t . f B 't' b . . . Af h · t 65· recep J.on o a rJ. J.S _ mJ.SSJ.on J.n g anJ.s an. On August 21, 

it was learnt in India that Abdullah Jan, the heir-apparent 

to the Afehan throne had died. This de1ayed Ghulam Hussain's 

vi si t for a !)eriod, and he ·v.ras gi ven an addi tional 1etter con-

taining the Viceroy's condolences on the death of the prince. 

61. Col..rling, OJ2. oit_. p.65. 

62. Par. Pap. LXXX 1878 no. 148. 

63. F.O. 65/1031. Salisbury to Plunket no. 440, Aug. 19, 
78. 

64. Hardy-Gathorne ou. oit. p.83. 

65. Par. Pap. LVI 1878-79 no. 49. Viceroy to Amir, August 
14' 78. 
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Ghulam Hus sain left Pesha\Afar on ,-~.ugust 30. 

Sir Neville Chamberlain, an officer of outstanding 

frontier service, wes the man se1ected to h British 

mis on to Afghanistan. His mission inc1uded persans of 

exceotional knowledge of Af~hanistan 1ike Uoctor H.~. Be11ew 

and Major Cavagnari, besides two native di s, Mnharaja 

rtab S ingh of J odbpur and ~)ardar übaidullah of 'l'onk. 

The mission in qll consisted of ten menbers. It d been 

ordered to proceed to K&bu1 in early ~erytember, but owing to 

eptember 16. 'l'he mission vias instructed not to make its 

way by force, but if any resistance was shown from the 1~fghan 

de, it should report b0ck. It was authorised to 

r, that the oresence of the Hussian mission 

stan had been t,.'1ken as an :raffrontn by the Briti 

Government, and it demanded its instant dismis Ch amber-

WRS vested with the authority ta conc1ude a 

the . 66. ,1.m1r. 

At this point there c::<..me a misunderstC~nrlino: between Cal-

eut ta and London, the res-oonsibili ty for whi ch p;oes to ;;alisbury. 

Bath Salisbury and Beaconsfie1d thought that the British mission 

would be delayed till the receipt of the Russian reply to 

66. 1878/1). Instr..1ctions to Ch~.rnberlain no. 1:12, 
, 187x. 
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Britain's earlier complaint. The India office was not 

aware of this remonstrance at St. Petersburg. Hence Cran-

brook did not instruct Lytton on these lines. 

Lytton's instructions to Chamberlain reached the India 

office on September 9. Cran brook was holidaying at Braer.wre 

in the north of 8cotland. Horace Walpole, the private 

secretary at the India office, sent colües of Lytton' s in-

structions to Beaconsfield, Salisbury and Cranbrook. Both 

Salisbury and Cranbrook were alarmed to learn of Lytton's 

proceedi:ngs. Lytto:n 11has cor::mitted a Great error" wrote 
67. 

Beaconsfield to Cranbrook on .September 12. Next day in 

a very terse manner he again wrote, 11is he (Lytton) acquainted 

wi th the negotiations now going on vri th Russia 11 •
68 • The same 

day David Plunket, the British Charge d'affairs at St. Peters­

burg, telegraph.ed that Giers had informed him that Stolietov's 

mission to Kabul was "a provisional and purely courteous 11 

one. 69· Cran brook was in a dilermna. rie sent a telegram from 

Braemore to the India office to instruct Lytton not to send 

Chamberlain's mission until he received further orders from 

h 70. orne. On Septenber 13, the India office sent the telegram 

67. Buckle. Disraeli II op. cit. p.l253. 

68. Ibid. 

69. F.O. 65/1031. P1unket to Salisbury no. 783, Sept. 13, 
78: also F.O. 65/1032 no. 825. Gortchakov also cal1ed 
it a provisiona1 a courtesy mission. 

70. Lytton Papers 516/3. Cranbrook to Lytton, Sept. 15, 78: 
refers to the telegram. 
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to Lytton. The next day the message was in his 

It \·vas a hard test for the Viceroy' s prestil~e in India. 

Chmnberlain having reached Peshawar, had contacted Faiz 

Noharr..mad, the Afghan 6omn:.andant of Ali Has jid Fort, and the 

la tt er had con:nunicated his reply that he lw.d no orders from 

I~b 1 t 11 t th B ·t· h . . 71 • G' 1 .\.,Cl. u o a Oit/ passage o ~ e r1 lS~ mlSSlOn. nu am 

Hussain had reached Kabul with a fonnal request from the 

Viceroy himself to receive the mission. The wide publicity 

given to the proceedings of the mission in the native press, 

had turned every Indian's eyes on Jamrud and Peshawar. 

Hm·.rever Lytton postponed Chamberlain 1 s departure for fi ve days 

more. 

The micsion ivas scheduled to leave on SepterJber 21. 

Chamberlain noved on to Jamrud on se-otœnber 20. l'Jext morning 

Cavagnari and Colonel Jenkins, acconroani ed by a small escort 

of the Khyber r;ali1w (headmen) entered the Jarnrud s, a..."ld 

requested Faiz I·.Lohar.m1ad to allow them passage. They were 

refused entry because the Cor:unc..nda..tJ.t still had no instructions 
72. 

from Kabul. The Commandant warned them that would have 

to use force if the mission proceeded 1.·li thout the pennission 

of the Amir. Chamberlain renorted the failure to Lytton and 

the latter dissolved the mission. 

71. Par. Pan. LVI 1878-79, no. 59/3 and 5. 

72. Lytton Papers 516/3. Cranbrook to Lytton no. 52, Jept. 
22, 78: and no. 63, E'ov. 3, 78. 
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Lytton in the meantime had decided upon a war with 

Afghanistan. 11he border tribes had been detached from Sher 

Ali; forces had been ordered to assemble on the frontiers; 

the Arür 1 s letter to tha t of the Viceroy 1 s of August last 

was considered disrespectful and empty of any a~reement; 

and the Amir was held resnonsible for the insult to the 

Gove~~ent of India. Renee, Lytton 1 s council decided to 

tal;:e over Kurram and Qandhar. The Ge ~;ropomils were sent to 
74. 

the home governnent in two telegrams on October 13 and 19. 

Lytton was sure of the success of his 11mutiny 11 against 

the home government. The cabinet was scattered all over the 

country at this time. It met on October 5. It censured 

the Vicero;y for disobeying the authori ty of the home r::overn-

ment, and it opposed any advance beyond the Khyber Pass. 

It warned the Viceroy not to cross the frontiers without 

direct orders from home. However, i t requested the Viceroy 

to furnish further information on the plan for his conquest 

of Afgrmnistan. 75 • 

In the fortnight that followed the meeting of the Cabinet, 

Lytton impressed upon it that affairs had gone too far to 

retreat. Even the Queen thought that "want of firmness or 

74. Par. Pap. op. cit. nos. 60, 61, 63, 64. 

75. 1!1 .0. 65/1033. Cranbrook to Lytton, Oct. 5, 78. 
Telegr&'TI. 
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delay :might be fatal to us 11 •
76 • Cranbrook in the meantime 

had changed his opposition to Lytton and had become one of 

lus fir~ supporters. Beaconsfield was also leaning tm·rards 

Lytton's views. 

The Cabinet met aeain on October 25. Cranbrook asked 

for the support of the Viceroy, but the Cabinet did not see 

aJ:ly reas on to support lrim. The bi tterest co:mments on the 

conduct of Lytton came from sbury, who thought that the 

Viceroy was "forcing the hand of the Government 11 • J3eacons-

field acted as moderator between Cranbrook e.nd Salisbury. 

The former considered war with Afghanistan "inevitable 

sooner or la ter". It was then, hov.rever, decided that before 

taking any stronr; action against the .Amir, the latter should 

be given another chance - a me 

duly approved by the Cabinet.??. 

should be sent to him 

On October 26, Lytton telegraph~ the draft of his 

message for the Amir to the India office. Cabinet 

modified it and omitted much that concerned the Russian 

ssion in Afghanistan. However the message or ultimatum, 

as it may be called, referred to the receution of the Russian 

miBsion, and the Amir's rejection of the British mission. 

Sher Ali vras asked to submi t a wri tten a:pology for his insul t 

76. Victoria. Letters op. cit. II. Queen to Beaconsfield, 
Oct. 23, 78. Telegram p.642. 

77. Buckle. Disraèli II op. cit. pp.l258-60: Par. Pan. 
6p. cit. no. 65: Lytton Paners 516/3. Cranbrook to 
Lytton (private) no. 61, Oct. 28, 78. 
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to the British Government by refusing to receive the mission, 

the Amir was also asked to locate a permanent British :'::sion 

in Afghanistan. S r Ali was warned to send his acceptance 

by l\Jovember 20, If he failed to comply vli th 

his country would be invaded by the British troops. 

ultimatum was sent to Kabul on 1~ovember 2. 78. 

demand, 

Sher Ali during these last three months had been acting on 

Stolietov' s advice. counselled the 1imir not to receive 

Chamberlain1s mission. 79 • Stolietov left Kabul on August 23, 

accompanied by ~fghan officiais for Tashkanct. 80 • Ros~onov 

was left in charge the mission. The Hussian mission was 

made permanent by an imperial order of the Czar issued in 

Seotember. Stolietov on his departure, told theAmir that he 

would return with 30,000 men. 61 • On September 21, ~tolietov 

sent a message from Tashkand that he was sure of his success 

. h 1 . th . . 82 • J.n e plnR" e hmlr. 

Sher Ali accepted the lrussian assurances, and his 

corresoondence with the 

never dreamed of be 

an authorities indicates that he 
'~3 left alone. 0 

• It was on November 19, 

78. Pa~~_?a_g. nos. 66, 68, 69 and 70. 

TJ. Yavorski I .2.E.!.. p.180. 

80. Ibid. np.l85-86. 

81. Ibid. II po.1-29: _..;;;.__.._ • XCVIII 1881 no. 1/43. 

82. P2r. iao. XCVIII 1 no. 1/33. 

83. Ibid. no. 1/35 and 37: Yavorski II op. cit. pp.4l-45. 
Yavorski has t~ken most of this correspondance from the 
British Parliamentarï ?apers. 
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that Sher Ali received a letter from Kaufmann advising him 

to come to terms with the British.84 • The same day, he 

wrote to the Viceroy of India that he would receive a 

t 11 d f ' ' dl B · t' h ' 85 • m' ' emporary, sma an r1en y r1 1s~ s1on. ~n1s 

letter took ten days to reach the British at Dekka.86 • 

By this time v.rar had been declared against Afghanistan. 87 • 

On l'fovember 21, the British armies advanced on Afgha."li-

stan by the three ses. Sir Samuel Brovm uenetrated the 

Khyber, and capturing Ali Hasj advanced on Jaladabad. 

11ajor-General Hoberts marched un the Kurram Valley and 

headed tm·.rards Piewar Pass. General Ste\·mrt marched from 

Quetta through the Bolan upon Qandhar. 

Sher Ali failing to receive the promised Russian help 

for the defence of his kingdom, left Kabul on December 13. 

He \'ras ace ed by the Russian mission. He intended to 

visit St. Petersburg. 88
• Hence,he released his son Yaqub 

from prison and appointed him .A.rrlir, advising him to make the 

84. ~·no. 1/39: Yavorsl:i II ou. cit. p.47. 

85. Par. Pau. LVI 1878-79 no. 2/1. 

86. Ibid. no. 2. 

87. Ibid. no. 10. Viceroy's Proclarnation of Vfar, Uov. 21, 
.78-:-

88. F·or Anglo-Russian correspondence on the subject of the 
independence of Afghanistan during the British invasion 
of 1878. See F.O. 65/1034. Schouvalov to Salisbury, 
Dec. 17, 87, and Salisbury's reply on Dec. 19, 87: also 
F.O. 65/1034, no. 651. Dec. 14, 78. 
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best terms he could \'lith the British. 

During the course of the next two years, i.e. 1879-

1880, nlli~erous events occurred in ~~glo-Afghan politics. 

Sher Ali died at :tvrazar-Sharif on :h1ebruary 20, 1879; the 

British occupied the Valley of Kabul, and the IJ.'reaty of 

Gandanak was signed in Nay, 1879; in July Cavag;nari was 

appointed British agent at Kabul; in September, there was 

a risin~ in Kabul, in which Cavagnari and his staff died; 

then took place the second British invasion of Afghanistan; 

and Yaqub abdicated·. In early 1880, Abdul Remnan appeared 

upon the scene to contest his ancestoral throne: Lytton 

welcomed his arrival. At home the Conservatives were de-

feated in the general election of April, 1880. The 

Liberals came to power. 

For almost t\vo years, the fa te of a major portion of 

Afghanistan remained uncertain; twice it was occupied by 

Britain only to be set independent again shortly thereafter. 

Britain had several choices. Afghanistan as a whole, or a 

part of it could be annexed to India.89 • This was not done. 

Britain's only interest in Afghanistan was to make it a 

healthy buffer state between the British and the Russian 

possessions in Central Asia. This policy was fa·,ithfully 

maintained from the days of Auckland to those of Eountbatten. 

89. Only Kurram Valley, Pishin and Sibbi were annexed to 
India. 
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Britain did not expand in Central Asia, because this 

expansion would not give her any political or commercial 

advantages. For Russia, on the other hand, Central Asia 

served both these objectives. Thus Britain's indifference 

to Central Asia helped Russian growth in that area of the 

world. 
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CONCLUSION 

In the preceding pages we have discussed how 

Russian influence grew, while British influence waned in 

the region of Central Asia. The year 1857 is significant 

in the history of Central Asia because Russia, beaten in 

the Balkans, turned towards the conquest of Turkistan. 

It is also important that in 1857-1858 the British Crown 

took direct responsibility of the Government of India. 

By the year 1878 Russia was a power paramount in the whole 

of Central Asia. 

During the course of this time, the problem that 

confronted the British policy maker was, should Russian 

expansion be stopped, and if so, how. The only 

possibility of arresting the Russian encroachment was 

either by British expansion in Central Asia, or by forming 

a confederacy of the Central Asian States against Russia, 

helped and supported by Britain. Neither was practicable 

ta the British mind. Territorial extension beyond the 

north western frontiers of India was out of question. The 

Liberals hated the very idea. Only in case of an emergency 

did the Conservatives plan to occupy Herat or Qandhar, and 

only then with the approval of the Amir of Afghanistan. 
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Central Asia, beyond the northern frontiers of Afghanistan, 

was not of great value to the British. Nor was the 

formation of a confederacy of the Uzbek States feasible to 

the Anglo-Indian officials. An attempt to this effect had 

been made during the period of the first British occupation 

of Afghanistan (1839-1842) when British agents were sent to 

the courts of Khokand, Bokhara and Khiva. The Amir of 

Bokhara opposed this attempt by arresting and murdering 

the British agents. This had a discouraging effect on 

the subsequent British policy regarding Central Asia. 

Hence, though the British, both the public and the 

government felt at times greatly alar.med at Russia's 

expansion southward, they devised no means to counteract 

this movement. Britain contented herself by merely 

lodging periodic diplomatie remonstrances against Russian 

territorial acquisition in Turkistan. 

The Russian policy makers fully understood the British 

policy and objectives in Central Asia. The region of 

Turkistan was destined to be absorbed by either of the 

major powers in the East, Russia or England. The latter 

was passive so Russia became active. 

single chance to achieve her objective. 

She did not miss a 

She readily gave 

assurances to Britain of her peaceful intentions regarding 

Central Asia, and repeatedly broke them whenever necessary. 
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Britain was quite powerless to make her observe her 

promises. 

Britain's policy regarding Central Asia on the other 

hand, aimed at making Afghanistan a buffer state between 

the Russian and the British possessions in the East with 

permanent British influence in Afghanistan. This policy 

was kept alive at all costs. Two major wars were fought 

with the Afghans during the course of the Nineteenth 

Century to prevent Afghanistan from coming under Russian 

influence. Both the Afghans and ~he Russians were given 

to understand that Britain would not tolerate Russian 

predominance in Afghanistan. This policy worked out very 

well throughout the British rule in India, but it also 

meant that Russia was permitted to do much as she pleased 

north of the Hindu Kush. 
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